
BCP Council Offices, Town Hall, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 

 

 
 

 

Notice of Cabinet 
 

Date: Wednesday, 14 April 2021 at 10.00 am 

Venue: Virtual Meeting 

 

Membership:  

Chairman: 
Cllr D Mellor 

 

Vice Chairman: 
Cllr P Broadhead 

 

Cllr M Anderson 
Cllr M Greene 
Cllr N Greene 
Cllr M Haines 
Cllr M Iyengar 
 

Cllr R Lawton 
Cllr K Rampton 
Cllr M White 
 
 

Lead Members 
Cllr H Allen 
Cllr S Baron 
Cllr N Brooks 
 

 
Cllr B Dove 
Cllr B Dunlop 
Cllr J Kelly 

 

All Members of the Cabinet are summoned to attend this meeting to consider the items of 
business set out on the agenda below. 
 
The press and public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting at the following 
link: 
 
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4262&Ver=4 
 
If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please 
contact: Sarah Culwick (01202 817615) or email democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 454668 or 
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
  
This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 

A
v
a

ila
b
le

 o
n

lin
e
 a

n
d

 

o
n
 t

h
e
 M

o
d
.g

o
v
 a

p
p
 

 

 

 

 

 
GRAHAM FARRANT 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 

24 March 2021 
 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4262&Ver=4


 

 anne.brown@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

 

mailto:anne.brown@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 

 

AGENDA 
Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 

1.   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for absence from Councillors. 
 

 

2.   Declarations of Interests  

 Councillors are requested to declare any interests on items included in this 
agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for guidance. 

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting. 
 

 

3.   Confirmation of Minutes 9 - 16 

 To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Meeting held on 
10 March 2021. 
 

 

4.   Public Issues  

 To receive any public questions, statements or petitions submitted in 
accordance with the Constitution. Further information on the requirements 
for submitting these is available to view at the following link:- 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=15
1&Info=1&bcr=1 

The deadline for the submission of public questions is 4 clear working days 
before the meeting. 

The deadline for the submission of a statement is midday the working day 
before the meeting. 

The deadline for the submission of a petition is 10 working days before the 
meeting. 
 

 

5.   Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board  

 To consider recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board on 
items not otherwise included on the Cabinet Agenda. 
 

 

6.   The Future of Planning in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 17 - 24 

 This report provides an update on current planning application performance 
and ongoing initiatives underway to re-shape the BCP planning service in 
order to support delivery of the Big Plan and other corporate priorities. 
 

 

7.   Poole Business Improvement District (BID) 25 - 30 

 Poole Business Improvement District’s (BID) initial 5-year term will finish in 
June 2021. The BID is currently preparing for re-ballot on 20 May 2021 for 
a second 5-year term. This report seeks Cabinet approval to continue the 
Council’s support for Poole BID for the second term.     
 
 
 

 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1


 
 

 

8.   Acquisition of Bournemouth Indoor Bowls Centre (Kings Park) 31 - 44 

 The MHCLG Towns Investment Fund has provided an opportunity for 
the Council to acquire the leasehold interest in the Bournemouth Indoor 
Bowls Centre, so as to better manage the site for the provision of indoor 
bowls and for wider community benefit, along with securing the tenancy 
of Skills and Learning for the long-term.   

Cabinet on 16th December 2020 approved the principle of acquiring the 
leasehold interest. This report details the Business Case including the 
financial implications and risks and concludes that the overall proposal is 
viable, should the lease be purchased with Towns Investment Fund or 
Prudential Borrowing pending the outcome of the Council’s funding 
application to MHCLG. 

[PLEASE NOTE: Should the Cabinet wish to discuss the detail of the 
exempt Appendix 1 the meeting will be required to move into Confidential 
(Exempt) Session]. 

 

9.   Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy 45 - 98 

 Highway Asset Management principles enable informed decisions to be 
made about investment and maintenance funding; assist in the targeting of 
resources to where they can be most effective and enables the 
identification and management of the risks associated with our statutory 
duties to manage and maintain public infrastructure. It is a requirement of 
the Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Guidance and Well-
Managed Highway Infrastructure produced by the Department for Transport 
(DfT), that highway authorities have an Asset Management Policy and 
Strategy. Each legacy authority had its own policy and strategy. In 
producing a new BCP Policy and Strategy for Highway Asset Management, 
we have reviewed these legacy documents against current best practice 
and produced a set of documents that can be adopted and will shape the 
way we deliver our highway maintenance programmes for the next 5 years 
in line with DfT requirements.   
 

 

10.   Management & development of leisure centres 99 - 156 

 The Council has made a corporate commitment to increase leisure 
provision and help people participate and lead more active and healthy 
lives.   

To support this commitment, the report makes recommendations regarding 
the management & development of leisure centre facilities including: the 
provision of a short-term management contract with Everyone Active in 
Poole; the development of a new £1m synthetic turf pitch at Rossmore 
Leisure Centre; and BH Live’s Business Plan.   

[PLEASE NOTE: Should the Cabinet wish to discuss the detail of the 
exempt Appendices at 1,1a and 2 the meeting will be required to move into 
Confidential (Exempt) Session]. 

 

11.   Our Museum: Poole Museum Redevelopment Project 157 - 194 

 The Poole Museum Redevelopment Project delivers against Big Plan and 
other strategic Council priorities as well as national and regional priorities 
and policies. The Project will conserve and open up nationally and 
internationally significant heritage assets and transform the visitor and 

 



 
 

 

community experience of the Poole Museum Estate.  

In the wider context of Culture and the Cultural Compact, the Project will 
deliver on the Cultural Enquiry recommendations for talent, infrastructure, 
and quality of place and will provide new opportunities for under-
represented and under-served communities and groups to participate in 
and co-curate their culture and heritage.  

The project has strong support from NLHF as a priority project, third party 
match funding has been secured and there is a strong pipeline from trusts 
and foundations, with invited applications for additional grants totalling 
£250-450k. Council agreement to submit the NLHF round 2 application for 
the Poole Museum element of the project (deadline August 2021) is 
requested. 

Project development work demonstrates an opportunity to extend the scope 
of the capital works to increase the transformative impact of the project for 
Poole rejuvenation, outcomes for people, built heritage and museum 
collections, and the financial sustainability of the service. Council 
agreement is requested for prudential borrowing to support these extended 
works. 

There are two scenarios for prudential borrowing, dependent on whether a 
round 2 NLHF application for the Poole Museum project is successful. 
Scenario 1, should the grant bid be successful, requires the utilisation of 
£1,029k prudential borrowing, as well as £200k CIL (agreed by Cabinet in 
2018) as match funding. Scenario 2, if the NLHF application is 
unsuccessful, requires the use of £278k prudential borrowing for Scaplen’s 
Court as well as the repurposing of £200k CIL allocated within the Scenario 
1 model.  
 

12.   BCP Homelessness Strategy 195 - 236 

 Everybody deserves a stable, safe and secure home, however, many 
households in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole still face the harmful 
consequences of becoming homeless or being at risk of this.  
Homelessness, including rough sleeping, is extremely complex. Addressing 
the challenges can only develop effectively through collaboration of Council 
services with local communities, businesses, charities and other statutory 
and non-statutory partners. 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole legacy homelessness & rough 
sleeping strategies require alignment. An aligned interim Action Plan was 
agreed by Council in November 2019.  

The Homelessness Reduction Board and Homelessness Partnership have 
been in place for 2 years now and oversee provide the governance for the 
preceding action plan and has led to the co-production of a new strategy.  
The partnership’s multi-agency action groups will help to deliver the action 
plan and this approach continues to strengthen and develop. 

The Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy and Action Plan provides 
an ambitious, innovative and ground breaking strategic approach to tackling 
homelessness in all its forms, with a shared vision of “Ending 
homelessness in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole by ensuring 
everyone has a safe place to live that they can call home.”  

The strategy has 3 clear core aims, each of which have a number of 

 



 
 

 

ambitious commitments to deliver.   

 Early & Effective Upstream Prevention 
 Reducing and stopping the cycle of homelessness 
 Ongoing Improvement, development and sustainability 

 

13.   Housing scheme at Craven Court, Knyveton Road, Bournemouth 237 - 286 

 The BCP owned site is currently a 2-3 storey residential building with 18 
flats. 

The current proposal presents a new build scheme of 24 apartments and 
associated parking to be provided on the site.   

These homes will help towards imminent new Local Plan housing targets 
and will also contribute significantly to unmet housing need. 

All of the homes are to be for Affordable Rent and will be designed to high 
energy standards meeting Passivhaus standards. 
 

 

14.   Harmonisation of Pest Control Services 287 - 296 

 The harmonisation of BCP Council Pest Control services requires a policy 
decision on the provision of 100% fee subsidies that, under legacy 
arrangements, are offered only to Poole residents in receipt of qualifying 
benefits.  

The net additional cost of extending fee subsidies to all BCP Council 
residents in receipt of qualifying benefits is £23,500 per annum at 100% fee 
subsidy and £4,200 at 50% subsidy. The recommendation therefore is to 
offer 50% subsidies to all residents in receipt of qualifying benefits. This 
would have less financial impact that could therefore be funded from within 
the service but would maintain subsidised pest control treatments for low 
income households.  

Whilst removing the automatic right to 100% fee subsidy in Poole, this 
recommended policy would benefit low income households in Bournemouth 
and Christchurch where, under legacy policies, no subsidies are offered at 
all. Current practice allows for pest treatments to be carried out at nil fee 
where no responsible person can be identified or where a householder is 
unable to fund a treatment. 
 

 

15.   Stour Valley Park Partnership and Strategy 297 - 312 

 This report highlights work undertaken to date by an extensive partnership 
in developing the concept of a ‘Stour Valley Park’ landscape between 
Christchurch Harbour and Kingston Lacy Estate.  It recommends that BCP 
Council sign up to the partnership.   

The Stour Valley Park proposals are identified in the Bournemouth and 
Poole Local Plans and aim to bring partners together in a way that brings 
the biggest benefits for people and wildlife. Importantly it offers significant 
opportunities to contribute to multiple strands of the BCP Corporate 
Strategy including Sustainable Environment, Dynamic Places, Fulfilled 
Lives, Brighter Futures and Connected Communities. 

A consultant has been funded through one strand of the Future Parks 
Accelerator (FPA) key project with an aim to develop partnership proposals 

 



 
 

 

into a Stour Valley Park Strategy and Masterplan, to inform both a new 
Green Infrastructure Strategy and Local Plan.  The Stour Valley Park 
Strategy is currently at the public engagement and development phase.  
The strategy will be presented to Cabinet for adoption in Autumn 2021. 
 

16.   Harmonisation of Regulatory Services and Licensing Enforcement 
Policy 

313 - 324 

 Regulatory Services and the Licensing Team are responsible for 
undertaking enforcement activity across a wide range of public services.  

The aim of these enforcement activities is to protect the safety, wellbeing, 
and the environment of all those who live, work and visit the area by 
ensuring the actions of businesses and individuals comply with the relevant 
legislation and Codes of Practice. 

The Council is currently working to three legacy enforcement policies 
for Regulatory Services and Licensing. This new policy seeks to 
provide one policy for BCP Council.  

The Enforcement Policy is recognised as an important document for 
regulators in meeting responsibilities under both statutory principles 
and guidance. The Enforcement Policy enables the authority to set out 
transparency in its activities and to ensure that enforcement activities 
are targeted only at cases where action is needed.  

The Policy also helps both businesses and individuals to understand 
our objectives and methods for achieving compliance and the criteria 
we consider when deciding the most appropriate response to a breach 
of legislation. 

Cabinet is asked to consider and approves the Regulatory Services and 
Licensing Enforcement Policy 
 

 

17.   Futures Fund Governance 325 - 330 

 The medium-term financial plan (MTFP) includes a £50 million futures fund 
to be illustratively drawn down in tranches of £10 million per annum over 
five years in support of key infrastructure developments.  

As the MTFP is an iterative process the intention would be to update the 
annual base budget to reflect the flexible nature of the fund if the spending 
profile adopts a different profile to that originally assumed. 

This report sets out the proposed governance arrangements for the fund.   
 

 

18.   Cabinet Forward Plan 331 - 350 

 To consider the latest version of the Cabinet Forward Plan.  
 

 

 
No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that 
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 – 1 – 
 

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

Minutes of the Meeting held on 10 March 2021 at 10.00 am 
 

Present:- 

Cllr D Mellor – Chairman 

Cllr P Broadhead – Vice-Chairman 

 

Present: Cllr M Anderson, Cllr M Greene, Cllr N Greene, Cllr M Haines, 
Cllr M Iyengar, Cllr R Lawton, Cllr H Allen, Cllr S Baron, 
Cllr N Brooks, Cllr B Dove, Cllr B Dunlop and Cllr J Kelly 

Lead Members: Cllr H Allen, Cllr S Baron, Cllr N Brooks, Cllr B Dove, 
Cllr B Dunlop and Cllr J Kelly 

 

Also in 
attendance: 

Cllr S Bartlett (Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee), 
Cllr L Dedman, Cllr G Farquhar, Cllr A Hadley and Cllr P Hilliard 

 
Apologies:  

 

Cllr K Rampton 

 
306. Declarations of Interests  

 
Councillor Mark Anderson declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in 
Minute No. 315 (Sale of Christchurch By-Pass Car Park) and refrained from 
participating in the discussion and voting thereon. 
 

307. Confirmation of Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 10 February 2021 were 
confirmed and signed as a correct record. 
 

308. Public Issues  
 
The Leader advised that there had been no questions, statements or 
petitions received from members of the public on this occasion. 
 

309. Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board  
 
The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed Cabinet with 
regards to the Sale of Christchurch By-Pass Car Park item at Minute No. 
315. The Chairman of the Board requested that Cabinet consider deferring 
the item until Scrutiny had had the opportunity to consider the report 
following a number of requests from Members.  

In relation to this the Leader advised that he would work with the Chairman 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Board outside of the meeting to look at a way 
forward without the need for deferring the item from the Cabinet agenda. 
 

310. Community Infrastructure Levy Neighbourhood Portion  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, Economy and Strategic Planning 
presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member 

9

Agenda Item 3



– 2 – 

CABINET 
10 March 2021 

 
and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'A' to these Minutes in the Minute 
Book. 

Cabinet was informed that the report covered proposed governance for 
both strategic and neighbourhood portions CIL monies. In relation to this 
Cabinet approval was sought for the governance of BCP Council CIL 
receipts. 

In presenting the report the Portfolio Holder advised that he was proposing 
some amended recommendations to take into account the debate and 
discussion at the recent Overview and Scrutiny Board meeting. 

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed the Cabinet, 
advising that at their recent meeting the Board resolved to make the 
following recommendation to Cabinet in respect of this item. 

RESOLVED that the report be referred back for further clarification on the 
governance for Scheme Two, including the total amount of funding 
available and the panel to establish the schemes it will cover. 

In addition the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board advised that 
the Board had also recommended that monies be allocated on a quarterly 
basis (not twice yearly) and that any balances move forward into the next 
quarter if not spent, and that in relation to this the Portfolio Holder had 
accepted these recommendations at the Overview and Scrutiny meeting 
and had also given a commitment to include ward councillors at all stages 
of the process, in particular with respect to Neighbourhood Forums as 
outlined in paragraph 11 of the report.  

In relation to this the Portfolio Holder confirmed the intention in having a 
non-Conservative Member on the panel. 

Councillor Hadley addressed Cabinet stressing the importance of cross-
party membership of the established panel. 

A number of Members spoke in support of the paper welcoming the 
approach for the allocation of BCP CIL receipts. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a)        Cabinet agree that CIL Neighbourhood Portion will be operated 
as follows: 

i.           Scheme 1 – Ward-based bidding process in Bournemouth 
and Poole; and 

ii.          Scheme 2 – Allow bids from communities across BCP into 
the Strategic CIL pot where there are insufficient funds in 
the relevant area pots; 

iii.        The first bidding round for the new schemes will start from 
May 2021 and then held thereafter as frequently as required 
to ensure communities are able to access CIL money for 
their projects in a timely fashion. The set up arrangements 
to be delegated under (c) will also include provision for 
smaller scale bids of up to £2,500 to be processed through 
fast track decision arrangements within the provisions of 
the Council’s financial regulations; 

10



– 3 – 

CABINET 
10 March 2021 

 
(b)       Cabinet establish a member CIL Allocations Panel to make 

decisions on CIL Neighbourhood Portion bids. The CIL 
Allocations Panel will comprise three Councillors including the 
Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, Economy and Strategic 
Planning and Lead Member for Engagement and one other, and 
the Directors for Growth and Infrastructure and Communities; 

(c)        Delegate the final set-up arrangements for the bidding process to 
the Director for Growth & Infrastructure in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, Economy and Strategic 
Planning and Lead Member for Engagement. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Regeneration, Economy and Strategic Planning 
 

311. The Future of Regeneration in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, Economy and Strategic Planning 
presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member 
and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'B' to these Minutes in the Minute 
Book. 

Cabinet was informed that the report summarised the opportunities and the 
Council’s ambitions for regeneration in the BCP are, and that in relation to 
this that it sought to strengthen the Council’s capacity to deliver, setting out 
an approach for reviewing and progressing the available options to realise 
those opportunities and ambitions. In addition, Cabinet was advised that the 
report sets out the options for increasing our regeneration delivery capacity, 
working with an urban regeneration company and other forms of 
partnerships as well as sourcing external consultancy input. 

Several Members spoke in support of the report citing the importance of the 
delivery mechanism and of bringing future reports through the Cabinet and 
Council process. 

RESOLVED that Cabinet:- 

(a)       Authorises the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader 

and Deputy Leader, to procure and review advice from external 
consultants and to recommend to Cabinet as appropriate the 
creation of suitable structures to accelerate the delivery of 
regeneration projects, including the creation of structures or 
mechanisms to deliver the development of sites; and 

(b)      Notes that reports will be brought to future Cabinet and Council 

meetings as appropriate setting out proposals for the use of the 
Futures Fund and the process for bringing forward individual 
sites for development. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Regeneration, Economy and Strategic Planning 
 

11



– 4 – 

CABINET 
10 March 2021 

 
312. LTP Capital Programme 2021/22  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Transport and Sustainability presented a report and 
additional addendum, copies of which had been circulated to each Member 
and copies of which appear as Appendix 'C' to these Minutes in the Minute 
Book. 

Cabinet was advised that the 2021/22 Local Transport Plan (LTP) Capital 
Programme had been developed to: 

i) Seek approval for the proposed utilisation of expected LTP 2021/22 
Capital grant allocation of £6,803k (£3,078k of Integrated Transport 
Block (ITB) funding and £3,725k of Highway Maintenance funding), 
with a recommended split of £3,358k for ITB and £3,445k for 
Maintenance based on need. 

ii) Seek approval for the indicative 2022/23 and 2023/24 Highways 
Maintenance Programmes as set out in Appendix B. 

iii) Seek approval upon receipt of the DfT confirmation letter that 
through delegated authority the Director of Growth & Infrastructure in 
consultation with Portfolio Holder’s for Transportation and 
Environment make required LTP Capital Programme amendment to 
match confirmed DfT levels.  

iv) Note the utilisation of £147k of s106 developer contributions for the 
final phase of the Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership (DLEP): 
Townside scheme. 

v) Note the allocation of 2021/22 LTP Integrated Transport Block 
funding (combined total of £530k) as a local contribution towards the 
SE Dorset City Regions Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) 
programme. 

vi) Note the £40.88M of funding in 2021/22 for the delivery of the 
approved Transforming Cities Fund programme. 

vii) Note the award of £1,062k from the Active Travel Fund, with a local 
contribution of £200k of LTP funding committed as part of the 
successful bid.  

Further to this Cabinet was informed that at the time of writing the report the 
Department for Transport (DfT) had yet to confirm exact funding values for 
2021/22 and beyond and therefore an assumption had been made that the 
value will remain at least at the level received in 2020/21.  

In relation to this Cabinet was advised that the allocation had since been 
announced and an addendum setting out the changes to the report in light 
of the allocation and amended appendices had been produced, published 
and circulated. 

Whilst the Overview and Scrutiny Board didn’t consider the item the 
Chairman of the Board addressed the Cabinet highlighting the massive 
investment in sustainable travel. 

Councillor Hadley addressed the Cabinet praising the report for moving 
forwards. In addition, Councillor Hadley expressed surprise that there was 
no reference to pot holes. 

The Officer addressed the Cabinet advising that budgets were contained 
within the highway maintenance fund to deal with potholes. 

12



– 5 – 

CABINET 
10 March 2021 

 
RECOMMENDED that Council:- 

(a) approve the proposed 2021/22 Local Transport Plan Capital 
Programme funding as set out in Appendix A; and 

(b) approve the indicative 2022/23 and 2023/24 Highways 
Maintenance Programmes as set out in Appendix B;  

RESOLVED that:- 

(c) authority be delegated to the Director of G&I in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder’s for Transportation and Environment 
to make LTP Capital Programme amendments once actual DfT 
grant allocations have been confirmed. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Transport and Sustainability 
 

313. Children and Young People's Partnership Plan 2021 - 2024  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 
appears as Appendix 'D' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was advised that the draft BCP Children and Young People’s Plan 
had been developed by the BCP Children and Young People’s Partnership 
Board, the successor body to the previous Learning Partnership Board with 
the difference being to focus on all issues for children, not just education 
and to a lesser extent, children’s social care.  

Further to this Cabinet was informed that having a plan in place was a 
requirement placed on BCP by the Local Government Reorganisation 
process, and that the plan sets out the proposed strategic priorities for 
partnership action to improve outcomes for BCP’s children and young 
people and to help them achieve their potential and is consistent with 
existing BCP policy about improving child outcomes.   

In addition, Cabinet was advised that central to this is that the Council plays 
its part in the Partnership to help BCP’s children and young people to be 
“fulfilled, happy, included, and resilient”. 

The Portfolio Holder advised that the draft Plan has been subject to public 
consultation during the month of January 2021, and been supported at the 
recent Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee where a 
number of amendments had been suggested, these are set out within the 
draft minutes of the Committee. The Plan, when finalised, will be 
championed by the multi-agency BCP Children and Young People’s 
Partnership Board and an action plan will be an integral part of the final 
document. This will be monitored through the Board. 

Cabinet spoke in support of the paper, praising the clarity and readability of 
the plan and commending all those involved. 

RECOMMENDED that Council fully supports this plan. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Children and Young People 

13



– 6 – 

CABINET 
10 March 2021 

 
 

314. BCP Council Suicide Prevention Plan  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Covid Resilience, Public Health and Education 
presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member 
and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'E' to these Minutes in the Minute 
Book. 

Cabinet was informed that the National Suicide Prevention Strategy (SP) 
required Councils to develop local Suicide Prevention plans, and that 
across the whole of Dorset between 70 and 80 lives are lost per annum 
because of suicide and that each death impacts people in families, 
workplaces and communities. 

In relation to this Cabinet was advised that BCP Council has developed a 
comprehensive and wide-reaching action plan based on the responses to a 
local consultation. This has been developed with Heads of Service, working 
together to see how they could contribute to the suicide prevention plan.  

The action plan provides information about the national and pan Dorset 
Strategic direction and then provides local narrative to set the scene for the 
BCP Council response.  

Further to this Cabinet was advised that the table in the plan outlines the 
main objectives and deliverables, set out by each lead area with 
communication and public health support throughout the plan. Many of the 
themes cut across Portfolio holder responsibilities, Directorates and teams, 
so the delivery plan shows contributions to the overall aim of reducing 
suicides and their impact.   

Members spoke in support of the report stressing the importance of the 
plan. 

RESOLVED that Cabinet approve the BCP Council Suicide Prevention 
Plan 2021-23. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Covid Resilience, Public Health and Education 
  

315. Sale of Christchurch By-Pass Car Park  
 
The Leader of the Council presented a report, a copy of which had been 
circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'F' to 
these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was informed that the report set out proposals for the Christchurch 
By-Pass Car Park to be sold to the adjoining owner of the retail outlet, in 
order to secure the continued occupation of this unit by Waitrose.  

Further to this Cabinet were advised that the purchase price has taken into 
consideration the existing use value of the site as a car park, and that the 
sale will be subject to clauses that allow the Council to buyback the site 
should it no longer be required as a car park. Cabinet was informed that the 
terms of the disposal have been agreed between the parties and are 
outlined in the confidential appendix to this report, and that progressing with 

14



– 7 – 

CABINET 
10 March 2021 

 
this disposal will provide a capital receipt that will support the Council’s 
Transformation Programme. 

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed the Cabinet 
stressing concern that the report should have an in-depth analysis of 
consideration from the Board prior to going to Council and urged 
consideration be given to deferring the item to a future Council meeting in 
order to allow consideration of the report by the Board. 

Councillors Dedman and Hilliard addressed the Cabinet expressing 
concern with regards to the future use of the site, the effect it will have on 
the local residents and the assurance of the guarantee the Council had to 
buy back the site. 

Councillor Hadley addressed the Cabinet expressing concern with regards 
to the rate at which this is being done and questioning the difference 
between the Council retaining the Car Park and selling the car park to the 
retail outlet. 

In relation to this Members were informed that the retail unit wanted to 
remain in control of the car park and wanted the confidence that the car 
park would remain as a car park. Further to this Cabinet was advised that 
the expectation was that the car park would remain as a car park, and that 
providing security to the retail outlet would support the vibrancy of the town 
centre. 

The Lead Member for BCP Retail Strategy and Christchurch Regeneration 
addressed the Cabinet highlighting that the car parking isn’t going to 
change, and that the report indicates that there is going to be no loss to car 
parking. Further to this Cabinet was informed that the access arrangements 
across the site had been considered and that this was a very good 
transaction to secure the retention of the current retail unit for the future. 

The Leader highlighted that he would work with the Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Board outside of the Cabinet meeting in order to 
discuss ways in which the Board could be engaged in discussions around 
this item. 

RECOMMENDED that Council:- 

(a)           agree to dispose of the Christchurch By-Pass Car Park, as 
outlined in red on the attached plan in Appendix 1, for the 
purchase price detailed in the confidential appendix to this 
report; and 

(b)          delegate authority to the Corporate Property Officer in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder, Monitoring Officer and 
Section 151 Officer to finalise the detailed terms of the disposal. 

Voting: Nem. Con. (1 abstentions) 

Councillor Mark Anderson declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in this 
item and refrained from participating in the discussion and voting thereon. 
 

15



– 8 – 

CABINET 
10 March 2021 

 
316. Cabinet Forward Plan  

 
Cabinet noted the latest published version of the Forward Plan a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix ‘G’ to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 
  

 
The meeting ended at 11.40 am  

 CHAIRMAN 

16



CABINET 

 

Report subject  The Future of Planning in Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole 

Meeting date  14 April 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  This report provides an update on current planning application 
performance and ongoing initiatives underway to re-shape the BCP 
planning service in order to support delivery of the Big Plan and 
other corporate priorities. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 (a) Cabinet note and endorse the measures underway to 
improve and transform the planning service as part of a 
programme approach governed by the Planning 
Improvement Board; and 

(b) Cabinet agree the spend profile for the £250,000 2021/21 
budget allocation to provide interim support to deal 
with current demand in the system. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To support the ongoing demands on the BCP Planning service. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Philip Broadhead, Regeneration, Economy and Strategic 
Planning 

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan, Corporate Director – Environment and Community 

Report Authors Nicholas Perrins, Head of Planning including Building Control 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision  
Title:  

17

Agenda Item 6



 

Background 

1. BCP Council has significant development and growth needs to meet, which will 
require delivery though its own initiatives as well as facilitating private sector 
investment. The Council’s ambition is set out in the ‘Big Plan’, which sets out the five 
big projects that will be delivered to deliver the vision and ambition for the area. 

2. In view of the ambition and scale of sustainable growth needed, it is essential for the 
Council to have an efficient and proactive planning service that achieves the right 
balance between supporting growth with timely and decisive decision making as well 
as safeguarding environmental and community interests through placemaking and 
enforcement services. 

3. At present, the service remains in transition post-local government reorganisation 
and still operates as three legacy departments. The effect of this is that there are 
several barriers and issues to achieving optimum performance and operation for the 
delivery of the planning service. These are:  

 Three different planning systems. This impacts on efficiency and resilience 
preventing staff from being flexible to address demands across the area; 

 Carrying of vacant posts in all areas across the service and delay in 
recruitment adds pressure to remaining staff to service the on-hand and 
increasing demand;  

 Volumes of works and enquiries are high and increasing. Combined with 
vacancies, this affects the ability to maintain standards of performance in line 
with expectations and leading to some delays and resultant complaints. The 
complaints then creates more work to deal with at the same time as needing 
to process an increasing workload; 

 Team set up and structures still largely based on the legacy teams. This 
prevents the fostering of a ‘single local planning authority’ ethos and use of 
resources, as well as there often being different ways of doing similar 
processes; 

 The combination of workload pressures, process and vacancies across the 
service (and external partners) is impacting on the ability for making timely 
decisions with determinations moving to the end of the statutory timeframes 
or beyond. This creates both financial and reputational risks with the 
prospect of having to refund some planning fees, as well as standards not 
being met; 

 Applications can sometimes be incomplete or include substandard 
information that adds time to officer workloads to resolve further hindering 
the ability to make timely decisions; 

 Significant majors applications are complex and due to staff shortages can 
be subject to delay due to the volume of other work that comes in also 
needing to be serviced; 

 Related resource pressures with other departments and agencies that result 
in slowing down of application process with hand offs; 

18



 There is a reliance on use of extensions of time as a pragmatic way to 
maintain performance standards whilst the service deals with the various 
barriers. Whilst a nationally accepted approach, it masks true performance; 

 The added complications arising from dealing with the operationally effects of 
the pandemic such as working from home, home school, reduced back office 
functions in the office; 

 The highly experienced and dedicated staff see their morale adversely 
affected by the above pressures with many working additional hours to help 
maintain service. 

4. It is acknowledged that the impact from the various barriers to optimum service 
delivery have resulted in a situation where service performance standards are not at 
the level where all stakeholders would want it to be. This report acknowledges this 
position but also sets out ongoing activities underway to address the issues and 
move forward to creating a modern, accessible, and progressive planning service 
set up to deliver the Council and wider area’s ambitions. 

Update on Planning Application Performance 

5. The issues and barriers identified are relevant when looking at planning application 
performance. The statutory timeframes are 13 weeks for ‘major’ applications (or 16 
weeks where an Environmental Impact Assessment is needed) and 8 weeks for 
‘minor’ and ‘other’ applications. 

6. The Government places strong emphasis on making planning decisions in a timely 
manner to support the economy and provide certainty within the process to 
interested parties. Accordingly, the Government has introduced thresholds for 
monitoring performance that need to be met otherwise an authority can be 
designated to allow applicants to submit direct to the Planning Inspectorate for 
decision rather than the council. The Government thresholds are as follows:  

 Major applications – designation can be applied where less than 60% of 
decisions are within the statutory or agreed timeframe over a two-year period; or 
 

 Non-Major applications (this comprises ‘minor’ and ‘other’ applications) – 
designation can be applied where less than 70% of decisions are within the 
statutory or agreed timeframe over a two-year period; 

7. The BCP performance data for 2020/21 by quarter is as follows:  

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 BCP 
year to 
date 

Major 86% 72% 63% 89% 77% 

Minor 73% 67% 75% 79% 74% 

Others 80% 60% 71% 79% 71% 

 

8. It is evident that performance in non-major applications fell below the Government 
threshold for the quarter 2 period June to September 2020. The reasons for this 
relate to a combination of responding to the impacts of the global pandemic (such as 
home-schooling for many), resources issues and unexpected increase in volume of 

19



work. There was also the issue of the dealing with the lag of applications from 
quarter 1 that were delayed due to the initial lockdown where new practices needed 
to be introduced including moving office-based staff and practices to remote working 
and pause in notification of applications. This was not a situation unique to BCP with 
the majority of local planning authorities and wider industry dealing with similar 
issues with some departments closing operations altogether. 

9. At the same time as Covid, the Council experienced an unexpected surge in 
demand during quarter 2, largely in the smaller scale applications for home 
extensions. Data released from the Planning Portal confirms that BCP Council had 
the 13th highest increase in online application submissions in the Country during the 
first lockdown period. This surge in demand at the same time as normal operations 
were disrupted impacted on performance in quarter 2. 

10. The staff response to the issues faced by lockdown has been excellent and has 
ensured that the drop in performance in quarter 2 has been addressed with a 
sustained upward recovery in planning application performance in quarters 3 and 4.  

11. It is clearly positive therefore that the overall position at the end of the monitoring 
year will ensure the Council’s decision making is above the Government thresholds. 
However, it is also evident that further resilience measures are needed to continue 
to increase performance outputs within timescales to ensure the service is aligned to 
corporate expectations and programmes to support growth and the required 
economic response to the pandemic. 

The Future of the Planning Service 

12. In supporting the ‘Big Plan’ and overall Covid recovery it is essential that the 
Council’s planning service is resourced and organised in a way to deliver the scale 
of ambition required, whilst at the same time preserving the unique and special 
character of our area. The ambition is to address the identified issues and transform 
the service to create one the best planning departments in the country in terms of its 
speed and quality of outputs, and that: 

 Achieves high and consistent standards of performance delivering a service that 
meets the expectations of customers. The service will be responsive and 
maintain strong working relationships with applicants and other key stakeholders 
that engage in the service. 

 Creates a positive environment for staff to have job satisfaction and develop 
their careers within a service that is known for delivering positive outcomes and 
has a strong reputation. The staff are one of the main assets of the service with 
dedicated officers with high levels of qualifications and experience and it is 
essential that the service is transformed to retain and develop staff and become 
an employer of choice.  

 Delivers the Local Plan within the required timeframe to set out the framework 
for growth meeting the area’s sustainable development needs. 

 Utilises modern ways of working and new technology to optimise the efficiency 
of working practices. This will ensure that the capacity of staff is used effectively 
and support the enhancement of the customer experience. 

13. It is recognised that to deliver the transformation required there will need to be 
investment in resources and continue harmonisation of processes including greater 
use of digital technology to create a truly unified BCP planning department that 

20



delivers the best possible service to our residents and customers. An overview of 
some of the key improvement workstreams currently underway is as follows: 

 

Planning Improvement Board 

14. In response to achieving the ambition and addressing the barriers to optimum 
performance within the service and to continue to drive innovation and 
enhancement, a Planning Improvement Board has been set up chaired by the Chief 
Executive. The Board will govern the implementation of a programmed range of 
activities to re-shape the service to ensure sufficient resources are in place to deliver 
the existing and future demand in a way that meets customer expectations and 
enhances the local planning authority’s reputation.  

Resources and strategic direction 

15. With the number of vacancies at present the planning service is under resourced in 
terms of available staff, which needs to be addressed to support the transformation 
of the service. This will start to be addressed during 2021/22 through a combination 
of the additional £250,000 of financial support made available in the Council’s 
budget and completion of the corporate smarter structures project. 

16. The £250,000 additional financial support will provide a significant in-year boost to 
enable the service to bring in short term capacity to deal with the current on hand 
demand in advance of the smarter structures project being completed. The broad 
spend profile for the £250,000 is proposed to be spent as follows: 

o £100,000 on additional and extended agency staff support to address 
demands in more complex cases; 

o £70,000 to support further transformation initiatives to harmonise processes. 

This will include funding a Planning Transformation Lead post for a 

temporary period to provide additional capacity to deliver the transformation 

required; 

o £50,000 to address the backlog in applications through use of batching 
up of applications to external providers in order to ease pressure on 
existing staff workloads and reduce on hand demand; 

o £30,000 to provide support to progress key development briefs to help 
unlock investment on strategic sites; 

17. Agreement is sought from cabinet for the above spend breakdown to ensure the 
service can procure the required additional resource at pace.  

18. There is also a need to seek approval to recruit permanent planning staff to fill 
vacancies to ensure the service can operate within the establishment and avoid long 
term reliance on external resourcing. This will be addressed as part of smarter 
structures project and be progressed as soon as possible once the project is moved 
forward through spring / summer 2021. 

19. The smarter structures project also provides the opportunity for the planning service 
to be organised, within the financial envelope available, in a way to deal with the 
various demands across planning applications, tree applications, enforcement, place 
and policy making. It is envisaged as part of this that smarter structures will include 
provision for a dedicated focus on major projects. Having a focus on major projects 
within the service will enable the most strategically important projects to be afforded 

21



the time and expertise required to process them through the system as efficiently as 
possible. This is considered an integral component of delivering the Council’s 
ambitions as well as supporting wider private sector investment in strategic 
development and related projects.  

Engagement 

20. It is recognised that the way the service engages with customers and other key 
stakeholders is a crucial to operating a modern and accessible planning department, 
which in turns helps to raise the reputation of the department and reduce complaints 
by creating a space for sharing issues and solutions.  

21. In response, the service started an Agents and Developers Planning Liaison Group 
in November 2020. The purpose of the group is to ensure there is two-way dialogue 
with frequent users of the planning service to update on improvement projects 
underway but also to have feedback on the ongoing issues that need to be resolved. 
There have been three meetings since its launch and the initial view is that it is 
helping to improve communications and creating a collaborative environment 
between service leads and frequent users.  

22. In addition to the Agents and Developers Liaison Group, a review is underway to 
introduce a new and improved engagement forum for members, including those on 
planning committee, to improve Councillor input on major emerging development 
proposals. It is envisaged that this new forum will be ready to launch later in Spring / 
early Summer 2021.  

23. To support the engagement work, the service will make better use of technology to 
communicate performance and other information is needed. The team are currently 
testing Microsoft Power BI capabilities to better present data with links through to 
updated webpages. Having better access to data is anticipated to help with 
customer queries and manage expectations through the ongoing transition of the 
service. 

Development Briefs 

24. It is recognised that the planning service has a key role in fostering an environment 
to encourage investment in the BCP area. This is not only by having an efficient 
planning application process, but also with providing refreshed and up to date policy 
and development guidance. A key part of the £250,000 financial support will 
therefore be used to move forward development briefs for key opportunity areas as 
an important way to unlock investment and provide further clarity on policy matters. 
The funding identified will provide initial support with the intention being that a 
programme of future development briefs is developed to support the delivery of key 
strategic areas and sites alongside implementation of the Big Plan.  

Investment in process and infrastructure 

25. A major step forward has been achieved by the Council’s Transformation Board 
approving the in-principle move to a single administrative ICT system with full 
implementation envisaged by the end of 2021/22 financial year. This is a significant 
milestone and will be transformational in supporting new and more efficient ways of 
working across the service. The single system will also incorporate Building Control 
and Land Charges to further enhance harmonised and smarter working across 
related disciplines. 

26. linked in with the single administrative system project, the planning service is 
working directly with the Project Management Office to undertake a process review 

22



of planning related activity during 2021/22 to create harmonised and efficient 
processes across each area of the service. Workshops will be undertaken with staff 
to engage the teams to identify current issues and build the best possible single 
process going forward, which will be supported by the new single administrative 
system. 

Other planning service updates 

27. It is understandable that there is focus on planning applications at the present time 
to ensure there is a corporate response to dealing with the on-hand increased 
demand. However, the planning service also includes planning policy, urban design 
and conservation, trees, planning enforcement and research and information. These 
other integral parts of the service are experiencing the same pressures in terms of 
resourcing and demands that will also need to be addressed and supported by the 
wider corporate transformation work. 

28. A key project outside of planning applications is the BCP Local Plan. Having a single 
BCP Local Plan in place is essential for the Council to support the Big Plan but also 
the wider area needs with a single city region vision. A single Local Plan also 
supports greater efficiencies in the planning applications teams with a consolidated 
set of policies. 

29. The Local Plan has been subject to a major Issues and Options consultation in 2019 
and evidence preparation in 2020. The Overview & Scrutiny committee have 
established a working group to act as a sounding board for the emerging local plan 
ideas and option work. The working group is meeting regularly and helping officers 
to discuss key issues before the next stage of consultation. 

30. The Government has recently reaffirmed the aim for all LPAs to have an up to date 
Local Plan in place by the end of 2023. The BCP Local Plan is on track to meet this 
deadline but clearly needs to maintain progress through 2021 with the next stage 
consultation and subsequent preparation of the draft plan.  

Conclusions 

31. This paper provides an overview of the issues the planning service is experiencing 
at the present time, which along with the pandemic has impacted on delivery of 
optimum performance. These issues are acknowledged, and it is understood that 
they need to be addressed to create the planning service that members, staff, 
residents and customers all want to see. 

32. Whilst this is acknowledged, this paper sets out the Council’s ambition for the 
service to transform it to being one of the best in the country in terms of the quality 
and speed of its outputs. Achieving this ambition will require investment in resources 
and infrastructure as part of the Council’s transformation agenda. 

33. This paper reports that a series of enhancements are underway, and which are 
already achieving tangible improvements in service delivery. More transformation 
work will be required over and above those set out in this report, but the foundations 
are being put in place for creating an exemplar planning department fit to deliver the 
Council’s ambitions and representative of the Council’s status as the 14th largest 
council (by population) in the country.  

23



Summary of financial implications 

34. None other than the proposed use of the £250,000 in-year funding support to 
address current demands. 

Summary of legal implications 

35. None identified 

Summary of human resources implications 

36. None identified 

Summary of sustainability impact 

37. None identified 

Summary of public health implications 

38. The planning service has maintained operations through the pandemic, which as 
involved staff continuing to go to office where necessary and out on site where 
required. This has been managed through use of risk assessments that will need to 
be maintained and regularly reviewed for as long as restrictions continue.  

Summary of risk assessment 

39. There are risks associated with a planning service not meeting Government 
thresholds for decision making. If performance falls below these thresholds, then the 
Council can be designated by Government and have local decision making powers 
directed to the Planning Inspectorate. BCP Council are not close to this position but 
highlights the importance of maintaining a high standard of performance. 

Summary of Equalities Impacts 

40. No specific impacts identified. Maintaining an open, accessible and efficient planning 
system will enable all members of the community to engage and be offered the 
same levels of service. 

24



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Poole Business Improvement District (BID) 

Meeting date  14 April 2021 

Status  Public 

Executive summary  Poole Business Improvement District’s (BID) initial 5-year term will 
finish in June 2021. The BID is currently preparing for re-ballot on 
20 May 2021 for a second 5-year term. This report seeks Cabinet 
approval to continue the Council’s support for Poole BID for the 
second term.     

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 Cabinet agree to continue BCP Council’s support of the Poole 
Business Improvement District (BID); and agree: 

i) To endorse the BID proposal submitted by the Poole 
Business Improvement District.  

ii) To note that the re-ballot will be run by CIVICA at a cost 
of £3,000. It was agreed with the BID that this one-off 
cost would be paid for by the BCP Council Economic 
Development team through existing budgets.  

iii) To note that if the re-ballot is successful, the Council 
will pay any BID levy due in relation to the Council’s 
properties within the BID area (currently totalling 
£18,887 per annum) for 5 years. The service units that 
own the liable premises will pay the levy for their 
site(s). 

iv) To authorise the Director - Development to complete 
the ballot papers on behalf of the Council in favour of 
the BID proposal.  

v) To authorise the Head of Legal Services to complete 
any necessary legal agreements required for the 
operation of the BID Levy, Ballot and service 
arrangements and any other necessary matters for the 
proposed BID in consultation with the appropriate 
officers.  

25

Agenda Item 7



Reason for 
recommendations 

BCP Council is fully supportive of BIDs and the significant benefits 
and investment that they bring. The Poole BID helps deliver the 
Council’s strategic aims and objectives including the ‘Rejuvenating 
Poole’ project in the Council’s ‘Big Plan’.  It is therefore 
recommended that BCP Council supports the Poole BID re-ballot 
for a further 5-year term.  

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Philip Broadhead  

Corporate Director  Adam Richens, Chief Finance Officer and Director of Finance  

Report Authors Adrian Trevett, Head of Economic Development 

Matthew Robson, Senior Economic Development Officer   

Hannah Porter, Town Centre Operations and Marketing Manager  

Wards  Poole Town; 

Classification  For Decision  
Title:  

Background 

1. Business Improvement Districts (BID) are business led partnerships, created 
through a ballot process to deliver additional improvements and services for local 
businesses. BIDs have a defined geographical area in which a levy is charged on all 
business rate payers in addition to their business rates bill. The funding is ringfenced 
to provide additional improvements and services identified by the businesses. BIDs 
are typically run as not for profit companies and are controlled by the businesses 
that fund them.  

2. For a BID to be successful it needs to meet the two criteria of achieving a simple 
majority (over 50%) of eligible businesses voting yes (each business has one vote, 
irrespective of size), and also for all of those voting in favour to represent a majority 
of the total rateable value of all businesses voting. If these two criteria are met, then 
the levy becomes mandatory across all eligible businesses in the area. 

3. BCP Council fully supports 3 existing BIDs in the BCP region – Bournemouth BID, 
Bournemouth Coastal BID and Poole BID. Christchurch are currently progressing 
with a BID and their ballot is expected in Autumn 2021.    

Poole Business Improvement District (BID) and re-ballot  

4. Poole Business Improvement District (BID) was established in July 2016 following a 
successful ballot in April 2016. In the past 5-years the BID has become a key player 
in supporting businesses in Poole town centre. The BID team has worked on 
delivering key BID objectives to make improvements to the town centre and drive 
footfall to support town centre businesses. Examples include – delivering key events 
(including Christmas and seasonal events); improving safety and security (including 
part-funding CSAS officers); providing additional cleaning; providing additional 

26



planting; and, supporting businesses though Covid-19 (including signposting to 
relevant grants).  

5. The BID’s first term will finish in June 2021. The BID is now preparing for re-ballot on 
20 May 2021 to seek a further 5-year term (up to 2026) which will start on 1st July 
2021.  

6. Key Dates: 

 Ballot papers issued - Tuesday 20 April 

 Ballot end - Thursday 20 May 

 Ballot Decision - Friday 21 May 

 New term – Thursday 1st July  
 

7. The re-ballot follows the same geography as the first term. It stretches from the 
Lighthouse to the Quay to connect the waterfront to the busy Dolphin Shopping 
Centre. The area is focused on the core area of the town, the Quay, The High 
Street, Dolphin Shopping Centre, the Bus Station and Lighthouse Arts Centre. This 
area deliberately connects the waterside frontage to the Dolphin Shopping Centre. It 
is small enough that it can have a real impact on those businesses within the area 
but sufficiently large to generate enough investment to make a real difference. 

8. The rate of the levy being proposed for the re-ballot is 1.5% of a businesses’ 
rateable value (RV) – this is the same level as the first term. As before, an 
exemption level of £5,000 is being proposed, meaning that businesses with a 
rateable value below this will not be included within the formal ballot and do not pay 
the levy. The number of eligible businesses (hereditaments) in the defined area is 
470. The sum expected to be raised from the levy is £265k per annum for a period 
of 5 years, totalling £1.325m of investment into the town centre. This figure does not 
include any additional sponsorship or match funding that the BID would inevitably 
secure. 

9. The BID has produced a draft Business Plan for 2021-2026 which outlines the areas 
that it will seek to address including: 

 Promoting Place – including events and promotion 

 Enhancement – including safety and security and streetscene 
improvements 

 Partnership working and support – including networking and lobbying  

10. One of the 5 projects in the Council’s ‘Big Plan’ is to rejuvenate Poole, bringing a 
vibrant, attractive and sustainable mix of residency, business, hospitality, retail, 
culture and green spaces to the heart of Poole, the Quay and the area between the 
two bridges, complementing the internationally-renowned Sandbanks and the 
beauty of the second-largest natural harbour in the world. Poole BID and the 
proposed Business Plan will help the Council deliver this commitment. 

Options Appraisal 

11. BCP Council fully supports 3 existing BIDs in the BCP region as they bring significant 
benefits and investment to the BCP region. If support is not offered for the Poole BID 
at re-ballot there would be reputational damage to the Council. Furthermore, as a 
voter and levy payer, a negative vote from the Council could result in the BID failing at 
re-ballot with the resulting loss of over £1.3m of investment into Poole Town Centre. 

27



This would be very harmful to the town centre and would be contrary to the aims and 
objectives of the Big Plan to ‘Rejuvenate Poole. 

Summary of financial implications 

12. On behalf of BCP Council, the Stour Valley and Poole Partnership (SVPP) Revenue 
and Benefits service will undertake the task of billing the levy to all businesses, and 
then pass the funding across to the BID Company. This is at no cost to the Council as 
the costs of undertaking this role (£7.5k per annum) will be funded from the levy 
collection sum. The payment will be taken prior to passing on the remainder of 
collected funds across to the BID company. 

13. There are however two financial implications for the Council:  

 The Council are a landowner for 16 liable premises in the BID boundary 
(see appendix). As such, the Council are liable for £18,887 per year 
(£94,436 over 5 years) if the re-ballot is successful. The service units that 
own the liable premises will pay the levy for their site(s) as they will benefit 
from the BID. This is the same system that is currently used to pay the 
levy.     

 The re-ballot will run by CIVICA at a cost of £3,000. It was agreed with the 
BID that this one-off cost would be paid for by BCP Council Economic 
Development team through existing budgets. This is to support the BID 
through the current financial difficulties as a result of Covid-19.  

Summary of legal implications 

14. Poole BID is an established independent body which take full legal and financial 
responsibility for the BID during its lifetime and is a company limited by guarantee.  

15. An Operations Agreement has been drafted by the Stour Valley and Poole 
Partnership (SVPP) Revenues and Benefits Service that outlines the terms of the 
relationship between the BID company and the billing authority.  

16. Baseline Agreements have been drawn up with relevant Service Unit Heads 
covering: Regulatory Services; Grounds Maintenance; Cleansing; Car Parking; 
CCTV; Borough Operations Centre; Tourism and Events and CSAS.  The Baseline 
Agreements determine the current commitments of the Council in the BID area to 
ensure that there is no duplication of activities from the BID funds. Legislation states 
that BID activity is not to replace services provided by the local authority.  

Summary of human resources implications 

17. There are no human resources implications. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

18. Poole BID supports businesses and employment in the town centre.  A thriving and 
vibrant town centre has sustainability benefits as the town centre is well served by 
public transport (train and bus station).  

Summary of public health implications 

19. There are no public health implications. 

28



Summary of equality implications 

20. The continued operation of the BID would make a positive contribution to the town 
centre. It would continue to improve the vitality and viability of the town centre thereby 
creating (and retaining) employment opportunities. It would also fund safety measures 
to make the town centre a safer and more welcoming environment. 

Summary of risk assessment 

21. The financial risks have been identified above. There would be a reputational risk if 
the Council do not support the Poole BID re-ballot (whilst supporting other BIDs). 

 

Background papers 

None. Link to Poole BID - https://poolebid.com/ 

Appendices   

Appendix 1 - Council owned sites  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

29

https://poolebid.com/


Appendix 1 

Council owned sites 

R/O 58-64 HIGH STREET POOLE 

WATERFRONT MUSEUM 4 HIGH STREET 

TOWN MARKET HIGH STREET 

PUBLIC CONVENIENCES DOLPHIN CENTRE 

POOLE CENTRAL LIBRARY DOLPHIN CENTRE 

CAR PARK KINGLAND ROAD 

CAR PARK ADJ DOLPHIN POOL 14-16 KINGLAND ROAD 

CAR PARK SELDOWN BRIDGE 

PUBLIC CONVENIENCES  ADJ BRIDGE HOUSE 

THE GUILDHALL MARKET STREET 

CAR PARK CHAPEL LANE 

18 HILL STREET POOLE 

CAR PARK HILL STREET 

SCAPLENS COURT MUSEUM SARUM STREET 

CAR PARK DEAR HAY LANE 

OLD ORCHARD CAR PARK CASTLE STREET 

 

 

30



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Acquisition of Bournemouth Indoor Bowls Centre (Kings Park) 

Meeting date  14 April 2021 

Status  Public Report (Confidential Appendices) 

Executive summary  The MHCLG Towns Investment Fund has provided an 
opportunity for the Council to acquire the leasehold interest in 
the Bournemouth Indoor Bowls Centre, so as to better manage 
the site for the provision of indoor bowls and for wider 
community benefit, along with securing the tenancy of Skills 
and Learning for the long-term.   

Cabinet on 16th December 2020 approved the principle of acquiring 
the leasehold interest. This report details the Business Case 
including the financial implications and risks and concludes that the 
overall proposal is viable, should the lease be purchased with 
Towns Investment Fund or Prudential Borrowing pending the 
outcome of the Council’s funding application to MHCLG. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet: 

(a) Subject to satisfactory completion of due diligence 
agrees to the Council exchange contracts on the 
purchase of the Bournemouth Indoor Bowls Centre 
(Kings Park) lease, funded by Towns Investment Fund 
Accelerator Funding,   

(b) agrees to complete the purchase of the lease for the 
Bournemouth Indoor Bowls Centre (Kings Park) either: 

(i) utilising Towns Investment Funds grant (subject to 
approval of the Full Business Case by MHCLG 
funded or; 

(ii) utilising Prudential Borrowing; 

(iii) delegates authority to the Corporate Property Officer 
in consultation with the Portfolio holder, Monitoring 
Officer and S151 Officer to finalise the detailed terms 
of the acquisition and funding model. 

  

31

Agenda Item 8



Reason for 
recommendations 

The proposal will assist BCP Council to deliver the outcomes of the 
Corporate Strategy priorities; Connected Communities; Fulfilled 
Lives; (Promoting Lifelong Learning) Dynamic Places and supports 
Council policies regarding quality environments that support healthy 
lifestyles, connectivity, biodiversity, climate change and 
sustainability. 

The purchase of the lease will enable the Council to develop 
strategic options for the site that respond to community need for 
recreation and learning facilities whilst maintaining the provision of 
bowls.  

It will provide opportunity to increase the usage of the centre by 
bringing together fragmented well-being services, and generate 
income for the Council without increasing overall costs significantly. 

The purchase will secure the long-term tenancy of Skills and 
Learning Adult Community Education, maintaining the delivery of 
adult community education in Bournemouth/ Boscombe on the first 
floor, utilising the external grant income to better manage the 
building and facilities. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Philip Broadhead, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder 
for Regeneration, Economy and Strategic Planning.  

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan – Chief Operations Officer 

Report Authors Lesley Spain Principal Learning Manager 

Wards  Littledown & Iford;  

Classification  For Decision 
Title:  

Background 

BCP Council (Landlord) owns the freehold interest of the site within Kings Park upon which 
Bournemouth Indoor Bowls Centre was built in 1995.   

The site is subject to a lease dated 24 April 1996 under the following terms: 

 99 years, commenced 30 October 1995 (approximately 74 years remaining)  

 Tenant; Bournemouth Indoor Bowls Club 

 Annual ground rent paid to BCP £19,369 per annum 

 Tenant liable for all repairs and insurance to be building and car park 

 Rent review every three years linked to Retail Price Index  
 

The Tenant currently sublets the first floor of the building to BCP Council Skills and Learning 
(Adult Community Education) who pay an all-inclusive rent per annum. This service is 
externally funded by Education Skills Funding Agency grants and learner fees to deliver 
Adult Skills, 16-18yrs, Community Learning courses and Apprenticeships.  It is one of the 
service’s busiest centres with over 2000 learners attending courses.   

32



The Council is committed to the provision of bowls in the area and the centre provides 
facilities for around 200 club members each year.  Other facilities within the premises 
include a cafe/bar, function room and a small retail clothing shop.  

It is the intention of the Council to acquire the leasehold interest, so as to better manage the 
site for the wider community benefit, secure the site for Skills and Learning, whilst 
maintaining the provision of bowls in the area. 

The Towns Investment Fund has provided an opportunity to purchase the centre and, further 
to negotiations, a price has been agreed with the operator for the purchase of the lease.  
This offer is based on an in-house valuation that draws on and refreshes the 2016 external 
RICS accredited valuation commissioned by Bournemouth Borough Council. 

MHCLG has approved funding as part of the initial £1m advance towards the purchase of 
the centre, to cover the cost of condition surveys, legal work and provide a deposit for the 
purchase of the lease.  The funding for the remaining balance is earmarked within the main 
Towns Investment Fund Plan for the purchase and the cost of dilapidations.  Should this 
capital fund not be forthcoming, there is an alternative option to fund the remaining balance 
using Prudential Borrowing. 

 

Benefits 

1. The key benefits to the Council from acquiring the long lease of the premises are 
to:  

 secure the provision of existing services and create opportunity to increase 
usage and centralise fragmented well-being services; 

 respond to identified community need for recreation facilities as part of the 
Built Facilities Strategy for leisure and recreational provision;  

 provide opportunity to generate income for the Council without significantly 
increasing overall costs; 

 contribute to the regeneration of the Boscombe area as outlined in the Towns 
Investment Plan, enabling the realisation of the vision for a multi-purpose 
centre with a skills hub and space for a range of health and fitness activities; 

 use Towns Investment Funding to improve education facilities and numbers 
of people with qualifications, skills and resilience; 

 support aims within the Bournemouth and Poole Sports Strategy by enabling 
improvements to quality, quantity and accessibility of sports infrastructure to 
meet the demand and needs arising from an increasing population and 
anticipated increases in participation; 

 attract Salix decarbonisation/ sustainability grants for reducing the ongoing 
utility costs for heating, electric, lighting etc; 

 benefit from a Technology Cell - a SmallCell for a 5G+4G+IOT network near 
to Kings Park providing connectivity to the centre;  

 provide accommodation for the Parks in Mind comprehensive programme of 
well-being and recovery programmes and base for volunteering to help 
improve community engagement in Kings Park. 

 

33



Consultation 

2. Corporate Property Group (CPG) on 29 October 2020 considered and approved 
the business case to acquire the leasehold interest. The CPG is chaired by the 
Chief Executive/Corporate Property Officer and other members include Corporate 
Directors, Section 151 Officer and service units leads. 

3. Cabinet on 16 December 2020 received an update on the allocation of MHCLG 
acceleration funds awarded as part of the Boscombe Towns Fund Investment 
plan to progress this acquisition and undertake surveys and valuations and fund 
the 10% deposit. 

4. External public consultation on the Boscombe Town fund Masterplan and 
investment plan has been undertaken with numerous stakeholders through 
continuous community engagement through the ongoing #MyTown campaign 
2020 and social media campaign to support the #MyTown Campaign. 

5. Consultation has taken place with Boscombe Creatives through a meeting and 
survey, May-June 2020.   The Stage 1 Consultation- Vision, Aims and Themes, 
June 2020, the draft TIP Consultation- August- September 2020.  The reports 
from these consultations indicate considerable interest in the proposals from 
residents and businesses, together with strong support in principle for our 
proposals from the wider community, who were supportive of including the 
acquisition of this asset in the investment plan.  

6. Consultation has also taken place with the Chair of the bowls club and the 
Tenant. 

Options Appraisal 

7. The ground floor of the centre currently provides facilities for bowling and the 
provision of food and drink. The centre has a large underutilised capacity with the 
membership numbers of the Bowling Club having declined year on year, with a 
50% reduction in March 2020 compared with the previous year. 

8. The alternative option is not to proceed with the purchase of the leasehold 
interest back into the council’s ownership, however this would pose a missed 
opportunity to work with the Bowls Club to realise the full potential of this asset as 
a thriving facility and community hub, funded by the Towns Investment Fund. 

Summary of financial implications – see Appendix 1 

9. Subject to the completion of due diligence, the Council has estimated the total 
cost of the lease acquisition including costs of dilapidation works (including 
contingency) post lease acquisition. Dilapidation works estimates are based on 
building condition surveys that have been completed by the Council. 

10. The Council included the premises acquisition within the Boscombe Towns Fund 
grant bid to Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). 
In September 2020 the Council received £1m ‘accelerated Towns Fund’ grant in 
respect of this bid, for spend on Boscombe Towns Fund projects in advance of 31 
March 2021.  

11. With the agreement of MHCLG (and approval of Cabinet December 2020), £100k 
of the £1m grant was allocated to the King’s Park Bowls Club to fund survey and 
legal fees and a deposit upon exchange. The remaining balance of the total 

34



outlay is included within the wider Towns Fund bid of £25m submitted to MHCLG 
on 30 October 2020. 

12. On 3 March 2021 MHCLG confirmed that it would support the allocation of the 
Towns Fund grant, subject to completion and MHCLG approval of the final 
business case. Given the overall reduction in potential Towns Fund grant (from 
£25m original to £21.7m revised potential maximum), the Towns Fund Board will 
consider whether the King’s Park Indoor Bowls Club should continue to be 
included within the Towns Fund bid. The Council is required to inform MHCLG of 
this decision by 3 May 2021. 

13. The Service Unit assesses the risk of funding clawback of the £100k Towns Fund 
Accelerator Funding already cash received and allocated to the scheme as low. 

14. Should the business case for Towns Fund grant not be approved by MHCLG or 
the project not be included as a Towns Fund project, the Council could seek to 
utilise alternative sources of funding such as Community Infrastructure Levy or 
PWLB borrowing to complete the acquisition.  

15. A ‘worst case scenario’ 25-year cashflow model, based on the Council operating 
the premises as is, suggests there is scope for prudential borrowing to be repaid 
as well as provision to be made for major repairs over the life of the asset from 
additional net income generated at the site.  

Cash flow modelling assumptions 

16. The Council will take ownership of the premises and services provided. No 
allowance is made for transition between the current tenant and BCP. 

17. The overall offer will remain the same – namely indoor bowling, food and 
beverage and a retail outlet. This position will be reviewed once the Council 
assumes ownership, to develop longer term strategies for the premises, in 
consultation with stakeholders. Whilst 2% allowance for inflation is included within 
financial modelling, no allowance is made for further income growth. 

18. Cautious estimates of turnover and gross surplus have been included within the 
model. These are based on BCP Officer review of the current tenant’s unaudited 
financial statements for the last 3 years, with a downward revision to allow for the 
impact of Covid and general market uncertainty at this time. 

19. Prior to acquisition by BCP, it is assumed the tenant will have wound up all their 
business interests in the asset. 

20. Staff costs are allowed for based on the employment of new Council staff at the 
premises. The existing staff would be eligible for TUPE should the Council 
continue services delivered by the existing posts at the point of purchase.  The 
roles would be included in the Council’s Pay and Reward review. 

21. Building related operational spend (including rates, insurance, cleaning, 
maintenance and utilities) will become the responsibility of the Council.  Because 
the asset is sited on charitable land, it is assumed that the asset will qualify for 
the 80% mandatory relief on Non-Domestic Rates (Business rates) once 
transferred to the Council. Business Rates of £6k per annum (including 80% 
mandatory relief) are assumed within the financial operating model. 

35



22. On-going utilities costs have been revised with a reduction of £2.5k per annum 
assuming improved value for money as a result of inclusion in Council contracts 
for energy suppliers and more efficient management of heating. 

23. The Skills & Learning annual rent currently paid to the leaseholder will 
subsequently be paid to BCP Council as annual contribution towards building 
related costs.  

24. The annual ground rent of £19k will be forgone following lease acquisition. 

25. It is assumed no significant refurbishment or remodelling of the premises (other 
than dilapidation repairs) is required at this time, and that the Council will 
continue to run the premises as a bowls club with the food, beverage and a retail 
outlet continuing when the Council takes ownership.  The Council will need to 
consult with bowls club members on any next phase development plans, so as to 
manage their expectations.  

 
Financial risks 

26. MHCLG funding is pending until such time as the Towns Fund Board confirm the 
project will form part of revised Towns Fund bid and the resulting business case 
is developed and approved by MHCLG.  Should the project be included as a 
Towns Fund project, business case completion will be accelerated to seek a 
MHCLG decision in 2021/22. 

27. Completion of legal due diligence is outstanding at this time – this includes 
review of land registry title, local authority searches, environmental reports and 
flood risk reports. The results of these searches could increase the Council’s 
financial obligation with respect to the site. 

VAT 

28. The lease will be subject to VAT at the standard rate. The building will be mainly 
used for VAT exempt purposes (Adult Education services, sport services, etc) 
which means that the VAT recovery will be subject to partial exemption rules. 
Based on the projection for 2020-21, there should be sufficient headroom within 
the Council’s de-minimis limit to allow the VAT charged to be fully recovered. Any 
subsequent investments to the site should be reviewed from the partial exemption 
perspective to ensure a safety headroom is maintained at an acceptable level. 

 
Value for Money 

29. The proposal will require the investment of public funds to acquire the lease, 
undertake dilapidation repairs, and assume service operation. The investment will 
enable to better shape current service provision in line with Council strategic 
priorities and ambitions – for example promoting access to leisure and health and 
wellbeing strategies.  

30. Financial modelling suggests the potential for the service to generate future net 
income streams for the Council (even after repayment of borrowing if required). 
This is before taking into account the potential for service expansion once under 
the Council’s control. 

31. Final lease acquisition price is in accordance with a Red Book valuation as 
commissioned by Bournemouth Borough Council in 2016 and refreshed by the 
Council’s in-house Estates Team in 2020. 

36



32. The terms of the lease allow for the lease to revert to the Council’s ownership at 
nil cost in the event of the tenant becoming in breach of lease obligations / 
ceasing to trade viably. Review of the tenant’s unaudited financial accounts 
suggests that this is not likely in the near future. 

Summary of legal implications 

33. The site sits within an area of the Five Parks Trust and is controlled by the 
Bournemouth Borough Council Act 1985.  The trustees of the land are the elected 
councillors.   

34. The Trust specifies the use of the land for recreation, leisure and sport and 
therefore there was a concern some of the Skills and Learning use could fall 
outside the definitions of the Act.  Legal advice was sought and it is deemed that 
the provisions of the Act would enable Skills and Learning to remain in the 
premises. The definition of recreation is regarded as very broad but the service 
would need to focus on activities and courses which relate to personal 
development, wellbeing and health as opposed to courses for work/employers. 

35. The transaction will be managed by the Council’s internal legal team once 
instructed. 

Summary of human resources implications 

36. The staff employed by the current operator would be eligible for TUPE transfer to 
the Council’s employment should their roles remain operational. A full 
understanding of TUPE implications is required before completion. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

37. The Efficiency Performance Certificate has scored the building 73, placing it in 
the upper quartile of Band C (51-75). This is evidence that the building is 
compliant with government energy efficiency standards and is already compliant 
for the purpose of rental if required.  The report provides a list of recommended 
improvements for medium term payback (3-7 yrs) including replacement of 
lighting units and lamps, fitting start/stop to the heating system, introducing cavity 
wall insulation to some walls.  Recommendations for longer term payback (7+ 
years include weather compensation and time controls to the heating and 
additional insulation to roof spaces and solid walls.  

38. The Council will have opportunity to apply for Salix decarbonisation/ sustainability 
grants to improve the energy efficiency of the building. 

Summary of public health implications 

39. Increasing access to fitness and health services contributes to the health and 
well-being of local residents and reduces health inequalities.  Service providers 
delivering from this centre will be working in collaboration to achieve the best 
possible outcomes for residents using the centre.  

The delivery of social prescribing programmes such as Parks In Mind within 
Kings Park can deliver health and wellbeing benefits of approximately £20 per 
visit (Vivid Economics – BCP Council Natural Capital Account) 

Summary of equality implications 

40. The acquisition of the building/leasehold itself does not have any equality impact. 

37



The potential projects that are enabled as a result of the acquisition will have an 
equality impact and the potential of those are estimated in the EIA conversation 
tool attached. When these projects are further defined EIAs will need to be 
undertaken to determine the precise impacts and benefits. 

Summary of risk assessment 

41. Due Diligence is yet to be fully completed. This may have an impact on the final 
lease acquisition price. 

42. There is risk associated with taking on a new service that the Council has had no 
direct prior experience of managing, with no guarantee over income levels. This 
risk is reflected in the cautious income projections included within the 25-year 
cashflow forecast.  

43. Should the premises not satisfy current health and safety, disabled access, fire 
safety measures or building requirements and require adaptation work to bring 
the premises up to required standard, this will be reflected in the final acquisition 
price or it will result in additional funding pressures affecting income projections 
and/or disruption to services.  

44. The annual rent from Skills and Learning is funded by external grants from the 
Education Skills Funding Agency.  Whilst there is relative certainty for the 
medium term, there potential remains for future grant funding to be reduced or 
withdrawn by Government.  

45. The Council could choose to either cease steps to acquire the premises (and 
lose the MHCLG funded deposit paid on exchange) or utilise alternative sources 
of funding. There is a risk that MHCLG may seek to recoup the £100k allocated 
to the project, should the Council not proceed with the acquisition.  The Council 
could choose to take out new prudential Invest to Save borrowing from 2021/22, 
if no other external grant funding or CIL is secured.  

46. It is assumed no significant refurbishment or remodelling of premises is required 
at this time, and that the Council will continue to run the premises as a bowls 
club with the food, beverage and a retail outlet continuing when the Council 
takes ownership.  The Council will need to consult with bowls club members on 
any next phase development plans, so as to manage their expectations. 

47. Using BCP Officer review of the current tenant’s unaudited financial statements 
for the last 3 years, prudent estimates of turnover and gross surplus have been 
included within the financial model. 25-year cashflow modelling assumes a 
downward revision to allow for the impact of Covid and general market 
uncertainty at this time. 

 

Background papers 

Boscombe Investment Plan 

Appendices   

Appendix 1 – Summary of financial implications (Confidential appendices) 

38



Document is Restricted

39



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy 

Meeting date  14 April 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  Highway Asset Management principles enable informed decisions 
to be made about investment and maintenance funding; assist in 
the targeting of resources to where they can be most effective and 
enables the identification and management of the risks associated 
with our statutory duties to manage and maintain public 
infrastructure. It is a requirement of the Highway Infrastructure 
Asset Management Guidance and Well-Managed Highway 
Infrastructure produced by the Department for Transport (DfT), that 
highway authorities have an Asset Management Policy and 
Strategy. Each legacy authority had its own policy and strategy. In 
producing a new BCP Policy and Strategy for Highway Asset 
Management, we have reviewed these legacy documents against 
current best practice and produced a set of documents that can be 
adopted and will shape the way we deliver our highway 
maintenance programmes for the next 5 years in line with DfT 
requirements.   

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 (a) Cabinet approves adoption of the draft Highway Asset 

Management Policy and Strategy; and 

(b) Cabinet delegates authority to the Director for Growth 
and Infrastructure, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Transport and Sustainability, to approve the 
subsequent Asset Management Plan and other 
associated operational documents that will be 
produced following the adoption of the Policy and 
Strategy.   

  

45

Agenda Item 9



Reason for 
recommendations 

By adopting the principles set out in the Highway Asset 
Management Policy and Strategy, this would enable informed 
decisions to be made about investment and maintenance funding; 
assist in the targeting of resources to where they can be most 
effective and enable the identification and management of the risks 
associated with the Council’s statutory duties to manage and 
maintain public infrastructure. This will be used to inform the 
proposed highway maintenance programme and ensure that BCP 
Council are able to fully utilise funding awarded. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Cllr Michael Greene 

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan 

Report Authors Gary Powell, Lynne Wait 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision 
Title:  

Background.  

1. It is a requirement of the Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Guidance and 
Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure Codes of Practice that highway authorities 
have an Asset Management Policy and Strategy. These documents were in place 
for the legacy authorities, specifically the Bournemouth Borough Council Highway 
Infrastructure Asset Management Policy and the Borough of Poole Highway Asset 
Management Policy. Dorset County Council would have operated its own policy in 
managing the network within the legacy Christchurch area.  

2. Effective highway asset management is fundamental to the delivery of the Council’s 
highway maintenance services and the delivery of its long-term vision and strategy 
for the benefit of the local community.  Asset Management principles enable 
informed decisions to be made about investment and maintenance funding; assist in 
the targeting of resources to where they can be most effective and enables the 
identification and management of the risks associated with the Council’s statutory 
duties to manage and maintain public infrastructure. The highways network asset 
plays a vital role in enabling BCP Council to prosper and achieve its objectives.  

3. The local highway network is BCP Council’s largest and most valuable publicly 
owned asset with a replacement value £2.7 billion. It is used every day by residents, 
businesses and visitors and provides a vital contribution towards the economic, 
social and environmental well-being of the area. 

4. The objectives of the Asset Management Policy and Strategy documents are to:  

 Demonstrate commitment to adopting the principles of highway infrastructure 
asset management by senior decision makers.   

 Document the principles, concepts and approach adopted in delivering 
highway infrastructure asset management at a high level.  

46



 Link with the local authority’s policies and strategic objectives and 
demonstrate the contribution of the highway service in meeting these.  

 Facilitate communication with stakeholders of the approach adopted to 
managing highway infrastructure assets.  

5. The Asset Management Policy (Appendix 1) describes the principles adopted in 
applying asset management to achieve the authority’s strategic objectives.  

6. The Asset Management Strategy (Appendix 2) sets out how the asset management 
policy is to be achieved, how long-term objectives for managing the highway are to 
be met and how the strategy is to be implemented. It sets clear direction, provides 
links with other relevant documents, such as corporate plans, and sets out the 
benefits of investing in the highway infrastructure. 

Summary of financial implications 

7. The Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy principles are used to 
formulate the future programme of capital works carried out by the Council. It is a 
requirement by the DfT that local highway authorities have and apply a policy and 
strategy, and in the absence of this, would potentially impact on the level of funding 
allocated by them to the Council for the Maintenance Block of our LTP Capital grant.  

8. For 2021/2022 financial year, the BCP Council allocation for LTP Capital 
Programme – Maintenance Block is £4.29M.  

Summary of legal implications 

9. Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 imposes a duty on the Highway Authority (BCP 
Council) to maintain those roads, footways and cycle tracks that are ‘Highway 
maintainable at public expense’.  

10. Section 58 of the Highways Act 1980 states that a statutory defence against third 
party claims is provided where the Highway Authority can establish that reasonable 
care has been taken to ‘secure that the part of the highway to which the action 
relates’ to a level commensurate with the volume of ordinary traffic such that it ‘was 
not dangerous to traffic’.  

11. By adopting the principles set out in the Highway Asset Management Policy and 
Strategy, the Council are better placed to be able to demonstrate that it is meeting 
its statutory duties as set out in the above legislation.  

Summary of human resources implications 

12. The programme of work proposed will be managed collaboratively by internal BCP 
Council resource with support from framework/ tendered contractors as appropriate.  

Summary of sustainability impact 

13. Refer to Appendix 3 – Decision Impact Assessment (DIA) Report  

Summary of public health implications 

14. Budget shortfalls could impact negatively on public health with reduced maintenance 
having an effect on more injuries resulting from crashes, trips and falls and could 
impact use of sustainable travel alternatives, particularly walking and cycling.  

47



Summary of equality implications 

15. The policy and strategy have been Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screened and 
a full EIA is not required, refer to Appendix 4. Individual projects within the resultant 
maintenance programmes would need to be EIA screened and full EIAs completed 
should a need be identified during screening. 

Summary of risk assessment 

16. Inability to undertake sufficient planned and general preventative maintenance work 
will result in an increased depreciation of the highways asset. This will lead to 
increased deterioration and defects as a consequence. 

Background papers 

Well Managed Highways 2016;  

[Published Work] https://www.ciht.org.uk/ukrlg-home/code-of-practice/ 

Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Guidance  

https://www.ciht.org.uk/ukrlg-home/guidance/transport-asset-management-guidance/ 

Roads funding information pack 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/roads-funding-information-pack/roads-

funding-information-pack 

Appendices   

1. Appendix 1 – Draft Highway Asset Management Policy  

2. Appendix 2 – Draft Highway Asset Management Strategy 

3. Appendix 3 – Decision Impact Assessment (DIA) Report 

4. Appendix 4 - Equality Impact Assessment: screening tool 

 

48

https://www.ciht.org.uk/ukrlg-home/code-of-practice/
https://www.ciht.org.uk/ukrlg-home/guidance/transport-asset-management-guidance/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/roads-funding-information-pack/roads-funding-information-pack
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/roads-funding-information-pack/roads-funding-information-pack


 
 

Highway Asset Management 
Policy 2021 – 26 
March 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Growth and Infrastructure 

 
 
Author: WSP on behalf of BCP Council 
Version: 01  
Review Date: 2026 
  

49



1 
 

1. Purpose Statement 
 

1.1 Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP) believe that effective highway 
asset management is fundamental to the delivery of its services and the delivery of its 
long-term vision and strategy for the benefit of the local community.  

Asset Management principles enable informed decisions to be made about investment 
and maintenance funding; assist in the targeting of resources to where they can be 
most effective and enables the identification and management of the risks associated 
with its statutory duties to manage and maintain public infrastructure. 

The highways network asset plays a vital role in enabling BCP Council to prosper and 
achieve its objectives. BCP Council will ensure that the principles of highways asset 
management are embedded in the delivery of highways services and the maintenance 
and improvement of the network. 

2. Who the policy applies to  
 
2.1 This policy is applicable to all who represent BCP Council in any capacity – Members, 

Officers, consultants and contractors 

2.2 This policy is applicable to all public highway infrastructure managed and maintained by  
the Authority 

3. This policy replaces  
 
3.1 This policy repeals all previous Asset Management policies and guidance of the legacy 

councils that were Bournemouth Borough Council, Christchurch Borough Council and 
Borough of Poole.  

3.2 Specifically this policy replaces  

 Bournemouth Borough Council Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Policy 

 Borough of Poole Highway Asset Management Policy 

 Dorset Highways Asset Management Policy and Strategic Approach 
 
4. Approval process 
 
4.1 This policy requires Cabinet approval. 

5. Links to Council Strategies 
 
5.1 This policy supports the Corporate Strategy.  Asset management is at the core of how 

the authority’s services are designed and delivered.   

Sustainable Environment  
The asset management strategy sets out how BCP Council will make best use of 
resources and through effective treatments at the right time or the use of appropriate 
technology, will minimise the environmental impact of maintenance operations. 

Dynamic Places  
Adopting an asset management approach, through improving and maintaining the 
reliability and resilience of the highway network, will ensure that highway infrastructure 
assets support the delivery of services in the local economy and will support the Council 
to deliver its services for the benefit of the local community. 

Connected Communities  
The highway network asset contributes to prosperous communities, encourages social 
connection, street culture, and a sense of pride while improving safety and reducing 
crime. 

 

50



2 
 

 

Brighter Futures  
An effectively managed local road network will ensure that those people in most need of 
access to local services have the best ease of movement, whilst also facilitating the 
support to vulnerable people within their own communities. 

Fulfilled Lives  
Recognising the importance of a well-managed highway infrastructure is critical for 
healthy lifestyle activities, like cycling and walking, as well as contributing to physical 
and mental well-being. 

Maintaining a safe and accessible network encourages people of all ages and abilities 
to get out and about and to live independent lives. 

5.2 During the preparation of this policy document due consideration has been given to the 
following Key Council Strategies:  

 Corporate Plan  

 Sustainable Transport Plan 

 Digital Strategy 

 Workforce Strategy 

 Health & Wellbeing Strategy 

 Climate Change Strategy 

 Equality & Diversity  
 
6. The Policy 

 
6.1 BCP Council will ensure that the principles of highways asset management are 

embedded in the delivery of highways services and the maintenance and improvement 
of the network. 

 In delivering our highways asset management strategy and plan we will  

 Adhere to the relevant statutory requirements for the service  

 Mitigate risks of all sorts to service users and the authority  

 Implement a risk based approach to reactive and planned maintenance activities in 

accordance with national guidelines and codes of practice  

 Take account of the environmental impact and sustainability of plans and operations  

 Communicate with customers and service users and take account of their needs  

 Maximise the return on investment and take a long term approach based upon the 

whole life cost of maintaining our assets  

 Prioritise works using data from engineering surveys and inspections  

 Ensure that a preventative maintenance approach is adopted  

 Identify areas of the network which are vulnerable to adverse weather events and 

take steps to mitigate this where practicable.  

 Identify the pressures that new infrastructure projects and development place on 

maintenance budgets  

 Seek to remove redundant assets from the network 

 

7. How to use this policy 
 

7.1 Every key decision taken in managing and maintaining the authority’s highway network 
asset needs to be able to demonstrate that it is making the very best use of the highway 
assets. Ensuring that a risk based, whole life value and customer focused approach to 
management and maintenance of these assets is applied.  
 

51



3 
 

 

8. Roles and responsibilities 
 
8.1 Highway Asset Management principles and methodologies will only be successful if key 

decision makers, such as Elected Members and those making use of the 
service/network, are on board and are able to visualise the long term benefits and 
savings to be made from this approach.    

 

Role Responsibility 

Elected Members  Ensure their behaviour is consistent with the principles 
of this policy and have a central role to play in ensuring 
that they are integral to the local authority's aims for 
Highway Asset Management 

Corporate Directors  to be proactive in the promotion of Highway Asset 
Management 

Service Directors  to maintain an overview to ensure effective integration 
of the principles of Highway Asset Management within 
their service plans  

Managers to identify appropriate training needs and provide 
training opportunities 

All Staff to take responsibility and be accountable for their own 
behaviour 

 
 
9. Enforcement and sanctions 

 
9.1 Non-compliance with this policy may leave the Authority in a position where it is not 

able to discharge its statutory duty to maintain the Highway Network Asset which in turn 
will lead to a deterioration of the value and condition of this publicly owned 
infrastructure. 

 

10. Further information and evidence  
 
10.1 Corporate Strategy 
10.2 Local Transport Plan 
10.3 Transport Strategy 
10.4 Highways Asset Management Strategy 
10.5 Highways Asset Management Plan 
10.6 Network Management Plan 
10.7 Communication Strategy 
10.8 Data Management Plan 
10.9 Highway Safety Inspection Manual 
10.10 Risk Management Strategy 
10.11 Performance Management Strategy 

 
 

  

52



4 
 

 
 

53



This page is intentionally left blank

54



1 
 

  
 

Highway Infrastructure 
Asset Management 
Strategy 2021 – 26 
March 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Growth and Infrastructure 

 
 
Author: WSP on behalf of BCP Council 
Version: 01  
Review Date: 2026  

55



2 

 

 

Contents 

The Strategy ................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Forward .................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Purpose Statement ................................................................................................................................... 6 

Objectives ................................................................................................................................................. 6 

Strategy applies to .................................................................................................................................... 6 

This strategy replaces ............................................................................................................................... 6 

Approval process ...................................................................................................................................... 6 

Links to Council Strategies ....................................................................................................................... 7 

Asset Management Framework .................................................................................................................... 8 

Links to other plans ................................................................................................................................... 9 

Asset Management Policy................................................................................................................... 10 

Asset Management Plan ..................................................................................................................... 10 

Communication Strategy ..................................................................................................................... 10 

Network Management Plan ................................................................................................................. 10 

Data Management Plan ...................................................................................................................... 11 

Highway Safety Inspection Manual ..................................................................................................... 11 

Risk Management ............................................................................................................................... 11 

Performance Management .................................................................................................................. 12 

Asset Inventory ....................................................................................................................................... 12 

Data Collection ................................................................................................................................... 13 

Asset Management Systems .............................................................................................................. 13 

Community Requirements ...................................................................................................................... 13 

Customer Service ............................................................................................................................... 13 

Customer Care ................................................................................................................................... 13 

Customer Consultation ....................................................................................................................... 14 

Preparing for the future ........................................................................................................................... 14 

An Expanding Highway Network ......................................................................................................... 14 

Sustainability .......................................................................................................................................... 14 

Environmental Conditions ................................................................................................................... 15 

Climate Change Adaption ................................................................................................................... 15 

Network Resilience ............................................................................................................................. 15 

Critical Infrastructure ........................................................................................................................... 15 

Financial Summary ................................................................................................................................. 16 

Asset Valuation ................................................................................................................................... 16 

Funding ............................................................................................................................................... 16 

Lifecycle Planning ............................................................................................................................... 16 

Levels of Service ................................................................................................................................ 17 

Main Asset Groups ................................................................................................................................. 17 

Challenges .......................................................................................................................................... 17 

Carriageway ........................................................................................................................................... 18 

56



3 

 

Strategy .............................................................................................................................................. 18 

Inventory and Hierarchy ...................................................................................................................... 18 

Challenges .......................................................................................................................................... 18 

Condition ............................................................................................................................................ 18 

Approach ............................................................................................................................................ 18 

Desired Outcome ................................................................................................................................ 19 

Footways ................................................................................................................................................ 19 

Strategy .............................................................................................................................................. 19 

Inventory and Hierarchy ...................................................................................................................... 19 

Challenges .......................................................................................................................................... 20 

Condition ............................................................................................................................................ 20 

Approach ............................................................................................................................................ 20 

Desired outcome ................................................................................................................................. 20 

Cycleways .............................................................................................................................................. 21 

Strategy .............................................................................................................................................. 21 

Inventory and Hierarchy ...................................................................................................................... 21 

Challenges .......................................................................................................................................... 21 

Condition ............................................................................................................................................ 21 

Approach ............................................................................................................................................ 21 

Desired outcome ................................................................................................................................. 21 

Highway Structures ................................................................................................................................. 22 

Strategy .............................................................................................................................................. 22 

Inventory and Hierarchy ...................................................................................................................... 22 

Challenges .......................................................................................................................................... 22 

Condition ............................................................................................................................................ 22 

Approach ............................................................................................................................................ 23 

Desired Outcome ................................................................................................................................ 23 

Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) ................................................................................................. 24 

Strategy .............................................................................................................................................. 24 

Inventory and Hierarchy ...................................................................................................................... 24 

Challenges .......................................................................................................................................... 24 

Condition ............................................................................................................................................ 24 

Approach ............................................................................................................................................ 24 

Desired Outcome ................................................................................................................................ 25 

Drainage ................................................................................................................................................. 25 

Strategy .............................................................................................................................................. 25 

Inventory and Hierarchy ...................................................................................................................... 25 

Challenges .......................................................................................................................................... 25 

Condition ............................................................................................................................................ 26 

Approach ............................................................................................................................................ 26 

Desired Outcome ................................................................................................................................ 26 

Street Lighting ........................................................................................................................................ 27 

Strategy .............................................................................................................................................. 27 

57



4 

 

Inventory and Hierarchy ...................................................................................................................... 27 

Challenges .......................................................................................................................................... 27 

Condition ............................................................................................................................................ 27 

Approach ............................................................................................................................................ 27 

Desired Outcome ................................................................................................................................ 27 

Risk Management ................................................................................................................................... 28 

Performance Reporting and Improvement Plan ...................................................................................... 28 

Strategy Review ..................................................................................................................................... 28 

Good Practice and Knowledge Sharing .................................................................................................. 29 

Supporting Documentation ..................................................................................................................... 29 

 
 
 

  

58



5 

 

The Strategy 

Forward 

 

 

I am very pleased to be able to introduce Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council’s (BCP Council) 
Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Strategy (HIAMS).  

The local highway network is BCP largest and most valuable publicly owned asset with a replacement 
value of £2.7 billion. It is used every day by residents, businesses and visitors and provides a vital 
contribution towards the economic, social and environmental well-being of the Area.  

BCP Council is set in an outstanding natural environment and is a beautiful place to live, it is a vibrant and 
popular tourist destination. It is our priority to ensure that residents and visitors can enjoy the area by 
maintaining our roads to a high standard to allow access around our conurbation. 

The Council is committed to the development of good practice and continuous improvement. Adopting 
current best practice will allow us to operate more effectively and put us in a better position to secure 
funding opportunities in the future.   

In the current economic climate, managing the work to get the best value outcomes on highway 
infrastructure has never been more important. The importance of adopting an asset management approach 
which provides a more efficient and effective way of managing the highway infrastructure has been 
reinforced by the Government, where funding streams are linked to those authorities who can demonstrate 
value for money and efficient delivery of highway maintenance activities.   

This Strategy sets out how the highway service will deliver against the Council’s key priorities, taking into 
consideration customer needs, asset condition and best use of available resources. The Strategy supports 
and aligns with the objectives align in our Corporate Plan. 

  

Councillor  
Portfolio Holder 

59



6 

 

Purpose Statement 

This Strategy sets out how the Highway Network Assets within the BCP Council Area will be managed and 
also how the Asset Management Policy will be 
achieved. The Policy is a high-level document that 
confirms BCP Council’s commitment to Highway 
Infrastructure Asset Management. 

The Highway Network Asset contributes to prosperous 
communities, encourages social connection, street 
culture, and a sense of pride while improving safety 
and reducing crime. 

This strategy aligns and contributes to the five 
Priorities set out within BCP’s Corporate Strategy  

1. Sustainable Environment - Leading our 

communities towards a cleaner, sustainable 

future that preserves our outstanding environment 

for generations to come 

2. Dynamic Places - Supporting an innovative, 

successful economy in a great place to live, learn, 

work and visit 

3. Connected Communities - Empowering our  

communities so everyone feels safe, engaged 

and included 

4. Brighter Futures - Caring for our children and 

young people; providing a nurturing environment, 

high quality education and great opportunities to grow and flourish 

5. Fulfilled Lives - Helping people lead active, healthy and independent lives, adding years to life and life 

to years.  

Objectives 

The purpose of this Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Strategy (HIAMS) is to:  

 Improve how the highway assets are managed  

 Enable a more effective and efficient highways service to be delivered  

 Maximise the impact from targeted investment in highway network assets.  

The strategy also identifies the funding challenges and pressures for the main asset groups. 

Strategy applies to 

This strategy is applicable to all who represent BCP Council in any capacity – Members, Officers, consultants 
and contractors 

This strategy is applicable to all public highway infrastructure managed and maintained by BCP 

This strategy replaces  

The HIAMS from the proceeding legacy authorities of Bournemouth Borough Council, Borough of Poole, 
Christchurch and East Dorset District Council and Dorset County Council. 

Approval process 

This strategy requires Cabinet approval. 

  

Figure 1: BCP Corporate Objectives 

60



7 

 

Links to Council Strategies 

During the preparation of this strategy document due consideration has been given to the following Council 
Strategies:  
 

 Corporate Plan  

 Sustainable Transport Plan 

 Digital Strategy 

 Workforce Strategy 

 Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

 Climate Change Strategy 

 Equality and Diversity  

 
 

  

61



8 

 

Asset Management Framework 

The following diagram illustrates the highway infrastructure asset management framework and how 
processes and components relate to national and local factors:  

  

National Transport 
Policy 

 Highway 

Maintenance 

Efficiency 

Programme 

Guidance 

 Government 

Transport 

Policy 

Local Transport 
Policies 

 Local Transport 

Plan 3  

 Network 

Management 

Plan 

 Inspection 

Manual 

 

Legal & Financial 
Constraints 

 Well-managed 

Highway 

Infrastructure 

CoP 

 Legislation 

 Department for 

Transport 

Funding 



Stakeholder 
Expectations 

 National 

Highways and 

Transportation 

Network Survey 

 Reliable and 

Resilient 

Network 

 

C
O

N
T

E
X

T
 

Policy 

 Aligned to Corporate Plan 

 Commitment to Strategic 

Policies & Objectives 

Data 

 Management & Reporting 

 Collection Requirements 

 Asset Register 

Strategy 

 Implement Policy 

 Achieve Policy objectives 

 Strategy for main asset 

groups 

Plan 

 Management and 

Maintenance of main asset 

groups 

Lifecycle Planning 

 Main Asset Groups 

 
 
 

Performance 

 Measures / Targets / 

Monitoring 

 Levels of Service 

P
L

A
N

N
IN

G
 

 

Leadership & Organisation 

 Commitment to Asset 

Management 

 Demonstrate Culture 

Communication Plan 

 National Highways  & 

Transportation Network Survey 

 Local Surveys 

Risk Management 

 Asset Risk Plan / Register 

 Corporate Risk Plan 

 

Asset Management Systems 

 Inventory and Condition Data 

 
 

Budget 

 Service Levels 

 Investment Plan 

 

Performance Monitoring 

 Bench Marking 

 Whole of Government Accounts 

 Annual reviews 

E
N

A
B

L
E

R
S

 

Programme & Service 
Delivery 

 Annual Programme 

 Medium Term 

Programme 

Procurement 

 Collaboration  

 Value for Money 

 
 D

E
L

IV
E

R
Y

 

Figure 2: Asset Management Framework 
62



9 

 

Links to other plans 

This strategy document together with the Policy will form the link between the Corporate Strategy, Business 
Plan and individual service delivery plans.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Within the highway infrastructure asset management framework are a number of documents that have 
been developed and are in the process of being developed to ensure compliance with relevant regulations 
and guidance. These include a number of legacy documents from the proceeding legacy authorities of 
Bournemouth Borough Council and Borough of Poole currently in use during transition phase. 

 

Figure 4: Asset Management Documents 

 

  

Figure 3: Links to other plans 

63



10 

 

Asset Management Policy  

The Highway Asset Management Policy sets out the Councils approach to Highway Asset Management, it 
describes the principles adopted in applying asset management to achieve BCP’s strategic objectives. The 
policy describes the authority’s commitment to highway infrastructure asset management.  It is endorsed by 
senior decision makers, including elected members and is visible to all staff involved in related activities. 

Asset Management Plan 

The objective of the Highway Asset Management Plan is to document the activities and processes of the 
Asset Management Framework and to provide detailed information to senior decision makers to support 
investment decisions and enable longer term planning. The Plan informs all staff about how the highway 
infrastructure is to be managed. The Plan supports the Asset Management Policy and Strategy. 

Communication Strategy  

The Council is responsible for maintaining a highway network that not only 
serves its residents but also supports the growth of the local economy, 
tourism and promotes recreational activities. Effective and efficient 
management of Highway Assets is a significant factor in the ability of the 
Council to deliver its services and enable the economy of the area to thrive. 
A well-maintained highway network plays an essential role in supporting 
growth and attracting increased investment in BCP. 

The adoption of an Asset Management approach ensures that highway 
infrastructure assets support the delivery of services and the local 
economy, taking into account the long-term performance of the asset. 

In delivering the asset management strategy it is vitally important that the 
Council listens and communicates with customers and involve them in how 
services are planned and delivered.  

For this reason, BCP Council is developing a Highway Infrastructure 
Network Communication Strategy (HINCS) which has a number of 
messages to the authority’s stakeholders. The Communication Strategy 
ensures that relevant information is provided to inform and to promote 
engagement with Asset Management. 

Network Management Plan  

The Network Management Plan (NMP) brings together all the objectives, 
policies and standards required to effectively deliver services and manage 
the highway network. With the current pressures being placed on Local 
Authority budgets the need to be effectively and efficiently managing the 
highway network has never been greater.  

The NMP recognises that BCP Council can be taking on several roles when 
managing the network, whether it is as the Traffic Authority, Highway 
Authority or Permit Authority.  

The Council has adopted the Code of Practice for Well-Managed Highway 
Infrastructure (WMH) which is designed to “promote the adoption of an 
integrated asset management approach to highway infrastructure based on 
the establishment of local levels of service through risk-based assessment”. 

The NMP supplements other documents including the Highway 
Infrastructure Asset Management Plan (HIAMP) and Local Transport Plan 
(LTP). Furthermore, the NMP helps the Council to deliver its strategic 
priorities outlined in the Corporate Plan. 

64



11 

 

Data Management Plan  

The highway network is surveyed routinely using a variety of different 
methods to collect data and condition information. BCP has in place a data 
collection strategy “Highway Asset Information Strategy” which is aligned to 
the UKRLG Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Guidance.  

Collected asset data is added to the Asset Register, which is a live system 
that benefits from continual updating as assets are created installed, 
repaired or removed.  

Streets will be added to the Network when they are formally adopted as 
Public Highway.  

The data held in the system includes:  

 Street Gazetteer and Network information  

 Inspection records  

 Condition information  

 Maintenance histories  

 

 

Highway Safety Inspection Manual  

The Highway Safety Inspection Manual sets out the requirements for 
carrying out highway safety inspections on the highway network and 
contains guidance on BCP’s policy and requirements for prioritising timely 
repairs to safety defects in accordance with the risk-based approach 
methodology described within the Code of Practice.  

Personnel responsible for managing or carrying out highway safety 
inspections as well as other staff who are responsible for the identification 
and/or instruction of defect repairs will need to comply with the requirements 
set out in the manual. 

 

 

 

Risk Management  

Risk Management requires a less prescriptive approach to asset 
assessment and allows decisions to be made using risk assessments on the 
needs and local variation to meet the demands of highway infrastructure 
asset management which are outlined in the context section of the Asset 
Management Framework.  To ensure that users’ reasonable expectations 
for consistency are taken into account, the approach of and, in particular, 
adjoining other local highway authorities has been considered.    

The purpose of a risk-based approach is the consistent application of a 
decision-making process to:  

 Correctly evaluate the risk posed to highway users by all defects or 

deficiencies in the highway asset  

 Prioritise resources so that the risk is managed effectively  

 Ensure the efficient use of available resources  

 Understand performance and address any gaps in resources or 

performance  

 Ensure value for money  

 Enable monitoring of outcomes 

65



12 

 

Performance Management  

The demands placed on the highway network will change 
over time and consequently place greater or lesser 
pressures on highway infrastructure assets.  Levels of 
Service are a simple and effective way of describing the 
service that is to be delivered by the Highway Authority.  

These can identify the way it is to be measured in a way 
that helps stakeholders understand what can be expected.  
It is therefore necessary to set Levels of Service to specify 
the standard of service that is to be delivered.  

These Levels of Service take into consideration statutory 
duties, national and regional guidance, the management 
and mitigation of risk both to the service user and the 
volume and type of traffic using the network.   

The Council monitors its service levels through a range of performance indicators which are routinely 
reported to senior management for review, as part of BCP’s Corporate Performance Management 
Framework.  

Asset Inventory  

To effectively and efficiently manage the Council’s highway network asset, there needs to be an 
appreciation of the size and condition of it. A managed inventory of highway network assets is therefore 
fundamental.  The Council holds a significant amount of data particularly on its main assets 

 Carriageways 

 Footways  

 Cycleways Structures 

 Drainage Gullies 

 Intelligent Transport Systems including Traffic Signals  

 Street Lighting  

 Rights of Way  

Knowledge of the highway assets will continue to expand through an asset management approach.  

Currently the Council’s inventory includes: 

Asset Quantity  

Carriageway Length 1,248 km  

Footway Length 
not yet collated accurately for BCP  
 

Cycleway Length 
not yet collated accurately for BCP  
 

Highway Structures 273 No.  

Gullies 59,706 No.  

Vehicle Restraint System Length 56.6 km  

Rights of Way / footpath Length 142 km  

Traffic Signals Junctions 120 No.  

Controlled Pedestrian Crossings 252 No.  

Variable Message Signs 40 No.  

66



13 

 

Asset Quantity  

Street Lighting 38,196 Units Poole and Bournemouth only - 
Christchurch Street Lighting is still 
part of Dorset PFI   

Table 1: Asset Inventory  

Plus, drainage connections, street furniture, road markings and soft estate 

Data Collection  

The highway network is surveyed routinely using a variety of different methods to collect data and 
condition. A programme of inventory surveys is developed each year based on priorities and available 
budgets.  Inventory data is only collected and maintained where there are demonstrable benefits when 
compared to the cost of collecting and maintaining this data.  

Asset Management Systems 

The Council recognises that effective asset management and its implementation relies on asset 
management systems that can be used as tools to support decision making at all levels.  

The right systems coupled with well-maintained and audited data are important to reporting and monitoring 
of asset performance. 

Asset condition is an important factor of performance. The right investment decisions are unlikely to be 
made without this information.  

The asset inventory, condition and defect data are currently stored and interpreted in a number of ways, 
utilising asset specific systems.  

These systems are maintained and upgraded to provide greater functionality and benefit from continual 
improvements in IT and developments in asset management. 

The inventory contains sufficient data to allow reporting of the annual Whole of Government Accounts 
(WGA) valuation of the transport assets ensuring compliance with the requirements of the UKRLG Highway 
Infrastructure Asset Management Guidance. The asset inventory will be periodically reviewed, and the 
Asset Register consolidated. 

The collected asset data, for each asset group, will be stored in an appropriate asset management system 
in a cost effective and appropriate format to ensure it is readily available to those that need it.  Effective 
asset management relies on systems that can be used to support decision making at all levels.   

Community Requirements 

This section describes information about the community’s requirements for the highway network asset.  It 
outlines how this information is obtained and what it says in relation to community preferences.  

Customer Service 

Customer service is a consistent feature across all highway assets and activities. Core objectives of the 
Council’s customer service include   

 Delivery of satisfaction 

 Provide effective consultation and communications 

 Dealing effectively with enquiries and complaints 

Customer Care 

Customer contacts with the council regarding highways are managed using a customer relationship 
management (CRM) system.  The system is used to record and categorise contacts made by customers 
and the actions taken in response to the queries and issues are monitored and reported.  

67



14 

 

Customer Consultation  

BCP Council participates and utilises the information supplied annually to the National Highways and 
Transportation Network (NHT) Survey which serves to provide details on levels of customer satisfaction 
with local authority services and practices.   

This helps target and publish information clearly and effectively to ensure members of the public and other 
highway stakeholders are as fully informed as possible about the current performance of the Council’s 
services.  It drives the Council’s performance, identifying public perceived gaps, helps us analyse the 
public’s understanding and will inform the communications approach.  

Details of the results of the surveys are available at www.nhtnetwork.co.uk    

Preparing for the future    

An Expanding Highway Network   

The highway network increases in size year on year and so too do the number of assets maintained by the 
Council.   

Although the Council is not obliged to adopt new roads, the Highways Act 1980 gives the Authority the 
power to adopt highways by Agreement. In doing so, the Council supports economic growth and ensures 
that the roads and other highway assets constructed are installed to an acceptable standard that will benefit 
the residents, businesses, local communities and public / emergency / health services.  When a new 
section of highway is adopted, in certain circumstances a commuted sum is paid to the Council for some 
assets to fund future maintenance.   

In some instances, developers choose not to enter into an Agreement with the Authority and these streets 
remain under private ownership.  Equally, if the developer fails to construct the adoptable highway assets 
to the required standard it will not be adopted.   

Sustainability 

Sustainability in terms of asset management links to the wider environment and sustainability principles of 
the Council. The longer-term approach to highway asset management will consider actions to mitigate 
direct and indirect impacts of highway maintenance on the environment and communities taking into 
account 

 Nature Conservation and Biodiversity  

 Effects of Extreme Weather  

 Environmental Impact 

 Carbon Costs – footprint, material appraisal, waste management and recycling  

 Energy Reduction  

 Noise  

 Air Quality and Pollution Control  

 Walking & Cycling (Active Travel) 

The effect of sustainability may have on investment priorities and lifecycle costs of the highway assets.   

68

http://www.nhtnetwork.co.uk/


15 

 

Environmental Conditions 

Environmental conditions have a significant influence on the condition of 
the road network.    

Over recent years the UK has experienced periods of severe weather 
with a number of particularly harsh winters, extreme summer heat and 
prolonged dry spells, storms causing flooding and damage to trees. 

During winter periods, freeze/thaw action can accelerate the 
deterioration of carriageways and footways, and winter maintenance 
operations have a direct effect on the resources needed for other 
maintenance activities.  One of the reasons why road surfaces 
deteriorate is that ultra-violet light and heat damages bitumen on the 
surface leading to oxidisation and a loss of strength.  Therefore, there is 
a need to consider what impact this may have on carriageway surface 
material specification and lifecycle cost estimates.   

Climate Change Adaption   

The Climate Change Act 2008 places obligations on the Authority and 
others to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and prepare to adapt to 
longer term climate change.  The same Act established an independent 
statutory body, the Committee on Climate Change to provide advice to 
the UK. The Committee’s latest risk assessment concludes, as 
expected, that the trend of overall land warming leading to warmer 
summers and wetter windier winters will continue, and that this will likely 
affect transport infrastructure including BCP’s roads, drains and 
structures.  The effects of climate change on the Authority’s highway 
assets have already been seen during several cold, wet and windy 
weather events in recent years.    

BCP declared a climate and ecological emergency on 16 July 2019, 
committing the authority to be carbon neutral by 2030. A report outlining 
153 proposed actions has been approved by Full Council.  

Network Resilience  

The Flood and Water Management Act introduced new duties for local authorities which will need to be 
considered when managing the various asset groups.  Investment in Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems 
(SuDS) and design considerations in new schemes has an increased focus on preventing surface water 
flooding.  The introduction and maintenance of SuDS is a further pressure on maintenance budgets as 
these are more expensive to maintain than traditional drainage systems.    

Critical Infrastructure   

Critical infrastructure refers to routes and assets where failure would result in a significant impact to the 
local, and potentially the national economy, and affect the ability of public / emergency / health services to 
carry out their responsibilities. A Resilient Network has been identified by the Council and is formed from 
the winter gritting routes. This Resilient Network will provide the primary access roads to key services 
during extreme weather 

The Council’s Emergency Plan outlines BCP Council’s core response to emergencies and major incidents. 

To help inform maintenance priorities and investment decisions knowledge of critical assets in terms of 
their current performance and the impact of their failure would have on the network is crucial. 

Management, including appropriate investment, of critical assets is essential to ensure that these assets 
are sufficiently resilient to cope with potential risk and threats.  These potential risks and threats to the 
function of critical infrastructure, include climate change, impacts from flooding, rising temperature, high 
winds and drought.   

  

69



16 

 

Financial Summary  

Asset Valuation 

The Authority is required to meet the requirements for financial reporting of the highway asset to Her 
Majesty’s (HM) Treasury using the Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) process.   

This process allows The Council to understand the value of BCP’s highway infrastructure assets and 
improves the Council’s understanding of the network and deterioration. To undertake this process asset 
condition and data information is required. 

The Gross Replacement Cost (GRC) represents the cost of replacing the existing asset with a new modern 
equivalent asset.  The Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) represents the GRC less the value of the 
deductions for physical deterioration and obsolescence.  

The annualised depreciation figure is the cost of all the treatment required to restore the service life of the 
asset spread over the lifecycle.  This is the theoretical annual cost of maintaining the asset in a "steady 
state" condition although in practice the budgets and costs are significantly less than this. 

Funding  

Funding for maintaining the highway network asset is made available from a combination of revenue and 
capital allocations.  In general, revenue funding is provided by BCP Council and capital funding is provided 
by central government.   In addition, specific grants (revenue and capital) may be made available by both 
BCP Council and central government for certain items e.g. excessive deterioration and damage caused by 
severe winters, drought and flooding.    

Highway network assets generally deteriorate slowly and the effect of a change in the level of funding is not 
always immediately evident.  Specific funding strategies for the main assets will be developed within the 
Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Plan (HIAMP) using long term predictions (typically, 20 years 
plus) of condition and will consider the whole life cost of maintaining the asset.  Using long term predictions 
means that decisions about funding levels can also be taken with due consideration of the future 
maintenance funding liabilities that are being created.    

Lifecycle Planning  

Lifecycle planning principles have been adopted by the Authority to review the level of funding, support 
investment decisions and substantiate the need for appropriate and sustainable long-term investment in 
highway asset management. 

Lifecycle planning establishes a strategic approach to the management of highway assets, from 
construction to disposal. It is the prediction of future performance of an asset, or a group of assets, based 
on investment scenarios and maintenance strategies. This lifecycle plan is the documented output of this 
process as adopted by the Authority. 

The Lifecycle Planning process includes the following steps: 

 Performance expectations, consistent with goals, available budgets, and organisational policies, are 

established and used to guide the analytical process, as well as the decision-making framework. 

 Inventory and performance information are collected and analysed. This information provides input 

on future network requirements. 

 The use of analytical tools and processes to develop viable cost-effective strategies for meeting 

Local Authority needs and requirements, using performance expectations as critical inputs. 

 Alternative options are then evaluated, consistent with long-term plans, policies, and goals. The 

entire process is re-evaluated annually through performance monitoring and systematic processes. 

The Lifecycle Planning objectives for the authority’s main assets are set out below: 

 Identify long-term investment for carriageway assets and develop an appropriate maintenance 

strategy. 

 Predict future performance of highway infrastructure assets for different levels of investment and 

different maintenance strategies. 

 Determine the level of investment required to achieve the required performance. 

 Determine the performance that will be achieved for available funding and / or future investment. 

70



17 

 

 Support decision-making, the case for investing in maintenance activities, and demonstrate the 

impact of different funding scenarios. 

 Minimise costs over the lifecycle, whilst maintaining the required performance. 

Levels of Service  

The WMH Code of Practice recommends that a risk-based approach should be adopted for all aspects of 
highway infrastructure maintenance, including setting levels of service. Adopting a risk-based approach 
enables BCP to set levels of service appropriate to circumstances and are achievable for the available 
budgets. 

The core objectives for maintenance are 

Network Safety 

 Meeting statutory obligations Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 

 Meet road users need for safety 

Network Serviceability 

 Ensure availability 

 Achieve integrity 

 Maintain reliability 

 Resilience 

 Manage condition 

Network Sustainability 

 Minimising cost over time 

 Maximising value to the community 

 Minimising environmental impact 

Main Asset Groups 

The main assert groups dealt with within this strategy documents are 

 Carriageway 

 Footway  

 Cycleway 

 Highways Structures 

 Intelligent Transportation Systems including Traffic Signals 

 Drainage 

 Street Lighting 

Challenges 

 Funding 

National underfunding of highway assets has been a long standing issue. Securing longer term 
funding is critical for developing BCP’s asset management approach. BCP aspire to making sure 
that the funding is targeted “right time – right place” and having the right resources who are fully 
trained to be able to deliver,  

 Cross Asset Prioritisation 

The code of practice recommends that in developing priorities and programmes, consideration 
should be given to prioritising across asset groups as well as within them. The Council has adopted 
a process that is fair and addresses the most important asset needs utilising a staged and 
prioritised approach to allocating the funding. 

 Backlog 

The backlog is the amount of money required to bring the highway network asset back into a 
reasonable condition. Currently, the rate at which the highway network assets are deteriorating far 
exceeds the rate of investment from central government, as a consequence the rate of deterioration 
and hence the backlog continues to increase. 

71



18 

 

Carriageway 

Strategy 

It is the strategy of BCP to manage the carriageway network and associated assets in an effective and 
affordable manner whilst maintaining the assets value, availability, and safety to users of the network, and 
to support tourism within the Authority. The carriageway and associated assets will be maintained to a 
standard appropriate to their location and use, including treatments and maintenance techniques. 

Inventory and Hierarchy 

Carriageways are one of BCP’s main asset groups they tend to be the most valuable and visible public 
asset owned and maintained by the Council. 

Class 
Length of Network (km) 

Rural Urban Total 

A 28.48 107.46 135.94 

B 5.30 55.31 60.61 

C 10.36 106.12 116.48 

Unclassified 2.04 933.00 935.04 

Total 46.18 1201.89 1,248.07 

Table 2: Carriageway Inventory 

The carriageway asset is managed according to a hierarchy based on road classification, and further 
divided by urban/rural road type. The unclassified carriageway is typically residential roads and makes up 
77% of the whole network.  

A characteristic of the unclassified roads is that they tend to be constructed with less substructure, due to 
the lower commercial vehicle use, and are most at risk of rapid deterioration from the ingress of water and 
overloading. 

Challenges 

Carriageways may suffer progressive deterioration where there is a lack of investment. Severe weather 
over the last few winters combined with flooding has caused additional damage. 

The main concerns over the future condition of this asset are:  

 Sufficiency of future budgets to maintain the road network.  

 Roads with less substructure at risk of rapid deterioration.  

 Use of roads with less substructure being used by buses increasing the rate of deterioration.  

 Poor utility reinstatements.  

 Resource to deliver the current programme and develop the forward programme.   

 Impacts of Climate Change 

 Insufficiency of future budgets to maintain A and B roads.  

 Minor roads, forming vital link for local communities being heavily used, but with little structure are at 

risk of rapid deterioration due to water ingress and overloading. 

Condition  

In some cases, the structure and use of the carriageway has evolved rather than been designed, 

consequently the structure is inconsistent and is not always fit for purpose. The unclassified network is at 

most risk of rapid deterioration. Typically, these roads have little structure and consist of a thin layer of 

bituminous surfacing laid over a stone base. 

Approach 

BCP has adopted a lifecycle planning approach to carriageway maintenance, which means that investment 

can then be targeted where it will return the greatest whole life cost. 

72



19 

 

Using lifecycle planning will help develop a long-term investment strategy to reduce the maintenance 

backlog and allow the most efficient use of funding available. 

To maximise Value for Money, a preventative maintenance approach has been implemented, maintenance 

is designed to be undertaken just before the onset of rapid deterioration and in advance of the requirement 

for structural treatments. Typically for carriageways these preventative treatments include surface dressing 

and micro asphalt which are cost-effective techniques used to prolong the life of roads that are starting to 

show the first signs of minor deterioration. The process is an economical method which seals the road 

surface whilst improving attributes, such as surface ride and skid resistance of a road which is structurally 

sound. 

Using a preventative approach will enable far more of the network to be treated. 

Desired Outcome  

 To meet the statutory obligation on BCP as the highway authority to maintain the public highway 

Safe for Use and Fit for Purpose. 

 Maintain the carriageway condition with minimum whole life cost. 

 To deliver a sustainable improvement in carriageway condition 

 Investment will recognise the differences in condition between various road hierarchies 

 Maintain their structural integrity and maximise their lifespan, to provide maximum value for money 

from investment. 

Footways 

Strategy 

It is the strategy of BCP to manage the footway and cycleway network in an effective and affordable 

manner whilst maintaining the assets value, availability, and safety to users of the network. The footway 

and cycleway networks will be maintained to a standard appropriate to their location and use including 

treatments and maintenance techniques. 

Footways and cycleways are essential assets used as a healthy alternative to vehicular travel providing 

vital access for work, school, business, shopping and leisure. Encouraging walking and cycling is vitally 

important within the authority as a means of improving the current low levels of physical activity, health and 

also the environment by reducing carbon emissions and improving poor air quality. 

Inventory and Hierarchy  

Footways form an integral part of the highway infrastructure. 

There are many different types of footway construction within the authority, most of the network is of 

bituminous material and classed as urban. The hierarchy lengths maintained are detailed in the following 

table. 

Hierarchy Length of Network (km) 

1a Prestige Walking Zones TBC 

1 Primary Walking Routes TBC 

2 Secondary Walking Routes TBC 

3 Link Footways TBC 

4 Local Access Footways TBC 

Total TBC 

Table 3: Footway Inventory 

There are areas of flagged footways and modular footways particularly in the town and local shopping 

centres. These footways are essential for users to connect homes with businesses, school and other 

leisure facilities. For many these are their only links to travel and access public transport. 

73



20 

 

Challenges 

The main concerns over the future condition of this asset are:  

 Sufficiency of future budgets to maintain footway network.  

 Limited condition data on a large part of the asset.  

 Tree roots causing major structural damage to footways.  

 Insufficiency of resource to develop the forward programme. 

 Poor utility reinstatements.  

 Impacts of Climate Change 

Condition 

Unlike carriageways the condition of footways is not routinely measured, largely because generally 
footways deteriorate at a slower rate than roads, primarily because vehicles are not normally travelling on 
them.  

The consequences of poor maintenance are often less pronounced than those for roads.  The principle risk 
on footways is from trip hazards, particularly in high footfall locations. However, where vehicles do regularly 
park on or traverse footways even small defects can escalate quickly.  This both increases the replacement 
costs and shortens the life of the asset.  

A programme of surveys, over a four-year period, has been instigated to gather inventory and condition 
data.  

Approach 

BCP has adopted a lifecycle planning approach to footway maintenance, which means that investment can 
then be targeted where it will return the greatest whole life cost. 

To fully utilise this approach and to make better informed decisions about prioritisation a programme has 

been set out to collect condition data of all footway category types. Investment will recognise the 

differences in condition and usage between various hierarchies  

Desired outcome  

 To meet the statutory obligation on BCP as the highway authority to maintain the public highway 

Safe for Use and Fit for Purpose. 

 Support the recognised benefits of walking to health, the environment and the economy  

 To achieve BCP’s ambition to make walking an accepted choice for shorter journeys and to promote 

active travel. 

 To deliver a sustainable improvement in footway condition 

 Maintain the footway condition with minimum whole life cost 

 

  

74



21 

 

Cycleways 

Strategy 

It is the strategy of BCP to manage the cycleway network in an effective and affordable manner whilst 

maintaining the assets value, availability, and safety to users of the network. The cycleway network will be 

maintained to a standard appropriate to their location and use including treatments and maintenance 

techniques. 

Cycleways are essential assets used as a healthy alternative to vehicular travel providing vital access for 

work, school, business, shopping and leisure. Encouraging active travel is vitally important within the 

authority as a means of improving the current low levels of physical activity, health and also the 

environment by reducing carbon emissions and improving poor air quality. 

Inventory and Hierarchy  

Cycleways form an integral part of the highway infrastructure. Cycling provision continues to expand in 

BCP and new networks are being incorporated on a frequent basis 

Challenges 

The main concerns over the future condition of this asset are:  

 Sufficiency of future budgets to maintain cycleway network.  

 Limited condition data on a large part of the asset.  

 Insufficiency of resource to develop the forward programme. 

 Poor utility reinstatements.  

 Impacts of Climate Change. 

 Cycleways that form part of carriageway, current prioritisation process does not reflect the use as a 
cycleway   

Condition 

At present the condition of the off road cycleway network is not routinely measured. Cycleways that are part 
of the road condition is collected as part of the carriageway condition data – but not separately identified   

Approach 

BCP will develop a long-term maintenance investment strategy for active travel. Investing in maintenance 

to ensure safe, reliable, convenient and attractive conditions for cycling. 

Desired outcome  

 To meet the statutory obligation on BCP as the highway authority to maintain the public highway 

Safe for Use and Fit for Purpose. 

 Support the recognised benefits of cycling to health, the environment and the economy  

 To make roads safer and more attractive for cyclists 

 To achieve BCP’s ambition is to make cycling an accepted choice for shorter journeys and to 

promote active travel. 

  

75



22 

 

Highway Structures 

Strategy 

BCP’s strategy for highway structures is to ensure that structures are maintained to a condition where the 
safety of the highway user is not compromised. Where new structures are to be installed, the authority will 
ensure these structures are designed and constructed to current standards. 

As the Highway Authority BCP has a statutory duty to maintain all highway structures including bridges, 
culverts, subways, retaining walls etc.  

Inventory and Hierarchy  

The inventory of highway structures currently shows there to be over 270 structures within the authority 
which are ‘owned’ by BCP this represents a significant publicly owned asset. 

Structure Type Number 

Bridge or culvert with span greater than 1.5m 98 

Bridge or culvert with span less than 1.5m 19 

Retaining Wall 60 

Subway 45 

Footbridge 42 

Sign Gantry 7 

Commercial building supporting the highway 2 

Total 273 

Table 4: Structures Inventory 

Challenges 

The type and age of the bridges varies enormously, ranging from historic masonry arches to modern 
complex steel and reinforced concrete structures.  Although BCP’s structure stock is relatively small in 
comparison to other Authorities it does include some extremely large and complex bridges which need 
specialist inspection and repair techniques.    

Works identified as part of the prioritisation process and subsequent ranking of major structural repairs or 
complete replacement will not be able to be funded from the typical maintenance budgets. Consideration 
should in these circumstances be made for supplementary investment through bidding or borrowing 
opportunities.  

Condition 

Detailed inventory and condition data is held for all highway structures.  

In a similar fashion to carriageways and footways, the results of structures inspections are used to 
represent the state of the structure stock. Each structure is assigned two numerical Bridge Condition Index 
(BCI) ratings: an Average BCI score (BCIav) and a Critical BCI score (BCIcrit).  

Individual structure condition scores are combined to give a Stock Condition indicator score. These provide 
a high-level overview of the structure stock. They are effective when used to monitor trends over time and 
to determine whether the stock condition is improving, remaining constant or is progressively deteriorating 
with time. 

The Bridge Condition Index (BCI) forms the core element of assessing highway structures and assigning 
works into the future. The BCI represents the outcome of all assessments of the structure. 

  

76



23 

 

Approach 

BCP will continue to follow the principles set out in the Code of Practice for Well-Managed Highway 
Infrastructure (WMH). 

All highway structures (including bridges, culverts, underpasses and subways) are subject to regular visual 
inspections in accordance with best practice. These include two main types of inspections: General and 
Principal.  

Inspections of structures have a dual purpose. They serve to confirm that routine maintenance is being 
done properly and effectively and that maintenance schedules are correctly calibrated. They also serve to 
identify capital maintenance requirements.  

Structural geometry, condition and capacity assessments are carried out on structures to ensure they can 
carry their designated loading. When necessary strengthening projects will be carried out or weight limits 
imposed. 

Ranking of maintenance works are generally prioritised to target low BCI critical scores first because these 
represent the greatest risk, however funding availability and efficiencies through combining work with other 
highway projects is also considered. 

Desired Outcome 

 To ensure fitness for purpose and extend the life of the structures 

 Enhance the quality of the environment for users and residents.  

 To meet the statutory obligation on BCP as the highway authority to maintain the public highway 

Safe for Use and Fit for Purpose. 

 To maintain the bridge stock in its overall current condition with appropriate interventions to deliver 

value for money. 

  

77



24 

 

Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) 

Strategy 

Traffic signal-controlled junctions and pedestrian crossings form an important highway asset, contributing to 
the safe and efficient use of the road network, promoting economic growth within the authority, promoting 
walking and cycling and improving accessibility.   

These assets allow effective management of traffic flow around the authority while improving safety for all 
network users.   

Inventory and Hierarchy 

ITS form an essential part of the highway infrastructure asset  

Asset Type Number 

Signal controlled junction  120 

Toucan crossing  75 

Pelican/Puffin crossing  177 

Real Time Information Signs 242 

Variable Message Signs 40 

VAS Signs TBC 

Other ITS (Variable Message Sign, Real Time 
Information, Closed Circuit Television and Car Park 
Monitoring) 

164 

Total 818 

Table 5: Intelligent Traffic Systems Inventory 

Challenges 

Maintaining a programme to replace and upgrade equipment if funding cannot be secured via being part of 
wider improvement initiatives will have a significant impact on the future condition of the asset with the 
associated potential for reduced levels of service and customer satisfaction. 

Condition  

The ITS assets are generally in average condition and historically a reactive maintenance approach has 
been taken to replace elements of the ITS.  

Over the last few years there have been opportunities to replace equipment as part of wider initiatives for 
example the Local Sustainable Transport Fund programme of works.   

This capital investment has reduced the long-term revenue maintenance burden. Through upgrading signal 
control systems to Extra Low Voltage (ELV) this requires less infrastructure such as ducting at the 
implementation stage. This in conjunction with the use of Light Emitting Diode (LED) lamps. 

Approach 

To continue to effectively manage existing ITS assets, reducing fault repair times and striving for efficiency 
saving through working with partners and suppliers to continually improve BCP’s service.    

The principles of Management of Electronic Traffic Equipment: A Code of Practice will continue to be 
applied. A lifecycle planning process will be used to determine a cyclic programme for replacement.  

Continued use of energy and cost saving technologies within the traffic signals assets. Schemes such as 
replacement of old-style halogen signal heads with LED lighting heads and traffic signal sites to be 
changed to using extra low voltage (ELV) will form part of the works programme. 

BCP will operate efficient economical systems to manage traffic flows effectively, reduce congestion and 
allow automatic fault reporting. The systems employed will be maintained to a usable standard to ensure 
traffic conflicts are avoided and to maintain safe passage for all highway users. 

78



25 

 

Desired Outcome 

 Efficient operation and maintenance to allow those using the road network to move around the 
authority with the minimum of delay and disruption.   

 Maintenance regimes in place that ensure that the traffic signal installations are maintained in a safe 
structural and electrical condition. 

 Planned improvement of the ITS stock to reduce operating costs and average age of the asset  

 Maintain as a minimum the current condition and continue with the current maintenance regime and 
programme of planned equipment replacement.  

 Reduce operating costs using ELV and LED technology.  

Drainage 

Strategy 

BCP’s strategy for highway drainage is to manage the drainage asset in an effective and affordable manner 
that keeps the assets free from obstructions to provide the greatest opportunity to remove water effectively 
and efficiently from the surface of the highway allowing users to pass safely. 

Inventory and Hierarchy 

BCP’s highway drainage network includes a wide range of assets, varying from combined kerb drainage 
units to open watercourses, which assist in the Council’s duty to safely drain the highway.  

Asset Type Number 

Gullies  59,706 

Grips  Data not available 

Catch-pits  Data not available 

Culverts Data not available 

Other drainage types Data not available 

Table 6: Drainage Asset Inventory 

BCP does not yet hold a complete inventory of all drainage asset components. Whilst inventory asset data 
exists with regard to the majority of highway gullies, information on the associated outfall systems, of 
various types, into which they discharge is limited.  The cost of collecting such data would be very high and 
cannot currently be justified.  

Inventory and data is collected on a site by site basis when for example flooding issues are investigated, 
asset knowledge is growing as the inventories grow. 

Challenges 

Highways drainage assets form a critical role in removing standing water from the highway and if 
maintained effectively the asset requires minimal capital investment.   

Select localised data suggests that typically where gully connections have faced damage, often from utility 
works or tree roots, these have the potential to cause problems in the autumn/winter with large quantities of 
leaves making them susceptible to quickly becoming blocked.  

Failure to invest in planned cyclic drainage activities linked to ditches, catch-pits, soakaways carries a risk 
across the network, in terms of standing water on the carriageway (ice in the winter months), and 
accelerated deterioration of the road construction. In some weather events drainage is at or above capacity 
and in some cases is influenced by tides or natural water table. 

Reduced revenue budgets mean that many drainage maintenance activities have either ceased or been 
reduced significantly. This reduced drainage maintenance could be attributed to a reduction in material life 
and deterioration in parts of the road network.   

The importance of understanding the drainage asset has been enhanced with the introduction of the Flood 
and Water Management Act 2010 which promotes finding suitable solutions to surface water problems 
through organisations working together as necessary. 

79



26 

 

Condition 

The condition of the drainage asset is proven to have a direct influence on the condition of other highway 
assets. Non-functioning or inadequate drainage has the potential to speed up the deterioration process of 
road and footway construction, through water ingress.  BCP has adopted a maintenance programme that 
seeks to achieve the policy objective and also minimise wider damage to other highway assets. 

BCP are developing performance-based levels of service to monitor the performance of asset 
maintenance. For drainage services this level of service will include measure of the gully cleaning 
programme performance.  

Condition based levels of service are intrinsically linked to predictable investment and the current 
environment does not allow consistent and predictable investment, subsequently levels of service, although 
linked to long term forecasting when developed will be updated annually in line with budgeting. 

Approach 

Highways drainage assets form a critical role in removing standing water from the highway and if 
maintained effectively require minimal capital investment.   

BCP has adopted the principles of the Code of Practice for Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure (WMH). 
The approach for highway drainage is to target maintenance and investment in flooding hotspots, focusing 
on protecting the resilient road network, working with the Flood Risk Management team, to identify priority 
sites. 

A risk-based gully emptying regime is in place with areas known to be vulnerable to blockages given 
greater priority and emptied more frequently.  Data from historic cleaning and from new visits is used to 
produce a flexible schedule of works based on gully condition e.g. empty, half full or full.  Roads with full 
gullies will have frequencies increased and those which have empty gullies will have the frequency 
extended.  Leaf fall and flood risk are also taken into account. 

Desired Outcome 

 To meet the statutory obligation on BCP as the highway authority to maintain a safe highway by 

assessing and prioritising high risk flooding issues, programme accordingly and work in partnership 

with other organisations to deliver other benefits where possible.  

 To assess and prioritise high risk flooding issues  

 Develop forward programme for capital maintenance schemes 

 Target the construction of highway drainage schemes to result in fewer residential and business 

properties being at risk of flooding (measured as the number of residential or business properties 

protected) or fewer flooding related highway safety concerns (measured as the distance of highway 

better protected from flooding).   

  

80



27 

 

Street Lighting 

Strategy 

BCP’s strategy for street lighting is to maintain the condition of the lighting stock in a steady state. 
Manage the street lighting asset in an effective and affordable manner, ensuring the safety of all network 
users. 

Inventory and Hierarchy 

Lighting forms part of the highway infrastructure asset  

Asset Type Number 

Street Lights   
Columns, luminaries and cable  infrastructure  

34,387 

Signs and Bollards   
Illuminated and non-Illuminated  

3,155 

Other Lighting 
Wall mounted, subway, school, zebra, marker and gas  

654 

Total 38,196 

Table 7: Street Lighting Inventory (excludes Christchurch PFI) 

Challenges 

Lighting columns will continue to deteriorate over time, future budgets will need to reflect the ongoing need 
to monitor and replace columns to maintain the condition of the stock. 

Condition 

Over recent years there has been significant investment in the authority’s street lighting stock to  

 install LED luminaries (except for those mounted on specialist high masts and listed heritage 
lighting),  

 replace mild steel columns which were past design life,  

 replace columns over 40 years old and associated lanterns 

This has enabled greater efficiencies in identifying faults and has helped to reduce ongoing maintenance 
costs.  

A function of the replacement programme was to update the asset inventory and install a Central 
Management System (CMS). The CMS has enabled greater management of maintenance records.  

Approach 

BCP has adopted the principles of the Code of Practice for Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure (WMH) 
Investment will be targeted in key areas and a programme will be developed that will bring the assets of 
Bournemouth and Poole legacy councils in to line. 

Maintenance of the street lighting stock will be undertaken through programmes of electrical testing, 
structural inspections, bulk lamp replacements and lens cleaning. 

Desired Outcome 

 To meet the statutory obligation on the authority as the highway authority to maintain the public 
highway Safe for Use and Fit for Purpose. 

 Planned improvement of the lighting column stock to reduce the average age  

 Understanding of whether a cyclic painting maintenance approach to columns achieves a beneficial 
whole life cost and is practical 

 To improve service and maintain customer satisfaction levels.  

81



28 

 

Risk Management  

Managing risk is integral to the effective and efficient management of the highway asset. The identification 

of current and future risks associated with all aspects of Highway management is embedded in the asset 

management approach.   

Risk types include:  

 Health and Safety  

 Strategic  

 Financial  

 Regulatory  

 Reputational  

 Operational  

Risk based decision making is used to inform and define the management approach to BCP’s assets, 

including, inspection regimes, setting levels of service, responses, resilience, priorities and programmes. 

By adopting a risk-based approach highways maintenance can be carried out in accordance with local 

needs, safety, priorities and affordability. Guidance and training of the risk based approach and its 

implementation is provided to all those roles with responsibility for taking the risk-based decisions. 

Competencies and training for those staff have been identified and are regularly updated providing a 

programme of continuing professional development.   

Each asset group has different needs based upon its usage and that variance in need is reflected in the 
management approach taken to the asset.  

Performance Reporting and Improvement Plan  

Progress is continually reviewed, a performance report will be developed with the aim of providing an 
annually summary the condition of each main asset group.  The report will describe the result of the 
previous year’s investment in terms of meeting the target service standards and outcomes.   

The report will also include long term predictions of levels of defects and condition and will be used to 
enable the authority to best allocate the following years budgets and to decide whether any of the service 
standards contained in this plan or funding levels need to be revised. 

This highway infrastructure asset management strategy has been designed to bring improvements to the 
management of the authority’s assets. Monitoring performance against outcomes will enable the Council to 
identify where progress is being made and where changes may be needed, to ensure that the asset is 
managed in the most efficient manner, and to ensure continuously improvement. 

Strategy Review  

This Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Strategy will be reviewed formally after 5 years, in the 
intervening period there will be light touch reviews at 2 yearly intervals. 

 

  

82



29 

 

Good Practice and Knowledge Sharing  

BCP is committed to the development of good practice and continuous improvement, having already played 
a leading role in the development of the regional agenda on highway asset management we will continue to 
make best use of the following forums:  

 South West Highways Alliance (SWHA)  

 South West Highway Asset Group (SWHAG)  

 South West Bridge Group (SWBG)  

 South West Lighting Group (SWLG)  

 South West Traffic Signals Group (SWTSG)  

 South West Benchmarking Club (SWBC)  

 Highway Maintenance Efficiency Programme (HMEP)  

 Chartered institute of Public Finance and Accountancy Highways Asset Management Planning 
(CIPFA HAMP)  

 UK Roads Board  

 UK Bridges Board  

 Association of Directors of Environment, Economy, Planning and Transport (ADEPT) 

Using these forums allows initiation and continuous improvement in delivering BCP’s highway service.  

Supporting Documentation  

 BCP Council’s Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Policy 
o (Link to be included when published) 

 

 BCP Council’s Corporate Strategy 
o Corporate Strategy 

 

 BCP Council’s Corporate Performance Management Framework 
 

 BCP Council’s Climate and ecological emergency 

 BCP Climate Emergency Webpage 
 

 Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset Local Transport Plan 2011 to 2026 

 LTP 3 
 

 BCP Council’s Severe Weather Plan (including Winter Service) – OPERATIONAL 
 

 Severe Weather – Gritting Routes 
o BCP Gritting Routes 

 

 UK Roads Liaison Group Guidance 

 UKRLG Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Guidance 
 

 Highways Maintenance Efficiency Programme (HMEP) Guidance 

 HMEP Resources 
 

  

83

https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/About-the-council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/CorporateStrategy/Corporate-Strategy.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Climate-and-Ecological-Emergency/Climate-and-ecological-emergency.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/roads-highways-maintenance/transport-planning/local-transport-plan/local-transport-plan-3.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Severe-weather/Gritting/Gritting-routes.aspx
https://www.ciht.org.uk/media/11918/hmep_ukrlg_asset_management_guidance_130520.pdf
https://www.theihe.org/news-info/hmep-resources/


30 

 

Acronyms 

ADEPT Association of Directors of Environment, Economy, Planning and Transport  

AMP Asset Management Policy 

AMS Asset Management Systems 

AR Asset Register 

BCI Bridge Condition Indicator  

BMX Bridge Management Expert  

CCA Climate Change Act 2008 

CCTV Closed Circuit Television  

CIPFA Chartered institute of Public Finance and Accountancy  

CMS Central Management System 

CQC Customer, Quality & Cost Survey  

CRM Customer Relationship Management system 

CRR BCP Corporate Risk Register 

DfT Department for Transport  

DMA Data Management Plan 

DRC Depreciated Replacement Cost 

DVI Detailed Visual Inspection  

ELV Extra Low Voltage  

EP Corporate Emergency Plan 

FWMA Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

GIS Geographic Information System  

GRC Gross Replacement Cost 

HA 1980 Highways Act 1980 

HAIS Highway Asset Information Strategy 

HAMP Highways Asset Management Planning network 

HIAMP Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Plan 

HINCS Highway Infrastructure Network Communication Strategy 

HMEP Highway Maintenance Efficiency Programme  

HNA Code of Practice on the Highways Network Asset (2016 Edition), CIPFA 

HRRMS Highway Risk and Resilience Management Strategy 

HSIM Highway Safety Inspection Manual 

ITS Intelligent Transportation Systems  

LCP Lifecycle Planning 

LED Light Emitting Diode  

LEP Local Enterprise Partnership  

LoS Levels of Service 

METE Management of Electronic Traffic Equipment: A Code of Practice 

NHT National Highways and Transportation Network 

NMP Network Management Plan 

PMF Performance Management Framework 

PMS Performance Management Strategy 

RMS Risk Management Strategy 

RTI Real Time Information  

SRS Skid Resistance Strategy 

SuDS Sustainable Drainage Systems  

SWBC South West Benchmarking Club  

SWBG South West Bridge Group  

SWHA South West Highways Alliance  

SWHAG South West Highway Asset Group  

SWLG South West Lighting Group  

SWTSG South West Traffic Signals Group  

84



31 

 

Acronyms 

TIA Code of Practice on Local Authority Transport Infrastructure Assets 

TSRCD Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions  

UKPMS United Kingdom Pavement Management System  

VMS Variable Message Sign  

WGA Whole of Government Accounts  

WMH Code of Practice for Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure 

  

 

85



This page is intentionally left blank

86



 

Page 1 
 

Decision Impact Assessment Final Report DIA Proposal ID:  200 

Proposal Title:  Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy 

Impact Summary 

Climate Change & Energy Amber - Minor negative impacts identified  / unknown impacts 

Communities & Culture Green - Only positive impacts identified 

Waste & Resource Use Amber - Minor negative impacts identified  / unknown impacts 

Economy Green - Only positive impacts identified 

Health & Wellbeing Amber - Minor negative impacts identified  / unknown impacts 

Learning & Skills No Impact Identified 

Natural Environment No Impact Identified 

Sustainable Procurement No Impact Identified 

Transport & Accessibility Green - Only positive impacts identified 
 

 
 

Major negative impacts identified 

 
 

Minor negative impacts identified / unknown impacts 

 
 

Only positive impacts identified 

 
 

No positive or negative impacts identified 

 

Answers provided indicate that the score 
for the carbon footprint of the proposal is: 

The Carbon Footprint is banded as follows: 

6 
0-4 5-9 10-14 
Low Moderate High 

 

 

Proposal ID: 200 

Proposal Title: Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy 

Type of Proposal: Policy 

Brief description: 

It is a requirement of the Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Guidance and 

Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure Codes of Practice that highway authorities have 

an Asset Management Policy and Strategy. These documents were in place for the 

legacy authorities, specifically the Bournemouth Borough Council Highway 

Infrastructure Asset Management Policy and the Borough of Poole Highway Asset 

Management Policy. 

Proposer's Name: Lynne Wait 

Proposer's Directorate: Regeneration & Economy 

Proposer's Service Unit: Growth & Infrastructure 

Estimated cost (£): No Cost 

If know, the cost amount (£):  

Ward(s) Affected (if applicable): 

All Wards 

 

87



 

Page 2 
 

Decision Impact Assessment Final Report DIA Proposal ID:  200 

Proposal Title:  Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy 

 

Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) supported by the proposal: 

3. Good Health and Well Being    8. Decent Work and Economic Growth    9. Industry, 

Innovation and Infrastructure    11. Sustainable Cities and Communities 

 

 

Climate Change & Energy 

Is the proposal likely to have any impacts (positive or negative)  

on addressing the causes and effects of climate change? Yes 

 

If the answer was No, then the explanation is below (there are no answers to subsequent 

questions in this section):  

 

1) Has the proposal accounted for the potential impacts of climate change,  

e.g. flooding, storms or heatwaves? Yes 

 

2) Does it assist reducing CO2 and other Green House Gas (GHG) emissions?  

E.g. reduction in energy or transport use, or waste produced. No 

 

3) Will it increase energy efficiency (e.g. increased efficiency standards / better design  

/ improved construction technologies / choice of materials) and/or reduce  

energy consumption? Yes 

 

4) Will it increase the amount of energy obtained from renewable and  

low carbon sources? No 

 

How was the overall impact of the proposal on its ability to  

positively address the cause and effects of climate change rated? 

Amber - Minor negative impacts identified  / unknown impacts 

The reasoning for the answer (details of impacts including evidence and knowledge gaps): 

The policy and strategy set out how the existing highway asset will be maintained. 

Whilst the effects of climate change are referenced it is not anticipated that adopting 

the policy and strategy will have a significant impact on cause and effect of climate 

change 

Details of proposed mitigation/remedial action and monitoring  

(inc. timescales, responsible officers, related business plans etc): 

As the strategy is reviewed we will seek to explore use of more environmentally 

friendly materials and techniques. Any significant programmes of work delivered 

under this strategy will have their own assessment carried out 

 

  

88



 

Page 3 
 

Decision Impact Assessment Final Report DIA Proposal ID:  200 

Proposal Title:  Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy 

 

Communities & Culture 

Is the proposal likely to impact (positively or negatively) on the development 

of safe, vibrant, inclusive and engaged communities? Yes 

If the answer was No, then the explanation is below (there are no answers to subsequent 

questions in this section): 

 

1) Will it help maintain and expand vibrant voluntary and community organisations? 

Yes 

 

2) Will it promote a safe community environment? Yes 

 

3) Will it promote and develop cultural activities? No 

 

How would the overall impact of the proposal on the development  

of safe, vibrant, inclusive and engaged communities be rated? 

Green - Only positive impacts identified 

Reasoning for the answer (details of impacts including evidence and knowledge gaps): 

Adoption of the policy and strategy will ensure that all highway assets are maintained 

in line with current best practice to enable safe travel and access by all highway users 

Details of proposed mitigation/remedial action and monitoring (inc. timescales, responsible 

officers, related business plans etc): 

N/A 

 

  

89



 

Page 4 
 

Decision Impact Assessment Final Report DIA Proposal ID:  200 

Proposal Title:  Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy 

Waste & Resource Use 

Is the proposal likely to have any impacts (positive or negative) on waste resource use or 

production and consumption? Yes 

If the answer was No, then the explanation is below (there are no answers to subsequent 

questions in this section): 

 

1) Will it prevent waste or promote the reduction, re-use, recycling or recovery of 

materials? Partially 

 

2) Will it use sustainable production methods or reduce the need for resources? 

Partially 

 

3) Will it manage the extraction and use of raw materials in ways that minimise 

depletion and cause no serious environmental damage? 

No 

 

4) Will it help to reduce the amount of water abstracted and / or used? 

No 

How would the overall impact of the proposal on the sustainable production  

and consumption of natural resources be rated? Amber - Minor negative impacts 

identified  / unknown impacts 

 

The reasoning for the answer (details of impacts including evidence and knowledge gaps): 

The proposed policy and strategy replace those of the legacy authorities and as such 

are not creating new work. 

Details of proposed mitigation/remedial action and monitoring  

(inc. timescales, responsible officers, related business plans etc): 

There will be opportunities to reduce use of new materials used in highway 

maintenance with the use of recycling and re-use of existing road materials 

 

 

  

90



 

Page 5 
 

Decision Impact Assessment Final Report DIA Proposal ID:  200 

Proposal Title:  Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy 

Economy 

Is the proposal likely to impact (positively or negatively) on the area's ability to support, 

maintain and grow a sustainable, diverse and thriving economy? Yes 

If the answer was No, then the explanation is below (there are no answers to subsequent 

questions in this section): 

There will be no change in this aspect of the assessment as the principles of the 

legacy strategies will continue 

1) Will the proposal encourage local business creation and / or growth? 

No 

 

2) Will the proposal enable local jobs to be created or retained? 

Yes 

 

3) Will the proposal promote sustainable business practices? 

No 

 

How would the overall impact of the proposal on it’s potential to support and maintain a 

sustainable, diverse and thriving economy be rated? 

Green - Only positive impacts identified 

The reasoning for the answer (details of impacts including evidence and knowledge gaps) 

Provison of a well maintained highway network will ensure that it continues to be 

available and accessible for all users to access jobs, schools and other services. 

Delivery of work required by implementing the strategy will enable local work force to 

be utilised. 

Details of proposed mitigation/remedial action and monitoring (inc. timescales, responsible 

officers, related business plans etc) 

N/A 

 

  

91



 

Page 6 
 

Decision Impact Assessment Final Report DIA Proposal ID:  200 

Proposal Title:  Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy 

Health & Wellbeing 

Is the proposal likely to impact (positively or negatively) on the creation of a inclusive and 

healthy social and physical environmental for all? 

Yes 

If the answer was No, then the explanation is below (there are no answers to subsequent 

questions in this section): 

 

1) Will the proposal contribute to improving the health and wellbeing of residents? 

Yes 

 

2) Will the proposal contribute to reducing inequalities in health between different 

communities or groups? 

No 

 

3) Will the proposal contribute to a healthier and more sustainable physical 

environment? 

Yes 

How would the overall impact of the proposal on the creation of a fair and healthy social and 

physical environmental for all be rated? 

Amber - Minor negative impacts identified  / unknown impacts 

The reasoning for the answer (details of impacts including evidence and knowledge gaps): 

There will be some short term negative impacts whilst works are undertaken e.g. 

noise pollution, air pollution and traffic disruption. Longer term there will be benefits 

as footways and cycleways will be maintained to an appropriate standard to allow 

them to have continued use. 

Details of proposed mitigation/remedial action and monitoring (inc. timescales, responsible 

officers, related business plans etc): 

Consideration can be given to methods of working to minimise short term impacts of 

the works e.g use of plant with reduced noise. These would be addressed as part of 

each individual project as part of the Health and Safety process. 

 

 

  

92



 

Page 7 
 

Decision Impact Assessment Final Report DIA Proposal ID:  200 

Proposal Title:  Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy 

Learning & Skills 

Is the proposal likely to impact (positively or negatively) on a culture of ongoing engagement 

and excellence in learning and skills? No 

If the answer was No, then the explanation is below (there are no answers to subsequent 

questions in this section): 

The policy and strategy set out principles of Highway Asset Management with works 

delivered as part of other programmes. These documents do not directly promote 

learning and skills. 

1) Will it provide and/or improve opportunities for formal learning?  

 

 

2) Will it provide and/or improve community learning and development?  

 

 

3) Will it provide and/or improve opportunities for apprenticeships and  

other skill based learning?  

 

How would the overall impact of the proposal on the encouragement of learning and skills be 

rated? No Impact Identified 

The reasoning for the answer (details of impacts including evidence and knowledge gaps): 

 

Details of proposed mitigation/remedial action and monitoring (inc. timescales, responsible 

officers, related business plans etc): 

 

 

  

93



 

Page 8 
 

Decision Impact Assessment Final Report DIA Proposal ID:  200 

Proposal Title:  Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy 

Natural Environment 

Is the proposal likely to impact (positively or negatively) on the protection or enhancement of 

local biodiversity or the access to and quality of natural environments? 

No 

If the answer was No, then the explanation is below (there are no answers to subsequent 

questions in this section): 

The policy and strategy set out principles of Highway Asset Management with works 

delivered as part of other programmes. These documents do not directly affect the 

natural environment. 

1) Will it help protect and improve biodiversity i.e. habitats or species (including 

designated and non-designated)?  

 

2) Will it improve access to and connectivity of local green spaces whilst protecting and 

enhancing them?  

 

3) Will it help protect and enhance the landscape quality and character? 

 

 

4) Will it help to protect and enhance the quality of the area's air, water and land? 

 

 

How would the overall impact of your proposal on the protection and enhancement of natural 

environments be rated? 

 

The reasoning for the answer (details of impacts including evidence and knowledge gaps): 

 

Details of proposed mitigation/remedial action and monitoring (inc. timescales, responsible 

officers, related business plans etc): 

 

 

  

94



 

Page 9 
 

Decision Impact Assessment Final Report DIA Proposal ID:  200 

Proposal Title:  Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy 

Sustainable Procurement 

Is the proposal likely to involve the procurement of goods or services which risk negative 

impact on resources (including power, water, raw material extraction), natural environment 

or labour markets (e.g. welfare standards)? 

No 

If the answer was No, then the explanation is below (there are no answers to subsequent 

questions in this section): 

The policy and strategy set out principles of Highway Asset Management with works 

delivered as part of other programmes. These documents do not directly involve 

procurement of works. 

Has or is it intended that the Strategic Procurement team be consulted? 

 

If the Strategic Procurement team was not consulted, then the explanation for this is: 

 

1) Do the Government Buying Standards (GBS) apply to goods and/or services that are 

planned to be bought? 

 

 

2) Has sustainable resource use (e.g. energy & water consumption, waste streams, 

minerals use) been considered for whole life-cycle of the product/service? 

 

 

3) Has the issue of carbon reduction (e.g. energy sources, transport issues) and 

adaptation (e.g. resilience against extreme weather events) been considered in the 

supply chain? 

 

 

4) Is the product/service fairly traded i.e. ensures good working conditions, social 

benefits e.g. Fairtrade or similar standards? 

 

 

5) Has the lotting strategy been optimised to improve prospects for local suppliers and 

SMEs? 

 

 

6) If aspects of the requirement are unsustainable then is continued improvement 

factored into your contract with KPIs, and will this be monitored? 

 

How is the overall impact of your proposal on procurement which supports sustainable 

resource use, environmental protection and progressive labour standards been rated? 

No Impact Identified 

The reasoning for the answer (details of impacts including evidence and knowledge gaps): 

 

Details of proposed mitigation/remedial action and monitoring (inc. timescales, responsible 

officers, related business plans etc): 

 

95



 

Page 10 
 

Decision Impact Assessment Final Report DIA Proposal ID:  200 

Proposal Title:  Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy 

Transport & Accessibility 

Is the proposal likely to have any impacts (positive or negative) on the provision of 

sustainable, accessible, affordable and safe transport services - improving links to jobs, 

schools, health and other services? Yes 

If the answer was No, then the explanation is below (there are no answers to subsequent 

questions in this section): 

 

1) Will it support and encourage the provision of sustainable and accessible modes of 

transport (including walking, cycling, bus, trains and low emission vehicles)? 

Yes 

 

2) Will it reduce the distances needed to travel to access work, leisure and other 

services? 

No 

 

3) Will it encourage affordable and safe transport options? 

Yes 

How would the overall impact of your proposal on the provision of sustainable, accessible, 

affordable and safe transport services be rated? 

Green - Only positive impacts identified 

The reasoning for the answer (details of impacts including evidence and knowledge gaps): 

Provison of a well maintained highway network will ensure that it continues to be 

available and accessible for all users to access jobs, schools and other services. 

Provision of good street lighting will mean that footpaths and cycelways are safe to 

use. 

Details of proposed mitigation and monitoring (inc. timescales, responsible officers, related 

business plans etc): 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

96



    

 

 
Equality Impact Assessment: conversation screening tool  
 
 
[Use this form to prompt an EIA conversation and capture the output between officers, stakeholders and 
interested groups. This completed form or a full EIA report will be published as part of the decision-making 
process] 

Policy/Service under 
development/review: 

Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy 
 
 

What changes are being made to 
the policy/service? 

Highway Asset Management principles enable informed decisions 
to be made about investment and maintenance funding; assist in 
the targeting of resources to where they can be most effective and 
enables the identification and management of the risks associated 
with our statutory duties to manage and maintain public 
infrastructure.  
It is a requirement of the Highway Infrastructure Asset 
Management Guidance and Well-Managed Highway 
Infrastructure produced by the Department for Transport, that 
highway authorities have an Asset Management Policy and 
Strategy.  
Each legacy authority had its own policy and strategy. In 
producing a new BCP Policy and Strategy for Highway Asset 
Management, we have reviewed these legacy documents against 
current best practice and produced a set of documents that can 
be adopted and will shape the way we deliver our highway 
maintenance programmes for the next 5 years.   

Service Unit: Growth and Infrastructure.  

Persons present in the 
conversation and their 
role/experience in the service:  

Lynne Wait, Asset Engineering Manager, Gary Powell, Head of 
Engineering, Richard Barnes, Service Unit Equalities Champion 

Conversation dates: 4 March 2021 

Do you know your current or 
potential client base? Who are the 
key stakeholders? 

Residents, businesses and visitors from the basis of the key 
stakeholders. Others include – Public Health Dorset, Bus 
Operators – More Bus and Yellow Buses, Beryl Bikes. 
 

Do different groups have different 
needs or experiences in relation to 
the policy/service?  

The Policy and Strategy relate to the maintenance of the BCP 
Highway Asset and as such cover practically all of the local 
population so all the following groups potentially will have different 
needs or experiences– age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, members of the armed 
forces community, any other factors/groups e.g. socio-economic 
status, carers. Different groups will vary in their needs and 
experiences of how they use the highway network and this is 
unlikely to change as result of the adoption of the Policy and 
Strategy as they set out how the asset will be maintained rather 
than make any changes to it.  

Will the policy or service change 
affect any of these service users?  
 

The policy and Strategy will be applied to the whole of the 
Highway Asset and relate to maintaining it rather than changing or 
creating new assets. It sets out how maintenance will be 
prioritised based on condition data and how that data will be used.   

[If the answer to any of the questions above is ‘don’t know’ then you need to gather more 
evidence and do a full EIA. The best way to do this is to use the Capturing Evidence form] 

97



    

 

What are the benefits or positive 
impacts of the policy/service change 
on current or potential service 
users?  

By adopting the principles set out in the Highway Asset 
Management Policy and Strategy, this would enable informed 
decisions to be made about investment and maintenance funding; 
assist in the targeting of resources to where they can be most 
effective and enable the identification and management of the 
risks associated with the Council’s statutory duties to manage and 
maintain public infrastructure. This will be used to inform the 
proposed highway maintenance programme and ensure that BCP 
Council are able to fully utilise funding awarded.   

What are the negative impacts of the 
policy/service change on current or 
potential service users? 

None, each legacy authority had its own policy and strategy. In 
producing a new BCP Policy and Strategy for Highway Asset 
Management, we have reviewed these legacy documents against 
current best practice and produced a set of documents that can 
be adopted by the Council. The overall impact is negligible, as the 
new Policy and Strategy mirror those already in place for the 
legacy authorities. The Policy and Strategy set out how the asset 
will be maintained rather than make any changes to it. 

Will the policy or service change 
affect employees?  

No  

Will the policy or service change 
affect the wider community?  

Yes – both residents and visitors to our area, businesses, schools 
and higher education establishments, as all are users of the 
Highway Asset. However, the overall impact is negligible, as the 
new Policy and Strategy mirror those already in place for the 
legacy authorities. The Policy and Strategy set out how the asset 
will be maintained rather than make any changes to it.  

What mitigating actions are planned 
or already in place for those 
negatively affected by the 
policy/service change?  

 

The full extent of any negative impacts will be assessed on an 
individual scheme/initiative basis. 

Summary of Equality Implications:  
 

The Policy and Strategy sets out the way in which the BCP 
Highway Asset will be maintained. It defines how resources will be 
allocated to make best use of funding available. 
 
By adopting the principles set out in the Highway Asset 
Management Policy and Strategy, the Council are better placed to 
be able to demonstrate that it is meeting its statutory duties 
 
Therefore, on the whole the Equalities Implications of the 
proposed programme are positive or neutral 

 

For any questions on this, please contact the Policy and Performance Team by emailing 
performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

98

mailto:performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 

CABINET  
 

 

 

Report subject  Management & development of leisure centres 

Meeting date  14 April 2021 

Status  Public   (contains confidential appendices) 

Executive summary  The Council has made a corporate commitment to increase leisure 
provision and help people participate and lead more active and 
healthy lives.   

To support this commitment, the report makes recommendations 
regarding the management & development of leisure centre 
facilities including: the provision of a short-term management 
contract with Everyone Active in Poole; the development of a new 
£1m synthetic turf pitch at Rossmore Leisure Centre; and BH 
Live’s Business Plan.   
 

Recommendations That Cabinet RECOMMENDS to Council the; 

(a) Approval of a new short-term management contract for 
leisure centres in Poole with current operator Everyone 
Active in accordance with confidential Appendix 1; 

(b) Approves £0.7m prudential borrowing to support the 
total £1.2m cost of developing a new Synthetic Turf 
Pitch (STP) at Rossmore Leisure Centre (subject to 
planning approval & grant funding) and the replacement 
of the existing pitch carpet at Two Riversmeet Leisure 
Centre, in accordance with the finance plan in Appendix 
3; 

(c) Notes that the Rossmore STP scheme is expected to be 
supported by up to £0.5m grant funding from the 
Football Foundation and other third parties; 

(d) Delegation to the Service Director for Destination & 
Culture and the Director of Finance (S151 Officer), in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Tourism, 
Leisure & Culture, to finalise the details and related 
funding arrangements for (1) and (2); and 

(e) Note BH Live’s Business Plan for 2021/22.   

  

Reasons for 
recommendations 

1. Delivery of the Council’s corporate commitment to increase 
leisure provision and help people participate and lead more 
active and healthy lives.   

2. The unprecedented impact of COVID-19 on the Council and 

99

Agenda Item 10



its leisure partners. 

3. To address a strategic need for Synthetic Turf Pitch provision, 
meet customer demand, enhance service provision at 
Rossmore LC and resolve a maintenance issue at Two 
Riversmeet LC. 

4. Delivery of the Council’s Built Sports Facilities and Playing 
Pitch Strategies with significant financial support from sports 
charity, the Football Foundation.  

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Portfolio Holder for Tourism, Leisure and Culture, Councillor 
Mohan Iyengar 

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan – Corporate Director  

Report Author Anthony Rogers – Head of Leisure 

Wards  All Wards  

Classification  For Decision  

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 The Council has made a corporate commitment to increase leisure provision and 

help people participate and lead more active and healthy lives (see Corporate 
Strategy - background papers).  It supports many different types of facilities, 
services, activities and events to enable this in formal and informal settings.   
 

1.2 In general, activity levels amongst BCP’s 400,000 residents meet the UK average 
however, the 2020 Sport England Active Lives survey identified that up to 25% of 
our residents are in-active, doing less than 30mins of activity each week.   Public 
leisure centres make a significant contribution to enabling active healthy lifestyles 
with sport & physical activity having a positive impact on people through improved 
physical and mental wellbeing, educational attainment, social cohesion and 
economic development. A recent study by UK Active shows estimates that public 
leisure facilities contribute nationally over £3.3bn in social value.  
 

1.3 Management  
 

1.3.1 The Council owns eight public leisure centres which form a vital part of the sports 
and leisure infrastructure in the area and there are various management models 
and operators across these facilities: 
 

 Two Riversmeet Leisure Centre in Christchurch (2RM) is managed internally 
by the Council’s Leisure Service  

 BH Live manage facilities in Bournemouth (Littledown, Pelhams and 
Stokewood – lease end 2035) 

 Everyone Active manage facilities in Poole (Rossmore, Dolphin and 
Ashdown – lease end 2021) and  

 Bournemouth YMCA manage The Junction in Broadstone (lease end 2068) 
respectively.  

100



 
1.3.2 COVID-19 has had a severe impact on the leisure sector and whilst industry 

estimates vary, full business recovery to pre-COVID levels could take 1-2 years.  
As a result, the Council is providing significant financial support to its contractors 
and a review of management arrangements for BCP leisure centres (see 
background papers - Cabinet Jan 2020) has been postponed whilst the market 
stabilises and will be undertaken as soon as possible during 21/22.  The review will 
explore the options for leisure centres to: contribute to a wider vision for sports & 
leisure; generate capital investment to improve facilities and enable revenue 
savings; provide a service that integrates with health & wellbeing through 
prevention at scale generating longer term savings elsewhere for the Council.  

 
1.3.3 The contract with Everyone Active (EA), which started in 2006 is due to end on 31st 

May 2021.  To allow time to undertake the review and implement its findings, a 
short-term management contract with EA is required.  EA is the trading name for 
Sports & Leisure Management Ltd and they manage other leisure facilities within 
the region including Blandford, Weymouth, Fareham, Hamble, Slough, Taunton and 
Bristol.  BCP Council also has leases for leisure and cultural provision with BH Live, 
YMCA, Poole Lighthouse and Hampshire Cultural Trust. 

     
1.3.4 BH Live’s ‘Business Plan’ 2021/22 (Appendix 2), is presented for information and 

identifies the key challenges and opportunities in the year/s ahead as the business 
seeks to recover from the effects of the global pandemic. 

 

1.4 Development 
 

1.4.1 There are a range of development opportunities and maintenance issues within the 
Councils leisure centres and it is anticipated that reports will be brought to future 
Cabinet and Council meetings as appropriate setting out proposals to address 
these at individual sites.  

 
1.4.2 The recently adopted Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) highlights a shortage of local 

accessible Synthetic Turf Pitches (STPs) and the development at Rossmore 
Leisure Centre and replacement carpet at 2RM provides an opportunity to meet 
some of the shortfall as well as maintaining the current supply.   

 
1.4.3 Detailed feasibility work started in 2019 and has been undertaken by the Football 

Foundation (FF), a sporting charity that helps communities improve their local 
football facilities in partnership with the Premier League and the Football 
Association.  The project presents an opportunity for a significant service 
enhancement as part of the Councils Big Plan, at a major leisure facility/hub in an 
area of deprivation.  A publicly accessible STP will provide BCP residents with 
access to a high-quality facility through community sports provision and support 
education use by the adjacent St Aldhelm’s Academy and local schools.  The 
proposal is supported by the Football Foundation (FF), Dorset County Football 
Association (DCFA), St Aldhelm’s Academy, local football clubs and the Ward 
Councillors. 

 

1.4.4 The 2RM STP carpet was installed in 2009 with a 10 year life expectancy.  The 
biannual FA quality inspection in 2018 advised the carpet would require 
replacement within 18-24 months.  Failure to ascertain the FA inspection certificate 
would mean 2RM would not be able to host FA accredited competitions resulting in 

101



a loss of revenue.  Further decline in facility quality will incur business defamation 
resulting in loss of general hire revenue.    

 
2. Information and Options  

 
2.1 Management - Leisure Centres in Poole 

It is proposed that the Council enters a new short-term contract of up to 3yrs with 
Everyone Active, whilst it undertakes a wider review of the options for longer term 
management arrangements.   The terms outlined in confidential Appendix 1 aim 
to: balance the uncertainties around future trading and market conditions; seek 
value for money & reduce the risks to the Council; and incentivise the operators. 
 
Subject to Council approval, the direct award (with negotiations) of a new short-
term contract could be made under procurement regulations which would enable 
the continuation of the service whilst the leisure market recovers.  This approach 
also supports the Local Government Associations’ recommendations for contract 
management following the COVID outbreak (see background papers).   
  

2.1.1 Other options considered and discounted:  
 

a. Alternative options for contract terms, please see confidential Appendix 1.  

 

b. Change of operator – would be subject to an open market tender exercise which is 

not proposed due to the timeline and current market conditions/uncertainties 

resulting from COVID.   Should the wider review of management recommend a 

longer-term contract for the Poole and/or Christchurch sites, then potentially the 

operators could also change twice within in a short period of time with associated 

service, financial and reputational issues for the Council.   

 

c. Management of the facilities in-house has been discounted due to the potential 

costs which include:   

 Increased salary & on-costs after TUPE approx. £200k/yr due to 

pensions   

 Significant additional business rates at £265k/yr.   

 Increased risk of 5% VAT partial exemption threshold being breached 

which could cost the Council £1.8m.     

 Organisational upheaval which may be repeated if the facilities are 

externalised following the wider review.  

 Facility maintenance (internal) becomes Council liability.  

 Loss of Everyone Actives economies of scale. 

 

2.1.2  Summary of Financial Implications - See confidential Appendix 1.   

 

2.2 Development – New Synthetic Turf Pitch (STP) at Rossmore Leisure Centre 

and replacement pitch carpet at Two Riversmeet Leisure Centre  

 

A range of sites in Poole were considered for the new STP including Learoyd 
Road and Ashdown Leisure Centre.  Rossmore Leisure Centre was 
considered the most appropriate for the following reasons: 

 

 New STP would complement the existing site facilities 

 Management vehicle already in place for the leisure centre  

102



 Supported by St Aldhelm’s Academy who currently control the land 
proposed for the development 

 Does not constrain future potential development options  

 The proposal attracts substantial external investment.  Prudential 
borrowing will also be required as part funding towards the 
development, to be repaid from the new net additional income 
generated 

 
2.2.1 The proposed layout of the STP is illustrated in Appendix 3b together with 

example images.  It is a full-sized artificial pitch with a carpet and rubber crumb 
infill, surrounded by fencing with floodlights.  The pitch can be divided and will 
be marked out for all levels of football.  All equipment required for on-going 
maintenance will be supplied. 
 

2.2.2 Rossmore Leisure Centre is a busy centre with over 600,000 annual visitors and 
additional car parking spaces and cycle storage facilities are being considered 
to accommodate additional visits to the STP.  The leisure centre will promote 
the facility, manage bookings and maintain it to the required specification along 
with the other specialised facilities at this site.  The Academy would have 
exclusive day time use on Academy days (Mon-Fri) and the community will 
have access from 5pm and at weekends and holidays, in line with the current 
joint use agreement. 

 
2.2.3 A recent consultation with local football clubs has shown that there is strong 

local demand which supports the strategic need identified and provides 
reassurance regarding future occupancy and take-up. 

 
2.2.4 Development Timeline 

 

 Action Date 

Project feasibility Completed 

BCP Cabinet/Council approved Playing Pitch Strategy Completed 

Consideration by BCP Cabinet/Council  April/May 21 

Progression subject to approval:  

Instruct FF tender procurement 
(design/planning/construction) 

June 21 

STP carpet replaced at Two Riversmeet December 21 

FF Grant Application submission January 22 

FF Grant Panel award decision April 22 

Mobilisation and construction June 22 

Construction completed September 22 

Opening Autumn 22 

 

 

 

103



2.2.5 Summary of Financial Implications 
 

Capital outlay and income projections 

1) A summary of the key financial implications of the provision of a new synthetic 
turf pitch (STP) at Rossmore Leisure Centre and replacement pitch carpet at 
Two Riversmeet Leisure Centre is provided in Appendix 3a.  If approved, the 
Council will invest £1.2m into leisure centre pitches in Poole and Christchurch, 
utilising £475k of external funding and £727k of new prudential borrowing.  

2) £1.1m Rossmore Leisure Centre cost estimates are largely based on a site 
specific feasibility report undertaken by the Football Foundation and the 
Council’s Transportation Service.  They include provision of a new STP and 
lighting, as well as new car parking and cycle facilities.  Appropriate allowance is 
also made for professional fees, surveys, investigations and contingency.  
Capital works will be undertaken by a Football Foundation approved contractor, 
using a Design & Build framework. The £0.1m estimate for replacement pitch 
carpet at Two Riversmeet Leisure Centre (which has reached life expiry) is also 
based on independent cost estimates. 

3) Rossmore development work will not commence until third party funding is 
confirmed (and where relevant supported by appropriate funding agreements).  
This includes confirmation of final Football Foundation grant (£425k currently 
assumed) and other third-party contributions. BCP and St Aldhelm’s Academy 
are working together to attract third party funding (£50k currently assumed).  

4) Financial viability of the £1.2m has been assessed over a 20 year period, which 
is the estimated useful life of the Rossmore STP.  It forecasts new net pitch hire 
income from the Rossmore STP over 20 years and estimates are based on 
comparative data at other local sites.  They are cautious estimates that focus on 
pitch hire income only and increase with Bank of England target CPI of 2% only 
each year.  No allowance is made for potential consequential increases in non-
pitch hire income (for example food & beverage and gym membership) at 
Rossmore Leisure Centre.   

5) No adjustment is made within the financial viability model for income at Two 
Riversmeet Leisure Centre where the replacement pitch carpet will safeguard 
existing (rather than generate new) income of between £80k and £100k per 
annum, which is at risk should the carpet not be replaced.  Carpet replacement is 
assumed to take place over two weeks in winter – and is therefore expected to 
have a modest impact of around £5k on income generation at the site.  

6) Additional operational expenses including site management (leisure centre 
operator), insurance, general maintenance, cyclical site inspections, annual 
rubber crumb top-up, and utilities have been allowed for within financial 
modelling - with annual spend also increasing by 2% inflation per annum.  

7) The Rossmore STP will have an estimated useful economic life of 20 years.  The 
Football Foundation require a £25k/yr provision to be made for carpet 
replacements, which is anticipated every 10 years.  It may be possible to extend 
the life of the surface beyond this depending on the type of use and maintenance 
programme.  The fencing and LED lights are predicted to last 20 yrs and at the 
end of its useful life a new business case may be required for the replacement of 
these assets. 

 

 

104



Financial viability 

8) Around (£2.1m) additional pitch hire income is forecast over the 20 year life of 
the new pitch. This reduces to a net overall surplus of (£0.23m) over the 20 year 
period after operational expenses, replacement of pitch at year 10 and 
repayment of prudential borrowing. 

9) Prudential borrowing is assumed to be repaid over 20 years, reflecting assumed 
lifespan of the main asset.  As the Council has prior experience of STP’s, the low 
rate BCP Invest to Save rate of 3% has been applied. This has the benefit of 
creating additional ‘risk premium’ of £77k within the financial viability 
assessment. Risk premium is the difference between Invest to Save rate of 3% 
and current PWLB 20 year borrowing rate of 2.13% (PWLB published rates 2 
March 2021). Should the Council choose to exclude any risk premium allowance, 
the overall 20 year net surplus increases from (£0.23m) to (£0.31m). Borrowing 
costs will be factored into the MTFP once business case is approved. 

10) New pitch hire income from Rossmore is anticipated from 2022/23. Six months of 
income has been assumed in 2022/23, increasing to full year in 2023/24. 
Borrowing repayments commence in 2023/24, the year after capital spend is 
incurred. This means a modest net surplus of (£23k) is forecast over the period 
of the MTFP, consisting of (£24k) surplus in 2022/23 and £1k pressure in 
2023/24.  Repayment of prudential borrowing at 3% means additional net 
revenue pressure of £4k in 2024/25 and £1k in 2025/26 is anticipated, with 
ongoing annual net surplus from 2026/27.  The new revenue pressures are 
comparatively small and will be managed within existing leisure revenue 
budgets. Similarly lost income of £5k from Two Riversmeet pitch carpet 
replacement will also be managed from within leisure service unit budgets. 

 

        

 

Financial risks 

11) The primary purpose of the £1.2m proposed capital investment is to invest in 
infrastructure required to meet BCP strategic priorities. Income generation is a 
secondary outcome. PWLB borrowing for the project is therefore permissible 
under HM Treasury guidance.  

12) Capital outlay remains an estimate until planning permission is granted and 
works are tendered. In the event of final costs exceeding current estimates the 
Council would seek further external funding from the Football Foundation, seek 
CIL funding, or potentially increase prudential borrowing allocated to the scheme. 

Projected Cashflow Summary £k

Net surplus over 3 year MTFP (2021/22 to 2023/24) (22.6)

Net surplus years 4 - 10 (2024/25 to 2031/32) (15.4)

Net surplus to BCP for years 11 - 20 (2033/34 to 2042/43) (194.8)

Net 20 year surplus - including Risk Premium (232.8)

Risk Premium (difference between Invest to Save rate 3% and PWLB) 76.9

Net 20 year surplus - without Risk Premium (309.7)

105



13) Appropriate accounting and governance processes will need to be established to 
ensure that all pitch hire from Rossmore Leisure Centre is transferred to BCP 
(and not leisure centre operator). 

14) Legal agreements will need to be in place with regard to Football Foundation 
funding and Academy use of and responsibilities in relation to the pitch. 

15) The business case considers the first 20 years of the asset only. A fresh 
business case for replacement of e.g. fencing and lighting, is likely to be required 
in 20 years time. 

Value for Money 

16) As well as non-financial benefits of installation, pitch hire income forecast over 
the life of the new pitch is sufficient to cover capital outlay and annual operational 
expenditure.  

17) All works will be appropriately tendered / frameworks used in accordance with 
BCP procurement processes. 

 
VAT implications 

 
18) The project has been reviewed from VAT perspective and no immediate risks 

have been identified.  Assuming the lease agreement with Everyone Active is not 
substantially altered and it remains in line with the approved HMRC model, all 
VAT incurred on capital works at the Poole Leisure Centre will be fully 
reclaimable.  It is recommended the contract is reviewed from a tax perspective 
before it is finalised to ensure the VAT position is not affected.  

 
19) The proposed works at the Two Riversmeet Leisure Centre are directly attributed 

to a taxable supply of sport services which means that all VAT incurred will also 
be fully reclaimable. 

3.0  Summary of Legal Implications 

3.1 Provision of leisure centres is not a statutory duty however, there are specific 
risks to wider council-led priorities and delivery of statutory duties which are reliant 
on leisure facilities.   For example, upper tier and unitary councils have a statutory 
duty for public health.   This includes the improvement of the local population’s 
health by contributing to healthier lifestyles and mental wellbeing and reducing 
health inequalities, obesity rates and physical inactivity.  

 
3.2 The Council will need to enter a new short-term agreement with Everyone 
Active.  The form of contract will be determined by the officers in the legal and 
procurement services but is likely to contain similar contractual provisions to the 
current agreement.   

 
3.3 BCP will need to enter into a legal agreement with the FF to secure the grant 
for the new STP.  The fields are leased for education use and the Council and St 
Aldhelm’s Academy will need to enter into a deed of partial surrender to cover the 
change in leased area (subject to approval by the Secretary of State).  A Joint Use 
Agreement (JUA) between BCP and St Aldhelm’s enables Academy access to 
sports facilities which would need to be updated to reflect the addition of a new 
STP.  

106



4.0 Summary of Human Resources Implications 

4.1 Everyone Active employ over 300 staff within the BCP area representing over 

90 full time equivalent jobs.  Currently most staff are furloughed under the 

government’s job retention scheme.    

4.2 The new STP at Rossmore LC would be managed by the leisure centre 

operator.  Project management through construction to handover will be overseen 

by Officers in D&C and Property Services. 

5.0 Summary of Sustainability Impact 

5.1 The new STP at Rossmore LC would be built using the approved framework 
design from the FF.  The floodlights will be LED and the rubber crumb is made from 
recycled rubber .  The design includes a containment barrier around the pitch to 
ensure any infill within it is contained.  There are also boot cleaning stations and 
decontamination gates/grates to mitigate any infill migrating outside of the 
controlled zone.  

6.0 Summary of Public Health Implications 

6.1 The facilities and services provide at leisure centres form a vital part of the 
BCP areas leisure, sports and cultural infrastructure and support the strategic 
priorities of the Council.  They enable residents and visitors to lead active healthy & 
enriched lifestyles, participate in a wide range of activities and play a key role 
through direct initiatives such as exercise referral schemes.  As such, any changes 
to provision can have implications on public health and well-being which should be 
considered as part of decision making.      

7.0 Summary of Equality Implications 

7.1 There are no equality implications directly linked to the decision for a new 
short-term arrangement for sites in Poole with current operators Everyone Active 
however, the facilities and services they operate provide a wide range of services 
which are accessible to all equality groups, who would be significantly impacted 
should the service be interrupted or the facilities close.  
  
7.2 We have considered the current and future users of the facilities (loss of grass 
pitch and future STP) particularly in relation to the protected characteristics groups 
and can mitigate the negative impacts and promote a series of benefits in relation to 
the development of the STP – please see the Equalities Impact Assessment in 
Appendix 3.c.  Mitigation includes assistance with appropriate footwear via the 
Academy or Kids Initiative Charity, availability of alternative grass pitches and 
different access arrangement to play football via the partner football club sessions 
or Academy. 
 
7.3 There are a number of benefits from this development which would assist the 
protected groups primarily a quality, safe, managed, enclosed, all weather and 
floodlight environment to exercise within, particularly benefiting women and girls, 
those with special needs and those on low incomes. The new STP facility will be 
available to all, through community and club bookings. During term time the 
Academy will have access for its students for education use. 
 

107



8.0 Summary of Risk Assessment 

8.1 In awarding a new short-term contract to EA, the Council will ensure 
continued service with minimum disruption and upheaval across the three well 
utilised Poole leisure facilities.  This allows the Council to focus its resources on the 
wider review of leisure centre management.   Should the facilities return to being 
managed in-house there are likely to be financial risks and organisational burden. 

 
8.2    Potential Risks to the STP project Include: 

 

Risk Action Rating 

Planning permission 
refused 

Pre app advice being sought Low 

FF grant declined Project developed in partnership 
with FF in one of their priority areas 

Low 

Other external 
funding not 
forthcoming 

Prudential borrowing level could be 
reviewed subject to business plan 

Medium 

Secretary of State 
refuses change of 
lease line 

A joint application could be made to 
FF, seek further legal advice 

Low 

Rental income not 
forthcoming 

Current facilities are 
oversubscribed, consultation 
undertaken, forecasts are cautious 

Low 

 

Background Papers 
 
UK Active - Physical Activity: A Social Solution 2017   LINK: 
https://www.ukactive.com/news/public-leisure-generates-over-3-3bn-in-social-value-to-

the-uk/ 
 

Cabinet minutes 12th February 2021 -  Corporate Strategy:  Revised Delivery 

Plans – Fulfilled Lives)      LINK: 
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4260&Ver=4 

 

BCP Playing Pitch Strategy    LINK: 
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s20356/Enc.%201%20for%20Playing%20Pitch

%20Strategy%202020%20-%202033.pdf 

 

BCP Local Facility Football Plan   LINK:  
https://localplans.footballfoundation.org.uk/local-authorities-index/bournemouth-christchurch-

and-poole/bournemouth-christchurch-and-poole-local-football-facility-plan/ 

 

Cabinet minutes 15th January 2020 - Review of Leisure Centre Management   

LINK: 
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=3725&Ver=4  

 
LGA Guidance - “Options for councils in supporting leisure providers through 

COVID-19” (April 2020)    LINK: 
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Options%20for%20councils%20in%20sup

porting%20leisure%20providers%20through%20COVID-19%20WEB.pdf 

108

https://www.ukactive.com/news/public-leisure-generates-over-3-3bn-in-social-value-to-the-uk/
https://www.ukactive.com/news/public-leisure-generates-over-3-3bn-in-social-value-to-the-uk/
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4260&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s20356/Enc.%201%20for%20Playing%20Pitch%20Strategy%202020%20-%202033.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s20356/Enc.%201%20for%20Playing%20Pitch%20Strategy%202020%20-%202033.pdf
https://localplans.footballfoundation.org.uk/local-authorities-index/bournemouth-christchurch-and-poole/bournemouth-christchurch-and-poole-local-football-facility-plan/
https://localplans.footballfoundation.org.uk/local-authorities-index/bournemouth-christchurch-and-poole/bournemouth-christchurch-and-poole-local-football-facility-plan/
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=3725&Ver=4
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Options%20for%20councils%20in%20supporting%20leisure%20providers%20through%20COVID-19%20WEB.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Options%20for%20councils%20in%20supporting%20leisure%20providers%20through%20COVID-19%20WEB.pdf


Appendices   

 

CONFIDENTIAL  

Appendix 1:   Management of Leisure Centres in Poole:  Short-term contract proposal  
Inc. Max Associates review of SLM’s contract extension proposals 
 

Appendix 2: BH Live’s Business Plan 2021/22  
 
PUBLIC 

Appendix 3:  Rossmore Leisure Centre Synthetic Turf Pitch and Two Riversmeet 
Leisure Centre replacement pitch carpet  
a. Financial Business Plan 
b. Proposed layout and imagery  
c. Equalities Impact Assessment  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

109



This page is intentionally left blank

110



Document is Restricted

111

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

131

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

133



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3.a. – Management & Development of Leisure Centres

Financial Business Plan - Rossmore and Two Riversmeet STP's 

Core Assumptions Key Financials - over 20 years DO NOT AMEND - CELLS AUTO-POPULATE

£k

Capital Outlay 1,202.0

Financial Viability £k

Additional pitch hire income over 20 years (2,107.8)

Net operational expenses over 20 years 385.2

Pitch replacement @ year 10 512.5

Borrowing Requirement (repaid over asset useful life) 727.0

Interest cost of borrowing (@ 3% over 20 years) 250.3

Net 20 year surplus (232.8)

Projected Cashflow Summary £k

Net surplus over 3 year MTFP (2021/22 to 2023/24) (22.6)

Net surplus years 4 - 10 (2024/25 to 2031/32) (15.4)

8) Timeline - open for Autumn 2022 Net surplus to BCP for years 11 - 20 (2033/34 to 2042/43) (194.8)

Capital Investment £ Net 20 year surplus - including Risk Premium (232.8)

Site clearance, Excavation & groundworks 60,000 Risk Premium (difference between Invest to Save rate 3% and PWLB) 76.9

Contract Prelims 39,000

Drainage 24,000 Net 20 year surplus - without Risk Premium (309.7)

Pitch Foundation & Base 199,000
Artificial Grass Surface 147,000

Perimeter Fencing 61,000

Sports Equipment & Furniture 24,000

Floodlighting (LED) 73,000 Capital Funding £

Hard Standing Areas 20,000

Reinstatement 7,000 Football Foundation Grant 425,000

Maintainence Equipment 15,000 Other external funding 50,000

Contractors Other Items 96,000

PCSA Fee 10,000 BCP Prudential borrowing 726,954

Contingency (5%) 38,750

FMC AGP Fees (RIBA Stages 3 to 7 inclusive) 15,935

STC Fees 5,000

Legals (AGP) 3,000

Car park and cycle storage 115,000

Two Rivers Meet (2RM) replacement carpet 110,000

Professional fees (Project Management BCP) 30,000

Contingency @ 10% BCP 109,269

Capital Outlay 1,201,954 Capital Funding 1,201,954

1) Basis of costs from site specific Feasibility Report undertaken via the Football Foundation framework and specialist consultant. Capital outlay includes allowance for planning, legal 

and lease restrictions fees as well as overall project contingency of £109k. Capital works will be undertaken by a Football Foundation approved contractor, using a Design & Build 

framework. Costs include £110k carpet replacement at Two Rivers Meet (2RM) centre. This investment is required as the existing pitch has reached life expiry. It will safeguard income 

generated from 2RM, estimated to be between £80k and £100k per annum. 

2) Assumptions for additional income projections are soley focussed on new income from Rossmore site. They are cautious estimates that are based upon similar local facilities e.g. 

DCFA, Football Foundation experience (£75k-£90kpa) and draft usage plan. The Academy will not be paying directly for use of the pitch but will ensure it is clean before it transfers to 

the Leisure Centres use. The AGP will form part of the Joint Use Agreement between the Academy & BCP. Additional income generated from the Rossmore site will be received by 

BCP (and not form part of the overall SLM open-book based contract). No allowance is made from other potenmtial income increases (e.g. catering and increased gym membership). 

Income assumed to increase by 2% for inflation each year only. No allowance is made within the model for income forgone during carpet replacement at 2RM, which are estimated to be 

completed over 2 weeks over winter (when pitch hire is not at its peak), and therefore not material for financial modelling

7) Ownership of the asset will remain with BCP, with use by the Academy during the day, and community use at all other times. Operational running of the pitch will be delivered by 

leisure operator

4) The Rossmore STP will have an estimated useful economic life of 20 years.  The Football Foundation require a £25k/yr provision to be made for carpet replacements, which is 

anticipated every 10 years.  It may be possible to extend the life of the surface beyond this depending on the type of use and maintenance programme.  The fencing and LED lights are 

predicted to last 20 yrs and at the end of its useful life a new business case may be required for the replacement of these assets.

3) Additional operational expenses including site management, insurance, general maintenance, cyclical site inspections, annual rubber crumb top-up, and utilities have been allowed for 

within financial modelling - with annual spend increasing by 2% inflation per annum

5) This project is determined to be an infrastructure / regeneration project. PWLB borrowing is therefore permissible under HM Treasury guidelines. The Council's low rate Invest to 

Save rate of 3% has been applied to £727k of new borrowing required, to be repaid over 20 years (the estimated useful economic life of the asset). Risk premium (the difference 

between low risk Invest to Save Framework rate of 3% and PWLB borrowing rate of 2.13% (as at 2 March 2021) is £77k over the borrrowing period. There is some capacity to increase 

the level of additional borrowing required, in the event of costs exceeding estimates and / or external grant not being secured at levels assumed. Separate approval will be sought for this 

in the event it is required. Construction works will not commence until all funding required is secured.

6) Football Foundationgrant funding of £425k - BCP and DCFA have been working together on the proposed project for 18 months. BCP is a priority area for the FF and DCFA, BCP & 

FF have a good partnership relationship which has been strengthening as the project progresses. The FF framework is being followed to ensure a positive outcome at award stage. The 

FF normally award at 40-50% of the build costs. FF funding will be supported by a legal funding agreement. Additionally BCP is working in partnership with the Academy to seek further 

external funding opportunitiwes (e.g. Talbot Village Trust). £50k assumed for this. 

149



T
his page is intentionally left blank

150



Appendix 3 

Aerial photograph of Rossmore Leisure Centre & St Aldhelms School 

 

Layout of proposed 3G Artificial Turf Pitch at Rossmore Leisure Centre & St Aldhelms 

School 

 

Photograph of a similar 3G Artificial Turf Pitch for information 

 

151



This page is intentionally left blank

152



Appendix 3.c. – Management & Development of Leisure Centres 

  

 

Equality Impact Assessment: conversation screening tool   

  

  

[Use this form to prompt an EIA conversation and capture the output between officers, stakeholders and 

interested groups. This completed form or a full EIA report will be published as part of the decision-making 

process]  

Policy/Service under 
development/review:  

  
Development of a 3G Synthetic Turf Pitch (STP) at Rossmore 
Leisure Centre 
  

What changes are being made 
to the policy/service?  

  
Removal of 2 full size grass pitches, replaced with full sized 
3G STP and 9v9 grass pitch 
  

Service Unit:  Destination & Culture 

Persons present in the 
conversation and their 
role/experience in the service:   

Sophie Bradfield Policy and Performance Officer, Jan Hill 
Recreation Development Team Leader, Jude Martin 
Recreation Development Officer.  

Conversation dates:   11 March 2021 

Do you know your current or 
potential client base? Who are the 
key stakeholders?  

Current: 
Everyone Active (EA) – operator 
St Aldhelms Academy (StAA) – lease/user 
Local football clubs – hirers 
Local community – fireworks night 
Football Foundation – Charity 
Dorset County Football Association – National Governing 
Body for football 
 
Future: 
Everyone Active – operator 
St Aldhelms Academy – lease/user 
Local football clubs – hirers 
Key Partner Club – tbc (local football club) 
Football Foundation (FF) – Charity 
Dorset County Football Association (DCFA) – National 
Governing Body for football 
 
The development is being undertaken with the FF and DCFA. 
Part of the grant conditions with the FF involve the drafting & 
implementation of a Football Development Plan, including 
working with a Key Partner Club. This will involve delivering 
particular outcomes for particular groups including women 
and girls, disability etc. 

153



 
 

Do different groups have different 
needs or experiences in relation to 
the policy/service?   

The new facility will offer a quality, safe, managed, enclosed, 
all weather  and floodlight environment which will meet the 
needs of some of the protected characteristics groups, 
including: 
 
Gender, women & girls 
Age 
Low income 
Disability 
Gender Reassignment 
 

Will the policy or service change 
affect any of these service users?   
  

Please see above/below. 

 

What are the benefits or positive 
impacts of the policy/service 
change on current or potential 
service users?   

The new facility will offer a quality, safe, managed, enclosed, 
all weather and floodlight environment which will offer the 
protected characteristics groups opportunities, including: 
 
Gender - women and girls – more likely to play at this facility 
as it is managed, floodlight and safer environment. 
Age – all ages would feel safer from very young to older 
people. Competitive opportunities will be available via the 
partner club. Academy students will have daily access to a 
quality facility. 
Low income - partner football club will offer various coached 
opportunities for local families via club hired sessions. EA will 
offer discounted opportunities to those hirers who qualify via 
Access to Leisure & Learning discount scheme. 
Disability – special needs groups including those with 
learning disabilities, quality coached sessions via partner 
club. 
Gender reassignment – participants can come along 
changed however there will be the opportunity for individual 
changing cubicles within the leisure centre if required. 
  
 

What are the negative impacts of 
the policy/service change on 
current or potential service users?  

Appropriate footwear. 
Loss of two adult grass pitches 

Will the policy or service change 
affect employees?   

New skills will need to be learnt by leisure centre staff to 
maintain the pitch. The facility will be cleaned (litter picked) 
prior to hand over from the Academy to Leisure Centre or 
Leisure Centre to Academy. 

154



The STP will enhance the service provision on offer at the 
Centre and the Academy. 

Will the policy or service change 
affect the wider community?   

The STP will enhance the service provision on offer at the 
Centre and the Academy. 

What mitigating actions are 
planned  
or already in place for those 
negatively affected by the 
policy/service change?   

  

The need for appropriate footwear – this has been 
considered by St AA who are committed to assisting as 
required and the Kids Initiative charity who can supply 
appropriate footwear. 
The adult grass pitches are being replaced with a STP 
however there are other grass pitches available across the 
area, if clubs do not want to, or are unable, to hire the STP 
for whatever reason. 
Cost of hire – the partner football club will offer various 
sessions for the local community to participate in. EA will 
offer discounted opportunities to those hirers who qualify via 
Access to Leisure & Learning discount scheme. Academy 
students will have use of the facility during the Academy day. 
 
 

Summary of Equality 
Implications:   
  

There are no equality implications directly linked to the 
decision for a new short-term arrangement for sites in Poole 
with current operators Everyone Active however, the 
facilities and services they operate provide a wide range of 
services which are accessible to all equality groups, who 
would be significantly impacted should the service be 
interrupted or the facilities close.  
  
We have considered the current and future users of the 
facilities (loss of grass pitch and future STP) particularly in 
relation to the protected characteristics groups and can 
mitigate the negative impacts and promote a series of 
benefits in relation to the development of the STP – please 
see the Equalities Impact Assessment in Appendix 3.c.  
Mitigation includes assistance with appropriate footwear via 
the Academy or Kids Initiative Charity, availability of 
alternative grass pitches and different access arrangement 
to play football via the partner football club sessions or 
Academy. 
 
There are a number of benefits from this development which 
would assist the protected groups primarily a quality, safe, 
managed, enclosed, all weather and floodlight environment 
to exercise within, particularly benefiting women and girls, 
those with special needs and those on low incomes. The 
new STP facility will be available to all, through community 
and club bookings. During term time the Academy will have 
access for its students for education use. 

 

  

155



 

For any questions on this, please contact the Policy and Performance Team by emailing 
performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk   

 

156



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Our Museum: Poole Museum Redevelopment Project  

Meeting date  14 April 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  The Poole Museum Redevelopment Project delivers against Big 
Plan and other strategic Council priorities as well as national and 
regional priorities and policies. The Project will conserve and open 
up nationally and internationally significant heritage assets and 
transform the visitor and community experience of the Poole 
Museum Estate.  

In the wider context of Culture and the Cultural Compact, the 
Project will deliver on the Cultural Enquiry recommendations for 
talent, infrastructure, and quality of place and will provide new 
opportunities for under-represented and under-served communities 
and groups to participate in and co-curate their culture and 
heritage.  

The project has strong support from NLHF as a priority project, third 
party match funding has been secured and there is a strong 
pipeline from trusts and foundations, with invited applications for 
additional grants totalling £250-450k. Council agreement to submit 
the NLHF round 2 application for the Poole Museum element of the 
project (deadline August 2021) is requested. 

Project development work demonstrates an opportunity to extend 
the scope of the capital works to increase the transformative impact 
of the project for Poole rejuvenation, outcomes for people, built 
heritage and museum collections, and the financial sustainability of 
the service. Council agreement is requested for prudential 
borrowing to support these extended works. 

There are two scenarios for prudential borrowing, dependent on 
whether a round 2 NLHF application for the Poole Museum project 
is successful. Scenario 1, should the grant bid be successful, 
requires the utilisation of £1,029k prudential borrowing, as well as 
£200k CIL (agreed by Cabinet in 2018) as match funding. Scenario 
2, if the NLHF application is unsuccessful, requires the use of 
£278k prudential borrowing for Scaplen’s Court as well as the 
repurposing of £200k CIL allocated within the Scenario 1 model.  

  
 

157

Agenda Item 11



Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

(a) Council approves the submission of a Round 2 funding 
application to NLHF for £2,240k for the Our Museum: 
Poole Museum Redevelopment Project (total project 
value £4,242k). 

(b) Council approves the use of up to £1,023k new 
prudential borrowing in support of the Round 2 funding 
application. This will reduce to £278k new prudential 
borrowing should the Round 2 funding application be 
unsuccessful. 

(c) Cabinet approves the repurposing of £200k CIL 
allocated to Our Poole Museum Redevelopment Project 
to Scaplen’s Court development, in the event of an 
unsuccessful Round 2 funding application. 

(d) Cabinet notes the resulting unfunded revenue pressure 
of up to £17k in 2022/23 and £70k in 2023/24 from 
income forgone during construction phase. 

 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To facilitate funding of the Our Museum: Poole Museum 
Redevelopment Project and enable it to deliver on the Council’s Big 
Plan aim to rejuvenate Poole and strategic aims for Culture. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Cllr Mohan Iyengar, Portfolio Holder for Tourism, Leisure and 
Culture 

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan 

Report Authors Michael Spender, Museums and Arts Manager, and Alison Smith, 
Our Museum Project Manager 

Wards  Poole Town 

Classification  For Recommendation 
Title:  

Background 

1. The Poole Museum capital project and the Scaplen’s Court capital project (together 
called Our Museum: Poole Museum Development Project: ‘the Project’) are 
separately funded: Poole Museum by the National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF), 
and Scaplen’s Court by Historic England as part of the High Street Heritage Action 
Zone (HSHAZ) programme. The two projects are jointly delivered as the Our 
Museum: Poole Museum Redevelopment Project (‘the Project) to the same 
programme, and benefit from a single project and design team.  

2. The Project has made excellent progress despite Covid and is on programme. The 
team is now working towards the completion of project development work to enable 

158



the submission of LBC and a planning application, and in the case of ‘Poole Museum 
a round 2 funding application to NLHF. 

3. In 2017/18 a strategic masterplanning exercise was undertaken for the whole Poole 
Museum Estate which comprises Oakley’s Mill, the Town Cellars (housing Poole 
Local History Centre), Scaplen’s Court, and the ‘Sea Music’ public sculpture by Sir 
Anthony Caro. A public consultation was carried out in 2018. The aim was to address 
some key issues and needs: 

a. to provide fully accessible facilities for users of Dorset’s most popular free 
attraction 

b. to carry out urgent conservation work and open to the public two Grade 1 
listed buildings 

c. to increase dwell time and consequently income to ensure the sustainability 
of the service 

d. to display currently homeless maritime discoveries of international importance 

e. to create a major visitor attraction and community hub in the Poole 
Regeneration area 

4. The masterplan set out the ambition to create a major, accessible, cultural visitor 
attraction and community hub and supported capital funding applications to third 
party funders: NLHF for Poole Museum; and to Historic England for the HSHAZ 
project, of which a substantive element in the opening up of Scaplen’s Court. The 
capital works on the buildings in the museum estate came to a combined project cost 
of £3.92m. 

5. Both funding applications were successful in December 2019. NLHF awarded a 
Round 1 development phase grant of £352k for Poole Museum to develop a Round 2 
application for an additional £2.24m of funding (application deadline August 2021). 
Historic England awarded £478k from the HSHAZ project for conservation, 
redevelopment and opening up of Scaplen’s Court. 

6. The Poole Museum NLHF project is a ‘two stage’ process with a ‘development’ 
(RIBA 2-3) and ‘delivery’ (RIBA 4-6) phase. The delivery phase is contingent on the 
success of the Round 2 application, the content of which is developed during the 
development phase. HSHAZ funding has no development phase and the total 
funding has already been awarded. 

7. Funding for design development work of RIBA 2-3 for both projects is secured and 
covers staff costs, professional fees, and surveys to enable the submission of LBC 
and a planning application and in the case of Poole Museum a ‘Round 2’ funding 
application to NLHF. 

8. While the capital projects are being managed holistically, in the event of failure of the 
Poole Museum project at Round 2 the HSHAZ capital works will continue unaffected.  

9. Secured partnership funding for the Project from the Council and other sources is as 
follows: 

a. BCP Council: £50k to support the NLHF development phase, and £400k at 
delivery phase contingent on a successful Round 2 application, comprised of 
£200k prudential borrowing and £200k CIL funding. This was approved by 
Cabinet in July 2018 and would be required from Q1 2022. 

159



b. £300k additional match funding is required from other sources (trusts, 
foundations, major gifts) of which £100,000 is already secured from a major 
Dorset trust and there is a strong pipeline for the remaining balance from local 
and national trusts/foundations, and major private donors. 

10. The Project will transform the Poole Museum Estate into a modern, thriving cultural 
space and community hub that greatly enriches the experience of Poole Quay and 
Poole Town by the community and visitors. It will: 

a. complete urgent conservation works to the Town Cellars and Scaplen’s 
Court, significant Grade I listed heritage assets; 

b. improve access through the updating of facilities, meeting increasing visitor 
and community demand, and transforming the visitor experience; 

c. deliver 1,540m2 of exciting new displays and public facilities including 
opening up 650m2 of currently inaccessible or underutilised heritage assets 
to create a major attraction for regular public access in order to significantly 
increase the scale and appeal of the visitor offer; 

d. significantly widen participation in terms of equality of access to take account 
of all sections of the community, bringing people together and enabling 
people who share different characteristics and heritage to enjoy cultural 
activity together in a common space, building community cohesion. 

11. The Project will deliver on key Council, regional and national priorities and policies: 

a. It will be an anchor development of the rejuvenation of Poole. And will also 
deliver on The Big Plan themes for communities, children, seafront 
development, tourism and an iconic cityscape. 

b. It will be a key element in the development of an emboldened cultural 
infrastructure for BCP, delivering on Cultural Enquiry recommendations as a 
landmark project for the Cultural Compact.  

c. It will be one of four major capital projects for the Wessex Museums 
Partnership (Poole, Dorset County, Salisbury and Wiltshire museums) 
forming a dynamic new regional museum offer.   

d. As an Arts Council England regularly funded National Portfolio Organisation 
museum service, it is right that the Project will align fully with Arts Council 
England’s ‘Let’s Create’ 10-year strategy, providing inclusive and diverse 
opportunities for under-represented and under-served communities and 
groups to participate in and co-curate their culture and heritage. 

12. The Project will lead to: 

a. long-term financial sustainability of the service by diversifying and increasing 
earned income, and organisational resilience as a result of increased cultural 
profile, a strong and growing Poole Museum Foundation membership base, staff 
and volunteer skills development, development of and deepening of relationships 
with a wide range of community partners; 

b. increased visitor numbers, with diverse new audiences, increased visitor dwell 
time, and repeat visits;  

c. enhanced guardianship of public collections and Grade 1 and Grade 2 Council 
buildings; 

160



d. rejuvenation and an enriched experience of Poole Quay and Poole Town for the 
community and visitors, it will attract more visitors to the Quay and Old Town – 
the ‘Quay Quarter’ – to create a vibrant and appealing cultural space, increasing 
engagement and dwell time, and economic growth by making Poole a more 
attractive place to live, work, and visit; 

e. increased participation in and co-curation of culture and heritage by under-
represented and under-served communities and groups. 

13. Governance of the project is through a project board chaired by the SRO, Chris 
Saunders, Director of Destination and Culture, and including officer representation 
from Finance, Planning as well as external stakeholders and lead consultants. A full 
design team appointed in November 2020, led by architect and exhibition designers 
ZMMA, is working on schedule and to budget. Options appraisals were developed to 
RIBA-2 scheme by March 2021. Design development will reach RIBA-3 by the end of 
May 2021 to enable planning and LBC to be submitted. 

14. The deadline for a Round 2 application to be submitted to NLHF is 25 August 2021 
and if successful the project delivery phase will be from February 2022 to September 
2024. 

15. Project development work to RIBA stage 2 has clearly demonstrated an opportunity 
to extend the scope of the capital works to increase the transformative impact of the 
projects in respect of rejuvenation outcomes for the ‘Poole Quay Quarter’ in line with 
the Big Plan, outcomes for heritage assets, quantity and quality of the offer for 
visitors and residents, and the financial sustainability of the museum service.  

16. The scope of the extended capital works includes: 

a. Poole Museum and Scaplen’s Court: schedule of urgent and essential 
building conservation works listed discretely for each building that have been 
newly identified through survey work and which will be critical for ensuring 
guardianship of and maximising access to Grade 1 public buildings. 

b. Scaplen’s Court: Enhanced concept accessible heritage visitor offer, including 
relocation of Poole Museum café from its current 3rd Floor location, increasing 
covers and accessibility, improvements to the immediate public 
realm/wayfinding, and increase in building occupancy. These improvements 
will support a step-change in the scale of the museum’s public offer and 
commercial activity through considered and sensitive reuse of underutilised 
heritage assets. The museum is experienced at offering this type of 
programming and activity but has not been able to operate at any scale given 
existing constraints, resources, and lack of investment. This will build 
significant new audiences for heritage and culture with an associated 
increase secondary spend and dwell time. Capital works will also activate and 
aminate the public realm in which the museum buildings are situated and by 
creating a critical mass of cultural space and activity will significantly increase 
the potential of the museum to anchor a cultural ‘Quay Quarter’.  

c. Poole Museum: Investment in redevelopment of the existing Poole Museum 
3rd Floor ceramics display to a high-profile new Art and Design Gallery with a 
focus on internationally popular Poole Pottery, of which the museum has the 
largest world’s largest public collection. This showcase will drive the 
development of audiences for heritage and culture, appealing to a local 
audiences and collectors and enthusiasts, nationally and internationally. 

161



17. The two-stage nature of the NLHF process and the single stage funding as part of 
the HSHAZ necessarily means that two scenarios need to be considered based on 
whether or not the NLHF Round 2 application is successful. Fortunately, the scope of 
works/additional works can be split cleanly between Poole Museum and Scaplen’s 
Court as indicated above. In the event of a failure at Round 2, this would simply 
mean that works at Poole Museum do not go ahead but works at Scaplen’s Court 
continue unaffected.  

18. Scenario 1, in the event of a successful Round 2 NLHF funding bid, new prudential 
borrowing of £1,023k will be required as partnership funding for the scheme. A 
further £200k of CIL funding (as approved by legacy Council 2018) will also be 
required. This will allow the completion of proposed works including points a), b), and 
c) listed above.  

19. Scenario 2, in the event of an unsuccessful Round 2 funding application to NLHF, 
planned works will be limited to Scaplen’s Court development only. This would 
require new prudential borrowing of £278k and would enable delivery of proposed 
works relating to Scaplen’s Court (under a) and works under b) above).  

20. Cabinet’s recommendation is now also required to submit the Round 2 application to 
NLHF for the project delivery phase (deadline of August 2021). 

Options Appraisal 

21. An option is for Cabinet to either agreed the recommendation to submit the Round 2 
NLHF bid or not. If not a major project in support of the Big Plan will be terminated. A 
further option is for Cabinet not recommend additional prudential borrowing, in which 
case the project will be considerably constrained and positive outcomes diminished. 

Summary of financial implications 

22. A summary of the key financial implications of each scenario is provided in Figure 1 
below (also attached as Appendix 3 and Appendix 4). If the Round 2 funding 
application is successful £4.2m of new investment (including £1.2m of BCP council 
resource) will be delivered as part of the Council’s ‘Big Plan’. This reduces to £1.0m 
new investment (including £0.5m BCP council resource) should the Round 2 funding 
bid be unsuccessful. Each scenario benefits from significant levels of external 
funding. 

23. Cost estimates within project outlay in each scenario are based on independent 
estimates. Appropriate allowance is also made for professional fees, surveys, 
investigations, contingency and inflation. 

24. Development work will not commence without confirmation of funding required. This 
includes confirmation of outcome of Round 2 funding application and achievement of 
third party fundraising target of £300k. To date, around £100k of this has been 
secured. CIL allocation of £200k has been earmarked to Poole Museum project 
within the capital programme.  

25. In constructing the funding model for each scenario, the Council is mindful of external 
government grant and PWLB borrowing conditions. As a result, planned revenue 
spend of £320k on public engagement activities, will be funded from either CIL, third 
party fundraising or Government grant (if permitted), and not PWLB borrowing (which 
can only be utilised for capital expenditure). 

162



 

26. Financial viability  

27. For business case purposes, the financial viability of the investment has been limited 
to 25 years. This to ensure future income projections are as meaningful as possible 
and that projections are aligned with the development of the service unit 25 year 
Building Maintenance Plan. Forecast additional net income (as a result of planned 
investment) from weddings, food & beverage, room hire and retail have been 
estimated over a 25 year period. Annual estimates increase by Bank of England 
target CPI inflation only each year (assumed 2%). Most of the additional net income 
is anticipated from additional weddings at Scaplen’s Court.  

28. As with other major build projects, an indicative allowance has been made within the 
financial viability assessment for major repairs anticipated over the life of the asset. 
This is based on 0.8% of asset building value (including proposed new capital 
investment) and commences in year 10. In the event of the Council progressing with 
investment at both Poole Museum and Scaplen’s Court, major repairs provision of 
£2m is allowed for within the viability model by year 25. This is an indicative 
allowance only, that will ultimately be informed by (and make financial provision for) 
capital costs arising from the service's 25 year building maintenance plan currently 
under development. There is as yet no other specific budget set aside within the 
MTFP for capital costs anticipated within the 25 building maintenance plan. There is 
the potential for some of this cost to be met from revenue budgets for Estate 
maintenance. 

29. Net additional income generated will also be required to repay any prudential 
borrowing required, including interest. For financial modelling purposes, the project is 
deemed to be ‘low risk’, because the Council already engages in delivering this 
service. The Invest to Save Framework low rate of 3% has therefore been applied to 
prudential borrowing repayments. This has the benefit of creating additional ‘risk 
premium’ of between £36k and £131k (depending on which scenario is progressed). 

Figure 1 - project outlay
Museum + 

Scaplen's

Scaplen's

£k £k

Project outlay

Building improvements and condition work 2,516 823

Additonal Investment Design Gallery 3rd Floor 300 0

Professional fees 210 38

Public realm 100 0

Contingency 795 95

Engagement (revenue spend) 320 0

4,241 956

Project funding

Round 2 funding application (pending) 2,240 0

Historic England government grant (secured) 478 478

Third party contributions (£100k secured to date) 300 0

CIL (approved Council 2018) 200 200

Prudential borrowing 1,023 278

4,241 956

163



Risk premium is the difference between Invest to Save rate of 3% and current PWLB 
25 year borrowing rate of 2.18% (PWLB published rates 2 March 2021). 

30. Figure 2 summarises results of 25 year financial viability appraisal. Councillors will 
note that sufficient additional income is generated in each scenario to cover 
borrowing repayments over 25 years as well as establish a major repairs provision.  

  

 

 

Financial risks 

31. Capital outlay remains an estimate until planning permission is granted and works 
are tendered. In the event of final costs exceeding current estimates the Council 
could seek to allocate additional CIL or prudential borrowing to the project, or 
undertake additional fundraising activities.  

32. Scenario 1 assumes £0.3m of third party contributions from fundraising and 
partnership. To date around £0.1m has been secured. As above, the Council would 
have to meet any potential funding gap should fundraising activities not meet targets. 

Figure 2 - 25 year financial viability
Museum + 

Scaplen's

Scaplen's

£k £k

Net additional income over 25 years (3,928) (2,882)

Major Repairs Allowance 2,057 442

Borrowing Requirement (repaid over asset useful life) 1,023 278

Interest cost of borrowing (@ 3% over 25 years) 446 121

Net 25 year surplus (including Risk Premium and major repairs)   (402) (2,041)

Risk Premium (difference between Invest to Save rate 3% and PWLB) (131) (36)

Major Repairs allowance (2,057) (442)

Net 25 year surplus (excluding Risk Premium and major repairs) (2,590) (2,519)

Financial viability over 25 years

164



33. The primary purpose of the capital investment is to further promote regeneration in 
the area, with income generation a secondary outcome. PWLB borrowing for the 
project is therefore permissible under HM Treasury guidance.  

34. There is a risk that the future operating income will not be realised to the extent 
assumed within the financial viability assessment. This risk is mitigated by restricting 
the period of assessment to the next 25 years only. Income projections included in 
the assessment increase by inflation only each year – with no other cyclical fee 
review allowed for.  

35. The model assumes new borrowing will be taken out and repaid over a 25 year 
period. This is a prudent approach as it aligns borrowing repayment with the period 
where there is greater certainty of income generation and building maintenance 
needs. The Council retains the option of increasing the borrowing period to up to 40 
years, reflecting the estimated life of the building. In the ‘scenario 1 option’ this would 
increase the 25 year net surplus of the project (including risk premium and major 
repairs) from (£0.4m) to (£0.8m), as the cost of borrowing is spread out over a 
greater period. This does mean, however, that at year 26 £0.4m of borrowing 
principal will remain outstanding and overall interest on borrowing will increase from 
£0.4m to £0.7m.   

VAT implications 

36. The project has been reviewed from VAT perspective and as the scheme will directly 
impact the Council’s partial exemption position it has been advised to waive the 
exemption on both properties to ensure the Council remains within the threshold.  

37. The service has been working closely with Finance to mitigate any risks arising from 
the tax position and should continue to do so throughout the project.  

Value for Money 

38. Approval of either scenario will enable continued regeneration activity in Poole Old 
Town – utilising significant levels of external grant funding. 

39. All works will be appropriately tendered / frameworks used in accordance with BCP 
procurement processes. 

Summary of legal implications 

40. Democratic Services will be asked to assist the contract arrangements for the main 
contract for the project. 

41. Democratic Services will be asked to assist with any partnership and contractual 
funding agreements which arise through the project. 

42. Health and Safety issues will be addressed through works to buildings and 
improvements to building services, a Principal Designer is an appointment to the 
design team. 

43. Scaplen’s Court is an approved wedding venue, licence renewals are every three 
years, the current licence was granted 23 November 2019 and will be renewed after 
22 November 2022. 

Summary of human resources implications 

44. Transformation of the visitor experience of Poole Museum and Scaplen’s Court will 
require Museum staff to meet visitor needs and support income generation in new, 
proactive, flexible and proactive ways. It is expected that this will require redefinition 

165



of some roles and structures, and this work will start once the Activity Plan is agreed 
by NLHF as part of its response to the Round 2 application. This restructuring would 
take place during 2022/3. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

45. The Poole Museum and Scaplen’s Court projects will support the Council’s climate 
goals. Cultural organisations and funders such as Historic England and NLHF require 
funded organisations to meet their strategic environmental sustainability aims. NLHF, 
for example, requires that “all projects must demonstrate they are environmentally 
responsible and are integrating environmental measures into their projects”. The 
Cabinet recommendation will therefore have a positive impact on environmental 
sustainability. 

46. The Decision Impact Assessment for this report, No.130, is at Appendix 2. The DIA 
assessment is Low Impact. 

Summary of public health implications 

47. Positive social outcomes for the wellbeing of the population are at the heart of these 
recommendations. The health and wellbeing benefits from participation in heritage 
and cultural activity are well recognised and evidenced, in particular for isolated, 
deprived and diverse communities, who as audiences are often the least well served 
by cultural organisations. 

48. These projects will broaden Poole Museum’s engagement with under-served 
audiences including families and 65+ audiences with prior low engagement with 
heritage. people from lower socioeconomic backgrounds, older people living locally 
in care homes and sheltered housing provision, those experiencing loneliness and 
social isolation, those with long term health conditions and disabilities, and school 
children attending schools with high Pupil Premium numbers. 

49. Improving wellbeing is a mandatory outcome of funding from the NLHF. 

Summary of equality implications 

50. An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out for the projects in this report 
and this is at Appendix 1. 

51. NLHF has a mandatory inclusion outcome: ‘a wider range of people will be involved 
with heritage’ to ensure that Lottery grants contribute to a society where everyone 
has the opportunity to take part in and benefit from heritage. 

52. The Project will result in a wide range of benefits for a wide cross-section of people. 
While the improvements to the Museums Estate’s fabric, facilities, displays and 
programmes will result in a richer and higher quality visit for all audiences, its real 
transformational potential is in terms of reaching out and connecting with groups of 
local people who are currently underserved as visitors and are target audiences. 

53. Access and inclusion are at the heart of the approach to audience development, so 
that barriers relating to gender, socio economic background, ethnicity and disability 
are addressed across audience groups to encourage the widest range of people to 
engage and ensure that the whole community can take part equally, confidently and 
independently.  

54. Specific plans for people with particular access needs will run throughout the 
engagement approach for each audience group, ensuring a wide range of people 

166



feel welcome and fully served. Gaining insight from people who are visually impaired, 
deaf, have physical or learning disabilities, but who fall within the target audience 
groups defined for the project, will ensure that capital work, interpretation and formal 
and informal engagement programmes are designed to meet their specific needs. 
The museum is working with the user led groups within the protected characteristic 
groups to develop plans for effective and efficient outreach. 

55. Where Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic groups are under-represented in current 
museum audiences when compared to the local population, targeting of family and 
schools’ audiences will be used as a route into broadening the ethnic diversity of 
museum audiences. Targeted invitations, infrastructure, facilities, resources and 
programmes for individuals and groups who are less likely to visit will be embedded 
throughout the project design and delivery.  

56. Alongside working with a range of community partners to reach and involve target 
audiences from different socio-economic backgrounds, the project will also work with 
DREC and DOTS Disability as strategic partners to support and challenge plans for 
inclusion.   

57. All museums staff have undertaken EDI training and through ongoing training their 
awareness and confidence will be built on to ensure all visitors feel welcome. The 
service will also diversify its volunteer base and has the capacity to support a diverse 
range of volunteers sustainably. 

58. Staff and volunteers will work together to develop a ‘Welcome Manifesto’ which will 
be displayed publicly. An Equality Impact Assessment approach will be used to 
ensure marketing and promotion events are accessible and inclusive. 

59. The EIA process has revealed no adverse impacts as a result of the proposed 
changes. The development of these proposals and the assessment process has 
been robust and informed by best practice in the cultural sector. Consultation has 
entailed both formal and lived experience access audits, consultations with 
individuals and groups, identification of priority audiences who are currently 
underserved, a market assessment, tracking of all comments relating to EID, and a 
sector best practice review to understand barriers for typically underserved groups. 

60. While we have identified areas for additional research and consultation, we have a 
high degree of confidence in our findings, and the expectation is that we will be able 
to further maximise the benefits of the changes through this additional work. 

61. Ultimately, positive impacts as a result of the changes will bring about a step change 
in increasing access to and participation in cultural activity across protected 
characteristics. The proposed changes will actively engage people as contributors in 
shaping and being part of the project. Increased cultural engagement and 
participation has considerable potential for positive outcomes, including improved 
mental and physical wellbeing and improved quality of life and opportunity. The 
proposals actively foreground in inclusion of diverse perspectives, multiples voices 
and representation of cultural diversity, this has the potential to lead to greater inter-
group understanding, contributing to improved social cohesion.  

Summary of risk assessment 

62. The principle risks of not making this decision will be: 

a. Reputational: if Cabinet does not recommend submission of the NHLF round 
2 application there is a very strong risk that the Council’s reputation with the 

167



NLHF and the community will be impacted negatively. If Cabinet does not 
recommend additional prudential borrowing partnership funding the project 
will be constrained and the Council will not be able fully to deliver on the 
project aims, including income generation for financial sustainability. The 
result will be a Museum Estate which does not deliver on its potential to 
support the Big Plan priorities and this is likely to be reputationally damaging 
for the Council. The strength of support for culture, in particular during Covid, 
from government, national and local funders and throughout the community, 
including in consultation for these projects, is evidence of the absolute 
importance attached to it by the public. 

b. Economic: the redevelopment proposals will deliver on key placemaking, 
tourism and economic agendas to improve infrastructure, talent retention, 
prosperity and productivity, which are all even more essential during and in 
recovering from the COVID crisis. Additional invest to save borrowing will 
maximally leverage the momentum and opportunity of the capital 
redevelopment project to deliver against all these areas, as well as for income 
generation from visitors to support the sustainability of the service. The risk of 
not supporting the recommendations is an increased reduction in these 
benefits. 

c. Wellbeing, Skills, Education: if the recommendations are not supported, there 
is a risk that the wellbeing, skills and learning enhancements that the project 
promises to deliver will be less likely to be achieved. 

Background papers 

None 

Appendices   

Appendix 1 EIA Assessment: Our Museum Project Form 3 

Appendix 2 Decision Impact Assessment Report: DIA No.130 

Appendix 3 Financial implications Scenario 1 

Appendix 4 Financial implications Scenario 2 

168



Equality Impact Assessment: Report and EIA Action Plan  
  

Purpose  

  

This is the narrative report that you will complete when you have captured your evidence and 

identified any negative impacts that require mitigation.  
  

This is an important part of the process and should not be skipped over.    
  

When reading the conclusion, decision makers need to be able to easily see:  

• if there are any adverse impacts,   

• what they are,   

• who is affected  

• what is going to be done about it.  
  

Detail the positive impacts too. Decision makers should easily see the benefits of the proposed 

changes.   
  

If there are no impacts one way or another you need to explain how you came to that conclusion, 

by summarising the assessment process.  
  

Where there is insufficient information to make an informed decision the EIA process will need to 

be revisited.   
  

Policy/Service under 
development/review:  

 Poole Museum Service 

Service Lead and Service Unit:  
 Michael Spender, Destination and Culture 

People involved in EIA process:  
 Alison Smith, Rachel Martin, Katie Heaton 
(Destination and Culture EDI Rep), Rebecca 
Rossiter, Michael Spender 

Date EIA conversation started:  
 31/05/2018 

  

  

Background  

  

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES – of the Project 

Poole Museum Service (we use the terms ‘Poole Museum’, ‘the museum’ or ‘the service’ synonymously in this 

document) is undertaking a Capital Redevelopment Project ( ‘the project’) will transform Poole Museums into a 

modern, thriving cultural space and community hub that greatly enriches the experience of Poole Quay 

and of Old Town equally for all visitors. The purpose of the project: 

a. complete urgent conservation works to the Town Cellars and Scaplen’s Court; 
b. improve accessibility and welcome of our spaces and offer for all, update visitor facilities, meet 

increasing demand, and transform the visitor experience; 
c. deliver 1,540m2 of exciting new displays and public facilities including opening up 650m2 of currently 

inaccessible or underutilised heritage assets for regular public access in order to significantly increase 
the scale and appeal of the visitor offer 

d. significant widen participation in terms of equality of access to take account of all sections of the 
community, bringing people together and enabling people who share different characteristics and 
heritage to enjoy cultural activity together in a common space, building community cohesion; 169



e. attract more visitors to the Quay and Old Town – the ‘Quay Quarter’ – to create a vibrant and 
appealing cultural space, increasing engagement and dwell time. 

 

OUTCOMES – as a result of the Project 

 

a. long-term financial sustainability of the service by diversifying and increasing earned income, and 

organisational resilience as a result of increased cultural profile, a strong and growing Poole Museum 

Foundation membership base, staff and volunteer skills development, development of and deepening 

of relationships with a wide range of community partners; 

b. development of and deepening of relationships with a wide range of community partners, contributing 

to community growth and resilience. 

c. increased visitor numbers, with diverse new audiences, increased visitor dwell time, and repeat visits  

d. enhanced guardianship of public collections and buildings 

e. rejuvenation and an enriched experience of Poole Quay and Poole Town for the community and visitors, 

it will attract more visitors to the Quay and Old Town – the ‘Quay Quarter’ – to create a vibrant and 

appealing cultural space, increasing engagement and dwell time, and economic growth by making Poole 

a more attractive place to live, work, and visit. 

ASSOCIATED SERVICES, POLICES, PROCEDURES 

 

BCP Council Corporate Strategy 

BCP Council People Strategy 

BCP Council Equality Action Commission 

Corporate Equality Action Plan 

Community Equality Champions 

Employee Equality Champions 

Equality & Diversity Policy Equality & Diversity Strategy 

Equality Governance structure 

Equality Monitoring 

Public Sector Equality Duty 

Service Unit Equality Champions 

Strategic Equality Leadership Group (SELG) 

Dorset Race Equality Council 

BCP EDI Policy (https://bcpcouncil.sharepoint.com/:b:/s/EqualityandDiversity/EapcHNevuAxBqfljpJkt-

mIBejlm19x2hvSSVtYWeZRAdg?e=qWfp9R) 

  

PEOPLE AND GROUPS 

This is a list of the main people, or groups (and any other stakeholders involved), that this changes to the 

service as a result of the project is designed to benefit: 

 
Groups of People 

 

 BCP residents 

 Visitors to BCP area 

 The cultural sector in BCP in particular the creative industries 

 BCP businesses and the tourism and hospitality industry 

 Young people in educational settings including primary schools, secondary schools, special schools 
and further and higher education 

 Families especially those on lower incomes, young parents and those with children with SEND 

 Older people over 65 including carers and cared for and those facing social isolation 
170



 Artists and creatives including digital creative industries 

 Staff and volunteers 

 Local History Societies and Arts Groups 
 

Other organisations, statutory, voluntary or community 

 BCP partners including Children’s Services and Communities team 

 Community Groups and partners working with older people and carers including PramaLife, Crisp 
Carers and Community Action Network 

 Dorset Race & Equality Council 

 Access groups and organisations including DOTS Disability,  Access Dorset, Parent Carers Together 

 Tourist Information Centre 

 History Centre users 

 Local schools 
 

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE 

Please list and/or link to below any recent & relevant consultation & engagement that can be used to 

demonstrate a clear understanding of those with a legitimate interest in the policy/service/process and 

the relevant findings: 

 

a) INITIAL CONSULTATION (SUPPORTED BY BCP INSIGHT TEAM): Consultation was undertaken 
between 31st May to the 29th June 2018 with BCP residents, stakeholders, and local businesses. A 
total of 855 responses were received to the main open survey, 14 responses from stakeholder 
survey, and 24 responses from the business survey. 
 

b) ONGOING  CONSULTATION: Extensive additional consultation and engagement was undertaken 
from June 2020 with 24 stakeholders who work with and represent target audiences for the 
project. The main external funder, the National Lottery Heritage Fund, has a mandatory inclusion 
outcome: ‘a wider range of people will be involved with heritage’. Access and inclusion are at the 
heart of the ambitious approach to audience development for the Our Museum project, to ensure 
that barriers relating to gender, socio economic background, ethnicity and disability are tackled 
across audience groups to encourage the widest range of people to engage and ensure that the 
whole community can take part equally, confidently, and independently. Consultation has 
informed project development to ensure that capital work, interpretation and formal and informal 
engagement programmes meets specific needs, includes, welcomes and inspires, and represents 
diverse histories and cultural narratives. Specifically, consultation and engagement has taken place 
with under-served groups or their representatives such as Access Dorset, Dots Disability, Dorset 
Race Equality Council and community groups.  
 

c) INITIAL ACCESS AUDIT: 2018 Quality Check by People First Forum – recommendations for: 
- improved facilities and interpretation 
- café provision including Easy Read, 
- Changing Places toilet 
- Microwave for heating food 

 
d) INITIAL CONSULTATION WITH DOTS/ACCESS DORSET: Oct 2020 Consultation with Access Dorset / 

DOTS highlighted need for access to museums for those without a formal education, current lack 
of provision of BSL and provision for families with children with SEND 
 

171



e) LIVED EXPERIENCE ACCESS AUDIT: Dec 2020 Access Audit by DOTS Disability – site visit by group 
facilitator followed up with zoom session with participants with lived experience of disability – 
written report with key findings relating to: 

 Wayfinding 

 getting to the museum 

 getting around the museum 

 interacting and taking part in activities 

 the café, toilets, stairs and lift 
 

f) FORMAL ACCESS AUDIT: December 2020 Access Audit by Access Matters – a formal access audit at 
the start of RIBA-2 design phase for capital works to ensure that development of the scheme is 
inclusive. Access Matters have been commissioned to carry out inclusive design reviews at each 
RIBA stage. The audit assessment is based on the following criteria: • The provisions in Approved 
Document Part M of the Building Regulations, 2015 edition. Volume 2: Access to and use of 
buildings. • BS8300-1:2018 Design of an accessible and inclusive built environment. Part 1: External 
environment – Code of Practice • BS8300-2:2018 Design of an accessible and inclusive built 
environment. Part 2: Buildings – Code of Practice • Sign Design Guide – A Guide to Inclusive 
Signage. P. Barker and J. Fraser, JMU 2004 • Other current good practice guidance as relevant. 
Access Matters will draw out key findings from DOTs disability ‘lived experience’ and Kids in 
Museums report to ensure these are prominently positioned in the access audit and inclusive 
design reviews. Access Matters will identify key areas for the museum to work with the inclusive 
reference group to inform design choices. Key findings include: 

- A consolidated approach to pre-visit access and orientation, pre-visit information in clear 
print, audio description and a choice of formats. 

- Accessible parking/drop off 
- Step-free routes and level access 
- Horizontal and vertical circulation improvements 
- Accessible WC provision 
- Acoustics and lighting 
- Reliance on visual interpretation 
- Safe and dignified egress in emergencies 

 
g) PRIORITY AUDIENCE CONSULTATION: 

- Nov 2020 Consultation with PramaLife and Crisp Carers – identified barriers for carers and 
older people. Highlighted need for respite for carers, social interaction, able to take part in 
creative activity. Highlighted importance of access, improved lift, drop off points and 
parking. Also reaching those who cannot visit the museum in person or without access to 
technology 

- Oct 2020 Session with Carers Reference Group to identify barriers to access for carers and 
cared for persons. Highlighted importance of adequate space to move around, accessible 
interpretation and quiet spaces 

- Oct 2020 Interview with BCP Children’s Services staff (Family Hubs and Short Breaks teams) 
to identify barriers for access for families on lower incomes, young parents and families 
with children with SEND. Highlighted importance of a welcoming environment without 
judgment, hands on activities, regular activities to interact with others, accessible 
interpretation 
 

 
h) KIDS IN MUSEUMS AUDIT: Dec 2020 Kids in Museums a sector organisation that promotes a 

manifesto to result in more families and young people accessing museums performed a Family 
Friendly audit of Poole Museum and Scaplen’s Court which made recommendations to improve 
visitor offer for families. Findings included: 

- Providing family-friendly interpretation 172



- Visits should be easy and comfortable 
- Breastfeeding welcome attitude 
- Cloakroom and buggy area 
- Improvements to toilets 
- Encourage intergenerational activity 
- Invest in accessible resources to support visits by families (including ear defenders and 

fidget toys) 
- Communicate offer clearly 
- Collaborate on development of offer and resources with families 
- Consider what different family members need from their visit and provide ways for them to 

explore together 
- Ensure there is enough to do for under-5s 
- Include opportunities for parent/carers and children to play together, Enable children and 

young people to become consultants as part of Takeover Day 
- Check heights of displays 
- Promote family friendliness online 

 

i) MARKET ASSESSMENT: Alongside detailed consultation, a market assessment was undertaken in 
December 2020 focussing on the BCP area, with additional insight drawn from a comparison with 
the hyper-local Poole Town Ward area. The assessment drew on data from the 2011 Census 
Statistics; BCP Insight team; Audience Agency; Wessex Museums Partnership; Arts Council; Visit 
England and Visit Dorset; Dorset LEP; and central government briefing documents. This assessment 
identified underserved, gaps in provision and highlighted potential opportunities for audience 
development in the project. 

- With a high level of over 65s in the local population, there is an opportunity to both deepen 
engagement with this group, as well as reaching out through targeted work to deliver social 
impact with local older people who currently are not engaged and have been identified as 
living isolated lives and potentially suffering from loneliness.  

- Families comprise a large proportion of day trip visitors to Poole, so there is an opportunity 
to build on this already significant audience, however, more targeted work with hyper-local 
audiences will reach families from lower socio-economic backgrounds and deliver deeper 
impact and benefits. 

- Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic groups are under-represented in current museum 
audiences when compared to the local population and those within an hour’s drive time. 
Whilst this under-representation isn’t large, it is clear from the demographic data that by 
targeting family and schools, the ethnic diversity of museum audiences could be 
broadened. 

 
j) AUDIENCE DEVELOPMENT REPORT: In December 2020/January 2021 audience development 

report undertaken as part of the NLHF activity planning process identified audience development 
priorities for the project (‘target audiences’). Establishing clearly defined priority groups will ensure 
the project reaches its full potential in terms of resonance, relevance and reach. This specifically 
addresses EDI considerations and identifies which audiences the service currently underserves and 
proposes approaches and partners for audience development; 

- Families and 65+ audiences with prior low engagement with heritage and from lower socio 
economic backgrounds are currently underserved by the museum. This is particularly true 
of these audiences within Poole Town Ward. 

- Large 65+ community locally, high care home and sheltered housing provision, high 
loneliness scores particularly in Poole Town Ward. 

- Those with long term health conditions and disabilities are underserved by the museum 
across all audience groups. 

173



- Local schools, especially with high Pupil Premium numbers are currently underserved by 
the museum - particular focus on engagement and cultural capacity development for 
schools and potential pathways to local creative FE, HE and industry offer. 

- The creative industries are a key local economic driver, a strong cultural ecology helps 
support the development of the creative industries and the local HE offer is outstanding in 
this field. Experience seekers (likely to be graduates/or recent graduates) are the segment 
with most potential for growth within museum audiences. 

 

k) PROJECT LAB: Engagement with the public included a ‘Project Lab’ which ran in the Temporary 
Exhibition Gallery in Poole museum between 3 Oct 2020 and 10 Jan 400 people have engaged 
through the project via the Project Lab and public events. 18 volunteers have supported the 
project as facilitators and with specific skills such as research or design. 216 people have directly 
participated in creative engagement and consultation events and activities including ‘gallery shake-
ups’, academic round tables, play sessions, design workshops, and creative responses workshops – 
101 of these participants were FE students working on collaborative design projects. As noted 
elsewhere, as a result of covid we were unable to engage directly with some groups, and this area 
needs further work as set out in the action plan. We tracked EDI comments as part of this process 
and these are listed below: 

 Improved wayfinding 

 More accessible and diverse interpretation and programming 

 Loud and quiet zones, and sensory maps 

 Engaging audiences of all abilities and ages with serious topics 

 Marginal and absent histories in displays and collections need to be addressed 
including histories of slavery and People of Colour, LGBTQ+ histories, women’s 
histories or histories of poverty and inequality 

 Histories of ordinary, everyday people including fishermen, seafarers, families of 
seafarers, not rich merchants 

 Contextualising challenging historical objects and narratives for example Benjamin 
Lester in the wider context of trade, slavery and the role of women in maritime 
history at the time, to show a nuanced but critical approach to the era and topic, 
linking to Black Lives Matter 

 The museum is not helpful for those that need encouraging to get involved - people 
without an existing interest in history will not want to come 

 There was a clear imperative to include more diverse stories and histories of 
minorities not commonly represented in history 

 Students asked to see diverse histories in the museum, including exhibits on slavery 
and a decision to display critical and controversial topics in gallery spaces. There was 
also in interest in including spaces for debate around these themes rather than 
didactic displays. There was also a recognition of the museum’s nationalistic and 
colonial role as an institution. Students also made the point that visitors to the 
museum tend to be white and middle-aged, and that diversifying exhibits could 
diversify audiences. 

 Students showed a statistical understanding of demographics in Poole, including low 
education, skills and cohesion of different ethnic groups. There was a clear interest 
in turning the museum into a community centred space including publicly-voted 
exhibits and the creation of spaces to bring the people of Poole together. 
Suggestions included working with students or artists to re-interpret collections and 
histories, freshening these for younger and more diverse audiences. 

 the idea of the museum as a community hub, a people-led, co-creative space which 
can strengthen the voices of members of Poole’s community and bring people 
together. 

 174



l) REVIEW OF ALL CONSULTATION DATA: We specifically reviewed all consultation notes for 
comments relating to equalities and protected characteristics groups – the key findings were as 
follows: 

- The museum needs to provide a welcoming and understanding environment for people to 
cross the threshold and to feel welcome  

- Interpretation needs to be more accessible and less reliant on text.  
- Hands on interactives provide new ways for different people to engage with the collections 

and stories 
- Accessible facilities are important to an enjoyable overall visit including ground floor toilets 

- Wayfinding to the museum is important including disabled parking bays and ability to drop 

off  

- Representation of multiple viewpoints and stories are important to make sure people from 

diverse ethnic and social backgrounds are represented 

 

m) EDI COMMENTS ON SOCIAL MEDIA: We tracked comments relating to EDI about the museum and 
redevelopment project on social media 
- Analysis of Google reviews and Trip Advisor for EDI comments generally reveal positive 

references to access and facilities, however, do reference size of labels being too small 

- Facebook comment relating to Project Lab highlighted need for digital resources for those that 

cannot make it to the museum 

- We didn’t check specifically for EDI comments on social media as part of the 2018 consultation, 

this was captured within the survey. We will ensure these are tracked going forwards. 

 

n) BEST PRACTICE REVIEW: Sectoral best practice has been reviewed to understand barriers for less 

engaged groups. These reports include: 

- Government’s Taking Part survey 

- Let’s Create – Arts Council’s case across the board for creative learning, young people, artist 

and talent development 

- Age UK – creativity and wellbeing in older life 

- Kids in Museums – hurdles to participation 

- Vocaleyes – report on Access 
 

PRIORITY AREAS FOR ADDITIONAL CONSULTATION 

a) As a result of covid – we were unable to reach people who were not able to or not comfortable 
visiting the Project Lab or taking part in events within the museum. Where possible engagement 
events were moved online which enabled more people to take part than otherwise would have 
been the case, but we recognise this is a barrier for some. Therefore, additional consultation will 
be held with people within our key audience groups including families with children with SEND, 
formal education providers with an emphasis on schools with higher percentage of pupil premium, 
special schools. We have commissioned experience activity planning consultants to support this 
consultation and audience development work. A plan for this additional consultation is in 
production Feb/March 2021 and is noted in the action plan below. 

b) March 2021 Inclusive Reference group to be set up with the assistance of DOTS Disability to cover 
range of impairments groups and protected characteristics including someone from the black 
community and someone from the LGBT community. A budget is in place for reward and 
recognition and BSL interpretation. Access Matters will identify key areas for the museum to work 
with the inclusive reference group to inform design choices as part of the inclusive design reviews. 

c) April 2021 we have commissioned local disabled people’s organisation DOTs disability to work with 
us as a strategic partner to support Poole Museum in the co-creation of a ‘Welcome’ manifesto, a 

175



project in collaboration with our inclusive reference group, staff, volunteers, and academic 
researchers at AUB Human 

d) We have explored the provision of a changing places WC with BCP as part of the wider 
regeneration plans for the quay and lower high street, this has been discussed as part of the design 
development with Access Matters and DOTs disability. Provision of a changing places WC in the 
locality would greatly improve accessibility to the area. We will continue to discuss with BCP 
colleagues and advocate for the provision of facilities. 

e) The co-creation of the new museum displays and activity will take place alongside all priority 
audience groups. Working in depth with priority groups to co-create new interpretation, resources 
and experiences that pay attention to meeting specific audience needs will result in a wider offer 
for the public that is a stronger one. The aim is to create a cultural asset at the heart of Poole 
which resonates with and reflects the contributions of the diversity of the local community and 
which in turn is representative of many perspectives and connects more meaningfully to every 
visitor. This work is ongoing throughout the development and delivery phases of the project, and 
will be an approach that is embedded as part of the museum’s new ‘Business as Usual’  

 

RELEVANT EVIDENCE BASE 

Please see below for a list (with links where available) to relevant research, census and other evidence or 

information that is available and relevant to this EIA: 

- 2011 Census Statistics 
- 2018 consultation report 
- BCP Insight https://public.tableau.com/profile/bcpinsight#!/ 
- Audience Agency Area Profile Report 30 min drive time BH15 1BW November 2020 and Area 

Profile Report 60 min drive time BH15 1BW November 2020, Audience Agency 
- House of Commons Briefing Paper, 7th July 2020 Informal Carers 
- Visit England 2016 report 
- Visit England 2018 report 
- The State of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Key Facts November 2019, BCP 
- BCP Insight Ward Profiles 
- The Economic Impact of Dorset’s Visitor Economy 2019, The South West Research Company 
- Covid-19 Economic Impact and Recovery Dorset July 2020, Dorset LEP 
- National Arts Creative and Cultural Education Survey Research Findings July 2020, Bridge England 

Network 
- Tech Nation Report 2017 
- Dorset Local Industrial Strategy Draft, Dorset LEP 
- Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Cultural Enquiry https://bcpculturalcollective.co.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2020/02/BCPCultural-Enquiry-Report-VF.pdf 
 

BEST PRACTICE BIBLIOGRAPHY 

As part of our process we have reviewed and drawn lessons from the following best practice and guidance on EDI in 

our sector: 

- Contextual document setting out how people can participate in culture: ‘Let’s Create’ – Arts 
Council England’s 10-year strategy: https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/letscreate 

- National Lottery Heritage Fund Inclusion Guidance https://www.heritagefund.org.uk/good-
practice-guidance/inclusion 

- Kids in Museums Access Resources, including exploring barriers that families face accessing 
museums https://kidsinmuseums.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Hurdles-to-
Participation.pdf   

- post covid schools insight on visiting https://bridge.realideas.org/2020/08/17/national-school-
survey-results/  176

https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/letscreate
https://www.heritagefund.org.uk/good-practice-guidance/inclusion
https://www.heritagefund.org.uk/good-practice-guidance/inclusion


- State of Museum Access Report 2018 https://vocaleyes.co.uk/state-of-museum-access-2018/ - 
access 

- Creativity and Wellbeing in Older Life Report https://www.ageuk.org.uk/bp-
assets/globalassets/oxfordshire/original-blocks/about-us/age-uk-report--creative-and-cultural-
activities-and-wellbeing-in-later-life-april-2018.pdf 

- Group for Education in Museums Case Studies ‘Access and Inclusion’ ISSN 1759-6378 and ‘Early 
Years’ ISSN 1759-6378 

- Autism in Museums Resources https://www.autisminmuseums.com/resources/ 
- Welcoming families and young people with autism https://kidsinmuseums.org.uk/resources/how-

can-your-museum-better-welcome-familiesand-young-people-with-autism/ 
- Breastfeeding welcome scheme https://kidsinmuseums.org.uk/resources/thebreastfeeding-

welcome-scheme/  
- Changing places toilet http://www.changing-places.org/  
- Disability Collaborative Network Changing Places toilets information for museums and heritage 

organisations https://www.musedcn.org.uk/2018/02/01/changingplaces-toilets-information-for-
museums-and-heritage-organisations/  

- Kew Gardens access information https://www.kew.org/kew-gardens/visit-
kewgardens/accessibility#:~:text=Accessible%20toilets&text=The%20two%20main%20toilet%20f 
acilities,ticket%20desk%20at%20Brentford%20Gate. 

- How can your museum better welcome families with a wheelchair user? 
https://kidsinmuseums.org.uk/resources/how-can-your-museum-better-welcome-familieswith-a-
wheelchair-user  

- How can your museum better welcome families and young people who are blind or partially 
sighted? https://kidsinmuseums.org.uk/resources/how-can-yourmuseum-better-welcome-
families-and-young-people-who-are-blind-or-partially-sighted/  

- How can your museum better welcome families and young people who are D/deaf or hearing 
impaired? https://kidsinmuseums.org.uk/resources/how-can-yourmuseum-better-welcome-
families-and-young-people-who-are-d-deaf-or-hearing-impaired/  

- Welcoming special needs families resource https://kidsinmuseums.org.uk/resources/welcoming-
special-needs-families/ 

 

EMPLOYEE MONITORING DATA 

 

https://public.tableau.com/profile/bcpinsight#!/ 

 

Findings   

  

 
The table below summarises the findings 

 

 
Actual or potential positive 

outcome 
Actual or potential negative outcome 

1.  Those of Different 
Age1 

There is a wide body research that 
arts and culture can improve 
wellbeing and quality of life for 
older people and is beneficial to 
their wellbeing, creative 
development and confidence and 
this our social impact programme 
aims to improves the quality of life, 

The barriers to older people engaging in 
cultural activity include location, 
transport, poor health (mental or 
physical), caring responsibilities, poor 
social networks, digital exclusion, and 
low income.  
 

                                                           
1 Under this characteristic, The Equality Act only applies to those over 18. 

177

https://www.ageuk.org.uk/bp-assets/globalassets/oxfordshire/original-blocks/about-us/age-uk-report--creative-and-cultural-activities-and-wellbeing-in-later-life-april-2018.pdf
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/bp-assets/globalassets/oxfordshire/original-blocks/about-us/age-uk-report--creative-and-cultural-activities-and-wellbeing-in-later-life-april-2018.pdf
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/bp-assets/globalassets/oxfordshire/original-blocks/about-us/age-uk-report--creative-and-cultural-activities-and-wellbeing-in-later-life-april-2018.pdf
https://www.autisminmuseums.com/resources/
https://kidsinmuseums.org.uk/resources/how-can-your-museum-better-welcome-familiesand-young-people-with-autism/
https://kidsinmuseums.org.uk/resources/how-can-your-museum-better-welcome-familiesand-young-people-with-autism/
https://public.tableau.com/profile/bcpinsight#!/


 
Actual or potential positive 

outcome 
Actual or potential negative outcome 

using positive creative activity to 
support the improvement of the 
mental health and wellbeing of 
Hampshire’s older people, making a 
positive change to their lives. 
 
Older people face a number of 
challenges in particular, loneliness 
and social isolation, and living with 
chronic health conditions and 
disability, including dementia. 
Covid-19 has exacerbated the risk 
factors for loneliness and social 
isolation including, bereavement, 
caring responsibilities, low income, 
poor physical and mental health, 
digital exclusion and transport 
connectivity. 
 
Improving access to and 
participation in cultural activity can 
potentially address the challenges 
faced by older people resulting in 
improved health, well-being, and 
quality of life for older people. 
 
Those under 18 are not included in 
this characteristic young people are 
a target audience for the project, 
with a particular focus on groups 
with low levels of engagement in 
cultural activity, and work with 
currently underserved families from 
lower socio-economic backgrounds. 
Locally targeted work will also have 
a focus to support parents and 
carers of SEND children and those 
with children under the age of 5. 

Although many activities are free, there 
are indirect costs such as transport, 
materials, room hire, or simply 
refreshments. Carers may need respite 
care, and older people who are on their 
own may need a friend to go with them.  
 
With particular focus on those facing 
social isolation, the project will deliver 
accessible and lively content which 
supports lifelong learning both as a good 
day out or adult focused educational 
offer, those where the museum can offer 
a regular, amenity focused space to 
spend social time and feel connected 
through the catalyst Poole’s cultural 
heritage and those who would like to 
contribute time through volunteering. 
 
Failure to overcome barriers to access for 
older people won’t achieve the desired 
positive outcomes and as the population 
ages have an overall negative effect.  
 
If the council does not protect the 
buildings and services that older people 
value this will negatively impact the 
project.  
 
The number of residents aged 65 and 
over in BCP is predicted to increase by 
18% between 2018 and 2028. Reflecting 
its ageing population profile, BCP has a 
high proportion of residential and 
nursing care beds for its older 
population: 2,391 residential care beds 
and 2,248 nursing care beds per LA 
population aged 65+. This compares to 
national age standardised rates of 1,956 
for residential care and 1,764 for nursing 
care. 

2. Mental of Physical 
Disability2 

Engagement with arts and culture 
can have a transformative impact 
on disabled people, offering 
additional opportunities to enhance 
health and wellbeing as well as 
enrich lives.  Disabled artists are an 
important cultural asset in the UK 
and their engagement will be a 

Adults, children and young people with 
disabilities do not currently have equal 
access to cultural opportunities. 
 
Residents living within a 30 minute and 
60 minute drive time of the museum, 
whose day-to-day activities are limited by 
a long term health problem or disability, 

                                                           
2 Consider any reasonable adjustments that may need to be made to ensure fair access. 

178



 
Actual or potential positive 

outcome 
Actual or potential negative outcome 

priority. Access to culture for those 
with disabilities, as well as access to 
platforms for work for artists with 
disabilities, will be equal to those of 
able bodied. Anti Ableist principles 
to support and protect disabled 
people will be embedded and 
promoted. Gaining insight from 
people who are visually impaired, 
deaf, have physical or learning 
disabilities will ensure that capital 
development work, interpretation 
and formal and informal 
engagement programmes are 
designed to meet their specific 
needs. 
 

is in line with the average for England 
and Wales, at 18%. The rate is slightly 
higher for both residents of BCP and 
Poole Town Ward at 19% and 20% 
respectively. 
 
The project will work to eliminate those 
barriers or it will not achieve the positive 
outcomes. The museum must be 
advocates for access and inclusion to arts 
and culture.   
  
If the museum buildings, exhibitions, 
services, and the public realm do not 
provide equal physical access this will 
negatively impact the project and may 
breach the Equality Act. 

3. Sex 

Ensure that males and females have 
equal access to fully participate in 
cultural activity. Provision will be 
ensured for single sex cultural 
activity or participation within the 
exceptions defined in the Equality 
Act.  Males dominate Art & Culture 
sectors. Females will be fully and as 
much as possible equally 
represented in cultural provision. 
Female artists and cultural providers 
will have the same opportunities as 
males to participate, engage, 
provide and showcase. Ethnic 
females will have greater 
representation. Females will be 
represented fully in the workforce 
and at leadership levels. 

Females are under represented in Art 
and Culture sector providers and as 
artistic participants. Ethnic females are 
further underrepresented. If the project 
does not seek to promote and improve 
representation of females across the 
sectors it will negatively impact positive 
aspiration to provide equal access and 
participation. Failure to provide equal 
opportunity for females may breach the 
Equality Act. Certain exemptions make it 
permissible for the provision of single sex 
facilities. Failure to do so may breach the 
Equality Act. 

4. Gender 
reassignment3 

Ensure no Gender Reassignment 
discrimination or barriers to access, 
engage and participate in cultural 
activities. Promote inclusion equally 
with all other characteristics. Foster 
good relations for those who share 
this characteristic and those who do 
not. 

Negative only if activity excludes or is 
biased against those individuals 
undergoing, intending to undergo or 
have gone though gender reassignment. 

5. Pregnancy and 
Maternity 

Cultural activity will be fully 
accessible to women who are 
pregnant or have young children. 
Cultural organisations have good 
policies and practices for pregnant 

Negative only if opportunities are not 
made available for pregnant women or 
young families. 

                                                           
3 Transgender refers people have a gender identity or gender expression that differs to the sex assigned at birth.  

179



 
Actual or potential positive 

outcome 
Actual or potential negative outcome 

women and those with young 
families. 
This is a priority audience for the service, 
and the museum and project will work with 
families to collaborate and co-create 
resources and an offer that meets the need 
of people who are pregnant and have 
young children. We will follow best practice 
guidelines from Kids in Museum (listed in 
resources above), and aim for recognition 
as a ‘family friendly’ museum 

6. Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

Cultural activity will be fully 
accessible for people in all 
marriages and civil partnerships. 

Negative only if opportunities are not 
made available for people in marriages 
and civil partnerships. 

7. Race  

People of all races will be enabled to 
engage and co-create through 
opportunities to participate in 
cultural activity.  Black, Asian, and 
Ethnic Minorities will be positively 
encouraged to contribute, shape 
and be part of the project. They will 
have the same opportunities and 
have equal access to culture and its 
creativity. Black, Asian, and Ethnic 
Minorities heritage will be 
recognised and valued equally and 
they will have the same 
opportunities to participate, 
engage, provide and showcase. 
Black, Asian, and Ethnic Minorities 
will be represented fully in the 
workforce and at leadership levels 

Black, Asian, and Ethnic Minorities are 
under represented in the Cultural Sector 
both in provision and participation. Black, 
Asian and Minority Ethnic groups are 
under-represented in current museum 
audiences when compared to the local 
population and those within an hour’s 
drive time.  If the project does not 
increase participation and engagement 
and contribution to the cultural 
programme the policy with not have 
achieved its aspirations.  BCP has a rich 
mix of cultural diversity that can have 
positive impact on the community as a 
whole. Over 85 languages are spoken 
across BCP.  Failure to engage these 
groups will result in lost opportunities for 
a vibrant cultural sector.  Failure to take 
positive action to reduce inequality and 
access to cultural activity may breach the 
Equality Act. 

8. Religion or Belief 

People of all religions and beliefs 
will be enabled to engage and co-
create through opportunities to 
participate in cultural activity.  The 
religious heritage of our diverse 
faith groups will be recognised and 
valued. 
Minority faith groups will be 
encouraged to be part in cultural 
activity. 

Negative if diverse religions and beliefs 
not recognised in cultural activity.  
Although the population is largely 
Christian other faith groups include 
Muslim, Hindu, Buddhist and Jewish. 
 
Failure to take positive action to engage 
minority faith groups, reduce inequality 
and access to cultural activity may breach 
the Equality Act. 

9. Sexual Orientation 

Everyone regardless of sexual 
orientation will have equal access to 
engage, participate and contribute 
to the project. Positive action will be 
taken to ensure where sexual 
orientation disadvantage varies 
across the groups (Heterosexual, 

Negative if sexuality is not recognised in 
cultural activity.   
  
Only 2% of residents identify as Lesbian, 
Gay or Bisexual. These groups already 
experience more discrimination and may 
be more negatively impacted if the policy 180



 
Actual or potential positive 

outcome 
Actual or potential negative outcome 

Gay, Lesbian and Bisexual) inequity 
is removed and equal access is 
maintained for all groups. Ensure 
that those groups continue to be 
represented in events and cultural 
programmes. 

does not take positive action to address 
that. Failure to do so may breach the 
Equality Act. 

10. Armed Forces 
Community 

Cultural activity, particularly in the 
heritage sector, is respectful of 
services commemorations and 
activity. Positive action will be taken 
to engaged the local Armed Forces 
community in cultural programming 
and activity. 
Veterans will be actively 
encouraged to engage and 
participate in cultural events. 

Armed forces community should be fully 
included in activity and opportunities to 
avoid negative impact on the services or 
the well-being of veterans. 

11. Low socio-
economic status 

Culture and cultural engagement 
are particularly beneficial for those 
with health and wellbeing issues. 
Research shows a clear link 
between participation in creative 
and cultural activity.  For example 
carers, young carers, socially 
disadvantaged, those living in 
deprivation, and those with health 
issues will be positively targeted to 
provide equal access to engage and 
participate in culture. 
Disadvantaged families, children, 
and older people will be a priority.  
Positive action will be taken to 
engage under-served communities 

People with good social networks, good 
health and good financial resources are 
more likely to have high levels of 
wellbeing. These people also have 
greater access to cultural activity.  
  
3% of BCP’s population lives in the 10% 
most deprived areas of England. 10% live 
in the 20% most deprived area whilst 
20% live in the 20% least deprived in 
England.  Poole Town Ward is the fourth 
most deprived ward in Poole. It includes 
two Lower Super Output Areas in the 
worst 20% nationally for multiple 
deprivation. Both children and older 
people in Poole Town Ward experience 
higher levels of income deprivation than 
BCP overall.   
  
Barriers to those underserved and under 
represented communities are often 
location, transport and cost.  Failure to 
over come those barriers and engage will 
result in these groups falling further 
behind. The project will actively work 
with range of community partners to 
reach and involve target audiences from 
a range of socio-economic backgrounds. 

12. Carers 

Caregiving can have a negative 
impact on a person’s health and 
wellbeing if they are not given 
adequate support. Caregiving is 
complex and can take a toll on the 
carer both physically and mentally. 

Drawing on information in the 2011 
Census, there are more than 40,000 
people providing informal care in BCP. 
According to research by Carers UK, 
caring responsibilities have increased 
during the Covid-19 pandemic. 181



 
Actual or potential positive 

outcome 
Actual or potential negative outcome 

There are many young people acting 
as caregivers. These young carers 
can often miss out on some of the 
fun and social activities that their 
peers enjoy. 
 
The cultural sector can play a role 
meeting the needs of carers who 
may be in need of respite or social 
connection outside of a caregiving 
role. For younger carers this could 
be providing the chance to play and 
be creative and a focus on a creative 
outlet. 
 
A priority audience for the project 
will be families with additional caring 
responsibilities, including parents 
and carers of SEND children, and 
older people who are carers and 
those they care for. 

 
Failure to engage carers and provide 
opportunities to engage in cultural 
activity will negatively impact the project.  
 

13. Human Rights 

The policy will benefit people by 
supporting their human rights to 
life, live free from discrimination 
and the right to freedom of 
expression. 

An opportunity to challenge 
infringements to human rights would be 
missed if culture does not continue to 
champion such causes.  
  
 

 

 

Equality Impact Assessment: Action Plan  
 

Issue identified 
Action required to 

reduce impact 
Timescale Responsible officer 

Further consultation with 
groups we were unable 
to engage directly with 
during Covid and 
lockdown 

Working with Activity Plan 
consultants for focus group, 
interviews and consultation 
session 

Feb/June 
2021 

Alison Smith/Rachel Martin 

Further research with 
staff and volunteers 
about impact of changes 
to working conditions 

EQIA process started,  
 

March – 
June 2021 

Alison Smith/Rachel Martin 

 

 

  

Conclusion  

  

Summary of Equality Implications:  

182



1. The EIA process has revealed no adverse impacts as a result of the proposed changes. The 
development of these proposals and the assessment process has been robust and informed by 
best practice in the cultural sector. Consultation has entailed both formal and lived experience 
access audits, consultations with individuals and groups, identification of priority audiences who are 
currently underserved, a market assessment, tracking of all comments relating to EID, and a sector 
best practice review to understand barriers for typically underserved groups. 

2. While we have identified areas for additional research and consultation, we have a high degree of 
confidence in our findings, and the expectation is that we will be able to further maximise the 
benefits of the changes through this additional work. 

3. Ultimately, positive impacts as a result of the changes will bring about a step change in increasing 
access to and participation in cultural activity across protected characteristics. The proposed 
changes will actively engage people as contributors in shaping and being part of the project. 
Increased cultural engagement and participation has considerable potential for positive outcomes, 
including improved mental and physical wellbeing and improved quality of life and opportunity. The 
proposals actively foreground in inclusion of diverse perspectives, multiples voices and 
representation of cultural diversity, this has the potential to lead to greater inter-group 
understanding, contributing to improved social cohesion.  

 

  

   

  

  

  

  

2 Prepared 

by:  

Date:   
  

183



Equality Impact Assessment: Report and EIA Action Plan  
  

  

Equality Impact Assessment Action Plan  
  
Please complete this Action Plan for any negative or unknown impacts identified above. Use the table from the Capturing Evidence form to 
assist.  
  

Issue identified  Action required to reduce impact  Timescale  Responsible officer  

e.g. the effect on disabled 
people is unknown  

Undertake research and consultation      

        

        

  

  

  

  

  

184



3 Prepared by:  

Date:   
  

185



T
his page is intentionally left blank

186



 

DIA Report 130/AS/290720 

Decision Impact Assessment Report 

Our Museum 

DIA Proposal ID: 130 

Assessment date: 29th July 2020 

Assessor(s): Alison Smith 

Support: Roxanne King 

 

The Decision Impact Assessment (DIA) is a requirement of BCP Council’s Financial and Procurement Regulations.  It has been 

developed to help project managers maximise the co-benefits of proposals, reduce risk and ensuring that sustainable outputs and 

value for money are delivered through every project, plan, strategy, policy, service and procurement. 

The following report highlights the opportunities and potential issues associated with the above titled proposal. It has been assessed 

against a number of themes and shared with BCP Council Theme Advisors for internal consultation. The RAG ratings and additional 

information have been provided by the project manager and may or may not have incorporated feedback from theme advisors. 

Results should be scrutinised by decision-makers when considering the outcome of a proposal. 

The results of this DIA will be combined with all other assessments to enable cumulative impact data across a wide range of data 

sets. Individual DIA reports should be included in proposal documentation and made available to decision makers for consideration.  

Cumulative impact reports will be produced annually or as required by the Climate Action Steering Group and Members Working 

Group. 

 

 

For questions and further information, please contact Sustainability Team at DIA@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

 

Please note: This report is in a draft format and may appear different to future DIA reports.  

187

mailto:DIA@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 

DIA Report 130/AS/290720 

 

  

188



 

DIA Report 130/AS/290720 

Proposal Title Our Museum Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) Supported 
Type of Proposal Procurement  

 

Brief Description Procurement of a full design team for 
development and delivery phases of the 
Poole Museum Heritage funded museum 
project. 

Assessor Alison Smith, Our Museum Project Manager 
Directorate Regeneration & Economy 
Service Unit Destination & Culture 
Estimated Cost Between £100k and £500k 
Ward(s) Affected Poole Town 

 

RAG reasoning and proposed mitigation/monitoring actions 

Theme RAG 
RAG reasoning 
Details of impacts including evidence and knowledge gaps 

Mitigation and monitoring actions 
details of proposed mitigation/remedial action and 
monitoring (inc. timescales, responsible officers, related 
business plans etc) 

Climate Change & 
Energy 

 Sustainability strategy will be essential project driver based 
on RIBA 2020 Sustainability Strategy. 

10% quality question as part of higher value tenders.  
Consideration of any immediate environmental concerns 
e.g. flood risk will be considered as part of the planning 
process.  Specialist consultancies and services will be 
commissioned if required. 

Communities and 
Culture 

 
Striving for best practice in community engagement, co-
creation and active participation of core and target 
audiences as a basis for positive place-making and cultural 
regeneration. 

Comprehensive impact evaluation framework to set 
targets and measure performance. 

Waste & Resource 
Use 

 Water and resource will be a key factor in sustainable 
decision making for exhibition development and building 
development. 

Comprehensive impact evaluation framework to set 
targets and determine progress towards goals. 

Economy 
 Economic growth and sustainable communities is a key 

outcome tied to funding from National Lottery Heritage 
Fund. 

Comprehensive impact evaluation framework to set 
targets and determine progress towards goals. 

Health & Wellbeing 
 

Health and wellbeing is an overarching project theme in 
terms of programming activity as a result of the project as 
well as during the development.  One particular example will 
be addressing access through the design and access 
statement to create safe environments for all impairment 

Comprehensive impact evaluation framework to set 
targets and determine progress towards goals. 

189



 

DIA Report 130/AS/290720 

groups.  Health and wellbeing is another key priority for 
National Lottery Heritage Fund and one which we are 
required to deliver strongly against. 

Learning & Skills 
 

One activity strand in the project activity plan concerns skills 
and learning directly and includes formal and informal 
earning, outreach, working with HEIs and FE colleges, 
schools and a wide range of partners to deliver learning, 
skills, placements, volunteer development, live student 
projects and careers days. 

Comprehensive impact evaluation framework to set 
targets and determine progress towards goals. 

Natural Environment 
 

Consideration of rain water harvesting, waste water 
drainage and waste will be considered as part of building 
services work.  Public realm and green planted areas will be 
a focus of both design and project activity. 

Ecology surveys will be commissioned at the beginning 
of the design process. 

Sustainable 
Procurement 

 Sustainable procurement will be prioritised including local 
supply where practicable.   

Ongoing review of sustainable practice will be captured 
when the project is complete and building is in use to 
ensure the highest standards of sustainability. 

Transport & 
Accessibility 

 Facilities for safe bike storage and security will be provided 
for public and staff.  Shower facilities noted in client brief to 
support staff cycling to work.   

Review of staff office space required in view of new 
remote working experiences. 

 

 

 

190



Scenario 1: Poole Museum & Scaplen's Court Development

Core assumptions Key Financials - over 25 years
Inc Major 
Repairs

Exc Major 
Repairs

£k £k

Project outlay
4,242 4,242

Financial viability
£k £k

Net additional income over 25 years (3,928) (3,928)

Major Repairs Allowance 2,057 0

Borrowing Requirement (repaid over asset useful life) 1,023 1,023

6) Assumes Museums Storage will continue to be provided off-site (current Hatchpond) Interest cost of borrowing (@ 3% over 25 years) 446 446

8) Net revenue pressure over MTFP of £87k - reflecting lost income during construction phase. Net annual surplus from first full year of new operation Net 25 year surplus (including Risk Premium)  (402) (2,459)

Project outlay Museum Scaplens Total Projected Cashflow Summary
Inc Major 
Repairs

Exc Major 
Repairs

£ £ £ £k £k

Building improvements 1,693,935 822,880 2,516,815
Additonal Investment Design Gallery 3rd Floor 300,000 0 300,000 Net revenue cost to BCP over MTFP (2021/22 to 2023/24) 87 87

Professional fees 172,089 37,711 209,800 Net saving to BCP for next 10 years (2024/25 to 2033/34) (624) (847)

Public realm 50,000 50,000 100,000 Net saving to BCP for next 10 years (2034/35 to 2043/44) 76 (1,181)

2,216,024 910,591 3,126,615 Net saving to BCP for next 5 years (2043/44 to 2047/48) 59 (518)

Contingency and inflation 25% 700,000 95,409 795,409 Net 25 year surplus (including Risk Premium) (402) (2,459)

      

Capital outlay 2,916,024 1,006,000 3,922,024 Risk Premium (difference between Invest to Save rate 3% and PWLB) 131 131

      

Revenue engagement spend (including professional fees, project management and central support) 319,601 Net 25 year surplus - without additional Invest to Save risk (533) (2,590)

Project Outlay 4,241,625  

Project funding HLF Grant HE Grant Third Party BCP Total
subject to bid secured ongoing secured

£ £ £ £ £
Capital
Heritage Lottery Funding 1,920,637 1,920,637
Historic England 478,174 478,174
Community Infrastructure Levy 200,000 200,000
Third Party / Fundraising 300,000 300,000
Prudential Borrowing 1,023,213 1,023,213

Revenue    
Heritage Lottery Funding 319,601 319,601

Project funding 2,240,238 478,174 300,000 1,223,213 4,241,625

5) Major Repairs allowance included from Year 10 onwards to maintain asset in good condition, based on 0.8% of current asset value (excluding land) + capital 
investment is proposed.  This is an indicative allowance only, that will ultimately be informed by (and make financial provision for capital costs arising 
from the service's 25 year building maintenance plan currently under development) to be funded. There is as yet no other specific budget provision for 
capital costs anticipated within the 25 building maintenance plan. There is the potential for some of this cost to be met from revenue budgets for Estate 
maintenance.

7) Assume additional revenue operating expenditure and investment / asset value increases by 2% each year

1) Capital outlay of £3.9m - including professional and design fees, surveys and investigations, public realm works and 10% contingency. This allows for 
relocation of café to Scaplen's Court, additional wedding and room hire potential, and enhanced 3rd floor gallery at Poole Museum. Works estimated to be 
completed December 22 to December 23, with the majority of capital outlay incurred 2023/24

4) PRU borrowing at Invest to Save low risk rate of 3% over 25 years. Assume borrowing will be undetraken for building related expenditure - with asset life of 
40 years. Council has option to increase period of borrowing from 25 years to 40 years (life of asset). This would further improve net annual revenue position, but 
cost the Council more in interest repayment. This project is a regeneration scheme, a by-product of which is income generation. PWLB borrowing is therefore 
permissible under HM Treasury guidance 

3) PRU borrowing to be repaid from net additional income from customers / visitors / wedding receptions. Borrowing will be taken out in 2023/24 - repayable from 
2024/25 onwards. This is net additional income, with 2% inflation per annum

2) Funding will be from a mix of sources, including external grant, third party, match funding from trusts and foundations (see total below). All external funding to 
be confirmed in advance of works progressing

191



T
his page is intentionally left blank

192



Scenario 2: Scaplen's Court Development only

Core assumptions Key Financials - over 25 years
Inc Major 
Repairs

Exc Major 
Repairs

£k £k

Project outlay 956 956

Financial viability £k £k

Net additional income over 25 years (2,882) (2,882)

Major Repairs Allowance 442 0

Borrowing Requirement (repaid over asset useful life) 278 278

Interest cost of borrowing (@ 3% over 25 years) 121 121

Net 25 year surplus (including Risk Premium) (2,041) (2,483)

Project outlay Assumptions £ Projected Cashflow Summary Inc Major 
Repairs

Exc Major 
Repairs

Capital building improvements - Poole Museum 0 £k £k

Capital building improvements - Scaplen's Court 822,880

Capital professional fees - Poole Museum 0 Net cost to BCP over MTFP (2021/22 to 2023/24) 26 26

Capital professional fees - Scaplen's Court 37,711 Net saving to BCP for next 10 years (2024/25 to 2033/34) (839) (887)

Net saving to BCP for next 10 years (2034/35 to 2043/44) (846) (1,116)

860,591 Net saving to BCP for next 5 years (2043/44 to 2047/48) (382) (506)

Contingency and inflation 11% 95,409 Net 25 year surplus (including Risk Premium) (2,041) (2,483)

Capital outlay 956,000 Risk Premium (difference between Invest to Save rate 3% and PWLB)36 36

      

Net 25 year surplus - without additional Invest to Save risk (2,077) (2,519)

Project Outlay 956,000

Project funding Assumptions £

Capital

Heritage Lottery Funding 0

Historic England 478,174
Community Infrastructure Levy (repurposed from Poole Museum) 200,000

Third Party / Fundraising 0

Prudential Borrowing (for building improvements year 0) 277,826

Revenue    

Heritage Lottery Funding 0

Project funding 956,000

5) Major Repairs allowance included from Year 10 onwards to maintain asset in good condition, based on 0.8% of current 
asset value (excluding land) + capital investment is proposed.  This is an indicative allowance only, that will ultimately be 
informed by (and make financial provision for capital costs arising from the service's 25 year building maintenance 
plan currently under development) to be funded. There is as yet no other specific budget provision for capital costs 
anticipated within the 25 building maintenance plan. There is the potential for some of this cost to be met from revenue 
budgets for Estate maintenance.
6) Assume additional revenue operating expenditure and investment / asset value increases by 2% each year

7) Net revenue pressure over MTFP of £26k - reflecting lost income during construction phase. Project produces net annual 
surplus from first full year of new operation

1) Capital outlay of £956k - including professional and design fees, surveys and investigations and 10% contingency. This 
allows for relocation of café to Scaplen's Court, additional wedding and room hire potential. Works estimated to be 
completed December 22 to December 23, with the majority of capital outlay incurred 2023/24

4) PRU borrowing at Invest to Save low risk rate of 3% over 25 years. Assume borrowing will be undertaken for building 
related expenditure - with asset life of 40 years. Council has option to increase period of borrowing from 25 years to 40 years 
(life of asset). This would further improve net annual revenue position, but cost the Council more in interest repayment.  This 
project is a regeneration scheme, a by-product of which is income generation. PWLB borrowing is therefore permissible under 
HM Treasury guidance 

3) PRU borrowing to be repaid from net additional income from customers / visitors / wedding receptions. Borrowing will be 
taken out in 2022/23 - repayable from 2023/24 onwards. This is net additional income, with 2% inflation per annum

2) funding includes £478k Heritage England funding - confirmed. Requires 50% match funding, including £200k CIL 
approved for Poole Museum, but repurposed to Scaplen's Court. Remainder to be funded from £278k Prudential 
borrowing

193



T
his page is intentionally left blank

194



CABINET 

 

 

Report subject Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy 

Meeting date 14 April 2021 

Status Public Report  

Executive summary 
Everybody deserves a stable, safe and secure home, 
however, many households in Bournemouth, Christchurch 
and Poole still face the harmful consequences of becoming 
homeless or being at risk of this.  Homelessness, including 
rough sleeping, is extremely complex. Addressing the 
challenges can only develop effectively through collaboration 
of Council services with local communities, businesses, 
charities and other statutory and non-statutory partners. 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole legacy homelessness 
& rough sleeping strategies require alignment. An aligned 
interim Action Plan was agreed by Council in November 
2019.  

The Homelessness Reduction Board and Homelessness 
Partnership have been in place for 2 years now and oversee 
provide the governance for the preceding action plan and has 
led to the co-production of a new strategy.  The partnership’s 
multi-agency action groups will help to deliver the action plan 
and this approach continues to strengthen and develop. 

The Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy and Action 
Plan provides an ambitious, innovative and ground breaking 
strategic approach to tackling homelessness in all its forms, 
with a shared vision of “Ending homelessness in 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole by ensuring everyone 
has a safe place to live that they can call home.”  

The strategy has 3 clear core aims, each of which have a 
number of ambitious commitments to deliver.   

 Early & Effective Upstream Prevention 

 Reducing and stopping the cycle of homelessness 

 Ongoing Improvement, development and sustainability 

  

195

Agenda Item 12



Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that: 

 Cabinet approves the Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy and related Action Plan following the 
full review and consultation period that has been 
undertaken. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

All Councils are required to publish a Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping Strategy at least every five years.   This 
strategy is the culmination of a co-production process with 
many partners. 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Robert Lawton (Portfolio Holder for Homes) 

Lead Member Councillor Hazel Allen (Homelessness)  

Corporate Director Kate Ryan – Corporate Director of Environment and 
Community 

Contributors Lorraine Mealings - Director of Housing 

Ben Tomlin – Head of Housing Options & Partnerships 

Fraser Nicholson – Homelessness Strategy Manager 

BCP Homelessness Partnership 

Wards N/A 

Classification For Information 

 

Background & The National Context 

1. The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (HRA) implemented in April 2018, was the 
single biggest change in homelessness law in 40 years. The Act introduced a 
number of changes including: 

 

 A strengthened duty for Councils to provide advisory services 

 An extension to the period during which an applicant is considered 
‘threatened with homelessness’ from 28 to 56 days 

 New duties for Councils to assess all applicants and to take reasonable 
steps to prevent and relieve homelessness 

 These steps will be set out in a personalised housing plan that, wherever 
possible, must be agreed between the local authority and the customer 

 
2. Households who are statutorily homeless are owed legal duties that fall into three 

main categories:  

Prevention duties include any activities aimed at preventing a household 
threatened with homelessness from becoming homeless. This would involve 
activities to enable an applicant to remain in their current home or find alternative 

196



accommodation in order to prevent them from becoming homeless. The duty lasts 
for 56 days but may be extended if the local authority is continuing with efforts to 
prevent homelessness.  

Relief duties are owed to households that are already homeless and require help 
to secure settled accommodation. The duty lasts 56 days and can only be extended 
by a local authority if the households would not be owed the main homelessness 
duty.  

Main homelessness duty describes the duty a local authority has towards an 
applicant who is unintentionally homeless, eligible for assistance and has priority 
need. This definition has not been changed by the 2017 HRA. However, these 
households are now only owed a main duty if their homelessness has not been 
successfully prevented or relieved. 

3. Government are currently reviewing the impact of the Act, with particular focus on 
resident outcomes, the changing approach of local authorities and partners to 
tackling homelessness, the experiences of those customers who approach local 
authorities for assistance and the additional burden on resources of implementing 
the new duties. 

4. Further to the HRA, 2018 saw the launch of the National Rough Sleeping 
Strategy. This detailed government plan aims to help people who are sleeping 
rough now and to put in place the structures to end rough sleeping for good. 
Specifically, halving rough sleeping by 2022 and eradicating rough sleeping by 
2027.  

5. A number of opportunities to successfully apply for short-term grant funding to 
enhance the local offer for people rough sleeping across Bournemouth, 
Christchurch & Poole has seen a range of positive moves into accommodation 
with support.   

6. The Everyone In initiative, from March 2020, implemented due to the Covid-19 
pandemic saw previously unprecedented numbers of people who had been rough 
sleeping or precariously housed being accommodated in emergency provision, 
with subsequent arrangements made to maximise move on and minimise returns 
to the street. The national policy position required Councils to provide 
accommodation to these groups as a key contributor to save lives during the 
Public Health emergency. Homelessness legislation does not offer this safety net 
to people in these situations. 

7. The policy resulted in additional government capital and revenue grant funding 
awards to help facilitate this work, including providing more homes and critical 
revenue resources for the provision of specialist support services. The multi-
disciplinary approach and strong partnership ethos employed in BCP during this 
time has received positive recognition and acknowledgement from Government 
and BCP is seen as an area of good practice nationally. 

     Local Context 

8. The Homelessness Reduction Board and Homelessness Partnership was 
established in October 2019.  The involvement of around 50 different statutory 
and non-statutory partners has added significant value and momentum to 
coordinated homelessness activities across the conurbation and will be key to 

197



delivering the strategy and action plan. These governance arrangements and 
partnership approach are cited as best practice across the sector. 

9. The Council’s Housing Options service assisted over 4000 households in the 
past year who were either homeless or threatened with homelessness. Where 
possible advice and support is provided to prevent homelessness and keep 
people in their homes. Successful prevention is often best delivered in 
partnership and when person centred. BCP has a wide range of services for 
residents whose focus is around homelessness prevention. Where services are 
working together to prevent homelessness, a positive outcome or move is 
achieved for 79% of those requesting assistance, compared to 71% in the South 
West and 66% nationally. 

10. Where prevention efforts are not successful the Council may be required to 
provide interim temporary accommodation. 261 homes are used for this purpose 
across Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole. Hotel or B&B accommodation is 
also regularly used. The Council has around 450 households in statutory 
temporary accommodation provision, however many more households are known 
to live in similar precarious interim accommodation, such as sofa surfing or 
staying temporarily with friends and family. 

11. At time of writing, there are around 200 households living in hotels, almost all 
single people and couples. The strategy recognises the need to reduce all 
temporary accommodation, particularly hotel accommodation through the delivery 
and adoption of a housing-led approach, whilst ensuring any emergency 
temporary housing is of good quality. 

12. Homelessness comparative data is not yet fully reliable to benchmark due to the 
implementation of new regulation and familiarisation with statutory reporting 
guidelines, indications suggest that the BCP area has been effective at 
supporting the enhanced homelessness prevention agenda and ensuring 
households receive the assistance and support they need at the right time to 
enable them to stay in their homes, or find suitable alternatives. 

13. The number of people rough sleeping across the BCP area, has significantly 
reduced by 65%, to 25 people, in the past year. This is not least due to the 
national Everyone In policy, but significant credit should be attributed to the many 
Homelessness Partnership organisations who have all contributed to driving 
down the most acute form of homelessness. 

14. A greater health-led approach to supporting people who become homeless whilst 
maintaining a strong multi-agency approach in the provision of specialist support 
has been key. Addressing health needs, substance dependency and meaningful 
occupation are critical to consider throughout the delivery of the strategy’s core 
aims. 

     Development of the Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy 

15. Further to the establishment of the BCP Homelessness Partnership and 
Homelessness Reduction Board in October 2019, homelessness charity Crisis 
facilitated an event to initiate partnership thinking, contributions and priorities for 
a new strategy.  A number of focussed sub-groups were initiated, this included a 
strategy steering group who has led the project planning and development of the 
new strategy. The steering group included several board members and senior 
representatives from a range of partner organisations, reporting to the board. 

198



 

16. A comprehensive homelessness service mapping exercise was developed 
across the wider homelessness partnership and data collation and analysis 
assessment completed. Feedback from the Homelessness Partnership sub 
groups, alongside data analysis and service mapping provided important 
feedback on the key issues for which the strategy should address. Evidence and 
data from a range of recognised national organisations and academic research 
reports informed the shaping of strategy and critically, the lived-experience sub-
group provided essential feedback regarding the issues which were important to 
those who are currently or have experienced homelessness locally.  

17. There has been a great deal of learning from stakeholders experiences of 
delivering services to people who are homeless during the Covid-19 pandemic. 
Collective reflections from this period is strongly represented within the 
Commitments of the Action Plan to ensure what works across the partnership 
continues and is developed. 

18. The co-production approach to the strategy’s development within the Partnership 
ensured that the draft strategy shared for public consultation was developed by 
partners for the local area by homelessness stakeholders.  Despite the strategy 
being legally required to be published by the local authority, every effort has been 
made to ensure its developed, owned and will be delivered by the BCP 
Homelessness Partnership.  Partnership working is considered to be key. 

Overview of the Strategy  

19. BCP Homelessness Partnership and the Homelessness & Rough Sleeper 
Strategy share a common vision to “End homelessness in Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole by ensuring everyone has a safe place to live that they 
can call home.” 

20. Three core strategic aims have been identified to underpin the strategy each with 
a comprehensive group of commitments leading to a multi-agency Action Plan. 

 Core Aim 1 – Early and Effective Upstream Prevention: Reducing 
homelessness by intervening and educating prior to occurrence 

 Core Aim 2 - Reducing and stopping the cycle of homelessness: where 
this does occur work at making it a one off event  

 Core Aim 3 - Ongoing improvement development and sustainability: 
ensuring that progress is sustained  

21. To support the aspiration of ending homelessness across BCP, specific focus 
has been given to a number of key areas. Ensuring rough sleeping reductions are 
maintained and further reducing the number of people living in temporary housing 
settings will be achieved by collaborative efforts to stop the events that lead to 
homelessness in the first place and providing effective early interventions and 
supportive preventative measures that keep people in their homes, or help 
people to move before homelessness occurs. 

22. Where homelessness does occur, the strategic approach will focus on ensuring 
this is a one-off event and non-reoccurring by minimising this traumatic event, 
through delivering housing-led solutions for people with a tailored package of 
flexible and specialist support, accessible when they need it. The strategy 
ensures a strong health led and holistic needs assessment approach. 

199



23. The strategy is ambitious in both its vision and core aims, homelessness is 
complex and often a result of structural factors including poverty, inequality, 
housing supply and affordability, unemployment, welfare and income policies. 
Whilst acknowledging these issues, the systems, partnerships and service 
delivery models we employ locally have a profound impact. The strategy ensures 
that peoples lived experience of local arrangements will always inform the local 
offer, whilst enabling evidence and data to shape what works when working to 
end homelessness across the BCP region. 

24. The Action Plan is a key element of the direction going forwards.  It importantly 
helps to translate the strategy into action and involves many key actions to be 
delivered in partnership across BCP in order to make a real difference.  Actions 
are varied and innovative, ranging from establishing a multi-disciplinary health 
team to piloting a locker scheme, from facilitating a multi-agency annual 
homelessness conference to revisiting the mediation offer for parental and family 
evictions.  There are multiple other actions to be progressed, many of which are 
already underway and should generate positive outcomes that will help deliver 
the Strategic vision. 

Consultation Methodology and Key findings 

25. The consultation for the strategy ran between 28th October 2020 and 20th 

January 2021.   

 An online survey was hosted on the BCP Council Consultation Tracker 
page and promoted through various channels including:  

 Social media posts (Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn) 

 Emails to key stakeholders including businesses and the general public 

 BCP Email Me Newsletters 

 BCP Business e-Newsletter 

 Homelessness Forum Newsletter 

 Council Services Units and teams 

 Stakeholder presentations and workshops were delivered to approximately 
340 people from a range of statutory and voluntary sector organisations. 

 All Member briefing  

26. There were 117 responses to the online survey with most respondents saying 
they were BCP residents (82%). The consultation achieved a good level of 
engagement online and offline with the main webpage achieving almost one 
thousand visits throughout the consultation period.  There was a high level of 
agreement across all the core aims with Core Aim 1 having the highest level of 
agreement. There was also a high level of agreement with the Commitments 
across all 3 Core Aims:  

27. - Core Aim 1 – respondents agreed most with the commitments to ‘ensure that 
when people are discharged from institutional settings, they have accommodation 
and good health support’ and to ‘develop homelessness employment pathways 
for people who are looking for work’.   

200



- Core Aim 2 – respondents agreed most with the commitment to ‘ensure any 
victim of domestic abuse has somewhere safe to stay and receive support’ 

- Core Aim 3 – respondents agreed most with the commitment to ‘share 
training and learning experiences across the Homelessness Partnership 
building our collective capacity & expertise’  

28. In addition to responding to the main questions, respondents provided additional 
comments comprising mostly of suggestions for how the Strategy could be 
changed, improved or effectively implemented. Respondents would like to see 
greater multi-agency partnerships as homelessness is often a complex issue with 
a variety of causes and respondents felt it will not be eradicated until these 
complex arrays of causes can be understood properly and tackled effectively by 
different services simultaneously.     

29. There remain significant challenges to identifying suitable accommodation 
options for those who become homeless, particularly for people with complex 
needs and behaviours. Demand for homelessness services is forecasted to 
increase as the country comes out of lockdown, particularly as unemployment 
increases and the eviction ban, which has prevented many households from 
homelessness during the pandemic, comes to an end.  

30. Resources to maintain and strengthen services that provide support to 
households to sustain their homes over the coming years will be critical. Moving 
towards a housing-led supply approach where a home is provided to a person as 
quickly as possible, reducing the harmful impacts of prolonged temporary 
accommodation stays and offering flexible person centred support will be a key 
measure of success. 

     Summary 

31. Everybody deserves a stable, safe and secure home.  Many households in 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole, however, still face the harmful 
consequences of becoming homeless.  Homelessness, including rough sleeping, 
is an extremely complex area. Addressing the related challenges can only 
develop effectively through collaboration of Council services with local 
communities, businesses, charities and other statutory and non-statutory 
partners. The Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy provides an ambitious 
approach on behalf of the Homelessness Partnerships’ stakeholders to work 
together to End homelessness in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole by 
ensuring everyone has a safe place to live that they can call home.”  

32. The BCP Homelessness Reduction Board will oversee the delivery of the new 
strategy and action plan. An annual review report will be produced of progress, 
reviewed by the Homelessness Reduction Board and made available as required 
for Council scrutiny.   

33. To build on the Councils best practices approaches in tackling homelessness, 
BCP Council has recently joined a new collaborative network of local government 
innovators coordinated by ‘The Centre for Homelessness Impact’. This ‘What 
Works Community’ project will support the Council to further improve its response 
to homelessness issues using robust evidence and data, enabling the 
development of new ideas, network with peers and receive world-class guidance 
on improving the homelessness service from leading experts in the sector. 

201



34. The strategy is bold and ambitious, in line with and linked to BCP Council’s 
Corporate Strategy and Big Plan.  This together with the Council’s increased 
scale and scope and the partnership working which has been key to recent 
success has not gone unnoticed nationally.  This led to a visit in August 2020 by 
the Minister for Rough Sleeping and Housing, who chose to visit the BCP region 
after citing the excellent, mulit-agency approach taken during lockdown to 
supporting vulnerable people as part of Everyone In.   Additionally, MHCLG 
(Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government) praised us for the 
significant progress with reducing rough sleeping in the BCP region, again 
referencing the vital partnership approach which enabled this.  

35. The strategy will be updated in terms of its final visual look by the 
Communications Design Team, who will ensure a final version that is more 
accessible and includes infographics and pictures, whilst making clear the co-
produced nature of the strategy.  The art-work will help to ensure that the final 
published Strategy document is as inclusive and engaging as possible. 

     Summary of financial implications  

36. The Council receives several annual ring-fenced grants which support the 
delivery of Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Services. The grants resource a 
range of Council Housing Options staff teams, commissioned services from 
partner organisations to prevent and tackle homelessness and some funds are 
helping support property acquisition. 

37. The impact of the pandemic and the Everyone In policy has seen significant 
financial pressures due to the provision of additional emergency accommodation 
and support. A robust plan is being developed to manage the financial pressure 
which aligns with the principles set out in the proposed strategy.   

     Summary of legal implications  

38. There is a legal requirement for Local Authorities to have a Homelessness and 
rough sleeping strategy that sets out information about; the scale and causes of 
homelessness and rough sleeping in their area and; how an area will prevent and 
tackle homelessness and rough sleeping. 

39. Further to the statutory requirement to publish a strategy, the statutory order. 
pertaining to BCP council requires an aligned strategy to be developed and 
published. 

Summary of human resources implications  

N/A 

Summary of environmental impact  

N/A 

Summary of public health implications  

40. The strategy and related action plan discuss and integrate a range of positive 
activities which benefit health and wellbeing through housing and partnership 
working with key stakeholders including the CCG, Public Health, Dorset 
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust and the third sector. 

202



Summary of equality implications  

41. This strategy will improve links between services, increasing knowledge and 
experience of working with other services and aim to prevent homelessness and 
end repeat cases of homelessness and rough sleeping. 

42. Throughout the development of this strategy, the needs of service users and 
potential service users have been considered, reflecting on the protected. 

43. Characteristics and other vulnerabilities seeking to achieve positive outcomes for 
all.  

44. This strategy has been shaped with feedback from a range of voices. A 12-week 
consultation process engaged stakeholders and the general public. This included 
stakeholder presentations to a wider range of services and partners as well as 
ensuring input was sought and included from those with lived experience of 
homelessness and rough sleeping. 

45. As part of the formulation and background research it is known that some groups 
are at particular risk of homelessness, including but not limited to the LGBT+ 
community and the ethnic minority community.  There have been early scoping 
meetings with groups such as Dorset Race Equality Council, Community Action 
Network and the LGB&T Dorset Equality Network regarding this area and 
ensuring minority groups are given focus. This work will be further developed 
through the strategy action plan. 

Summary of risk assessment  

N/A 

Background papers  

 

Appendices  

1 – Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021-2025 
 
2 - Strategy Action Plan  
 
3– Equality Impact Assessment 
 
 

203



This page is intentionally left blank

204



1 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

…………………………..……………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

April 2021 

 

 

Homelessness and Rough  

Sleeping Strategy 2021−2025 205



 

2 

Foreword 
 

Becoming homeless, or the fear that this could potentially occur, is one of the most damaging experiences that can happen to individuals and 

families.  It can pervade many aspects of life and leave long lasting damage to prospects, potential, wellbeing and health. 

 

The new BCP Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy and Action Plan has been co-produced with the Homelessness Partnership and seeks 

to focus on key strategic aims supported by a wide scope of ambitious and impactful commitments which will improve local outcomes and improve 

life chances, communities and overall service provision.  This is in line with BCP Council’s’ Big Plan and overriding strategic aims. Everyone 

deserves a good quality of life, to be healthy and safe and have somewhere they can call home, and this should not be dependent on status. 

  

A multi-agency approach and working alongside community partners is the only way that this can happen effectively, and the Homelessness 

Partnership is vital to this; the strategy builds and expands on the wonderful work that has been done to date. 

 

Homelessness is an issue which is high on the national agenda.  The Everyone In response to the COVID-19 pandemic has shown what can be 

achieved in addressing rough sleeping and our joined up response to this gained national praise and attention, whilst helping people in 

transformative ways.  We need to continue to build on this progress and the commitments reflect this. 

 

It is important to emphasise that homelessness is a much wider issue than rough sleeping, with many people living in precarious or unsuitable 

homes or in temporary or emergency accommodation.  All of this must be considered and is fundamental to our focused approach as we work hard 

at all forms of homelessness prevention as well as minimising repeat and long term cases and ensuring sustainable solutions which focus on 

individual need and aspiration. 

 

The strategy is a fantastic opportunity to ensure a wide-ranging and proactive response to this challenging issue, with the community playing a vital 

part in helping to deliver the strategy through the action plan. Integral to our response is involving those individuals who have lived experience or 

who have been disproportionately affected by homelessness in shaping our services and delivery so that they best meet the needs of those people 

that need them most. 

 
 
Cllr Robert Lawton     BCP Council    Portfolio Holder (Homes) 
Cllr Hazel Allen  BCP Council   Lead Member for Homelessness  
Alastair Doxat-Pursar Faithworks Wessex  Homelessness Reduction Board vice-chair  
 

206



 

3 

Introduction and purpose 
 
The BCP Homelessness Partnership have worked together to develop a robust and ambitious strategic plan which seeks to make it everyone’s 
business to contribute to the ending of homelessness and rough sleeping across the conurbation, recognising that many residents, communities, 
businesses and services provide for, and are affected by homelessness in many different ways. 
 
Prior to the formation of BCP Council in April 2019, the legacy authorities all had their own homelessness and rough sleeping strategies, with 
related action plans.  In the period between the creation of BCP Council and this strategy being formulated, an interim aligned Action Plan was 
created.  This coincided with an increased recognition of the value and effectiveness of collaboration, co-production and partnership, leading to 
proactive measures to formalise and expand this approach.    
 
The first Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole has been co-produced with local partners and 
stakeholders from across the sector.  This corresponds with the value placed on joint working and thinking as we seek to put an end to 
homelessness and its impact in our towns. 
 
The strategy is in six parts: 
 
 

Part 1  Vision, definition of homelessness and values  
 
Part 2  Homelessness and rough sleeping governance and an overview of the Homelessness Partnership 
 
Part 3  Strategic review and current context  
 
Part 4  Impact of COVID-19 
  
Part 5  Key challenges arising from review and the pandemic 
 
Part 6  Core aims and commitments of the strategy 
 
Part 7  Delivery and monitoring 
 
 
 

 

207



 

4 

Part 1      Vision, definition of homelessness and values  

 
Our vision 

 

“Ending homelessness in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole by ensuring everyone has a safe place to 
live that they can call home.”  

 
This aspiration demonstrates the Homelessness Partnership’s desire to achieve this outcome or get as close to it as we possibly can. 

  

Definition of homelessness  
 

Partners across the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole area are committed to working together to ensure homelessness is ended across the 
conurbation. For the purposes of this strategy we define homelessness as where someone:  

 has no accommodation available in the UK or abroad 

 has no legal right to occupy the accommodation 

 lives in a split household due to availability of accommodation for whole household 

 is where it is unreasonable to continue to occupy accommodation 

 is experiencing violence from any person 

 is unable to secure entry to their home 

 lives in a moveable structure but has no place to put this. 
 

It is the ambition of this strategy to: 
 

 Ensure no one sleeps rough or lives in places which are not designed as a home, such as tents, vehicles, squats or non-residential 
buildings.  

 That anyone staying in emergency or temporary accommodation has a rapid rehousing plan specifying their appropriate move-on 
housing which is suitable and affordable, and support being accessible and flexibly delivered.  

 Everyone threatened with homelessness (whether over 56 days or more immediately) is provided with the advice, assistance and 
support they need to prevent their homelessness, and for people who leave institutional settings and survivors of domestic abuse to 
ensure that housing pathways are in place so that they do not become homeless.  

 

 

208



 

5 

 

Our values 

  
The vision and values were agreed by the Homelessness Reduction Board in December 2019 and adopted by 
the BCP Homelessness Partnership.  They demonstrate a wider commitment to ending homelessness, and to homes being places of safety where 
people can develop, prosper and maintain good health and wellbeing; and being more than a roof or basic place of shelter.  
  

The values illustrate the need for collaborative and innovative joint work across multiple agencies, services and sectors and that this work must be 
open to new ideas and to the best and emerging practice from around the country and the wider world.  In addition, there is emphasis on the need 
for significant input and insight from people with lived experience of all forms of homelessness, the true experts regarding its impact.  
  

 Collaboration and co-production: we can do more together than on our own  
 Integrity: built on knowledge and listening to each other and those with lived experience  
 What works: build on the ‘bright spots’ both locally and learning from other areas  
 Resolution: recognition that it is everyone’s business to seek to end homelessness locally.  

 
Part 2      Homelessness and rough sleeping governance 
 

BCP Homelessness Partnership 

  
The BCP Homelessness Partnership officially launched on 10 October 2019,  World Homeless Day, and now involving over 180 people from all 
sectors across Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole.   
 
Following the launch, the overarching Homelessness Reduction Board was established ahead of its inaugural meeting in December 2019, and 
various action groups established covering a broad spectrum of areas such as financial resilience, community support, lived experience 
involvement, rough sleeping and health, with a wide cross section of people from the sector getting involved to agree key priorities.  
   
The partnership was relaunched with new focus in May 2020, with some added learning from the COVID-19 pandemic.  This renewed impetus has 
led to some early successes and initiatives and will continue to be instrumental to ongoing process and to this strategy.  These successes have 
included proactive Let’s talk renting and Let’s talk money initiatives to help prevent homelessness, a hospital pathway team and expansion of 
mobile health provision as well as a significant reduction in rough sleeping, with enhanced offers of support to those affected or at risk of this. 

 
 
 
 

209



 

6 

Homelessness Reduction Board  
  

The Homelessness Reduction Board (HRB) was formed to provide overall strategic lead and governance for the Partnership.  The Board 
includes representatives from various key services including the Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group, Dorset Police, Probation, Adult and 
Children’s Social Care, Housing, and third sector representatives.  As the COVID-19 pandemic started to impact, the HRB started to meet 
more frequently, initially every fortnight, before moving to the current monthly frequency.    

 
Homelessness Forum  

 

The Homelessness Forum is the membership meeting of the Homelessness Partnership and has a wide and active membership from services and 
organisations with an interest in resolving homelessness in the area, for the statutory, private and voluntary sectors. The Forum, like the HRB, 
currently meets monthly.  The meetings provide an opportunity to update and engage the rest of those in the Homelessness Partnership about what 
is happening in the sector locally and nationally and disseminating information from the HRB meetings, as well as a range of other matters such as 
identifying local opportunities for training, funding and collaboration  There is also a Charter which outlines the aims and vision, in line with the HRB 
Terms of Reference as well as this strategy and helps to maximise coherence and focus.  

  
Part 3                                           BCP strategic review and current context 

 

 
The homelessness sector over the past five years has seen a period of significant change and challenge; including welfare reforms, austerity and 
the single biggest legislative change in homelessness (Homelessness Reduction Act 2017). Services have shifted locally in response to 
provide a greater emphasis on early intervention and prevention, in efforts to negate the need to provide for homelessness crisis. The reality, 
however, is that overall homelessness has not reduced, nor has the use of temporary accommodation.   
 
The overarching local priorities for homelessness and rough sleeping have been identified during the formulation of this strategy by considering best 
practice and data from a wide range of sources nationally, with particular consideration of Crisis’ comprehensive Everybody In report and 
recommendations, various research papers from a range of organisations and webinars on subjects including lived experience 
and changing perceptions, as well as the consideration and analysis of local data and mapping of needs and provision concerning the local picture 
in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole.    
 
Where this includes benchmarking with other areas, the data is compared either to England and Wales, or to areas of a similar population as the 
BCP Council region. The strategy has been co-produced, meaning that it is not solely a council undertaking, but rather has been created with 
significant input from the Homelessness Partnership and Homelessness Reduction Board, including from people with lived experience, and the 
aims and commitments build on the early successes of the partnership.  It will also feed into the overarching BCP Housing Strategy.  

 
 

210



 

7 

The local context  
 

The overall number of homeless applications has risen sharply over the last year.  There were 4,256 applications in 2019/20 compared to 3,696 the 
previous year.  This represents a rise of 15 per cent.  Approximately a fifth of applicants are under the age of 24 and it is also worth noting that this 
age group also faces other disproportionate disadvantages such as lower mean incomes or salaries and increasing job insecurity, with 
disproportionate reliance on renting.  
  
Applications in 2020 were broadly in line with last year in terms of age group proportion. The biggest differences are increasing this year in the 18-
24 and 30-34 age groups, whilst the biggest drop (and biggest age group change) is a reduction in the 40-49 age group (a drop of about two per 
cent)  
There also appears to be a relatively high proportion of older people being at risk of, or becoming homeless, with just under 8 per cent of 
applications from people aged 60 or older.  
 

Local data also indicates that single people account for a significant majority of homelessness cases in the BCP region, with 64 per cent of 
applications being from single people. Nationally, single people represent just under 30 per cent of the population.  However, there was a slight drop 
in single applications in 2020, and a small rise in all categories of families with children.  The number of homeless applications with dependent 
children increased by 52 per cent between 2018/19 and 2019/20.  
 

When compared with the six other local authorities (by population) BCP Council accepted 1.84 per ‘000 of population.  This compares with the 
lowest rate of 0.87 and a highest of 5.57 across the comparative authorities.  The average rate was 1.99. All authorities are likely to differ in at least 
some areas such as levels and affordability of the local private rented sector, employment rates and metrics of health and inequality, and so direct 
comparison is difficult. The BCP region is very reliant on the private rented sector for resolving housing need and homelessness demand, rents are 
high and genuinely affordable self-contained move-on accommodation is in limited supply. 
 

The main cause of homelessness is the end of a private rented sector tenancy, normally due to rent arrears or anti-social behaviour, with other 
common reasons being due to a family being no longer able to accommodate and relationship breakdown.  In terms of rough sleeping, BCP has 
had relatively high rates of this, in common with other seaside towns in the south of England, the relative temporal climate and wealth of the area is 
attractive in comparison with some other parts of the country.  In 2019 the rate of people rough sleeping in BCP was 0.18 per 1,000 households, 
compared to 0.09 in the south west as a whole, and 0.08 in England.  However, the BCP region is a relatively urban part of the south west, and 
higher figures would be expected, in line with other southern towns and cities of a comparable size.  This figure has reduced significantly since late 
2019 and is projected to remain low in 2021.  
 

For a full report on this area, including data on protected characteristics, as well as some of the information touched on in the overarching 
priorities below, please contact fraser.nicholson@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
  
 

 
 

211

mailto:fraser.nicholson@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 

8 

Early intervention and focus on higher risk areas  
  
Early intervention not only prevents homelessness and reduces its impact, but also prevents and reduces a lot of the harm that is often caused or 
results from the related impact.  In 2019/20 BCP Council recorded 1,215 prevention cases and partner agencies including Shelter and Citizens 
Advice are also effective in this area.  HCLIC (Homelessness Case Level Collection) data shows that collectively we are good at finding alternative 
homes, but not so strong at keeping people in their homes.  
 

Every case of homelessness is a personal tragedy and it is important to avoid this whenever possible and to help people to remain in their homes 
via support, intervention and advocacy, also ensuring that landlords are not evicting unfairly or when other solutions could be found.  
There is concerning evidence that a very high proportion of younger people who are in the council’s single homeless 
pathway services have previously been open to Childrens Social Care, (a July 2020 snapshot demonstrated that all 55 individuals aged 25 or under 
have been previously known) with a further high proportion previously being LAC (looked after children).  This demonstrates a need to review the 
support and housing pathways available to our young people.  
 

A national concern relating to the pandemic lockdown was that this would lead to a further rise in domestic abuse and see this becoming an even 
greater risk, fears which Women’s Aid research show were founded.  Data indicates that this was already rising in the BCP area as evidenced by a 
rise in applications where the priority need was related to domestic abuse rising by 217 per cent between 2018/19 and 2019/20.  This does not  
include any further rise during the lockdown and confirms that we need to have a safe, quick and accessible range of options for those needing to 
leave such situations.  Housing and accommodation solutions are part of this and there will be a joined-up approach in tackling this issue as part of 
the annual needs assessment undertaken and synergy with the new Domestic Abuse Strategy. 
 
With worldwide focus on the Black Lives Matter movement, it is also important to consider the needs of the local ethnic minority community.  This is 
smaller in the BCP area proportionately than much of the country and homelessness applications are low from this group (around 2 per cent of total) 
but we need to review this to ensure equitable access and considering factors such as cultural and language differences which 
could potentially prevent people from seeking assistance. 
 
Similarly, the LGBT+ (lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender) community is another diverse group that disproportionally faces disadvantage and is 
overly represented in homelessness cases.  Locally, the data is not very good in this area and we need to review and improve our recording to 
better understand and respond to this and ensure that there are no barriers to approaches or accessing assistance.  
 

With all areas of prevention, it will be important to monitor this closely, ensure good outcomes and intervene with mitigation measures. 
  

Focus on health and wellbeing  
 

There are clear links between homelessness and poor health.  
  
Poor health can lead to increased risk of homelessness, and likewise health can be affected by the risk of losing a home.  People can lose their jobs 
due to being unable to work, particularly in the case of longer-term conditions.  This can be exacerbated by mental health being affected due 

212



 

9 

to the often-constant pressure caused by conditions such as stress, anxiety and depression.  This is illustrated by BCP Council’s 
demographic information which shows that the most common factors for all homeless applicants are mental and physical health problems, making 
up around 45 per cent of the total. 
   
The most severe and pernicious form of homelessness is rough sleeping and there are often further related concerns such as substance 
dependency.  Long term rough sleeping leads to a vastly reduced life expectancy (an average of around 46 years, even less for women at 43 
years), so effective health intervention is literally a matter of life and death.  The risks involved are numerous, including the very real threat of 
assault, prolonged exposure to cold and damp, overheating and dehydration, and lack of a balanced diet as well as other aspects such as stress, 
worry and other mental distress.  On top of this there can be further risks such as those relating to overdose and blood-borne 
disease for those who also battle with dependency.  
 

In the BCP region there are numerous existing services in place to respond to this large and critical need, including the Health Bus, blood-borne 
virus clinics, specialist substance misuse workers, a new hospital pathway and developing plans for a community hub, and focus will be on 
enhancing and further joining up health and housing related services.  Currently there are some issues regarding access to all such services for 
those in temporary accommodation, and there remains some siloed working whereby housing and health needs are not jointly assessed, so this is 
an area to further review and improve.   
 

This work has a key role in preventing homelessness in the first place, resolving, and then helping to sustain the solutions.   
 

Reducing unsuitable temporary accommodation / B&B and emergency accommodation   
 

At the time of collation of this strategy there are just over 450 people in emergency and temporary accommodation as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic and this has provided an opportunity to accommodate people who had been rough sleeping or at risk of homelessness across the BCP 
region.   A lack of suitable emergency supported settings has resulted in an over-reliance on expensive B&B use with related challenges with 
throughput.  
 
Quarter four of 2019/20, the latter part of which is when the Everyone In approach commenced, saw a rise in placements of 43 per cent from 319 to 
453.  The previous couple of years had broadly seen consistent figures with an average of 332 per quarter since April 2018.  The pre-COVID-19 
quarter had  seen a drop to below the average, and the lowest number since quarter one of 2018/19.  
 

Similarly, B&B numbers were previously relatively stable, with an average of 75 per quarter before a large COVID-19 related rise in quarter 4 to 
185. During this latter period, and in the time since March 2020 a new rough sleeping pathway has been developed in BCP; a multi-agency team 
which has reshaped the provision, primarily using hotels as places to assess, stabilise and support people with planned move-on housing and 
support pathways.  The provisions delivered due to the pandemic has illustrated an opportunity to strengthen arrangements with partners to provide 
for people needing emergency assistance and it has been particularly useful to test and challenge the emergency housing environments which work 
well and should be considered in future planning. 
 

213



 

10 

Research for the BCP Domestic Abuse Strategy shows that only 2.9 per cent of those fleeing domestic abuse are found refuge accommodation, 
with 82 per cent being accommodated in alternative temporary accommodation such as B&B and hostels. 
   

Ending rough sleeping and a housing-led approach  
 

Sleeping rough is the most obvious and harmful form of homelessness, especially when it becomes long term in nature.  It can be difficult to 
address for a host of reasons, especially when those who are impacted feel disenfranchised and have never had a settled home of their 
own.  Additionally, there can be background circumstances such as trauma or an undiagnosed mental health illness, and these often lead to self-
medicating with substances, which is often a gateway to dependency. 
  
Addressing this needs to involve each person and what their strengths and aspirations are.  Often there has been too much focus on 
negative aspects such as needs and risk, and while these need to be considered and addressed, the focus needs to shift to a more positive 
outlook.  Recent work with people who are rough sleeping has been moving toward this asset-based approach, including placing increased focus on 
what housing aspirations are, including with Rough Sleeper Initiative funding and the Drug and Alcohol Team’s Creative Solutions group.   
 
Additionally, our new rough sleeping pathway has been working to not only provide emergency accommodation but to source appropriate move-on 
solutions.  This remains a work in process and area for development and lived experience insight and ongoing involvement will help build on this 
effective approach, although maintaining the resources required is a risk as it is largely grant funded.  
 

Rough sleeping numbers had been consistently rising since 2010 in the BCP area, in common with much of the country.  However, the previous two 
street counts in January and March 2020, just prior to the pandemic had seen a significant reduction from late 2019, which was also reflected in a 
reduction in cases open to the Street Outreach Team.  The November 2019 count for BCP was 72, reducing to 53 in January 2020 and 47 in March 
2020: a drop Nov-March of 35 per cent. Since then the progress has primarily continues, with November 2020’s annual count being 25, a reduction 
of 65 per cent on the previous year.  Since then there has been another count in January 2021, which was 13, the lowest for over a decade and an 
82 per cent reduction since the peak in Sept/Nov 2019. (see chart below) 
 
Part of the success with housing people who had previously regularly slept rough has been the housing-led accommodation offer with flexible 
intensities of support and Housing First accommodation provided to the most disadvantaged people due to their multiple and complex needs and 
vulnerabilities.  Engagement is not mandatory. However, in most cases there is a high level of acceptance of the support offered.  In the current 
Housing First services in BCP, there have been 35 people accommodated in the last three years.  Of these there have been three evictions and the 
remainder have maintained their tenancies to date, a success rate of 91 per cent.  To date those allocated to Housing First have largely been those 
who had consistently struggled to hold down accommodation elsewhere, including supported housing such as hostels, which makes this more 
striking and impressive.  Both housing-led and Housing First are approaches this strategy will intend to build upon and grow.  
 

 
 
 
 

214



 

11 

 
 

Street Count figures by year since 2010.  Additional bi-monthly figures since July 2019 
 

 

12

16

11

16

31

47

39

48

29

50

53

58

42

37

16

25
24

18

11
9

10

16

7 7

10
11

13

10

14

18

11

8
7 7

5

11

6

2
0 0

8

1
2

8
10

6
5

3
2

3 3 3
1

0
1 1

0

21

26

35

24

40

65

60

67

44

67

73
72

53

47

24

30

36

25

13

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
July

2019
Sept

2019
Nov

2020
Jan

2020
March

2020
June

2020
July

2020
Sept

2020
Nov

2021
Jan

Bournemouth Poole Christchurch BCP combined figure

215



 

12 

 
 
 
Best use of current resources    
 

As an area, the BCP region already has a lot of resources currently where the primary focus is on accommodation with support, currently 
providing over 300 commissioned placements in total.  BCP Council’s Housing Related Support budget mainly provides supported housing across 
the three towns for various groups including young people, domestic abuse survivors, single homeless adults, people with mental health illness and 
older people.  Other types of housing related support include floating support to help people remain in their homes. 
    
In addition, there have been successful applications to central government for grant funding to address homelessness, with focus on rough 
sleeping.  In Dec 2019 BCP Council was awarded £1.4 million in RSI (Rough Sleeper Initiative) funding, and in Sept 2020 was awarded funds for 
the Next Steps Accommodation Pathway to help accommodate those currently in emergency accommodation due to COVID19.  More recently 
there has been further funding including via the Protect Programme and the Cold Weather Fund, although this has been even shorter term in 
nature. 
 
These awards have helped add extra capacity to existing services such as the Street Outreach Team and Housing First, enabled more 
effective joint working and multi-agency working, and provided brand new initiatives such as a hospital worker, a psychologist and increased health 
and substance dependency support.  
 

 
Partnership approach and building on success   
 

The Homelessness Partnership has already provided a good foundation for shaping of this strategy in terms of momentum and some early 
success.  There is increased focus in many areas and the involvement from so many organisations has helped with identifying issues 
and enabling more flexible and creative solutions. 
    
Some indication and examples of initial progress include an increase in homelessness preventions of 33 per cent between 2018/19 and 
2019/20, the imminent launch of a contactless giving scheme across the BCP region to help reduce street begging whilst 
directly assisting homeless people, the initial development of a network of champions with lived experience to help shape local delivery and 
strategy and central government recognition of the success of the council and its partners regarding the Everyone In response particularly in 
collaborating health, social care and housing services.  
 

In addition, there are already various ongoing plans at different stages of planning including the proposed launch of a multi-
disciplinary community hub which will include better access to health interventions, a new housing enquiry gateway solution and a shared data 
project to reduce the need for multiple assessments as well as better risk management and data sharing.  
  

216



 

13 

Part 4                                                             COVID-19 pandemic 

 
 

The COVID-19 pandemic, which has affected the country, and the world, since the early months of 2020 has had a huge and unique impact 
on many aspects of life.  This has included immediate impact on those most at risk including those without a secure home, with potential longer-
term effects on the economy, unemployment levels and an impact on the ability to pay rent or mortgages.  In addition, there has been a 
deterioration in the mental health of many people and a significant rise in problematic areas such as domestic abuse and 
alcohol misuse.  For example, the Royal College of Psychiatrists estimate that the latter had increased from 4.8 million people drinking 
problematically in Feb 2020 to 8.4 million just four months later, a huge rise of 75 per cent.  
 

The BCP region has been less affected than some parts of the country with comparatively low R rates and deaths overall, at least initially, although 
there was certainly more impact latterly in the second wave.  However, the response has still needed to be wide-ranging, assertive and creative and 
this is reflected in the local response, including with respect to homelessness.  The BCP region approach to this has been effective and 
recognised nationally and has involved pulling together an integrated team to create a new rough sleeping pathway to source 
emergency accommodation for those who have needed it, and then having provided a thorough assessment of need, helping source suitable move 
on options.  This work has also included the Street Outreach Team, health, substance and mental health support and interventions, as well as many 
partners in the community.  This learning and practice can be taken forward, built on and improved, and other such areas of learning need to be 
considered.  
 

Prevention is also vital, given the stated concerns of increased unemployment and rent arrears.  This matter has been mitigated to some extent in 
the last 12 months due to a national ban on evictions, but this remains short term, and is likely to lead to a downstream surge in evictions if not 
mitigated, so this is a key risk and priority as arrears will be continuing to build for many.  The pandemic has also increased attention and focus on 
those who, in normal circumstances would have great difficulty in accessing housing, including people with no recourse to public funding.  Work to 
find solutions to this is another priority.  
 

During the early days and weeks of the pandemic, and with most people suddenly working from home, there was a need for frequent online 
meetings to be arranged to keep all agencies and services informed with the constantly changing situation, and in particular with the Everyone 
In arrangements that involved accommodating all those rough sleeping as well as the variables involved with ensuring that anyone who was in need 
of self-isolating was able to do so safely.    
 

As we later emerged from the worst of the crisis, it was clear that this multi-agency forum needed to be built on and enhanced; expanded to 
encompass the wider spectrum of homelessness and preventing it in all its forms.  This resulted in the Homelessness Forum.  
 
It is likely that the socio-economic impact of the COVIDS-19 pandemic will be far-reaching, particularly in terms of putting more people at risk of 

homelessness and hardship. 

 

217



 

14 

The increased statutory homelessness responsibilities placed on the local authority in recent years, coupled with a high dependence on short-term 

government grants in this area and the significant financial pressures the wider council has to consider, means that providing cohesive, 

collaborative and innovative partnerships with other public and voluntary sector services will be critical. 

 

Making best use of our local affordable social housing to meet this need and taking opportunities in the private sector to develop more sustainable 

housing solutions will be key to this. 

 
Part 5                               Key challenges arising from the review and the pandemic 

 
Targeted early and upstream intervention 
 
Reducing private rented sector evictions 
 
Ensuring people do not lose their homes due to losing their jobs, with likely rise in unemployment 
 
Ending unsuitable B&B placements 
 
Proactive approach regarding ensuring equitable support for minority groups 
 
Increased focus on health and mental and physical wellbeing 
 
More housing-led provision 
 
Continuing to build on partnership and community support work 
 
More affordable move-on housing  
 
More self-contained housing-led provision 

 

 

 

218



 

15 

Part 6                                         Core aims and related links 

 

Three core strategic aims have been identified for this strategy each with a comprehensive group of commitments.  
 

There are direct links with the BCP Council Corporate Strategy.  
 

   
  
 
The following core aims have synergy with national strategies and guidelines, as well as being aligned with the Homelessness Partnership’s stated 
vision, values and overarching goals.  Some further examples of links are provided below.  

219



 

16 

 

• CORE AIM 1 - EARLY AND EFFECTIVE UPSTREAM PREVENTION: REDUCING HOMELESSNESS BY INTERVENING AND EDUCATING        
PRIOR TO OCCURANCE  
 

• CORE AIM 2 - REDUCING AND STOPPING THE CYCLE OF HOMELESSNESS: WHERE THIS DOES OCCUR, WORK AT MAKING IT A ONE-
OFF EVENT 
  

• CORE AIM 3 - ONGOING IMPROVEMENT, DEVELOPMENT AND SUSTAINIBILITY: ENSURING THAT PROGRESS IS SUSTAINED.  
 

The 2002 Homelessness Act and associated code of guidance requires local authorities to produces a homelessness strategy every five years, with 
an annual review and provides guidance as to what should be in a local homelessness strategy. There are three main categories, the first being the 
prevention of homelessness in the area in question.    
 
The UK Collaborative Centre for Housing Evidence has published a prevention framework with five categories of preventions as follows.  
 
               

 Universal  
 Targeted  
 Crisis   
 Emergency   
 Recovery 

   
 
Universal, Targeted and Crisis Prevention activity closely align with Core Aim 1 of this strategy with Emergency and Recovery Prevention aligning 
with Aim 2, where rapid resolution and ensuring homelessness is brief, a one-off occurrence and is non-recurring remains the focus. 
 

For people who may become homeless it is important to consider the standard of accommodation and affordability to ensure sustainability and 
maximise the chance of long-term success and minimise repeat cases.  Areas such as location and accessibility also need to be considered 
carefully.  Support is also crucial as there are many instances where the provision of accommodation alone is unlikely to be sufficient to safeguard 
against a tenancy breaking down and tailored and person-centred support will be required. 
  
Finally, the third core aim builds on the previous two to ensure that progress is ongoing and that there is continual learning, innovation and 
improvement.    
 

In summary Aim 1 is concerned with preventing homelessness from occurring in the first place. Aim 2  prompt, effective and sustainable solutions to 
those cases that do occur and Aim 3 is about ensuring homelessness is ended across the BCP region by ensuring that there are no 
repeat cases and that ongoing practice and education works towards this collectively, that there is not complacency when the situation improves.  

220



 

17 

 
If cases can be prevented in the first place, and with those cases that do occur being prevented from re-occurring, then this 
will significantly reduce and eventually end the numbers of people/families being made homeless, including the numbers of people sleeping 
rough.  The earlier that this prevention work can be done, the less impact and potential harm will be done to those involved in terms of factors such 
as stress, exponential financial difficulties and related effects such as those on a child’s education. 
  
As people, in many cases supported in the community by their neighbours,  peers and the voluntary and faith sectors, receive help to remain in their 
homes, get re-housed or perhaps get their own accommodation for the first time, there are likely to be further benefits to ensure these activities 
collaborate a focus on providing meaningful occupation, volunteering, training, employment and leisure. 
  

Core aims and commitments 
    

For each core aim there will be a summary of some key considerations followed by specific commitments for each area. 
  

CORE AIM 1   EARLY AND EFFECTIVE UPSTREAM PREVENTION: REDUCING HOMELESSNESS BY 
INTERVENING AND EDUCATING PRIOR TO OCCURANCE   
 

It is important to ensure that there are no inevitabilities in terms of people becoming homeless and that no one is missed or falls between the 
cracks.  This will include early targeted intervention in terms of high-risk groups and ensuring that all parts of the community are reached and 
supported, including minority groups.  Additionally, some people who have never previously been at risk of homelessness may find themselves at 
risk due to a health crisis, relationship breakdown or shifting employment conditions such as those related to the gig economy  (temporary or 
freelance employment) or similar.  
 

Early action is also vital in ensuring that homelessness is prevented through education and the promotion of support available across all 
sectors and that potential problems such as rent arrears or notice being given by a landlord, prison releases and hospital discharges or a transition 
from care are addressed promptly.  
 

Building on existing and developing work in terms of partnership working across the BCP region to ensure that silo working is minimised with good 
and honest communication and clear messaging which supports collective working.  This also includes working with local landlords, providers and 
communities to ensure that accommodation is well maintained, safe and that standards of accommodation are high and provide an incentive to 
remain accommodated, with a focus on homes rather than units of accommodation.  This will also help enhance local communities.  
 

Finally, there is a need for close working between prevention services, housing and health to ensure that people receive access to 
health interventions and treatment, with focus on people who are currently being forced to sleep outside as well as with households and families at 
risk of becoming homeless and in insecure or poor quality accommodation and help to access any other help that may be required.  This work will 
include further development of a health hub and a hospital pathway team.  
 

221



 

18 

Commitments for Core Aim 1  
 

 Provide timely housing options planning and support advice to all care leavers, and other relevant under 19-year-olds, which supports their 
pathway plan. 

 Develop homelessness employment pathways for people who have recently lost employment or who are otherwise looking for work.  
 Ensure that when people are discharged from institutional settings, they have accommodation and services in place to help them avoid 

homelessness, including good health support.  
 Ensure specialist settled housing, care and support is in place for groups of people who require a more tailored setting and home.  
 Develop a web-based housing advice platform for anyone seeking advice, guidance, and support if homeless or threatened with 

homelessness  
 Provide targeted support and early intervention to all groups at greater risk of homelessness, including the 'hidden homeless' and those in 

precarious accommodation and also relating to health, frailty and complex cross-cutting challenges.  
 Communicate clear housing support and assessment pathways.  
 Strong partnership working to continue to develop and enhance support being delivered.  
 High standards of accommodation that communicate value and worth to their occupants.  
 Work alongside landlords to create robust early alert systems and ensure protocols are in place for tenancies at risk or when properties are 

going to be removed from the market.  
 Ensure mediation is available to maintain or repair relationships whilst longer term housing solutions are identified.  
 Provide early advice and housing options services to people leaving the armed forces and prioritise veterans for housing and support.  
 Ensure appropriate safeguarding practices are embedded across the Homelessness Partnership, inclusive of further developing a robust 

multi-agency safeguarding approach for rough sleeping. 
 Focus on significantly reducing homelessness-related deaths including those dying of suicide, due to poor health or as a result of being a 

victim of crime. 
  

 
CORE AIM 2    REDUCING AND STOPPING THE CYCLE OF HOMELESSNESS: WHERE THIS DOES OCCUR, 
WORK AT MAKING IT A ONE-OFF EVENT  
 

The desire is to eliminate homelessness altogether, and this will be our focus.  However, there will still be cases that arise and need to be 
resolved.  On such occasions there will be a need to source suitable accommodation as promptly as possible to minimise time that people are 
rough sleeping, sofa surfing or in unsuitable accommodation.  Whilst B&B accommodation will have a limited role due to the need for quick 
solutions, this will be minimal as this is not the desired or best solution, especially for families with children.  The focus will be on better standards 
and value for money options.   
 
Giving people as much of a stake in their accommodation as possible, whether temporary/emergency accommodation, supported housing 
or their longer-term home is also important, as is involving those with lived experience to all aspects of partnership working, including the outworking 
of the strategy, as well as in its formulation.  

222



 

19 

 

Those who require additional support will need this at different levels and for differing lengths of time.  There will need to be flexible solutions which 
focus on an integrated and multi-agency approach and have the ability to increase and decrease as needed to maximise long term success.  This 
is particularly important for those who have experienced multiple challenges who may need a creative or bespoke approach including relating to 
their health and mental health.  This will also involve multi-agency and cross-departmental work regarding cross-cutting areas such as aggressive 
begging and street-based anti-social behaviour where there can be some links with homelessness, whilst being sure to avoid inaccurate 
conflation and ensure support-led.  

 
Commitments for Core Aim 2 

  
 An end to rough sleeping in the BCP region within the lifetime of this strategy.  
 Reduce the dependency on inappropriate B&B accommodation, instead providing more suitable emergency housing solutions.  
 Focus to be on the inherent strengths, potential and aspirations of each person, couple and family, rather than concentrating primarily on 

needs and risk factors. 
 Provide flexible approaches, according to need, and ensuring that no one is left behind or falls between provisions.  
 On any occasion where rough sleeping coalesces with anti-social behaviour, the approach will be support-led and any resulting enforcement 

will be proportionate and a last resort.  
 Working with the private rented sector, registered social landlords/supported housing providers and BCP Council to maximise the range of 

affordable and sustainable accommodation available for those who are or become homeless.  This will include various forms of supported 
housing, bedsits, studios and flats suitable for individuals or couples and larger properties for families.  

 To provide an accommodation and support offer to any local resident who may otherwise sleep rough regardless of priority need or 
intentional homelessness – adopting a ‘No First Night Out Approach’.  

 Seek long lasting housing led solutions for everyone, including a focus on affordable rapid re-housing pathways.  
 Ensure any victim of domestic abuse has somewhere safe to stay and receive support.  
 Provide specialist and targeted programmes of meaningful occupation, volunteering and employment for people who have complex needs  
 Consider adopting critical time intervention for people who are affected by homelessness to ensure they have the access to the right 

support, resources and services at the right time irrespective of their tenure. 
 Provide an appropriate range of support for people with substance dependency to aid them maintain and find a home.  
 To provide more social rented affordable housing, including Housing First to more people affected by homelessness.  
 Ensure that there no systemic barriers to health provision, including access to GPs and dental care. 

 

 

 
 
 

223



 

20 

CORE AIM 3      ONGOING IMPROVEMENT, DEVELOPMENT AND SUSTAINIBILITY: ENSURING THAT 

PROGRESS IS SUSTAINED.  

 

All aspects of the Homelessness Partnership, including the Homelessness Forum will continue to drive co-operation and joint working through 
various action groups and under the strategic direction and oversight of the Homelessness Reduction Board who will monitor the progress of the 
partnership and also the aims and action plan of this strategy.  
 

As and when services relating to homelessness and rough sleeping come up for procurement and tendering, BCP Council will work 
with stakeholders including the Homelessness Reduction Board to ensure that future provision is of a high standard, good value for money, willing 
and able to meet and respond to local needs and priorities and being mindful of future trends, challenges and objectives.  
 

Partners will also work together to ensure that all local services working in or related to the field of homelessness are flexible and responsive in 
terms of local need, and are willing to consider amending practice if necessary in order to ensure strategic relevance and offering the most effective 
solutions to those at risk of homelessness.  We will ensure that those with lived experience have an active part to play in relation to this, with their 
experience and insight crucial and invaluable.   
 

Commitments for Core Aim 3  
 

 Ongoing communication with the general public regarding promotion of services and progress with tackling homelessness, as well as 
ensuring the public is informed on the reality, scale and causes of homelessness, and addressing misconceptions.  

 Regularly review what we do, using data, feedback and evidence to make a positive change and impact.  This will include 
regularly consulting and seeking insight from people with lived experience of homelessness.   

 The Homelessness Reduction Board to oversee progress of the strategy and action plan and ensure corrective action if required  
 Full framework, review and procurement process of housing related support services and rough sleeping pathway  
 Use data, feedback and evidence to understand ways to work smarter to manage demand and to inform how we improve prevention and 

relief intervention services.   
 Improve our understanding and service offer to ethnic minorities, the LGBT+ community and other minority groups.  
 Provide psychologically informed environments for people who access the services provided by BCP Homelessness Partnership providers. 
 Share training and learning experiences across the Homelessness Partnership building our collective capacity and expertise.  
 To deliver a community hub where services for anyone who is rough sleeping and those in temporary accommodation can improve health 

wellbeing and housing outcomes by ensuring a holistic and proactive package of tailored support.  
 Commit to deliver common info sharing, assessment and risk tool. 

  
 

 
 

224



 

21 

Part 7                                              Delivery and monitoring 

 
Action plan  
 

The core aims and commitments of the strategy have been broken down into specific and measurable actions.  These ensure that the how, who 
and when detail is represented. This has involved stakeholders from across the Homelessness Partnership, both in terms of setting and delivering 
the agreed actions, and they will continue to be involved in the implementation.  Feedback from the consultation has been incorporated as part of 
this process and there is a thread from strategic aim to specific action, allowing for monitoring and measuring of progress and success.  The action 
plan will be appended to the strategy. 
 
The work and action points needed to deliver on the core aims and commitments will primarily be delivered through the action groups in the 
Homelessness Partnership as well as any sub or task and finish groups from these.  These groups are accountable and report to the Homelessness 
Reduction Board which will provide oversight and quarterly monitoring.  There is also good representation from wide cross-section of services and 
departments, and any gaps will be identified and addressed.  There is also likely to be the need for some additional action groups to ensure the 
scope is covered in full. 
 
This approach ensures that wider needs than accommodation alone are considered and will help to give consistency to the manner of evidence and 
data gathering, the insight and input of those with lived experience and personalisation of services. 
. 
 

Monitoring and review  
 

The strategy action plan will be reviewed and monitored by the Homelessness Reduction Board every quarter with alignment with the council’s key 
performance indicators and the Corporate Plan and priorities. The Strategy Steering Group will take a lead role in ensuring a performance data set 
is produced quarterly and reports provided to the Homelessness Reduction Board and governance structure. 
 
The strategy and action plan will also be kept in regular review, to ensure it maintains strategic relevance to the shifting landscape of homelessness. 
An annual report with updated action plan will be produced and presented to the council, the Homelessness Reduction Board and associated 
forums. 
 
 
Contacts 

Ben Tomlin  ben.tomlin@bcpcouncil.gov.uk    Head of Operations and Partnerships 

Fraser Nicholson fraser.nicholson@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  Homelessness Strategy Manager 

225

mailto:ben.tomlin@bcpcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:fraser.nicholson@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank

226



CORE AIM 1

Commitment Action Point

Lead Associated Action Group  Lead Action 

Groups will work with other Action Groups as 

required and may also have additional task and 

finish groups

Measures of success and impact 

Short, mid 

or long 

term

RAG 

rating

Target completion 

date 

Key actions 

taken
Key successes

Strengthen working links and communication between 

Housing, Childrens Social Care and other key partners 

such as Drug & Alcohol Commissioning Team, mental 

health services such as  CAMHS (Children & Adolescent 

Mental Health Service) and vol partners, inclusive of 

existing Housing Resource Panel. This will be linked to 

CiC/CEYP Sufficiency Strategy Action Plan which 

already has links with Strategic Housing

Early identification of risks leading to reduced 

escalation to homelessness occurring, joint 

working ensuring visibility and engagement - no 

falling between provisions and consistent 

pathways

M 31/03/2022

Specific focus where known or statistically higher risks 

including where a know family history or high ACEs 

(Adverse Childhood Experiences), the LGBT+ 

community, ethnic minorities or other minority groups.

More accurate data re high risk groups, 

increased early engagement, reduced cases of 

homelessness for these groups 

M 31/03/2022

Early education including the utilisation of peer mentors 

and community leads/inc those with lived experience
Better engagement, reduced barriers M 31/03/2022

Produce a care leavers housing protocol to help inform 

plan for future demand and improve process

Reduce the number of care leavers in 

inappropriate temporary housing and ensure 

everyone has a housing pathway plan

S 31/10/2021

Reduce both the proportion and number of young people 

who enter the Single Homeless Pathway and maintain 

progress

Increases in the care leavers offered a settled 

home, reduction in numbers accessing the 

Single Homeless Pathway and/or rough 

sleeping at any point

L 31/03/2023

Homelessness employment pathways to be incorporated 

into Personal Housing Plans

Fewer cases of unemployment causing or 

maintaining homelessness, quicker re-

employment for those who lose jobs with this 

helping to maintain accommodation, fewer 

losses of tenancies, fewer repossessions

S 31/10/2021

Investigate and develop existing and potential options 

from community groups to assist people back into 

employment, education and training

Increased cases of people accessing 

employment, education and training
S 31/10/2021

Consider specialist programmes and a training and skills 

hub for those with the greatest barriers to employment, 

such as people who have been street homeless for long 

periods

Increase in the number of persons who are 

employed or in training and apprenticeships 

etc.  Access to a wider sphere of support with a 

resultant sense of belonging

M 31/03/2022

Focused work with young people around accessing 

meaningful employment, including via apprenticeships , 

with particular consideration of the impact of the 

pandemic on education and recent work opportunities

More young people accessing sustainable jobs 

and apprenticeships
M 31/03/2022

Specific help is provided for anyone who is at risk of 

losing their home as a result of COVID-19 related 

unemployment to enable them to return to work as 

quickly as possible

Prompt re-employment, means and ability for 

increased numbers of those affected to retain 

or reattain accommodation

M 31/03/2022

Update Hospital and Prison discharge protocols
Any issues resolved more speedily, reduced 

instances of contact  being lost at either end
S 31/10/2021

Demonstrably embed the use of Duty to Refer (DTF) to 

maximise likelihood of accommodation being in place 

upon release/discharge

Reduction in number and proportion of people 

released/discharged to no accommodation
M 31/03/2022

Support needs and strengths/ aspirations identified at an 

early stage to enable most appropriate support, 

opportunities, mentoring upon release/discharge

Increased instances of prompt engagement 

with positive interventions, activities.  

Decreased cases of individuals being left with 

no support and re-offending, relapsing.

M 31/03/2022

Consider bespoke and specific accommodation provision 

for women leaving prison

Reduction in number and proportion of women 

reoffending, repeat homelessness.  Increase in 

successful reintegration.

M 31/03/2022

Ensure a responsive approach to anyone who is released 

or discharged earlier than planned to ensure they receive 

accommodation offers rather than be verified rough 

sleeping

Fewer cases of homelessness caused by early 

release or discharge.  Fewer cases of 

reoffending, few cases of related rough 

sleeping, increase in positive outcomes

S 31/10/2021

Evaluate the outcomes of the Government's Protect 

Programme locally and consider future options and 

funding, including bespoke' solutions in accommodation 

and support provisions

Better and quicker accommodation options for 

people who do not want more typical provision, 

due to preferences and specific situations.

S 31/10/2021

Increase and expand Housing First provision in an 

ongoing manner, ensuring a multi-disciplinary approach

Understanding of impact and how to improve 

wider offer, more capacity, less rough sleeping, 

positive feedback from tenants

L 31/03/2025

Align support services and related service standards with 

Housing First Core Principles, including floating support 

and other Housing Related Support commissioned and 

grant funded services

Consistent service provided, value for money, 

minimise potential reliance on grant funding
M 31/03/2022

In partnership with the Smart Place programme launch a 

proof of concept challenge platform to identify potential 

system options

Increase online self-help service offer for 

residents better able to resolve own housing 

circumstances and access specialist support

M 31/03/2022

Make clear to stakeholders and the general public that 

this platform will be to empower people who have the 

ability and desire to use it, and will allow staff resource to 

be freed up to give added time and focus to those who 

can not use this for a variety of reasons

Better and quicker access to housing solutions 

for those who have the ability, means and 

desire.  More staff time and resource to directly 

help those who need it

S 31/10/2021

EARLY AND EFFECTIVE UPSTREAM PREVENTION    

1.4  Ensure specialist 

housing, care and support is 

in place for groups of people 

who require a bespoke home

TA move on/Accommodation Action Group

1.2  Develop homelessness 

employment pathways for 

people who are unemployed 

including those who have 

recently lost their job

Focussed Upstream Prevention

1.1  Provide timely housing 

options planning and support 

advice to all care leavers and 

other relevant under 19 year 

olds

1.3  Ensure that when people 

are discharged from 

institutional settings that 

they have accommodation 

and support services in place

1.5  Develop a web-based 

housing and homelessness 

advice platform

Data & Insight Action Group

Community Support Action Group

Focussed Upstream Prevention

227



Establish closer links with community organisations and 

leads re disproportionately affected groups in terms of 

known/statistically higher risks.  This will include the 

LGBT+ community, ethnic or other minorities, those with 

known ACEs, trauma or substance dependency.  (Links 

with 3.5)

More accurate data re high risk groups, 

increased early engagement, reduced cases of 

homelessness for these groups 

M 31/03/2022

Publish a Prevention Toolkit for people who have 

rent/mortgage arrears and are at potential or identified 

risk of eviction or repossession

Minimise cases of first-time homelessness 

(individuals, couples, families etc) with support 

re finances (and related such as signposting for 

retraining) specifically.  

S 31/10/2021

Ensure that health assessments are included in Housing 

Options plans for people that are at risk of or threatened 

with homelessness (link with Health AG) 

Early identification of risks to accommodation 

/of homelessness that are linked to poor health
S 31/10/2021

Utilise data and technology to help identify those most at 

risk both as individual cases and with wider perspectives 

(e.g. wider geographies/neighbourhoods at higher risk)  

Also use technology to provide self help tools to 

maximise efficacy and empowerment. 

Data providing more focus and ability to target 

resources effectively.  Increased opportunities 

for people to help themselves where 

appropriate and wanted.

M 31/03/2022

Build on learning from Everyone In regarding those 

precarious housed, those who are 'hidden' in terms of 

their homelessness such as sofa surfing and ensuring 

focus on people who are/are likely to be found to have 

NRPF (No Recourse to Public Funds) but who are 

currently in accommodation and working

Reduced cases of  escalation to rough 

sleeping, improved early help and long term 

resolution to such cases. Reduced cases of 

people with NRPF becoming homeless

S 31/10/2021

Engage with What Works Community (WWC) academy 

with the Centre For Homelessness Impact and review the 

BCP Council support service for people in temporary 

accommodation 

Better understanding and insight in relations to 

data in relation to effective (or otherwise) 

housing and support delivery locally 

S 31/10/2021

Alignment of rough sleeping and homeless pathways in 

BCP Council Housing Options Team

Consistent approach applied in terms of 

standards and minimal offer, flexibility applied 

as to solutions

M 31/03/2022

Restructure of BCP Council support functions. 
Improved alignment of support services, better 

use of resources
M 31/03/2022

Ensure that all partner agencies and community support 

services are aware of and involved in pathways through 

regular training and stakeholder workshops 

Clear understanding of pathways and how to 

refer and interact
S 31/10/2021

Further build on good practise re eviction being a last 

resort, and widen partnership working and consider 

organisational peer support

Reduced evictions, reduced need for 

enforcements, better working relationships
M 31/03/2022

Promote training for RSLs (Registered Social Landlords) 

and the PRS (Private Rental Sector) re trauma and 

complex needs, and the need for a flexible and empathic 

approach

Maximise consistency of approach.  Less 

evictions and better resolutions to concerns and 

tenancy-related issues

M 31/03/2022

Seek to get more PRS landlords involved in the 

Homelessness Partnership, working alongside them to  

increase access for households experiencing or at risk of 

homelessness

More PRS representatives in the Homelessness 

Partnership.  Better understanding of trauma 

and complex needs from housing management 

teams.  Flexibility and tolerance leading to a 

reduction in evictions.

S 31/10/2021

Conduct an exercise to identify any remaining 

unidentified gaps or weaknesses in provision or in 

partnership working and seek to involve relevant 

organisations and services

Increased ownership and co-operation.    

Improved scope in areas such as learning 

disabilities and autistic spectrum

S 31/10/2021

Implement & promote Private Rented Assistance 

Schemes & PRSO policy 

Schemes and policies in place and effective 

and well publicised with stakeholders and the 

public.

M 31/03/2022

Collate and agree a set of standards and commitments 

forming a Housing Standards agreement or similar 

Improved and minimal standards, consistency 

across landlords
M 31/03/2022

Identify affordable services to assist people who were 

homeless with decorating and furnishing new homes
Increased sense of ownership, better wellbeing M 31/03/2022

Deliver a pet-friendly accommodation offer to help reduce 

barriers to accommodation and enhance wellbeing

Increased and more varied  accommodation for 

households with pets, increased levels of 

wellbeing

M 31/03/2022

Establish system of tailored starter packs for new 

residents and including wider information about 

insurance, cuckooing, safety and budgeting tips or as 

appropriate

Better informed tenants, increased levels of self 

efficacy
S 31/10/2021

Produce a study of the reasons for previous evictions to 

help inform clear understanding of any trends or spikes 

and help with future mitigation

Address root causes proportionately, reduce 

evictions, reduce initial enforcement
M 31/03/2022

Work alongside landlords to consider potential solutions 

and interventions that would prevent evictions, agreeing 

a tenancy sustainment offer

Clearer understanding of main issues based on 

data and evidence
M 31/03/2022

Ensure tenancy support protocols are in place with all 

landlords and services supporting both tenants and 

landlords. 

Developed partnership working resulting in less 

evictions
M 31/03/2022

Produce a PRS tenant evaluation annual report outlining 

local experiences and demonstrating increased and 

productive dialogue between PRS providers and people 

with lived experience.  Links to Lived Experience Action 

Group

Fewer instances of escalating issues occurring 

due to misunderstanding or breaks in 

communication, increase in mutual trust.  More 

satisfied tenants

M 31/03/2022

Work with the WWC academy support service and Crisis 

to improve the use of data analysis and evidence to 

improve service delivery 

Better data analysis and resultant informing of 

need and provision.  Better services as 

demonstrated by outcomes and customer 

feedback

M 31/03/2022

Review EPS (Early Prevention Service) function using 

data analysis with a view to developing the service's core 

prevention aims

Better data and related insight, best use of 

resources, increased prevention rates as a 

number and proportion of cases.

M 31/03/2022

Explore what extra or new services can be put in place 

alongside Children's Social Care specifically regarding 

mediation. This will be linked to wider upstream 

prevention work with young people

Better mediation, fewer young people being 

asked to leave home, fewer cases of young 

people losing accommodation including foster 

care, and other supported settings.

L 31/03/2023

Review the Homelessness Prevention offers  in early 

mediation work with parental and family eviction

Reduce the number of parental evictions and 

young people entering the homelessness 

pathway

M 31/03/2022

1.6  Provide targeted support 

and intervention to all groups 

who are at greater risk of 

homelessness including the 

'hidden homeless' and those 

in precarious 

accommodation

Focussed Upstream Prevention/Financial 

Resilience

1.7  Communicate clear 

housing support and 

assessment pathways

Focussed Upstream Prevention

1.11  Ensure mediation is 

available to maintain or 

repair relationships whilst 

longer term housing 

solutions are identified

Financial Resilience

1.8  Embed strong 

partnership working and a 

homelessness prevention 

ethos across services

Focussed Upstream Prevention

1.9  Encourage and provide 

high standards of 

accommodation that 

communicate value and 

worth to their occupants

TA move on/Accommodation Action Group

1.10  Work alongside 

landlords to create robust 

early alert systems and 

ensure protocols are in place 

for tenancies at risk

Focussed Upstream Prevention/Financial 

Resilience

228



Agree a referral pathway and protocol for armed forces 

and related services

Increased understanding of accommodation 

pathways and how and when to refer.  
M 31/03/2022

Promote services such as SAFFA (Soldiers, Sailors, 

Airmen and Families Association) and deliver the 

Housing related commitments in the  Armed Forces 

Covenant within the Homelessness Partnership and 

residents

Better communication leading to more referrals 

for veterans at risk of homelessness
S 31/10/2021

Provide offers of accommodation to all eligible veterans 

who become homeless so that no-one needs to sleep 

rough in order to get help

Reduction in the number of veterans who 

become homeless, including rough sleeping 

cases.

S 31/10/2021

Promote the MARM (Multi-Agency Risk Management) 

process and toolkit with Homelessness stakeholders, 

increase confidence and competence in its use.

Increase appropriate use of the MARM process, 

better safeguarding and proactive, positive and 

collective management of risk

S 31/10/2021

Maximise and share training opportunities across 

providers and partner agencies to consistently raise 

standards and knowledge

Better trained staff, more confidence in 

processes, more consistency in approach
L 31/03/2025

Ensure local policy and practice consistently reflects 

national safeguarding policy and best practise, 

particularly in relation to homelessness and excluded 

groups

Lessons learned from other areas are applied 

as appropriate, including best and improved 

practise, fewer safeguarding issues, better 

handling of identified safeguarding concerns

L 31/03/2025

BCP Council Housing Team and relevant partners to 

ensure all designated actions from Suicide Prevention 

Action Plan are met and to ensure communicative and 

collaborative working to this end.

Enhanced support to vulnerable tenants in local 

authority or RSLs, appropriate and supportive 

welfare benefit advice service for those 

receiving acute mental health support, support 

staff from all housing related support service 

better trained re suicide prevention.  Reduced 

rates of suicide, and reduced suicide attempts

L 31/03/2022

Reviewing of reporting and evaluation around 

homelessness related deaths to maximise learning and 

training in this area.

Better practise, fewer near misses, fewer A&E 

admissions due to self-injury and overdose, 

fewer deaths

M 31/03/2022

Ensure specific learning from Oxfordshire in this area, as 

well any documented best practise from other localities 

Reduced preventable deaths and related 

concerns
M 31/03/2022

Development of the planned multi-disciplinary team, 

inclusive of health partners, to ensure a whole-scale 

approach to safeguarding the health and wellbeing of 

individuals, including early intervention

Better health outcomes, with quicker diagnosis 

of issues leading to fewer and shorter 

hospitalisations, fewer escalating issues, fewer 

life changing complications such as 

amputations and fewer early deaths.  Better 

wellbeing and mental health

M 31/03/2022

Together with DACT (Drug & Alcohol Commissioning 

Team), Dorset Police and Community Enforcement, 

consider potential solutions to the 'where' problem issue 

of safer injecting for those still drug dependent, taking a 

health-first approach

Less problematic drug use in public spaces 

such as parks, communal stairwells, car parks 

and beaches.  Better access to support 

interventions and first aid if required.

L 31/03/2023

1.14  Focus on significantly 

reducing homelessness-

related deaths including 

those dying of suicide, due to 

preventable poor health or as 

a result of being a victim of 

crime

Health Action Group

1.12  Provide early advice , 

housing options services and 

support to people leaving the 

armed forces and prioritise 

veterans

Focussed Upstream Prevention

1.13  Ensure appropriate 

safeguarding practises are 

embedded across the 

Homelessness Partnership, 

inclusive of further 

developing a robust multi-

agency safeguarding 

approach for rough sleeping

Health Action Group

229



CORE AIM 2

Commitment Action Point

Lead Associated Action Group  Lead Action 

Groups will work with other Action Groups as 

required and may also have additional task and finish 

groups

Measures of success and impact 

Short, mid 

or long 

term

RAG 

rating

Target completion 

date 

Key actions 

taken
Key successes

Task & Finish Group to produce recommendations 

regarding fair access to prevention services, 

accommodation advice and information for people with 

No Recourse to Public Funds

Reduction in unresolved cases and a related reduction 

in people with no recourse being forced to rough sleep.  

Clarity of local position and ways forward

S 31/10/2021

All offers of accommodation to consider both history and 

aspiration of applicant(s) as well as specific 

circumstances and needs

Considered matches to suitable accommodation 

leading to fewer tenancy breakdowns and increase in 

related personal progress for the individuals and 

families concerned

M 31/03/2022

Ensure sufficient supported accommodation that accepts 

couples and pets

Reduced barriers to accommodation, and increased 

choice for couples and those with pets
M 31/03/2022

Ensure the views, concerns and suggestions of those 

with lived experience inform provision, practise and 

commissioning.  Links to Lived Experience Action Group

High levels of involvement and input which do not 

significantly drop off will demonstrate effectiveness.  

Insight provided will contribute to more effective 

services

L 31/03/2025

Ensure wider, intrinsically linked, needs such as health, 

income, mental wellbeing and substance dependency are 

addressed and met via a multi-display approach

Fewer early deaths, fewer people with prolonged ill 

health, accommodation better sustained once 

provided, quality of life and wellbeing improved

L 31/03/2025

As other short-term options including Somewhere Safe to 

Stay (SStS) become available, work towards ceasing the 

use of B&Bs with identified lower standards as part of 

overall reduction in B&B usage.

Disincentivise poor provision, save money for better 

usage, better accommodation options and standards 

for homeless households.

L 31/03/2023

Identification and implementation of a suitable site for 

provision of a SSTS service

Reduction in Emergency Accommodation/B&B, prompt 

routes off the streets for people who are at risk of 

rough sleeping, reduction in cases rough sleeping for 

one night or more.

S 31/10/2021

Develop supported family hostels across the BCP region Reduce number of families in B&B for over 6 weeks L 31/03/2025

Ensure more accessible supported accommodation is 

available, including at short notice.

People with more specific needs such as relating to 

mobility not needing to waiting longer, or at least not 

significantly so.

L 31/03/2023

Commission a review of the Councils Temporary 

Accommodation Portfolio
Clear picture of current provision M 31/03/2022

Ensure all eligible single people who are homeless  have 

a clear pathway to access social housing where they 

need it via the new BCP Allocations Policy

Less time spent in emergency/temporary 

accommodation
M 31/03/2022

Implement the delivery of the Housing First Service Level 

Agreement with Registered Housing Providers

Additional accommodation for this purpose, enhanced 

multi-agency working, better communication, increase 

in successful placements, decrease in unplanned 

exits.

M 31/03/2022

Maintain engagement with Registered Providers, BCP 

Council re BCP Council's development brief for new-build 

housing and synergy with the wider Housing Strategy.

Further provision of affordable housing in the medium 

to long term
M 31/03/2022

Collectively shift focus from deficits and problems to 

strengths and aspirations via training and ensuring 

national best and emerging practice is shared and 

adopted

Positive outlook, building on existing skills and 

interests to move forwards, greater autonomy and 

empowerment

L 31/03/2025

Services work on reviewing assessment processes, 

paperwork etc to reflect this shift in emphasis from 

problems to solutions

Less focus on perceived past failures and of reliving 

past traumatic situations.  Better experience for those 

seeking assistance

M 31/03/2022

Maximise humanising practise, including ending use of 

descriptions such as rough sleeper .  Gain insight and 

feedback on use of any terms such as client , service 

user  etc and ensuring no pejorative undertones.  Links 

to other groups including Comms Acton Group and with 

consideration of press and social media releases.

Reduced stigmatising language.  Consistent use of 

language
M 31/03/2022

Develop a plan to secure a training and skills hub, which 

expands on Stay Safe and working with Only A 

Pavement Away. etc.  Links with Community Support 

Action Group

A scheme that offers community, belonging, friendship 

and meaningful activity and occupation, skills training 

etc which builds confidence. This would be a location 

that gives individuals somewhere to go to access a 

wider sphere of support, skills training  and self 

efficacy

M 31/03/2022

Develop  task and finish group focussing on solutions for 

more challenging complex needs, with cross-dept/agency 

scope and considering social care needs as well as 

homelessness solutions

Scope to be determined, but will include a joint 

approach between housing, health and social care 
S 31/10/2022

Provide a flexible toolkit of bespoke accommodation 

provision, support provision or both, and deliver a 

requisite range of solutions

Accommodation and support provided for people 

previously excluded for cited reasons such as  "lack of 

engagement", "choice" or "nothing suitable" 

M 31/03/2022

New multi-agency group to be finalised and established 

to review cases regularly and set actions

Accountable actions to ensure appropriate follow up to 

agreed way forward
M 31/03/2022

Ensure that the views and insight of those with lived 

experience contribute to this work on an ongoing basis.  

Strong links and synergy with Lived Experience Action 

Group

Ensure that the voice, insight and input of those 

requiring assistance are included and considered in 

finding solutions

L 31/03/2025

Review the rough sleeper verification process being 

linked to SSTS provision, to prevent cases of a first night 

out rough sleeping

Less cases of rough sleeping,  including a first night 

out.  Fewer challenges to verification process
M 31/03/2022

Rough Sleeping
2.1  To end rough sleeping in the 

BCP area within the lifetime of 

the strategy

2.2  Reduce the dependency on 

inappropriate B&B 

accommodation

TA move on/Accommodation Action Group

REDUCING AND STOPPING THE CYCLE OF HOMELESSNESS

2.3  To provide more social 

rented affordable housing, 

including Housing First, to more 

people affected by homelessness

TA move on/Accommodation Action Group

2.4  Focus on the inherent 

strengths, potential and 

aspirations of each person, 

couple and family

Lived Experience Action Group

2.5  Provide flexible approaches, 

according to need, ensuring that 

no-one is left behind or falls 

between provisions

Rough Sleeping Action Group

230



Review of and continued implementation of Operation 

Luscombe, with it's focus on support 

Support being utilised and taken up, minimal to no 

cases of enforcement and/or related measures such 

as fines.

S 31/10/2021

Regular communication meetings between CSAS 

(Community Safety Accreditation Scheme), Community 

Enforcement, the BCP Street Outreach Service and 

Business Improvement District teams to monitor this 

area and any need for escalation or renewed focus on 

specific localities.

Early intervention if cases start to increase in particular 

areas, greater confidence from businesses, and 

increased awareness of work being done

L 31/03/2025

Pilot, followed by rollout of contactless giving scheme to 

disincentive begging and better inform the general public.   

Working closely with Comms Action Group who are 

leading on this

Reduced instances and impact of begging.  Increase 

of funds raised via contactless giving and related direct 

redistribution to those in need.  Public better aware of 

how to help financially to best effect.

S 31/10/2021

Implement lockers pilot project for people who are 

currently rough sleeping to enable them to store their 

belongings when attending interviews, appointments, 

viewing a property, seeing their housing officer etc, and 

consider expansion across the rest of the BCP region.  

This will also contribute to reducing the visual signs of 

rough sleeping from the streets of Bournemouth, 

Christchurch and Poole

Increased levels of dignity.  Gateway to accessing and 

taking up support.  Less instances of belongings being 

left on streets improving visual look of communities.  

Improved ability to attend appointments including 

interviews, accommodation appointments and those 

related health and housing etc.

S 31/10/2021

Enhance the health led approach to homeless 

assessment and support through an MDT approach

Increased access, and take up of health interventions.  

Main purpose is improved health, but positive side 

effects will include factors such as less begging due to 

substance dependency 

M 31/03/2022

Work in partnership with the PRS regarding the wider 

provision of sustainable and affordable housing provision

More PRS accommodation available, long term 

solutions for households
L 31/03/2025

Work in partnership with local registered providers 

regarding the wider provision of sustainable and 

affordable housing provision

More registered provider accommodation available, 

long term solutions for households
L 31/03/2025

Promote importance of early warning/referral, inclusive of 

Duty To Refer, if someone is being made homeless, and 

all prevention attempts have been unsuccessful

Increase in number and proportion of cases identified 

via DTR.  Reduction in last minute cases requiring 

emergency resolution.  Reduction in those rough 

sleeping for the first time

S 31/10/2022

Revisit and implement the establishment of a 

Somewhere Safe to Stay  service, initially via Rough 

Sleeper Initiative funding

Provision which provides prompt and interim 

accommodation for people who are at risk of sleeping 

rough as a stepping stone to temporary and longer 

term accommodation.

S 31/10/2022

Review the nominations arrangements into social 

housing with Registered Providers

Nomination arrangements up to date and fit for 

purpose to meet needs
M 31/03/2022

Maximise local supporting housing pathways for people 

who require additional or alternative support 

Sufficient access for those who need it leading to 

fewer repeat cases of homelessness including rough 

sleeping

M 31/03/2022

Ensure local lettings plans provide long term settled 

housing for people who find themselves homeless

Increase in long term settled housing available for this 

purpose
L 31/03/2025

Increase the provision of Housing First on an ongoing 

basis

Better ability to match housing provision to need.  

Improved outcomes with longer term cases who 

require higher levels of support.  Low evictions, higher 

sustainability of accommodation, lower community 

impact.

L 31/03/2025

Review approach to ensure room for considering 

individual preference and input for each individual and 

family and minimising perceived box ticking approaches, 

including training on strength based approaches

Improved, more person-centred  experiences for 

people, better feedback re service provision and 

processes

M 31/03/2022

With ref Domestic Abuse Bill (April 2021) - Annual 

Housing Needs Assessment commissioned through 

Community Safety Partnership to determine the support 

and accommodation needs for people experiencing 

domestic abuse in the BCP area.

Updated as needed to ensure relevance and covering 

required elements
M 31/03/2022

Develop a CSP (Community Safety Partnership) and 

Housing commissioning plan to meet the identified gaps 

in provision of the annual needs assessment

Identified gaps or required 

improvement/enhancements demonstrably addressed
M 31/03/2022

Continued promotion across the Homelessness 

Partnership of domestic abuse/MARAC (Multi Agency 

Risk Assessment Conference) and perpetrator training

Increased awareness of support available, better 

reporting, upskilled staff, increased prevention
L 31/03/2025

Commitment for continued support of MARAC
MARAC well attended by key partners, suitable 

ownership of actions maximising impact
L 31/03/2025

Support launch of the new Drive Programme Drive programme rollout successful and impactful S 31/10/2021

Ensure that anyone experiencing homelessness has 

access to a programme suitable for their needs, and that 

spectrum of voluntary/charity sector support is widely 

known and utilised

Increase in network of trusted support, longer term 

support that is less formal, professionals more aware 

of range of such supported link in with and refer to

M 31/03/2022

Ensure housing resettlement provides access to suitable 

programmes

Ensure links with accommodation and ongoing 

community support or similar and whilst respecting 

choice/if wanted

M 31/03/2022

Deliver an Individual Placement Support Programme
Increase of suitable and tailored placements into ETE 

(Education, Training, Employment)
M 31/03/2022

Consider specific solutions for the particular needs of 

young people, many of whom will have had their 

education and employment  prospects impacted by the 

pandemic and related impacts such as isolation

Young people getting into ETE for the first time and 

maintaining these opportunities
M 31/03/2022

Review the support provided for people moving on from 

emergency accommodation

Increase in maintaining accommodation, increase in 

maintaining abstinence or reduction in use, fewer 

lapses back to substance dependency

S 31/10/2021

Ensure specialist information provided to people when 

moving into independent accommodation
Quick self-self referral for help if needed M 31/03/2022

All people experiencing homelessness to have access to 

a GP practice in their area, leading to higher uptake

No-one refused access, minimal people not registered 

with a practice
S 21/10/2021

Specifically all those who at rough sleeping or in 

emergency accommodation to have access to a GP 

practice, leading to higher uptake

No-one refused access, minimal people not registered 

with a practice
S 21/10/2021

Maximise and increase access to dental care, leading to 

higher uptake

Increased number and proportion of people 

experiencing homelessness have access to dental 

care

S 21/10/2021

Address any resistance from practices, with sharing of 

best practice from those who successfully do this well 

currently, including myth busting and other educating, 

leading to reduction in resistance to such access 

Less resistance, more open access, better treatment, 

less stigma
M 31/03/2022

Ensure appropriate links to Healthwatch to maximise 

shared communication and better engagement. 

healthwatchdorset.co.uk

Assistance with engagement, better access and 

advocacy
L 31/03/2025

2.6  Where rough sleeping is 

linked with anti-social behaviour, 

the approach will be support-led 

with proportionate enforcement

Rough Sleeping Action Group

2.7  Maximise the range of 

affordable and sustainable 

accommodation available for all 

households affected by 

homelessness 

TA move on/Accommodation Action Group

2.8  Provide an accommodation & 

support offer to any local 

resident who may otherwise 

sleep rough, adoption of a No 

First Night Out approach

Rough Sleeping Action Group

2.9  Seek long lasting, housing 

led solutions for everyone, 

including a focus on rapid re-

housing pathways

TA move on/Accommodation Action Group

2.10  Ensure any victim of 

domestic abuse has somewhere 

safe to stay and receive support

TA move on/Accommodation Action Group

2.11  Provide specialist and 

targeted programmes of 

meaningful occupation, 

volunteering and employment for 

people who have experienced 

barriers

Community Support Action Group

2.13  Ensure that there are no 

systemic barriers to health 

provision, including access to 

GPs and dental care

Health Action Group

2.12  Provide a range of support 

for people with current or past 

substance dependency 

challenges to aid them find and 

maintain a home

Health Action Group

231



CORE AIM 3

Commitment Action Point

Lead Associated Action Group  

Lead Action Groups will work with 

other Action Groups as required 

and may also have additional task 

and finish groups

Measures of success and impact 

Short, mid 

or long 

term

RAG 

rating

Target completion 

date 

Key actions 

taken
Key successes

Media (inc social media/digital) campaigns planned 

and synchronised across services and providers for 

maximum impact and consistency

Demonstrate collective impact, outcomes and common 

priorities
L 31/03/2025

Deliver an annual conference 

Momentum maintained, profile of work raised locally and 

nationally , reflection on future challenges and success 

celebrated

M 31/03/2022

Ensure focus on addressing stigma regarding all 

aspects of homelessness, including myths, potential 

prejudice and terminology in all comms and press 

releases

Better understanding of causes and effects of homelessness, 

less prejudice and more positive use of language
M 31/03/2022

Deliver a specific Comms Action Plan inclusive of 

FAQs (Frequently Asked Questions)

Clear additional actions and priorities agreed in this area 

including campaigns
S 31/10/2021

Consider other relevant strategies such as  Childrens 

& Young People, Domestic Abuse, and Mental Health 

Review in producing future commissioning strategy

Coherent and joined up commissioning aims identified, 

ensuring no gaps and considering overlaps
M 31/03/2022

Take into account wider commissioning models of 

homelessness services and opportunities for a joint 

approach

Less siloed working in terms of thinking and funding, more 

scale and resource, better value for money
L 31/03/2023

Consider need for range of services in terms of 

duration, with potential need for longer term services 

for some

Balance between empowerment and moving on when ready, 

and potential of setting up to continued struggle due to 

ongoing or longer term support required.

M 31/03/2022

Engage in the What Works Community Programme 

in partnership with the Centre for Homelessness 

Impact

Enhanced practice, closer links with other members of the 

community, increased profile
M 31/03/2022

Develop a bespoke resource to focus on reviewing 

homelessness project outcomes and local 

partnership outputs

Clear understanding of effective outcomes and how to build 

on these further
M 31/03/2022

Test and pilot projects which contribute to our 

strategic aims

Ability to assess potential benefits, or unforeseen pitfalls, 

without overcommitting 
M 31/03/2022

Produce & Publish a regular partnership overview of 

local data trends and project outcomes

Homelessness Partnership well informed in this area aiding 

ongoing navigation of next steps and priorities
L 31/03/2025

Ensure that no significant changes or initiatives 

proceed without pertinent input from those with lived 

experience, linking in with the other Action Groups re 

any proposals

Increased ownership, more effective services and outcomes L 31/03/2025

Ensure diverse views and needs are considered 

including those from minority and disproportionately 

affected groups who may have different needs, 

perspectives and preferences.

Diverse voices heard and wider ownership in the community.  

Better confidence in diverse groups accessing support and 

services when needed

L 31/03/2025

Ensure young people are included in this work, 

reflecting particular challenges and perspectives

Better shaped provisions, improved prevention leading to 

less initial cases of homelessness, fewer repeat cases, fewer 

safeguarding issues

L 31/03/2025

Establish a sub-group focussing on minority and 

disproportionately affected groups

Better focus on reaching minority groups, earlier 

engagement, reduction in related homelessness cases, 

better advocacy

S 31/10/2021

Source and rollout initial training for staff and 

volunteers on areas such as diversity and 

unconscious bias

Improved understanding (including of the critical difference 

between equality and equity), prejudice addressed
M 31/03/2022

Report on accommodation options for any groups at 

higher risk (e.g. people who have transitioned/are in 

the process of), particularly in relation to supported 

housing and refuges, identifying gaps or required 

improvements

Provision of safer, more positive and more secure 

experience with less incidents of abuse, violence, threat or 

other hate crime

M 31/03/2022

Commit to ensuring that new properties are at highest 

possible standard
Positive feedback from tenants L 31/03/2025

Work with partners to ensure that at least basic 

furnishings are provided

New tenants have a minimum of basic furnishings upon 

moving into a new property
M 31/03/2022

Provide an online resource for the partnership to 

access online 

Easy and accessible access to best practise information and 

training opportunities
M 31/03/2022

Review and identify any gaps in knowledge, 

experience and skills and develop and share new 

learning via the Partnership

Increase in collective knowledge, experience and skills, more 

consistent approaches
M 31/03/2022

Collectively develop or access and deliver training on 

specialist areas such as people with no recourse to 

public funds, trauma informed approaches and 

minimising evictions

Raise collective levels of knowledge and practise.  Ensure 

minimal errors or misinterpretation of legislation, protocols 

etc as well as consideration of and adherence to established 

best practise

M 31/03/2022

Further development of the OOHC (Out Of Hospital 

Care) model and funding

Better long term health outcomes for people leaving hospital, 

fewer leaving to no suitable accommodation, fewer repeat 

cases, better engagement with long term health interventions 

and other support 

S 31/10/2021

Development of the multi-disciplinary toolkit for 

working with single homeless
Clear tools and guidelines available, consistency of approach M 31/03/2022

Consider the development of an accessible and 

welcoming Health & Housing front door hub which 

allows for seamless multi-disciplinary working, 

including a focus on health and wellbeing

Increase and improved multi-disciplinary working, increased 

accessibility to and use of health and wellbeing interventions
M 31/03/2022

Consider the development of an out-reach health 

offer from this hub to potentially provide services in 

other hubs including Routes to Roots in Poole and 

suitable locations within supported housing and 

temporary accommodation provision.

Increase and improved multi-disciplinary working, increased 

accessibility to and use of health and wellbeing interventions, 

better engagement with those reluctant to access a hub or 

GP Practise.  Equity of provision across BCP

M 31/03/2022

3.9  Commit to delivering a common info 

sharing platform, assessment and risk tool

Provide & procure an online client data system to 

improve information sharing and reporting client 

journeys and pathways

Data & Insight Action Group

Better and more accurate data, consistency of information, 

less requirements for multiple assessments and potential 

resulting re-traumatising

M 31/03/2022

3.6  Provide environments that communicate 

personal worth and value to occupants, 

including physical spaces and the manner of 

support and interventions being provided

TA move on/Accommodation 

Action Group

ONGOING IMPROVEMENT, DEVELOPMENT AND SUSTAINIBILITY

3.1  Adopt and annual communications plan 

that promotes the activities of the strategy
Comms

Lived Experience

3.2  Review and develop a commissioning 

strategy for Housing Related Support 

services

Housing, Childrens and Adults 

Commissioning - BCP Council

Data & Insight Action Group

3.3  Use data and evidence to understand 

ways to work smarter to manage demand 

and to inform how we improve prevention and 

intervention services

Focussed Upstream Prevention

3.5  Improve our understanding of and service 

offer to ethnic minorities, the LBGT+ 

community and other minority groups

3.4  Regularly seek insight from people with 

lived experience of homelessness

3.7  Share training and learning experiences 

across the Homelessness Partnership, 

building out collective capacity and expertise

3.8  Deliver a community hub where services 

for people who are rough sleeping and those 

is temporary accomodation can improve 

health, wellbeing and housing outcomes by 

ensuring a holistic and proactive package of 

tailored support

Health

232



  

Equality Impact Assessment: conversation screening tool   

  

  

[Use this form to prompt an EIA conversation and capture the output between officers, stakeholders and 

interested groups. This completed form or a full EIA report will be published as part of the decision-making 

process]  

Policy/Service under 
development/review:  

  
 Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy 
  

What changes are being made to 
the policy/service?  

Under the Homelessness Act 2002, all housing authorities must 
have in place a Homelessness Strategy based on a review of all 
forms of homelessness in their district and demonstrating how 
homelessness will be prevented and resolved.  The Strategy must 
be renewed at least every 5 years. 
 
The Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Homelessness 
Partnership have worked together to develop a draft 
Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy which seeks to make 
homelessness everyone’s business. This work aims to build on the 
priorities of the preceding legacy councils and create one single 
strategy. Currently there is a single BCP Council action plan which 
aligns the action plans of the preceding legacy councils. 

Service Unit:   Housing 

Persons present in the 
conversation and their 
role/experience in the service:   

 Fraser Nicholson – Homelessness Strategy Manager 

 Sophie Bradfield - Policy & Performance Officer 

 Graeme Smith - Policy & Performance Officer  

Conversation dates:   23rd February 2021 

Do you know your current or potential 
client base? Who are the key 
stakeholders?  

 YMCA, St Mungo’s, BCHA, Pivotal 

 Housing providers / Landlords 

 Homelessness Reduction Board (Faithworks, Shelter, CCG, 
Probation, Public Health) 

 Support services- health, substance abuse and dependency, 
mental health 

 Partnership services involved in the Homelessness Partnership 
and related Forum 

 People who are homeless/ rough sleeping or at risk 

 General public 

 Community safety teams 

Do different groups have different 
needs or experiences in relation to 
the policy/service?   

As part of formulation and background research it is known that 
some groups are at particular risk of homelessness, including but 
not limited to the LGBT+ community and the ethnic minority 
community.  There have been early scoping meetings with groups 
such as Dorset Race Equality Council, Community Action Network 
and the LGB&T Dorset Equality Network regarding this area and 
ensuring minorities groups are given focus.  This work will be 
developed through the strategy action plan, probably via a sub-
group. 
 

233



Young people are particularly vulnerable, especially when they 
belong to the ethnic minority/LGBT+ community. This is being 
looked at with Children’s services. 
 
Armed Forces- there can sometimes be a misperception around 
the numbers and proportion of people from the armed forces being 
more likely to become homeless, and rough sleeping, although it is 
certainly an issue for some. There are different options available 
for homeless veterans through the Armed Forces Covenant and 
associated services such as SAFFA. Generally, veterans will only 
open up and talk to people with similar experiences and the 
outreach service has links to the relevant support services to 
maximise enablement of this.  There is a commitment in the 
strategy, and on the action plan re focus on veterans  

Will the policy or service change 
affect any of these service users?   
  

Yes, further detail is included by protected characteristics below. 
This strategy will bring about beneficial outcomes with aims to 
prevent, reduce and stop homelessness and rough sleeping.  

[If the answer to any of the questions above is ‘don’t know’ then you need to gather more evidence 
and do a full EIA. The best way to do this is to use the Capturing Evidence form]  

What are the benefits or positive 
impacts of the policy/service change 
on current or potential service users?   

Age 

 Fewer care leavers and other young people becoming 
homeless 

 Improved advocacy  

 Fewer care leavers and other young people in B&B/Temp 
accommodation and adult homeless services 

 Address rise in older people becoming homeless 
 

Disability 

 Better and quicker options for people with mobility 
challenges 

 Trauma training and similar will improve support staff’s 
understanding of aspects such as Post Traumatic Stress 
and acquired brain injury 

Sex 

 Better accommodation and support for women leaving 
prison 

 Enhanced support for people who sex-work 

 Consider supported housing provision and need for female-
only provision 

 Consider need for male provision for refuge from domestic 
abuse  
 

Gender Reassignment 

 Closer working with specialist organisations to 
preclude/minimise direct and indirect discrimination and 
unconscious bias as well as better understanding of specific 
needs. 

 Focused work as part of sub-group of Partnership Action 
Group 
 

Marriage and Civil Partnership 

 Better options for all couples, including in supported 
housing 

234



 
Race 

 Closer working with specialist organisations to 
preclude/minimise direct and indirect discrimination and 
unconscious bias as well as better understanding of specific 
needs. 

 Focused work as part of sub-group of Partnership Action 
Group 
 

Religion or Belief 

 Closer working with specialist organisations to 
preclude/minimise direct and indirect discrimination and 
unconscious bias as well as better understanding of specific 
needs. 

 Focused work as part of sub-group of Partnership Action 
Group 
 

Sexual Orientation 

 Closer working with specialist organisations to 
preclude/minimise direct and indirect discrimination and 
unconscious bias as well as better understanding of specific 
needs. 

 Focused work as part of sub-group of Partnership Action 
Group 

 
Armed Forces 

 Early advice and housing options for veterans- prevention 
 
Carers 

 Improved advocacy and support for carers 

 Prevention work will reduce distress for carers of individuals 
at risk of homelessness/rough sleeping 
 

Human Rights 

 Consideration of how to better help people with no recourse 
to public funds via a specific task and finish group involving 
community stakeholders 

 

What are the negative impacts of the 
policy/service change on current or 
potential service users?  

Age 

 Increase in online assistance may be disproportionately 
challenging to some older people who are not online or IT 
proficient, especially if at risk of homelessness for the first 
time.  

Will the policy or service change 
affect employees?   

Yes, this strategy will improve links with other services and the 
knowledge and experience of working with other services. This will 
be a central BCP strategy and new action plan bringing together 
the work of the legacy councils. 

Will the policy or service change 
affect the wider community?   

Yes, by preventing homelessness and ending repeat cases of 
homelessness. There will be benefits to people, services and less 
community issues. It should be very beneficial to the wider 
community as well as bringing value for money from the reduction 
of homelessness cycles and a better experience for everyone 
involved as it frees capacity to help more people. 

235



What mitigating actions are planned  
or already in place for those 
negatively affected by the 
policy/service change?   

  

Where accessibility to online options was raised as an issue it’s 
important to note there are other options available such as 1-2-1’s 
and face-to-face support. Online options free up these services for 
those that might not have access or might need 1-2-1 support. 

Summary of Equality Implications:   
  

This strategy will improve links between services, increasing 
knowledge and experience of working with other services and aim 
to prevent homelessness and end repeat cases of homelessness 
and rough sleeping.  
 
Throughout the development of this strategy, the needs of service 
users and potential service users has been considered, reflecting 
on the protected characteristics and other vulnerabilities seeking to 
achieve positive outcomes for all.  
 
This strategy has been shaped with feedback from a range of 
voices. A 12-week consultation process engaged stakeholders and 
the general public. This included stakeholder presentations to a 
wider range of services and partners as well as ensuring input was 
sought and included from those with lived experience of 
homelessness and rough sleeping. 
 
As part of the formulation and background research it is known that 
some groups are at particular risk of homelessness, including but 
not limited to the LGBT+ community and the ethnic minority 
community.  There have been early scoping meetings with groups 
such as Dorset Race Equality Council, Community Action Network 
and the LGB&T Dorset Equality Network regarding this area and 
ensuring minority groups are given focus. This work will be 
developed through the strategy action plan. 
 
Further to the finalisation of the strategy, stakeholder engagement 
will continue in the implementation and development of the 
associated action plan. Action groups will take ownership of actions 
from the action plan and break them down further. Stakeholders 
are committed to each action group which is helping to drive the 
work. At least one member of the homelessness reduction board 
will sit on each action group enabling the action groups to hold the 
strategy to account. Communication methods are being developed 
to create and engage with an action group for those with lived 
experience who can feed into the work of every group. These 
groups will ensure the needs of all are considered at every step of 
the implementation of this strategy. 
 
There will be benefits to people, staff, services and the wider 
community, bringing value for money from the reduction of 
homelessness cycles and a better experience for everyone 
involved, as more integrated and varied support services free-up 
capacity to help more people. 
 

 

 
For any questions on this, please contact the Policy and Performance Team by emailing 
performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk          

236



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Housing scheme at Craven Court, Knyveton Road, 
Bournemouth 

Meeting date  14 April 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  
The BCP owned site is currently a 2-3 storey residential building 

with 18 flats. 

The current proposal presents a new build scheme of 24 
apartments and associated parking to be provided on the site.   
 
These homes will help towards imminent new Local Plan housing 
targets and will also contribute significantly to unmet housing need. 
 
All of the homes are to be for Affordable Rent and will be designed 
to high energy standards meeting Passivhaus standards. 
 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 1. Council Approve the proposed £5.3m housing scheme 
for progression to Council for subsequent approval 
request: 

a. Approval to tender, commencement and completion 
of build subject to the conditions set out in the 
Financial Strategy and authorises the Corporate 
Director for Environment and Community to approve 
necessary appropriations and contractual and legal 
agreements in consultation with the Monitoring 
Officer and Chief Finance Officer. 

b. Approve the financial strategy for the scheme as set 
out in paragraphs 24 to 56 with specific approval for: 

i) £3.67m of prudential borrowing to be repaid 
over 50 years used to finance the Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA). 

ii) The capping of rental income to Affordable Rent 
levels and Local Housing Allowance.  

c. Authorise the Section 151 Officer in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Finance to determine 
the detailed funding arrangements. 

237

Agenda Item 13



Reason for 
recommendations 

To enable the proposed housing scheme to progress with the 
agreed funding arrangements through to construction and 
subsequent completion in order to deliver the wide range of 
benefits to the Council and local communities. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Cllr Robert Lawton, Portfolio Holder for Housing  

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan, Corporate Director of Environment and Community 

Contributors  
Lorraine Mealings, Director of Housing 

Nigel Ingram, Head of Housing Delivery 

Jonathan Thornton, Housing Development Manager 

Peter Friend, Project Manager 

Claire Lynch, Housing Development Officer 

Wards  East Cliff & Springbourne: Councillor Anne Filer, Councillor David 
Kelsey and Councillor Roberto Rocca 

Classification  For Decision 
Title:  

Background  

Housing Market Context 

1. Levels of housing demand in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) are 
very high, with housing demand exceeding supply.  Providing more housing is a 
key priority of the council. 

2. The government has set out a new methodology for calculating Local Plan 
housing targets and as a result the BCP Council area will need to increase its 
housing delivery significantly to approximately 2500 new homes to be built every 
year.  This will need a step change from current delivery levels and is one of the 
key housing challenges locally, as well as nationally. 

3. There is a need for additional homes across all tenures and in particular, the 
demand for ‘affordable housing’ at sub-market rates is very high. There are circa 
5650 households on the Housing Register for the BCP area waiting for 
‘affordable housing’ in the form of either Council Housing or Housing Association 
properties. 

Council’s direct delivery of new homes 

4. BCP Council now has a well-established Housing Development Team who are 
well placed to help deliver the future pipeline of in-house residential new-build 
developments. 

 

238



5. Craven Court is a potential development scheme for Council housing within the 
conurbation that could be developed directly by the Council for affordable rent, for 
those in housing need. 

6. This proposed scheme will follow many others which have been successfully 
delivered over previous years and there is a pipeline of many additional sites 
going forwards to help address our housing needs locally. 

 
Site background information 
 

7. The site is owned by BCP within the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and is a 2-
3 storey residential building comprising 18 flats, currently let on Social Rent. The 
building was originally a pair of semi-detached Victorian buildings that have been 
substantially altered and extended over the years. The building has since been 
used as a hotel, nursing home and individual flats. 

8. The existing building is in a poor condition and requires considerable work to 
bring it up to modern residential standards. It is considered that the site 
represents an opportunity to create a new high-quality purpose-built block of 
affordable housing units.  

9. A planning application for the housing scheme was submitted and validated on 
27 August 2020.  

Proposed scheme 
 

10. The proposed development includes the demolition of the existing building and to 
provide a total of 24 apartments over four floors. This development would be 
capable of housing 24 households, circa 65 persons.  Subject to consents, the 
proposed commencement date is August 2021 with the scheme ideally due to be 
completed in January 2023. 

11. It is recommended that the site is developed directly by the Council to provide a 
residential scheme comprising the following: -  

 Affordable Rent (24 homes)  

Plans for the proposed scheme are included in Appendix 5. 

12. This tenure mix has been developed after consideration of numerous factors 
including the need for financial viability and return, housing demands, site 
specifics and the need to ensure a sustainable community.  The Council’s 
Neighbourhood Management team and the Housing Options and Partnerships 
team have been closely involved in the development of this scheme to help 
ensure that it adequately meets housing needs and is designed in such a way to 
be sustainable and to enable good quality housing management. 

13. As noted earlier, the need for Council housing, including affordable rented 
housing, is high across BCP.   

14. The scheme will provide self-contained homes with a mix of one bed and two bed 
apartments. 

239



15. The proposed layout is determined by the shape of the site, location of trees, 
access and the existing character of the surrounding area. The proposed building 
has been set back slightly behind the building line of the existing building.  This 
reflects the slight variation of building line along the street, reduces the 
prominence of the proposed building and enables a better landscaping of the 
front courtyard. Unlike the existing scheme, all parking is proposed to be in the 
front courtyard area, thus enabling some landscaped amenity space to the rear of 
the building. Consideration has also been given to allow vehicular access to the 
rear of the property for maintenance purposes. 

16. The scheme will provide 9 car parking spaces, which is considered appropriate 
given the nature of the housing units to be provided, the unallocated provision, 
the proximity to the town centre and excellent transport links. To note, there are 
currently 8 car parking spaces serving the existing 18 flats. The proposal 
represents a lower ratio of car parking spaces to unit numbers however this level 
of car parking proposed is in accordance with the newly adopted BCP Car 
Parking SPD (2021). Internal cycle parking is to be provided with one space per 
apartment in line with current planning policy.  

17. The scheme is expected to go to Planning Committee in April 2021. 

Environmental build standards 

18. The development will provide a highly energy efficient scheme. It will help 
address the 2019 BCP Council declared Climate and Ecological Emergency and 
future proof the new homes against the 2025 Future Homes Standard for 
housing. The development will contribute to the Council’s commitment to 
achieving a net zero carbon emission target. 

19. We intend to build the scheme to the principles of the Passivhaus standards. This 
standard offers the benefit of very low carbon heating requirements and world 
leading levels of energy efficiency by not relying on fossil fuel heating systems. 
Passivhaus Principles will be followed rather than full accreditation, which will 
help generate carbon savings.  

20. The fabric first approach which the Passivhaus standard follows for construction, 
minimises the need for expensive space heating systems. Our residents will not 
have to budget for expensive heating bills. A saving of up to 75% on energy bills 
is possible, (From the Passivhaus Trust). This will help address fuel poverty for 
those on low incomes.  The cost of enhanced building is £225 per home per year, 
which is expected to be less than the saving in fuel bills by the tenant.  This will 
assist in tenants not entering a state of fuel poverty (which could increase the 
likelihood of a tenant defaulting rent payments). 

21. The minimal heating requirements and use of photovoltaic panels on the 
building’s roof to supplement power demand means that expensive retrofitting, or 
replacement of fossil fuel heating systems can be avoided in the future.   

22. The scheme will be measured in terms of sustainability through carbon savings - 
full details of the carbon reduction figures are shown in appendix nine. 

23. The lifetime cost of the proposed development is £304 per tCO2.  This fits well 
below the BEIS guidance of under £500/tCO2  

240



Summary of key benefits 

24. The following summarises the key benefits of the proposed scheme: - 

 Maximise the Council’s land assets to bring about financial gains, as well as 
delivering the Council’s housing aspirations.  

 Provide much needed additional homes to meet unmet housing demands and 
housing needs within the BCP area. 

 Provision of 24 self-contained homes to help address the challenging Local 
Plan housing targets and help meet local housing demands. 

 Provide 24 new Council homes at affordable rent levels to meet housing 
need, which comprises 100% of the total homes on the proposed site and is 
significantly higher than the 40% required within the Affordable Housing 
Planning Policy. 

 Utilisation of £1.59m Right to Buy receipts to help fund the scheme.  If these 
are not spent within 3 years of receipt, they cannot be used locally and need 
to be returned to central government. 

 The scheme will bring improvements to the area with the provision of good 
quality and well managed homes and wider environmental improvements.  

 It will deliver high levels of sustainability in terms of design. 

 It will generate employment during the construction phase to help grow the 
local economy. 

Development Feasibility Work already undertaken 

25. During 2019 and 2020, consultants have been appointed and several surveys 
completed to develop a scheme design to planning submission stage. Surveys 
completed to date include: Condition of the existing property, Arboricultural, 
Topographical, Ecological, Ground investigation, Services locations, Legal Report 
on Title and Valuations.  

26. The financial commitment to date (including design, surveys and planning) is 
£89k. This is included within total project outlay of £5.309M below. Of the £89k 
financial commitment, £74.7k has been spent to date (including design surveys 
and planning). 

 

 

 

 

241



 

27. A planning application for the housing development scheme was submitted on 27 
August 2020 and validated on 02 September 2020. The scheme is expected to 
go before the March 18th Planning Committee. 

 
Financial overview 
 
28. Appendix One, sets out the proposed financial profile of the scheme for the 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA). 
 

 

Appendix 1 - Craven Court Housing Development:                                              HRA Income 
and Expenditure 

 

        

        

Housing Revenue 
Account 

 

 Homes    24  

 Prudential Borrowing Period       50  

        Affordable Rented  
        £000s  

 Scheme Costs         

 

Works budget cost (including demolition 
& 5% contingency) 

inc contingency of £228k @ 
5%    4,062   

 e/o for Passivhaus standard 10%    406   

 PV roof panels, EV charge points, bike store, removal of contamination    105   

 Build and oncost contingency 5%    241   

 Fees & Other Costs      410   

 Interest (during Build Phase)      85   

 Land Acquisition costs      0   

 Total Scheme Cost       5,309   

 Scheme Funding         

 Homes England Grant - TBC Affordable Housing Grant       

 Homes England Grant - Accelerated Construction       

 Affordable Housing s106 Contributions         

 Sales - Shared Ownership         

 Housing Revenue Account         

  - Capital Funding - 1 for 1 Right to Buy Receipts    1,593   

  - S106 Contributions      50   

           

 

Prudential Borrowing - additional 
borrowing      3,666   

 Total Scheme Funding       5,309   

 Net Cost       0   

        

242



29. Build costs of £4.06 million are based on estimates from our appointed 
employer’s agent (Quantity Surveyors). The employers agent included a 5% 
contingency (equivalent to £228k) and demolition costs in these build estimates. 
There is also an additional Contingency of 5%, circa £228k, with an on-cost 
contingency of £500 per unit (equating to £12k overall). In addition to this, we 
have included an additional 10% of Build Costs, to ensure that the scheme can 
be built to Passivhaus Standards. These total costs equate to £2,337 per sqm.  
The base build cost excluding contingency, demolition and Passiv Haus uplift is 
£2,121m2. 

 
30. Fees and other costs of £410k include £192k disturbance payments – to 

facilitate the relocation of existing tenants from the property. This payment is a 
statutory requirement and includes all costs associated with tenant relocation 
(including removal fees and storage costs if required).  
 

31. The total scheme costs are estimated to be £5.3m profiled over the next 2-year 
period as the construction phase moves ahead. Interest on borrowing required 
during this phase of £85k is included within capital outlay above.  
 

32. £1.59m of the capital outlay will be funded from Right to Buy (RTB) receipts. At 
30%, this is the maximum level of RTB that can be applied as funding. An 
additional £50k will be funded by Section 106 Contributions. The remaining 
£3.66m of capital outlay is proposed to be funded from Prudential borrowing 
though the HRA. 

 
33. Estimated long term cash flows presented in Appendix Two forecast net annual 

cash surplus from first year of completion. This is after provision has been made 
for both capital and interest repayments as well as management, maintenance 
and major repair costs, and an adjustment to the rental income to cover void 
costs. Any potential capital growth has been ignored for the purposes of this 
modelling. Over the 50-year scheme life, cumulative cash surpluses of £2.46m 
are forecast. 

 
34. Appendix Three sets out the financial appraisal assumptions supporting the 

capital outlay and 50-year cashflow forecast. The Council is also in the process of 
completing a wider benchmarking exercise, with the assistance of comparable 
local authorities, to ensure ongoing relevance and appropriateness of core 
assumptions applied.  

 

Financial Strategy 
 
35. The 24 new housing units will be designated as affordable housing. As there is 

ongoing demand for affordable housing, the Council has reasonable assurance 
over rental income streams for the next 50 years. Forecast cashflows assume 
modest annual increases in rental income of 3% in years 1-2 (in line with 
Government guidance of RPI +1%), reducing to 2% per annum from year 3 
(inflationary RPI increase only). Additional provision is made for voids at 2% of 
gross residential rent per annum.  
 

243



36. Ongoing operational spend (property listing and management, service costs and 
general repairs and maintenance spend) are allowed for within the model on a 
standard £/unit basis. The £/unit values used as based on historic financial data 
and are therefore considered to be accurate. Annual inflation at 2% is applied to 
reflect increases in these costs over the 50-year period. In addition, allowance is 
made for major repairs across the housing development. This is an annual 
allowance, from year 10 onwards, at 0.8% of housing development value (based 
on original capital outlay with annual inflationary increases).  

 
37. Under s11(6) of the Local Government Act 2003, local authorities are required to 

spend retained Right to Buy (RTB) receipts within three years. This is limited, 
however, to no more than 30% of the cost of a replacement home (whether 
through acquisition or new build). Where a local authority is unable to spend 
receipts within three years they are to be returned to the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), together with interest of 4% 
above base rate. The financial risk to the Council of having to return unspent RTB 
receipts is reduced by applying £1.59m (30% of £5.3m capital outlay) of RTB 
receipts received as funding for this scheme.  

 
38. The tenure mix of the properties (and associated rental stream) provides a 

balance in terms of financial returns required by the Council and ensuring low 
rents.  This has been considered in the context of the whole HRA development 
pipeline identified to date.   

 

Prudential Borrowing 
 
39. The Council can borrow under the Prudential Code as long as it is affordable and 

can be repaid over the life of the asset. The proposed scheme is predicated on 
£3.66m of prudential borrowing repaid over 50 years at an annual cost (including 
interest) of £85k. The use of 50 years reflects the estimated useful economic life 
of the asset.  
 

40. The financial modelling assumes the use of flexible short-term funding (at an 
interest rate of 3%) during the construction period before entering into a long-
term arrangement (at an interest rate of 3%). The 3% interest rate has been used 
as a matter of prudence for the financial modelling. It has the benefit of creating 
additional risk premium to mitigate the risk of potential fluctuations in long term 
cashflow projections.  

 
41. In March 2020, HM Treasury announced a new Public Works Loan Board 

(PWLB) HRA lending rate for 100 basis points below standard PWLB rate (0.92% 
at today’s rate (12 Feb 21)). The difference between 3% Invest to Save rate and 
0.92% PWLB HRA lending rate is £3.66m risk premium allowance. Risk Premium 
that is budgeted but ultimately not required will increase availability of HRA 
Reserves used for future housing developments.  

 
42. Furthermore, any borrowing will only be drawn down when required and not in 

advance of need.  
 
 

244



Taxation 
 
43. A tax evaluation has not been undertaken as this is a newbuild housing scheme 

and will be zero rated.  
 

44. Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT) will not apply.  
 

45. VAT – Any VAT incurred on construction cost will be fully reclaimable as the 
spend will relate to the statutory function of the Council.  

 
Public Sector Subsidy (State Aid) 
 

46. State Aid has been considered and assessed as low risk, as we are not passing 
on funding to a third party.  

 
Value for Money 
 
47. The financial appraisals set out in Appendix One, Two and Three show that the 

scheme is viable in the short, medium and long term for the Council. The Total 
scheme cost of £5.3m is slightly more than the Gross Development Value 
(Market value of the completed properties) of £5m.  
 

48.  The scheme provides a surplus in the long term cumulative cashflow from year 1 
to Year 50 when the loan is repaid. Beyond year 50 the surplus will be in excess 
of £125k per annum to the HRA. 

 
49. The development at Craven Court will produce around 22% less C02 emissions 

than the same building if it were built to basic housing standards (Basic Spec). 
Findings show that using the Fabric-First Passivhaus approach would achieve 
savings of 7.87 Tonnes of C02 per year over the Base Spec adopting Passivhaus 
design principles, and a saving of 19.31 Tonnes of C02 per year over a building 
built to the basic housing standards.  

 
The financial appraisals set out in Appendix One, Two and Three show that the 
scheme is viable in the short, medium and long term for the Council. The 
construction costs are based on an estimated build cost which has been 
provided by David Richards Partnership Ltd (DRP). They have confirmed that 
given the scope of works, the total construction costs (including contingency and 
an additional 10% to meet Passivhaus Standards) represent value for money.  

 
50. The use of Passivhaus principles for design and construction allows for high 

reductions in energy costs for our residents. It also negates the need for 
expensive fossil fuel heating systems and their subsequent replacement in the 
future, thus helping the Council to meet the 2025 Future Homes Standard. This 
highly energy efficient and environmentally sympathetic fabric first construction 
method represents good value for money for the Council by helping to reduce its 
future maintenance liability.  

 

 

245



Consultation 

51. The development was subject to a public consultation exercise by the Council. A 
consultation exhibition event scheduled for March 2020 had to be cancelled due 
to the Covid – 19 pandemic and instead a postal consultation exercise was 
undertaken in July 2020. The proposed plans with a covering letter of explanation 
were delivered to neighbouring properties.  

52. Only two local residents responded to the consultation both from residential 
properties Frances Road (to the rear of the proposed scheme on Knyveton Road) 
related to privacy, cladding, the boundary wall and with the levels of car parking. 
The issues were considered by the development team and the architect, and we 
addressed these concerns as follows:  

a. The potential impact on privacy from the top floor rear balconies (one 
respondent): The building had been designed to sit on the existing 
building’s footprint. The height of the new building is lower than the exiting 
ridge height. This, in addition to, the natural screening provided by the 
trees at the rear of the property, should allow a good degree of privacy to 
be retained by neighbouring properties. It is also worth noting, that the new 
building’s location is approximately 35m away from those in Frances 
Road, which is 10m further than required by current planning guidance.   

b. The suitability of the upper floor grey cladding (one respondent): As 
part of the planning application, we showed through a visual (ECGI) what 
the building may look like. However, materials and the like are typically 
dealt with by the planning department at a later date. New drawings show 
that this proposed cladding has been changed. It is now vertical cladding 
and will comprise composite or timber material to comply with current 
standards post Grenfell.  

c. Suggesting that less parking is provided in favour of more outdoor 
space (one respondent): Our car parking provision was subsequently 
reduced. To note, the proposed car parking provision is also in line with 
the new BCP Car Parking SPD (2021). It is also likely that the existing 
tenants will move back into this property, so we need to ensure that there 
is adequate parking on site.  

d. The retaining wall: The retaining wall will be repaired where practicable. 
In other locations hedgerows will be used as a boundary for this site.   

53. It is also worth noting that should planning permission be approved, issues such 
as materials (including cladding), boundaries and landscaping are conditions to a 
planning application. This means that the treatments and materials used for 
cladding, boundaries and landscaping will need to be approved separately by the 
planning department at a later date. This is considered normal procedure by the 
planning department. The Housing Development Team did respond to those that 
made representations. 

54. Neighbours who are likely to be affected by the scheme have been written to and 
will be kept up to date.  

55. The Housing Development Team undertook consultation with housing teams and 
input was gained from the Neighbourhood Management, Housing Delivery 
Enabling and Housing Options and Partnerships teams.  

246



 

56. Ward Councillor consultation was carried out in March 2019, and they were 
further updated with scheme progress in July and August 2020. Feedback from 
the Housing Options and Partnerships team and that we should provide the 
greatest need, which was and remain for rented accommodation. This scheme is 
to provide rented homes to people on the housing waiting list, let at affordable 
rent levels.  

57. During the planning application process, one public comment was received.  

Approval Conditions 

58. Should the build cost increase across the scheme, the RTB can be increased 
accordingly and to pay the balance, the Prudential Borrowing would need to be 
increased to maintain a near steady state for the long-term cash flow. 

59. Should costs reduce, typically the funding will reduce proportionately.  

60. It is therefore suggested that approval is sought subject to some conditions as 
follows, whereby deviation from these will require further Cabinet or Council 
approval: - 

a) Changes to approved budget - Any changes to the scheme budget resulting 
in a reduction to costs or additional costs greater than £1m will require the 
scheme to be reapproved by Council. 

b) Changes to approved budget - Any changes to the scheme budget resulting 
in a reduction to costs or additional costs of greater than £500k will require the 
scheme to be reapproved by Cabinet. 

c) Any changes to the scheme causing the positive cumulative cashflow to be 
achieved later than currently modelled (Year 1) shall require approval by 
Council. 

d) Changes to funding strategy - Any changes to the current approved funding 
strategy that result in a greater utilisation of combined BCP resource (e.g. 
earmarked capital reserves, capital receipts, prudential borrowing) than as 
outlined in this paper will be reported to Cabinet or Council, depending on 
value of change.  

Options Appraisal 

61. The following options have been considered but discounted: - 

Option 1: Market disposal of site 

62. One option would be to dispose of the site for development. The valuation made 
by Thornes Valuers for the existing site in its existing condition is £1.36m. This 
site would need to be appropriated from the HRA to the Council’s General Fund 
in order of it to be sold. If planning permission was gained on this site prior to 
disposal then the value could be higher. This option however would not deliver 
the wider corporate aims around housing need and homelessness, as well as 
long term surpluses into the HRA. 

63. Whilst the site would need to comply with the affordable housing planning policy 
requiring up to 40% affordable housing subject to viability, there would be no 

247



certainty about the scale of affordable housing that would subsequently be agreed 
and subsequently delivered by the developer. 

64. The disposal of this site would take 12-18 months for tender and sale to be 
completed. 

65. Having already worked the scheme up prior to seeking planning, a decision to 
dispose of the land will incur abortive costs for the Council although some of the 
costs would be partially recouped through the sale price. Costs incurred and 
committed so far total approximately £79k including professional costs and site 
surveys. This has been and will continue to be funded through the HRA Housing 
development budget. 

Option 2: Alternative tenure provision (to Social Rent) 

66. If the 24 Affordable Rented homes were alternatively delivered based on lower 
Social Rent levels, this would decrease the surpluses that this scheme would 
achieve after 50 years from £3.62million to £1.55m. The Social Rented alternative 
scheme would also require additional reserves (or s106 contributions) at a level of 
£1.375m. 

67. To help mitigate the impact of affordable rent levels on tenants’ ability to pay, rents 
will be capped at Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates rather than the higher 80% 
of average private market rent levels.  The Housing Development Team is currently 
delivering other sites with homes at Social Rent levels. 

68. Work is currently underway to help shape the future housing delivery strategy for 
how the Council builds on its own land and factors such as tenure type, delivery 
model and sustainability standards will form part of these considerations.  

Option 3: Repair of existing building 

69. The condition of the existing building is no longer fit for purpose and will require 
significant investment to address the outstanding issues. A 2018 condition survey 
of the building highlighted issues that require attention. 

 Mansard roof. Roof coverings have reached the end of their life cycle and 
need to be replaced. 

 Flat roofs. Roof coverings have reached the end of their life cycle and need to 
be replaced. 

 Windows. All windows need to be replaced. 

 Internal communal doors. All internal doors need to be replaced. 

 Lift. The lift has had several fault repairs carried out and now needs to be 
replaced. 

These are the larger more expensive items. There are numerous other items 
including soffits, external masonry and render, chimneys, staircases etc that also 
require repair or replacement. The estimated cost of these in 2018 was circa 
£400,000. Current advice is that this will require a 30 – 40% uplift in costs due to 
market conditions.  

The conclusion is the building has reached the end of its life cycle and the cost of 
refurbishing it outweighs the benefit that would be provided. If all the repairs were 
attended to, the property would still not meet the high standards required for senior living 
accommodation of this type.  

248



Summary of financial implications  

70. Provided within the body of the report. 

Summary of legal implications  

71. The Housing Act 1985, section 9, empowers the Council to build and provide 
housing accommodation (including houses, flats and ancillary facilities such as 
open space). Credits and debits in respect of such accommodation must be 
accounted for within the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) – section 74(1) of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989.  

72. The Council also has the General Power of Competence pursuant to the 
Localism Act 2011, and therefore the power to borrow for the purposes set out 
within this Report.  

73. The Council will need to comply with all relevant procurement requirements in 
undertaking the proposals contained within this Report and the Council will 
undertake the work in accordance with ongoing legal advice.  

Summary of human resources implications  

74. The existing Housing Development Team will oversee the delivery of this scheme 
alongside the other new build schemes in the pipeline.  The construction works 
will be tendered and other professionals have also been procured e.g. architects 
to bring this scheme forward. 

Summary of environmental impact  

75. The site is within a sustainable location and the high-quality building on this site 
could make a positive contribution to the quality of the environment.  

76. Whilst the site is increased in housing density, it is providing much more energy 
efficient dwellings, with greater thermal insulation and more efficient heating 
systems. The scheme will be built using a fabric first approach following 
Passivhaus design principles. 

77. A copy of the Environment Impact Assessment is included in Appendix Seven.  

Summary of public health implications  

78. The housing scheme will create a sustainable good quality housing development 
and bring many benefits to the residents and the wider community. The proposed 
scheme gives careful consideration to the wider issues such as trees and 
provides private amenity space for prospective residents to help create an 
attractive area which improves the local community.  

Summary of equality implications  

79. The housing scheme will provide accommodation for those who are on the 
Housing Register and in housing need, being designed for families, couples and 
single people of all ages. As such, many households will have protected 
characteristics and have vulnerabilities. Admission for new residents to the 
scheme will be by objective eligibility criteria, which will be operated by the 
Housing Solutions team who, undertake property allocations for the Council. The 
existing Allocation Policy for the BCP area will help manage allocations to the 
scheme for those most in need, although a new BCP Allocations Policy is being 
developed which may be live at the point this scheme is completed. 

249



80. Properties will be available for all eligible applicants on the housing register. No 
issues regarding Sex/ Gender Reassignment/ Pregnancy and Maternity/ Marriage 
and Civil/ Race/ Religion or Belief/ Sexual Orientation/ Armed Forces Community 
and any other factors/ groups characteristics have been identified but these 
factors will be considered along with any service user identified needs.  

81. Properties will be constructed to Building Control Approved Document Part M 

category1 (Access to and use of buildings- also to be referred to in future reports 

as the bronze standard.). This means that the new flats designed will meet 

wheelchair accessible standards.  

82. The Councils standing specification requires the architect to implement the 

requirements of Lifetime Homes where it is practical to do so. 

83. The constrained nature of the site prohibits achieving Lifetime Homes or any 

alternative Part M category. However, the Council actively considers the 

provision of Category 2 & 3 dwellings on other schemes in the conurbation. 

84. A copy of the EINA is included in Appendix Four. 

Summary of risk assessment  

85. The following key risks have been identified alongside mitigating actions:   

Overall Project Risk Rating 
 

Key Project Risks 
Gross Risk 
Rating 

Mitigating Actions 

Rising construction costs render 
the project unaffordable 

Low Good project management will enable the close 
monitoring of progress and any issues that may 
arise to be dealt with promptly. The Build cost 
budget is an inclusive Design & Build cost 
provided by the Construction Works Team and a 
10% contingency for the build is included.  

Scheme not gaining a 
satisfactory planning consent 

Low Pre-planning advice has been taken on previous 
version of this scheme and measures proposed 
by the planning team have been fully considered 
with regard to appropriateness for the client 
group and scheme feasibility. Where practical, 
they have been incorporated.  

Fall in housing need for 
accommodation tenure provided 
caused by changes to the 
housing market or economy 

Low Monitor through construction period the 
requirement for affordable rent with Strategic 
Housing Options team. If required, the Housing 
Development Team can appraise and suggest 
changes to tenure to suit need and financial 
viability as required.  

Insufficient funding available, 
such as failure to secure funding 
from s106 Contributions or RTB 
receipts 

Low Monitor and review spend of such funding on 
other schemes within the development 
programme.  Should insufficient funding be 
available, schemes will be prioritised and 
potentially some schemes put on hold until 
sufficient funding is available.  Alternative tenure 
such as Shared Ownership would attract 
different funding, such as grant from Homes 
England, which could be used to ensure the 
scheme is brought forward. 

250



Overall Project Risk Rating 
 

Key Project Risks 
Gross Risk 
Rating 

Mitigating Actions 

Increased fire risk during 
construction phase 

Low Design and construction will be closely 
monitored by Housing Development Team, 
Employers Agent and the Construction Team.  

86. Property development activity involves inherent risks, but a cautious approach has been 
adopted here to minimise these risks as much as possible. Financial contingencies have 
been included and significant consultation has been undertaken to date to help ensure a 
sustainable scheme. 

Background papers  

a) Refreshed Bournemouth Housing Strategy 2017 - 2020 - 
https://www.bournemouth.gov.uk/Housing/help-with-
housing/Documents/bournemouth-refreshed-housing-strategy-2017-2020.pdf 

 
b) Housing Strategy Refresh 2018-2020 Borough of Poole 
https://www.poole.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-and-policies/housing-
strategy-refresh-2018-2020/ 

 
Appendices  

Appendix One : Income and Expenditure Summary General Fund and HRA 
Appendix Two :  Financial Appraisal Long-term Cash flow 
Appendix Three : Summary of Funding Assumptions  
Appendix Four : Equality Impact Needs Assessment (EINA) 
Appendix Five : Development proposal plans 

 200_I_ Site Location and Block Plans 

 201_H_Proposed Floor Plans 

 202_F_Proposed Elevations 

 203_C_Street Elevations  

 206_F_SUDS and Roof Plan 

Appendix Six : Health and Safety Assessment Tool (HASAT) 
Appendix Seven : Environmental Impact Assessment 
Appendix Eight : Project Plan 
Appendix Nine : Carbon Reduction Statement 
 

251

https://www.bournemouth.gov.uk/Housing/help-with-housing/Documents/bournemouth-refreshed-housing-strategy-2017-2020.pdf
https://www.bournemouth.gov.uk/Housing/help-with-housing/Documents/bournemouth-refreshed-housing-strategy-2017-2020.pdf
https://www.poole.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-and-policies/housing-strategy-refresh-2018-2020/
https://www.poole.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-and-policies/housing-strategy-refresh-2018-2020/


This page is intentionally left blank

252



Housing Revenue 
Account

24

50

Affordable  Rented

£000s

Scheme Costs

Works budget cost (including de inc contingency of 5% @ £228) 4,062

e/o for Passiv Haus standard 10% 406

PV roof panels, EV charge points, bike store, removal of contamina 105

Build and oncost contingency 5% 241

Fees & Other Costs 410

Interest (during Build Phase) 85

Land Acquisition costs 0

5,309

Scheme Funding

Homes England Grant ‐ TBC Affordable Housing Grant

Homes England Grant ‐ Accelerated Construction

Affordable Housing s106 Contributions

Sales ‐ Shared Ownership

Housing Revenue Account

 ‐ Capital Funding ‐ 1 for 1 Right to Buy Receipts 1,593

 ‐ S106 Contributions 50

Prudential Borrowing ‐ additional borrowing 3,666

5,309

0Net Cost   

Appendix 1 - Craven Court Housing Development:                        
HRA Income and Expenditure

Total Scheme Cost   

Total Scheme Funding   

Homes

Prudential Borrowing Period   

253



Appendix 2 ‐ Craven Court Housing Development:  Financial Appraisal Long‐term Cash flow

Long‐Term Cashflow Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Gross Residential Rent 3.5% inc YRS 1‐3, 2.5% inc Yrs 4‐25 (183,487) (188,992) (194,661) (198,555) (202,526) (206,576) (210,708) (214,922) (219,220) (223,605) (228,077) (232,638)

Voids 2% of Gross residential rent 3,670 3,780 3,893 3,971 4,051 4,132 4,214 4,298 4,384 4,472 4,562 4,653

Gross Rent after allowance for Voids (179,817) (185,212) (190,768) (194,583) (198,475) (202,445) (206,494) (210,623) (214,836) (219,133) (223,515) (227,986)

RSL Management 2.5% CPI 11,448 11,734 12,028 12,328 12,636 12,952 13,276 13,608 13,948 14,297 14,654 15,021

Maintenance 2.5% CPI 18,792 19,262 19,743 20,237 20,743 21,261 21,793 22,338 22,896 23,469 24,055 24,657

Major Repairs 2.5% CPI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 43,724 44,817 45,938

Annual operational spend 30,240 30,996 31,771 32,565 33,379 34,214 35,069 35,946 36,845 81,490 83,527 85,615

Net Income before debt repayment (149,577) (154,216) (158,997) (162,018) (165,096) (168,231) (171,424) (174,678) (177,991) (137,643) (139,988) (142,371)

Repayment of Borrowing (interest) 108,078 107,103 106,099 105,064 103,999 102,901 101,770 100,606 99,407 98,171 96,899 95,588

Repayment of Borrowing (principal) 32,507 33,482 34,487 35,521 36,587 37,685 38,815 39,980 41,179 42,414 43,687 44,998

Cash outflow / (inflow) (8,992) (13,630) (18,412) (21,433) (24,510) (27,645) (30,839) (34,092) (37,406) 2,943 597 (1,785)

Cumulative cash outflow / (inflow) (8,992) (22,622) (41,033) (62,466) (86,976) (114,622) (145,461) (179,553) (216,958) (214,016) (213,419) (215,203)

1 of 4

254



Appendix 2 ‐ Craven Court Housing Development:  Financial Appraisal Long‐term Cash flow

Long‐Term Cashflow

Gross Residential Rent

Voids

Gross Rent after allowance for Voids

RSL Management

Maintenance

Major Repairs

Annual operational spend

Net Income before debt repayment

Repayment of Borrowing (interest)

Repayment of Borrowing (principal)

Cash outflow / (inflow)

Cumulative cash outflow / (inflow)

13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26

(237,291) (242,037) (246,878) (251,815) (256,852) (261,989) (267,228) (272,573) (278,024) (283,585) (289,257) (295,042) (300,943) (306,961)

4,746 4,841 4,938 5,036 5,137 5,240 5,345 5,451 5,560 5,672 5,785 5,901 6,019 6,139

(232,545) (237,196) (241,940) (246,779) (251,714) (256,749) (261,884) (267,121) (272,464) (277,913) (283,471) (289,141) (294,924) (300,822)

15,396 15,781 16,176 16,580 16,995 17,419 17,855 18,301 18,759 19,228 19,709 20,201 20,706 21,224

25,273 25,905 26,553 27,216 27,897 28,594 29,309 30,042 30,793 31,563 32,352 33,161 33,990 34,839

47,086 48,263 49,470 50,706 51,974 53,273 54,605 55,970 57,370 58,804 60,274 61,781 63,325 64,909

87,755 89,949 92,198 94,503 96,866 99,287 101,769 104,314 106,921 109,594 112,334 115,143 118,021 120,972

(144,790) (147,247) (149,742) (152,276) (154,849) (157,462) (160,114) (162,808) (165,542) (168,319) (171,137) (173,998) (176,902) (179,850)

94,238 92,848 91,416 89,941 88,421 86,856 85,244 83,584 81,874 80,113 78,299 76,430 74,505 72,523

46,347 47,738 49,170 50,645 52,164 53,729 55,341 57,002 58,712 60,473 62,287 64,156 66,080 68,063

(4,204) (6,661) (9,156) (11,690) (14,263) (16,876) (19,529) (22,222) (24,957) (27,733) (30,551) (33,413) (36,317) (39,265)

(219,408) (226,069) (235,226) (246,916) (261,179) (278,055) (297,584) (319,806) (344,763) (372,496) (403,048) (436,460) (472,777) (512,042)

2 of 4

255



Appendix 2 ‐ Craven Court Housing Development:  Financial Appraisal Long‐term Cash flow

Long‐Term Cashflow

Gross Residential Rent

Voids

Gross Rent after allowance for Voids

RSL Management

Maintenance

Major Repairs

Annual operational spend

Net Income before debt repayment

Repayment of Borrowing (interest)

Repayment of Borrowing (principal)

Cash outflow / (inflow)

Cumulative cash outflow / (inflow)

27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40

(313,101) (319,363) (325,750) (332,265) (338,910) (345,688) (352,602) (359,654) (366,847) (374,184) (381,668) (389,301) (397,087) (405,029)

6,262 6,387 6,515 6,645 6,778 6,914 7,052 7,193 7,337 7,484 7,633 7,786 7,942 8,101

(306,839) (312,975) (319,235) (325,620) (332,132) (338,775) (345,550) (352,461) (359,510) (366,700) (374,035) (381,515) (389,145) (396,928)

21,755 22,298 22,856 23,427 24,013 24,613 25,229 25,859 26,506 27,168 27,848 28,544 29,257 29,989

35,710 36,603 37,518 38,456 39,417 40,403 41,413 42,448 43,510 44,597 45,712 46,855 48,026 49,227

66,531 68,195 69,899 71,647 73,438 75,274 77,156 79,085 81,062 83,088 85,166 87,295 89,477 91,714

123,996 127,096 130,273 133,530 136,868 140,290 143,797 147,392 151,077 154,854 158,725 162,694 166,761 170,930

(182,842) (185,879) (188,961) (192,089) (195,263) (198,484) (201,753) (205,069) (208,433) (211,846) (215,309) (218,822) (222,385) (225,998)

70,481 68,378 66,212 63,980 61,682 59,315 56,877 54,366 51,779 49,115 46,371 43,544 40,633 37,635

70,105 72,208 74,374 76,605 78,903 81,271 83,709 86,220 88,806 91,471 94,215 97,041 99,952 102,951

(42,257) (45,294) (48,376) (51,504) (54,678) (57,899) (61,167) (64,483) (67,847) (71,261) (74,723) (78,236) (81,799) (85,413)

(554,299) (599,592) (647,968) (699,472) (754,150) (812,048) (873,215) (937,699) (1,005,546) (1,076,807) (1,151,530) (1,229,766) (1,311,565) (1,396,978)

3 of 4

256



Appendix 2 ‐ Craven Court Housing Development:  Financial Appraisal Long‐term Cash flow

Long‐Term Cashflow

Gross Residential Rent

Voids

Gross Rent after allowance for Voids

RSL Management

Maintenance

Major Repairs

Annual operational spend

Net Income before debt repayment

Repayment of Borrowing (interest)

Repayment of Borrowing (principal)

Cash outflow / (inflow)

Cumulative cash outflow / (inflow)

41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 Total

(413,130) (421,392) (429,820) (438,416) (447,185) (456,128) (465,251) (474,556) (484,047) (493,728)

8,263 8,428 8,596 8,768 8,944 9,123 9,305 9,491 9,681 9,875

(404,867) (412,964) (421,224) (429,648) (438,241) (447,006) (455,946) (465,065) (474,366) (483,854) (15,503,152)

30,739 31,507 32,295 33,102 33,930 34,778 35,647 36,539 37,452 38,388

50,458 51,719 53,012 54,337 55,696 57,088 58,515 59,978 61,478 63,015

94,007 96,357 98,766 101,235 103,766 106,360 109,019 111,745 114,538 117,402

175,203 179,583 184,073 188,675 193,392 198,226 203,182 208,262 213,468 218,805 6,012,438

(229,664) (233,381) (237,151) (240,973) (244,849) (248,779) (252,764) (256,803) (260,898) (265,049)

34,546 31,365 28,088 24,713 21,237 17,657 13,969 10,170 6,258 2,228 3,362,574

106,040 109,221 112,497 115,872 119,348 122,929 126,617 130,415 134,328 138,358 3,666,706

(89,078) (92,795) (96,565) (100,388) (104,264) (108,194) (112,178) (116,218) (120,312) (124,463) (2,461,434)

(1,486,056) (1,578,852) (1,675,417) (1,775,804) (1,880,068) (1,988,262) (2,100,440) (2,216,658) (2,336,971) (2,461,434)

4 of 4

257



Appendix 3 ‐ Craven Court Housing Development Scheme

Accommodation Schedule 

Number of 

units Unit size m2 Unit type

Number of 

units Unit size m2 Unit type

Number of 

units Unit size m2 Unit type

Number of 

units Unit size m2 Unit type

1 54 1b2p 1 50 1b2p 1 50 1b2p 2 56 1b2p

1 65 2b3p 2 54 1b2p 2 54 1b2p 1 69 2b3p

1 68 2b3p 1 61 2b3p 1 61 2b3p 2 74 2b3p

1 72 1b2p 1 65 2b3p 1 65 2b3p

1 83 2b3p 1 66 2b3p 1 66 2b3p

1 68 2b3p 1 68 2b3p

5 7 7 5

Rent Levels This scheme will be charged at Affordable Rent level:

LHA level for info Affordable Rent capped at LHA Social Rent for information

1‐bed £137.74pw £133.38pw, £135.22pw, £137.74pw £89.39pw

2‐bed £174.90pw £152.70, £153.62pw, £158.22pw, £159.14pw, £160.98pw £107.14pw

Market rent equivalent including service charge and parking spaces

1‐bed £166.73pw, £169.03pw, £178.23pw

2‐bed £190.88pw, 192.02pw, £195.47pw, £197.77pw, £198.92pw, £201.22 pw

Affordable Rent

Service Charges £7pw additional to Social rent, included in Affordable rent

Build costs

Additional costs

Contingency 5% additional build contingency (£223k), oncost contingency £500/unit (£12k)

Voids and bad debts 2%

Management £477 unit/pa Based on historic variable costs per unit

Maintenance £783 unit/pa Based on historic variable costs per unit

Major Repairs 0.8% of build cost deferred to Yr10 As agreed with Principal Surveying Manager

Loan interest rate % 3% Short term; 2% Long term

Loan term and type 50 year annuity

On costs/Fees element Amount

Acoustic Engineer ‐£                         

Arbo report 925£                        

Architects fee (up to planning) 27,650£                   

Asbestos, needles, clear 15,000£                   

Bat survey ‐£                         

Carbon reduction statement 1,590£                     

CIL and Heathland mitigation 7,456£                     

Daylighting assessment ‐£                         

Demolition inc notices ‐£                         

Design review panel, pre‐app, Consultation ‐£                         

Development Team 120,000£                 

Ecological survey and BMP 480£                        

Elec Disconnection ‐£                         

Employers Agent fee 21,276£                   

Security 1,500£                     

Gas disconnection ‐£                         

Ground investigation 3,725£                     

Heritage consultant  800£                        

Highways consultant  ‐£                         

Homeless Payments & disturbance 192,000£                 

Landscape consultant  ‐£                         

Legal sales fee ‐£                         

M+E Engineer  ‐£                         

Marketing ‐£                         

Principle Designer 3,000£                     

Planning application fee 11,088£                   

Structural Engineer and Drainage ‐£                         

Topographical  2,085£                     

Tree protection and plan ‐£                         

Utilities and sustainability assessment ‐£                         

Valuation 1,800£                     

Westworks fee ‐£                         

Water disconnection

Total 410,375£                 

Note: On costs/fees are split by number of units to each financial appraisal

£55 per sqm equating to £104.5k in total to include £25k for PV roof panels, 

£12k for Electic Vehicle Charging Infrastructure, £50k for Basement Bike 

£2,333 m2 inc 5% contingency, demolition and 10% to build to Passiv Haus standards (equivalent to £1975m2 excluding 

contingency, demo and uplift for Passiv haus).

Second Floor Third FloorGround Floor First Floor

App 3 Appraisal Assumptions v3 Page 1258



   
 

   
 

Equality Impact Assessment: Report and EIA Action Plan  
  
Purpose  
  
This is the narrative report that you will complete when you have captured your evidence and 
identified any negative impacts that require mitigation.  
  
This is an important part of the process and should not be skipped over.    
  
When reading the conclusion, decision makers need to be able to easily see:  

• if there are any adverse impacts,   
• what they are,   
• who is affected  
• what is going to be done about it.  

  
Detail the positive impacts too. Decision makers should easily see the benefits of the proposed 
changes.   
  
If there are no impacts one way or another you need to explain how you came to that conclusion, 
by summarising the assessment process.  
  
Where there is insufficient information to make an informed decision the EIA process will need to 
be revisited.   
  
Policy/Service under 
development/review:  

Housing Development at Craven Court, 8-10 
Knyveton Road, Bournemouth.  

Service Lead and Service Unit:  Nigel Ingram, Head of Housing Delivery; Housing 
Delivery Team  

People involved in EIA process:  
Peter Friend, Project Manager. 
Claire Lynch, Housing Development Officer.  
 

Date EIA conversation started:   08th September 2020  

  
  
Background  
  
The proposal is to develop additional sustainable affordable housing in Bournemouth. The project includes 
demolishing existing buildings on site and developing 24 residential units. This development would be 
capable of housing 24 households, circa 65 persons.  The completed project will provide much needed 
additional affordable rented housing within the conurbation.  
 
There is need for additional homes across all tenures the demand for affordable housing at sub-market 
levels is particularly high. There are circa 4,300 households on the Housing Register for the Bournemouth 
area, circa 950 in Poole and circa 400 in the Christchurch area, all waiting for affordable housing in the 
form of either Council or Housing Association (RP’s) Homes. 
 

259



   
 

   
 

The existing building is in a poor condition and requires considerable work to bring it up to modern 
residential standards. It is considered that the site represents an opportunity to create a new high-quality 
purpose-built block of affordable housing homes.  
 
The benefits of the proposal include:  
- Providing 24 apartments within the affordable housing tenure.  
- Increasing the number of homes on site by six apartments.  
- These homes will help towards imminent new Local Plan housing targets and will also contribute 

significantly to unmet housing need.  
- Development of a new building, as the need to demolish an existing building considered at the end of 

its useful life.  
- The new homes provided will be designed and built to a better standard than currently.  
- All homes will be built to the highest sustainability standards delivered through the excellent fabric first 

and airtightness approach (designed in this case to accommodate the principles of Passivhaus). 
- Decreasing the number of households on the Council’s Housing Waiting List.  
- Benefiting singles/ couples/ families which are either homeless or they may live in unsuitable or under/ 

over occupied housing.  
- Increasing job opportunities within the construction sector during the construction phase.  
- Generating a long-term surplus income to the Housing Revenue Account.  
 
The tenure mix has been developed after consultation of numerous factors including the need for the 
scheme to be financially viable and a providing a positive return, housing demands, site specifics and the 
need to ensure a sustainable community. The Council’s Neighbourhood Management team and the 
Housing Options and Partnerships team have been closely involved in the development of this scheme to 
help ensure that it adequately meets housing needs and is designed in such a way to be sustainable and 
to enable good quality housing management.  
 
The development was subject to a public consultation exercise by the Council. A consultation exhibition 
event scheduled for March 2020 had to be cancelled due to the Covid – 19 pandemic and instead a postal 
consultation exercise was undertaken in July 2020. The proposed plans with a covering letter of 
explanation were delivered to neighbouring properties.  

 
Only two local residents responded to the consultation both from residential properties Frances Road (to 
the rear of the proposed scheme on Knyveton Road) related to privacy, cladding, the boundary wall and 
with the levels of car parking. The issues were considered by the development team and the architect, and 
we addressed these concerns as follows:  

 
a. The potential impact on privacy from the top floor rear balconies (one respondent): The 

building had been designed to sit on the existing building’s footprint. The height of the new 
building is lower than the exiting ridge height. This, in addition to, the natural screening provided 
by the trees at the rear of the property, should allow a good degree of privacy to be retained by 
neighbouring properties. It is also worth noting, that the new building’s location is approximately 
35m away from those in Frances Road, which is 10m further than required by current planning 
guidance.   

b. The suitability of the upper floor grey cladding (one respondent): As part of the planning 
application, we showed through a visual computer-generated image (CGI) what the building 
may look like. However, materials and the like are typically dealt with by the planning 
department at a later date. New drawings show that this proposed cladding has been changed. 
It is now vertical cladding and will comprise composite or timber material to comply with current 
standards post Grenfell.  

c. Suggesting that less parking is provided in favour of more outdoor space (one 
respondent): Our car parking provision was subsequently reduced. To note, the proposed car 
parking provision is also in line with the new BCP Car Parking SPD (2021). It is also likely that 
the existing tenants will move back into this property, so we need to ensure that there is 
adequate parking on site.  

260



   
 

   
 

d. The retaining wall: The retaining wall will be repaired where practicable. In other locations 
hedgerows will be used as a boundary for this site.   
 

It is also worth noting that should planning permission be approved, issues such as materials (including 
cladding), boundaries and landscaping are conditions to a planning application. This means that the 
treatments and materials used for cladding, boundaries and landscaping will need to be approved 
separately by the planning department at a later date. This is considered normal procedure by the planning 
department. The Housing Development Team did respond to those that made representations. 

 
Neighbours who are likely to be affected by the scheme have been written to and will be kept up to date.  

 
The Housing Delivery Team undertook consultation with housing teams and input was gained from the 
Neighbourhood Management, Housing Delivery Enabling and Housing Options and Partnerships teams.  

 
Ward Councillor consultation was carried out in March 2019, and they were further updated with scheme 
progress in July and August 2020. Feedback from the Housing Options and Partnerships team and that we 
should provide the greatest need, which was and remain for rented accommodation. This scheme is to 
provide rented homes to people on the housing waiting list, let at affordable rent levels.  

 
During the planning application process, one public comment was received.  
 
  
Findings   
  
How does your decision affect those of:  
  
• Different Ages: Admission for new residents to the scheme will be by objective eligibility criteria, which 

will be operated by the Housing Solutions team, who undertake property allocations for the Council to 
ensure that the properties are let to those in housing need. These properties are designed for families, 
couples and single people. There will be no loss of existing provision for other client groups as a result 
of this project. BCP Council’s Housing Solutions Team will work with the existing tenants that reside in 
Craven Court to find alternative more suitable accommodation that is within the affordable housing 
tenure elsewhere. Most importantly, existing tenants of Craven Court will also be compensated under a 
Home Loss Payment and a Disturbance Payment, subject to regulations, for any inconvenience 
caused for moving to alternative accommodation. Existing Tenants of Craven Court will also be given 
first right of refusal to move back into the completed development. It is found that the majority of 
existing tenants are senior and thus this new development will be designed by meeting these 
standards to accommodate for all types of need. The Council is actively providing category 2 
(equivalent to Lifetime Homes) &3 (wheelchair housing) (silver and gold) dwellings on other schemes in 
the conurbation.  

• Disability: Properties will be constructed to Building Control Approved Document Part M category1 
(Access to and use of buildings- also to be referred to in future reports as the bronze standard.). This 
means that the new flats designed will meet wheelchair accessible standards.  The constrained nature 
of the site and the need for high dwelling density to make the site viable prevents the Council achieving 
the alternative categories.  

• Sex/ Gender Reassignment/ Pregnancy and Maternity/ Marriage and Civil/ Race/ Religion or 
Belief/ Sexual Orientation/ Armed Forces Community and any other factors/ groups: Properties 
will be eligible for all eligible applicants on the housing register. No issues regarding these 
characteristics have been identified but this factor will be considered along with any service user 
identified needs.  

• Human Rights: Will facilitate Article 11 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural 
Rights – the right of everyone to adequate standard of living for themselves and their family, including 

261



   
 

   
 

adequate food, clothing and housing. No human rights have been identified but these factors will be 
considered/ monitored along with any service users identified needs.  
  

 
Conclusion  
  
This proposal does not introduce new changes to policy or services; however, it does intend to create new 
residential homes. Existing residents will need to decant however they will be given monetary 
compensation for any inconvenience caused and will be helped by the Council to obtain a new affordable 
housing property. Once the new development at Craven Court is completed, the existing tenants of Craven 
Court will be first right of refusal to move back into the new development  Also, the development is 
restricted to provide 1 and 2 bed flats only however the Housing Delivery Team are providing larger sized 
houses elsewhere in the conurbation. The identification of housing need for specific client groups within 
the neighbourhood will be monitored as part of the ongoing Housing Strategy process. The benefits of the 
proposal include: 
 
1. Providing 24 apartments within the affordable housing tenure Increasing the number of units on site by 

6 affordable homes. 
 

2. These homes will help towards meeting imminent new Local Plan housing targets and will also 
contribute significantly to unmet housing need.  

 
3. Development of a new building, as there is a need to demolish an existing building considered at the 

end of its useful life.  
 
4. The new homes provided will be designed and built to a better standard than currently.  
 
5. All homes will be built to the highest sustainability standards delivered through the excellent fabric first 

and airtightness approach (designed in this case to accommodate the principles of Passivhaus).  
 
6. Decreasing the numbers of households on the Council’s Housing Waiting List.  

 
7. Benefiting singles/couples/families which are either homeless or they may live in unsuitable or under/ 

over occupied housing. 
 

8. Increasing job opportunities within the construction sector during the construction phase of the 
development. 
 

9. Generating a long-term surplus income to the Housing Revenue Account.  
 

The only issue identified with this propose new development, is that it is designed for a mix of 1 and 2 bed 
flats only. These flats can be accommodated by single people, couples and families. Although there is a 
limited amount of larger family accommodation on this site, this can be offset by the delivery of a variety of 
larger housing on other sites across the Conurbation. Also, it is worthwhile highlighting that one and two 
bed flats can be more suitable for those occupying larger properties than they need. These persons may 
consider downsizing from larger properties into 1 and 2 bed properties thus freeing up potentially larger 
family houses in the area which contributes to providing a wider mix of properties across the conurbation. 
The identification of housing need for specific client groups within the neighbourhood will be monitored as 
part of the ongoing Housing Strategy process.    
  
  
  

262



   
 

   
 

Equality Impact Assessment: Report and EIA Action Plan  
  

  
Equality Impact Assessment Action Plan  
  
Please complete this Action Plan for any negative or unknown impacts identified above. Use the table from the Capturing Evidence form to 
assist.  
  
Issue identified  Action required to reduce impact  Timescale  Responsible officer  

The properties are designed 
for families, couples, single 
people – a mix of 1 and 2 bed 
flats.  

As a consequence of no 3 or 4 bed 
housing provision on this site, impact 
can be offset by delivery of homes 
elsewhere within the BCP area.  
 
One and two bed flats can be more 
suitable for those occupying larger 
properties than they need. 
Subsequent downsizing will free up 
larger family houses.  
 
The identification of housing need for 
specific client groups within the 
neighbourhood will be monitored as 
part of the ongoing Housing Strategy 
process.  
 
 

 Ongoing   Affordable Housing and Resettlement Manager.  

  
  
 

263



1

2

Knyveton Road
EXISTING DROPPED

KERB WIDENED

EXISTING ENTRANCED

REMOVED AND BOUNDARY

WALL EXTENDED

LIVING

U3

1 bed-54m2

WMBINS
KITCHEN

TRAYS

FF

CUP'D

BATH

BED 1

DINING

B/C

F/F

WM

TRA
YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

B/C

F/F

WM

TR
A

YS

BED 2

CUP'D
BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING
LIVING

1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REC

YC
LIN

G

WM

BINS

TRAYS

FF

BED 1

WET ROOM

SERVICE
Cup'd

Lobby

BED 1

BED 2

WET ROOM

CUP'D

B/C

F/F

TRA
YS WM

CUP'D

DINING
LIVING

KITCHEN

LIVING

DINING

B/C

BATH

U5

2 bed-66m2U1

2 bed-83m2

Bin Store-21m2

U2

1 bed-72m2

U4

2 bed-68m2

CUP'D

CUP'D Mobility
 Scooter

Store

Plant
32m2

LIVING

U3

1 bed-54m2

WMBINS
KITCHEN

TRAYS

FF

CUP'D

BATH

BED 1

DINING

B/C

F/F

WM

TRA
YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

B/C

F/F

WM

TR
A

YS

BED 2

CUP'D
BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING
LIVING

WM

BINS

TRAYS

FF

BED 1

WET ROOM

SERVICE
Cup'd

Lobby

BED 1

BED 2

WET ROOM

CUP'D

B/C

F/F

TRA
YS WM

CUP'D

DINING
LIVING

KITCHEN

LIVING

DINING

B/C

BATH

U5

2 bed-66m2U1

2 bed-83m2

Bin Store-21m2

U2

1 bed-72m2

U4

2 bed-68m2

CUP'D

CUP'D Mobility
 Scooter

Store

Plant
32m2

1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REC

YC
LIN

G

LIVING

U3

1 bed-54m2

WMBINS
KITCHEN

TRAYS

FF

CUP'D

BATH

BED 1

DINING

B/C

F/F

WM

TRA
YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

B/C

F/F

WM

TR
A

YS

BED 2

CUP'D
BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING
LIVING

WM

BINS

TRAYS

FF

BED 1

WET ROOM

SERVICE
Cup'd

Lobby

BED 1

BED 2

WET ROOM

CUP'D

B/C

F/F

TRA
YS WM

CUP'D

DINING
LIVING

KITCHEN

LIVING

DINING

B/C

BATH

U5

2 bed-66m2U1

2 bed-83m2

Bin Store-21m2

U2

1 bed-72m2

U4

2 bed-68m2

CUP'D

CUP'D Mobility
 Scooter

Store

Plant
32m2

1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REC

YC
LIN

G

LIVING

U3

1 bed-54m2

WMBINS
KITCHEN

TRAYS

FF

CUP'D

BATH

BED 1

DINING

B/C

F/F

WM

TRA
YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

B/C

F/F

WM

TR
A

YS

BED 2

CUP'D
BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING
LIVING

WM

BINS

TRAYS

FF

BED 1

WET ROOM

SERVICE
Cup'd

Lobby

BED 1

BED 2

WET ROOM

CUP'D

B/C

F/F

TRA
YS WM

CUP'D

DINING
LIVING

KITCHEN

LIVING

DINING

B/C

BATH

U5

2 bed-66m2U1

2 bed-83m2

Bin Store-21m2

U2

1 bed-72m2

U4

2 bed-68m2

CUP'D

CUP'D Mobility
 Scooter

Store

Plant
32m2

1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REC

YC
LIN

G

LIVING

U3

1 bed-54m2

WMBINS
KITCHEN

TRAYS

FF

CUP'D

BATH

BED 1

DINING

B/C

F/F

WM

TRA
YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

B/C

F/F

WM

TR
A

YS

BED 2

CUP'D
BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING
LIVING

WM

BINS

TRAYS

FF

BED 1

WET ROOM

SERVICE
Cup'd

Lobby

BED 1

BED 2

WET ROOM

CUP'D

B/C

F/F

TRA
YS WM

CUP'D

DINING
LIVING

KITCHEN

LIVING

DINING

B/C

BATH

U5

2 bed-66m2U1

2 bed-83m2

Bin Store-21m2

U2

1 bed-72m2

U4

2 bed-68m2

CUP'D

CUP'D Mobility
 Scooter

Store

Plant
32m2

1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REC

YC
LIN

G

3

4
56789

E

V

 
C

H

A

R

G

I
N

G

 
B

A

Y

E

V

 
C

H

A

R

G

I
N

G

 
B

A

Y

10m @ 1:100

Knyveton Road

A
nnerley

Road

Knyveton Road

A
nnerley

Road

SITE PLAN
SCALE 1:200
BASED ON  LDS
SURVEY INFORMATION DATED FEB 2019

NOTES
1 The contents of this drawing are copyright.

2 Scaled drawings for planning purposes only.

3 Contractors must verify all dimensions and report any discrepancies
   before putting work in hand or making any shop drawings.

4 All flat roofs to be fitted with a man safe system.

5 Please note a domestic sprinkler system maybe required

6 Fixed shut fire safety glass windows may be required where windows are in close
proximity to boundaries (subject to building regulations)

9083/200

AS SHOWN @ A1

MAY 2019

Revision.No. bydate

date

scale

drawn

checked

AE

SITE, BLOCK & LOCATION PLANS

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT,
CRAVEN COURT,
8 KNYVETON ROAD,
BOURNEMOUTH,
DORSET,
BH1 4PA.

SITE BOUNDARY

ARC Architecture ltd.

Chapel Studios, 14 Purewell,

Tel:             +44 (0 )1202 479919

Christchurch, Dorset, BH23 1EP

E-mail:        enquiries@andersrobertscheer.co.uk

Web:          www.andersrobertscheer.co.uk

LEGEND 

EXISTING BUILDING TO BE DEMOLISHED

PROPOSED PLANTING

BLOCK PLAN
SCALE 1:500
BASED ON O.S INFORMATION
O.S LICENCE NUMBER 100007080

LOCATION PLAN
SCALE 1:1250
BASED ON O.S INFORMATION
O.S LICENCE NUMBER 100007080

9 PARKING SPACES (UNALLOCATED)
24 CYCLE SPACES

PROPOSED GIA:- 1913 SQM / 20591.34 SQFT

SITE AREA: 0.1479 HECTARES / 0.3655 ACRES

10 X 1 BED APARTMENTS
14 X 2 BED APARTMENTS
TOTAL UNITS = 24

A

A GENERAL UPDATES 30/04/19 AE

B

CS

B GENERAL UPDATES 08.05.19 TC
C SITE ENTRANCE  ANNOTATION UPDATED 03/06/19 AE

C

D CLIENT COMMENTS 11/05/19 AE

D

E CLIENT COMMENTS 05/06/19 AE

E

F CLIENT COMMENTS 30/06/19 AE

F

G PLANNERS COMMENTS 28/01/21 AE

G

H LANDSCAPING AMENDED 04/02/21 AE

H

I PARKING NOTE UPDATED 09/02/21 AE

I

264

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
TrHt:45.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
TrHt:52.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
TrHt:42.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
TrHt:51.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
TrHt:48.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
TrHt:46.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
TrHt:48.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
TrHt:49.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
TrHt:49.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
TrHt:49.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
TrHt:42.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
TrHt:50.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
TrHt:48.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
TrHt:49.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
GY:36.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
GY:36.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
GY:36.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
PINE Spread:7 Diam:0.25 

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
PINE Spread:9 Diam:0.3 

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
PINE Spread:10 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
PINE Spread:7 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
PINE Spread:8 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
PINE Spread:15 Diam:0.4 

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
PINE Spread:8 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
LAUREL Spread:5 Diam:0.15 

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
UNK Spread:4 Diam:0.12 

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
PINE Spread:8 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
UNK Spread:5 Diam:0.2 

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
PINE Spread:13 Diam:0.5 

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
PINE Spread:4 Diam:0.15 

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
PINE Spread:6 Diam:0.2 

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
PINE Spread:19 Diam:0.45 

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
PINE Spread:9 Diam:0.4 

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
UNK Spread:12 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
S BIRCH Spread:6 Diam:0.2 

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
GRIT BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
91675mN

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
TrHt:45.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
TrHt:52.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
TrHt:42.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
TrHt:51.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
TrHt:48.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
TrHt:46.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
TrHt:48.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
TrHt:49.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
TrHt:49.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
TrHt:49.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
TrHt:42.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
TrHt:50.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
TrHt:48.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
TrHt:49.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
GY:36.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
GY:36.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
GY:36.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
PINE Spread:7 Diam:0.25 

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
PINE Spread:9 Diam:0.3 

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
PINE Spread:10 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
PINE Spread:7 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
PINE Spread:8 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
PINE Spread:15 Diam:0.4 

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
PINE Spread:8 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
LAUREL Spread:5 Diam:0.15 

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
UNK Spread:4 Diam:0.12 

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
PINE Spread:8 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
UNK Spread:5 Diam:0.2 

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
PINE Spread:13 Diam:0.5 

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
PINE Spread:4 Diam:0.15 

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
PINE Spread:6 Diam:0.2 

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
PINE Spread:19 Diam:0.45 

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
PINE Spread:9 Diam:0.4 

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
UNK Spread:12 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
S BIRCH Spread:6 Diam:0.2 

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
GRIT BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
91675mN

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
14



LIVING

U3
1 bed-54m2

WM
BINS

KITCHENTRAYS

FF

CUP'D

BATH

BED 1

DINING

B/C

F/F

WM

TRA
YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

B/C

F/F

WM

TR
A

YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

1100L
RECYCLING

1100L
RECYCLING

1100L
RECYCLING

1100L
RECYCLING

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REC

YC
LIN

G

WM

BINS

TRAYS

FF

BED 1

WET ROOM

SERVICE
Cup'd

Lobby
BED 1 BED 2

WET ROOM

CUP'D

B/C

F/F

TRA
YS

WM

CUP'D

DINING
LIVING

KITCHEN

LIVING

DINING

B/C

BATH

U5
2 bed-66m2

U1
2 bed-93m2

Bin Store-21m2

U2
1 bed-72m2

U4
2 bed-68m2

CUP'D

CUP'D

Mobility
 Scooter

Store

Plant
32m2

Enclosure to be of fire-resisting construction
with self closing doors and automatic fire
detection. Location subject to a detailed risk

10m @ 1:100

B/C

F/F

WM

TR
A

YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

B/C

F/F

WM

TRA
YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

B/C

F/F

WM

TR
A

YS

CUP'D

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

LIVING

U9
1 bed-54m2

WM
BINS

KITCHENTRAYS

FF

CUP'D

BATH

BED 1

DINING

LIVING

U8
1 bed-54m2

WM
BINS

KITCHEN TRAYS

FF

CUP'D

BATH

BED 1

DINING

BED 2

BED 1

BED 1

LIVING
DINING

WM

SERVICE
Cup'd

BED 1

CUP'D
TRAYS

B/C

F/F

BATH

BATHBATH

BATH

BATH

CUP'D

U6
2 bed-64m2

U7
1 bed-50m2

U10
2 bed-68m2

U11
2 bed-66m2

U12
2 bed-69m2

BIN
S

TRA
YS

FF

C
up

'd

SERVICE
Cup'd

BATH

DINING

BED 1

CUP'D

BATH

DINING

BED 1

CUP'D
BATH

BED 1

BED 2

LIVING
DINING

CUP'D

KITCHEN

BATH

BED 2

LIVING
DINING

CUP'D

KITCHEN

BED 2

F/FB/C

TR
A

YS

CUP'D

Smoke
vent

CUP'D

LIVING

KITCHEN

DINING

BED 1

CUP'D

U20
2 bed-74m2

U21
1 bed-56m2

U22
1 bed-56m2

U23
2 bed-74m2

U24
2 bed-69m2

BATH

Roof
Access
Hatch

B/C

F/F

WM

TR
A

YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

B/C

F/F

WM

TRA
YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

B/C

F/F

WM

TR
A

YS

CUP'D

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

LIVING

WM
BINS

KITCHENTRAYS

FF

CUP'D

BATH

BED 1

DINING

LIVING

WM
BINS

KITCHEN TRAYS

FF

CUP'D

BATH

BED 1

DINING

BED 2

BED 1

BED 1

LIVING
DINING

WM

SERVICE
Cup'd

BED 1

CUP'D
TRAYS

B/C

F/F

BATH

BATHBATH

BATH

BATH

CUP'D

BIN
S

TRA
YS

FF

U16
1 bed-54m2

U15
1 bed-54m2

U13
2 bed-64m2

U14
1 bed-50m2

U17
2 bed-68m2

U18
2 bed-66m2

U19
2 bed-69m2

C
up

'd

Accommodation schedule
LEVEL UNIT NO. BEDROOMS GIA m² GIAft²

GROUND 1 2 93 1001.042700
GROUND 2 1 72 775.000800
GROUND 3 1 54 581.250600
GROUND 4 2 68 731.945200
GROUND 5 2 66 710.417400
GROUND FLOOR TOTALS 8 353 3799.656700

FIRST 6 2 64 688.889600
FIRST 7 1 50 538.195000
FIRST 8 1 54 581.250600
FIRST 9 1 54 581.250600
FIRST 10 2 68 731.945200
FIRST 11 2 66 710.417400
FIRST 12 2 69 742.709100
FIRST FLOOR TOTALS 11 425 4574.657500

SECOND 13 2 64 688.889600
SECOND 14 1 50 538.195000
SECOND 15 1 54 581.250600
SECOND 16 1 54 581.250600
SECOND 17 2 68 731.945200
SECOND 18 2 66 710.417400
SECOND 19 2 69 742.709100
SECOND FLOOR TOTALS 11 425 4574.657500

THIRD 20 2 74 796.528600
THIRD 21 1 56 602.778400
THIRD 22 1 56 602.778400
THIRD 23 2 74 796.528600
THIRD 24 2 69 742.709100
THIRD FLOOR TOTALS 8 329 3541.323100

OVERALL TOTALS 38 1532 16490.294800

ANCILLARY AREAS
GROUND BIKE STORE 32 344.444800
GROUND BIN STORE 21 226.041900
GROUND PLANT 32 344.444800
GROUND STORAGE UNITS 33 355.208700

TOTAL GIA (INC CIRCULATION, BINS AND BIKES) 1913 20591.340700

13 x APARTMENT
STORAGE UNITS -

(1.2x1.8m)
34m2

Bike Store-32m2

NOTES
1 The contents of this drawing are copyright.

2 Scaled drawings for planning purposes only.

3 Contractors must verify all dimensions and report any discrepancies
   before putting work in hand or making any shop drawings.

4 All flat roofs to be fitted with a man safe system.

5 Please note a domestic sprinkler system maybe required

6 Fixed shut fire safety glass windows may be required where windows are in close
proximity to boundaries (subject to building regulations)

9083/201

AS SHOWN @ A1

MAY 2019

Revision.No. bydate

date

scale

drawn

checked

AE

PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT,
CRAVEN COURT,
8 KNYVETON ROAD,
BOURNEMOUTH,
DORSET,
BH1 4PA.

ARC Architecture ltd.

Chapel Studios, 14 Purewell,

Tel:             +44 (0 )1202 479919

Christchurch, Dorset, BH23 1EP

E-mail:        enquiries@andersrobertscheer.co.uk

Web:          www.andersrobertscheer.co.uk

LEGEND 

PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:100

PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:100

PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:100

PROPOSED THIRD FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:100

PROPOSED SUB BASEMENT PLAN
SCALE 1:100

A

A GENERAL UPDATES 08/05/19 TC
B GENERAL UPDATES 03/06/19 AE

B C

C CLIENT AMENDMENTS 08/05/20 AE
D CLIENT AMENDMENTS 05/06/20 AE

D

E CLIENT AMENDMENTS 30/06/20 AE

E

F PLANNERS COMMENTS 14/12/20 KU

F

G PLANNERS COMMENTS 28/12/20 KU

G

N

H THIRD FLOOR PLAN UPDATED 03/02/21 KU

H

265



RUSTIC BUFF BRICKWORK

GREY FRAMED DOUBLE GLAZED
WINDOWS AND DOORS

GLASS BALUSTRADE

RECON STONE LINTELS

DARK GREY FIBRE CEMENT CLADDING

GREY TIMBER/ TIMBER EFFECT
FIXED CLADDING BOARD

10m @ 1:100

RUSTIC BUFF BRICKWORK

GREY FRAMED DOUBLE GLAZED
WINDOWS AND DOORS

RECON STONE LINTELS

DARK GREY FIBRE CEMENT CLADDING

GREY TIMBER/ TIMBER EFFECT
FIXED CLADDING BOARD

RUSTIC BUFF BRICKWORK

GREY FRAMED DOUBLE GLAZED
WINDOWS AND DOORS

RECON STONE LINTELS

RUSTIC BUFF BRICKWORK

GREY TIMBER/ TIMBER EFFECT
FIXED CLADDING BOARD

RUSTIC BUFF BRICKWORK

GREY FRAMED DOUBLE GLAZED
WINDOWS AND DOORS

RECON STONE LINTELS

GREY TIMBER/ TIMBER EFFECT
FIXED CLADDING BOARD

NOTES
1 The contents of this drawing are copyright.

2 Scaled drawings for planning purposes only.

3 Contractors must verify all dimensions and report any discrepancies
   before putting work in hand or making any shop drawings.

4 All flat roofs to be fitted with a man safe system.

5 Please note a domestic sprinkler system maybe required

6 Fixed shut fire safety glass windows may be required where windows are in close
proximity to boundaries (subject to building regulations)

9083/202

AS SHOWN @ A1

Revision.No. bydate

date

scale

drawn

checked

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT,
CRAVEN COURT,
8 KNYVETON ROAD,
BOURNEMOUTH,
DORSET,
BH1 4PA.

ARC Architecture ltd.

Chapel Studios, 14 Purewell,

Tel:             +44 (0 )1202 479919

Christchurch, Dorset, BH23 1EP

E-mail:        enquiries@andersrobertscheer.co.uk

Web:          www.andersrobertscheer.co.uk

LEGEND 

MATERIALS SCHEDULE

ROOF: GREY SINGLE PLY MEMBRANE

WINDOWS: GREY WINDOWS

PROPOSED SOUTH ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

PROPOSED EAST ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

PROPOSED WEST ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

EXISTING BUILDING TO BE DEMOLISHED

GREY TIMBER/ TIMBER EFFECT
FIXED CLADDING BOARD

WALLS:

BUFF BRICK

MAY 2019 AE

A

A GENERAL UPDATES 08/05/19 TC

EXISTING GROUND LEVELS

B LEGEND UPDATED 03/06/19 AE

B

C CLIENT COMMENTS 05/06/20 AE

C

D CLIENT COMMENTS 30/06/20 AE

D

E PLANNERS COMMENTS 14/12/20 KU

E

F PLANNERS COMMENTS 28/12/21 KU

F

266



10m @ 1:100

NOTES
1 The contents of this drawing are copyright.

2 Scaled drawings for planning purposes only.

3 Contractors must verify all dimensions and report any discrepancies
   before putting work in hand or making any shop drawings.

4 All flat roofs to be fitted with a man safe system.

5 Please note a domestic sprinkler system maybe required

6 Fixed shut fire safety glass windows may be required where windows are in close
proximity to boundaries (subject to building regulations)

9083/203

AS SHOWN @ A1

APRIL 2019

Revision.No. bydate

date

scale

drawn

checked

AE

PROPOSED STREET ELEVATION

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT,
CRAVEN COURT,
8 KNYVETON ROAD,
BOURNEMOUTH,
DORSET,
BH1 4PA.

ARC Architecture ltd.

Chapel Studios, 14 Purewell,

Tel:             +44 (0 )1202 479919

Christchurch, Dorset, BH23 1EP

E-mail:        enquiries@andersrobertscheer.co.uk

Web:          www.andersrobertscheer.co.uk

LEGEND 

OUTLINE OF EXISTING BUILDING TO BE
DEMOLISHED

PROPOSED STREET ELEVATION FOR INDICATIVE PURPOSES ONLY
SCALE 1:100

A

A CLIENT COMMENTS 05/06/20 AE

B CLIENT COMMENTS 30/06/20 AE

B

C PLANNERS COMMENTS 14/12/20 KU

C

D PLANNERS COMMENTS 28/01/21 AE

D

267



Area of roof dedicated for PV's

Roof
Access
Hatch

Smoke
vent

Lift overun

10m @ 1:100

1

2

Knyveton Road
EXISTING DROPPED

KERB WIDENED

EXISTING ENTRANCED

REMOVED AND BOUNDARY

WALL EXTENDED

LIVING

U3

1 bed-54m2

WMBINS
KITCHEN

TRAYS

FF

CUP'D

BATH

BED 1

DINING

B/C

F/F

WM

TRA
YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

B/C

F/F

WM

TR
A

YS

BED 2

CUP'D
BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING
LIVING

1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REC

YC
LIN

G

WM

BINS

TRAYS

FF

BED 1

WET ROOM

SERVICE
Cup'd

Lobby

BED 1

BED 2

WET ROOM

CUP'D

B/C

F/F

TRA
YS WM

CUP'D

DINING
LIVING

KITCHEN

LIVING

DINING

B/C

BATH

U5

2 bed-66m2U1

2 bed-83m2

Bin Store-21m2

U2

1 bed-72m2

U4

2 bed-68m2

CUP'D

CUP'D Mobility
 Scooter

Store

Plant
32m2

LIVING

U3

1 bed-54m2

WMBINS
KITCHEN

TRAYS

FF

CUP'D

BATH

BED 1

DINING

B/C

F/F

WM

TRA
YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

B/C

F/F

WM

TR
A

YS

BED 2

CUP'D
BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING
LIVING

WM

BINS

TRAYS

FF

BED 1

WET ROOM

SERVICE
Cup'd

Lobby

BED 1

BED 2

WET ROOM

CUP'D

B/C

F/F

TRA
YS WM

CUP'D

DINING
LIVING

KITCHEN

LIVING

DINING

B/C

BATH

U5

2 bed-66m2U1

2 bed-83m2

Bin Store-21m2

U2

1 bed-72m2

U4

2 bed-68m2

CUP'D

CUP'D Mobility
 Scooter

Store

Plant
32m2

1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REC

YC
LIN

G

LIVING

U3

1 bed-54m2

WMBINS
KITCHEN

TRAYS

FF

CUP'D

BATH

BED 1

DINING

B/C

F/F

WM

TRA
YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

B/C

F/F

WM

TR
A

YS

BED 2

CUP'D
BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING
LIVING

WM

BINS

TRAYS

FF

BED 1

WET ROOM

SERVICE
Cup'd

Lobby

BED 1

BED 2

WET ROOM

CUP'D

B/C

F/F

TRA
YS WM

CUP'D

DINING
LIVING

KITCHEN

LIVING

DINING

B/C

BATH

U5

2 bed-66m2U1

2 bed-83m2

Bin Store-21m2

U2

1 bed-72m2

U4

2 bed-68m2

CUP'D

CUP'D Mobility
 Scooter

Store

Plant
32m2

1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REC

YC
LIN

G

LIVING

U3

1 bed-54m2

WMBINS
KITCHEN

TRAYS

FF

CUP'D

BATH

BED 1

DINING

B/C

F/F

WM

TRA
YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

B/C

F/F

WM

TR
A

YS

BED 2

CUP'D
BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING
LIVING

WM

BINS

TRAYS

FF

BED 1

WET ROOM

SERVICE
Cup'd

Lobby

BED 1

BED 2

WET ROOM

CUP'D

B/C

F/F

TRA
YS WM

CUP'D

DINING
LIVING

KITCHEN

LIVING

DINING

B/C

BATH

U5

2 bed-66m2U1

2 bed-83m2

Bin Store-21m2

U2

1 bed-72m2

U4

2 bed-68m2

CUP'D

CUP'D Mobility
 Scooter

Store

Plant
32m2

1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REC

YC
LIN

G

LIVING

U3

1 bed-54m2

WMBINS
KITCHEN

TRAYS

FF

CUP'D

BATH

BED 1

DINING

B/C

F/F

WM

TRA
YS

BED 2

CUP'D

BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING

LIVING

B/C

F/F

WM

TR
A

YS

BED 2

CUP'D
BED 1

KITCHEN

DINING
LIVING

WM

BINS

TRAYS

FF

BED 1

WET ROOM

SERVICE
Cup'd

Lobby

BED 1

BED 2

WET ROOM

CUP'D

B/C

F/F

TRA
YS WM

CUP'D

DINING
LIVING

KITCHEN

LIVING

DINING

B/C

BATH

U5

2 bed-66m2U1

2 bed-83m2

Bin Store-21m2

U2

1 bed-72m2

U4

2 bed-68m2

CUP'D

CUP'D Mobility
 Scooter

Store

Plant
32m2

1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING
1100L

RECYCLING

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REFUSE

1100L
REC

YC
LIN

G

3

4
56789

E

V

 
C

H

A

R

G

I
N

G

 
B

A

Y

E

V

 
C

H

A

R

G

I
N

G

 
B

A

Y

NOTES
1 The contents of this drawing are copyright.

2 Scaled drawings for planning purposes only.

3 Contractors must verify all dimensions and report any discrepancies
   before putting work in hand or making any shop drawings.

4 All flat roofs to be fitted with a man safe system.

5 Please note a domestic sprinkler system maybe required

6 Fixed shut fire safety glass windows may be required where windows are in close
proximity to boundaries (subject to building regulations)

9083/206

AS SHOWN @ A1

Revision.No. bydate

date

scale

drawn

checked

SUDs and Roof Plans

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT,
CRAVEN COURT,
8 KNYVETON ROAD,
BOURNEMOUTH,
DORSET,
BH1 4PA.

ARC Architecture ltd.

Chapel Studios, 14 Purewell,

Tel:             +44 (0 )1202 479919

Christchurch, Dorset, BH23 1EP

E-mail:        enquiries@andersrobertscheer.co.uk

Web:          www.andersrobertscheer.co.uk

LEGEND 

MAINTENANCE WHEN TO BE CARRIED OUT

TYPICAL MAINTENANCE PLAN

· INSPECTION OF INLETS & OUTLETS
· REMOVAL OF LITTER
· GRASS CUTTING

· REMOVAL OF SILT AROUND COMPONENTS
· REMOVAL OF VEGETATION AROUND
 COMPONENTS

MONTHLY

ANNUALLY

DRAINAGE

SITE BOUNDARY

A

A GENERAL UPDATES 30/04/19 AE

MAY 2019 AE

B

B GENERAL UPDATES 08.05.19 TC
C CLIENT COMMENTS 05.06.20 AE

C

D CLIENT COMMENTS 30.06.20 AE

D

E PLANNERS COMMENTS 28.01.21 AE

E

SUDs PLAN
SCALE 1:200
BASED ON  LDS
SURVEY INFORMATION DATED FEB 2019

ROOF PLAN
SCALE 1:100

F

F ROOF PLAN ADDED 04.02.21 AE

268

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
TrHt:45.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
TrHt:52.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
TrHt:42.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
TrHt:51.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
TrHt:48.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
TrHt:46.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
TrHt:48.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
TrHt:49.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
TrHt:49.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
TrHt:49.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
TrHt:42.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
TrHt:50.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
TrHt:48.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
TrHt:49.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
GY:36.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
GY:36.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
GY:36.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
PINE Spread:7 Diam:0.25 

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
PINE Spread:9 Diam:0.3 

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
PINE Spread:10 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
PINE Spread:7 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
PINE Spread:8 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
PINE Spread:15 Diam:0.4 

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
PINE Spread:8 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
LAUREL Spread:5 Diam:0.15 

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
UNK Spread:4 Diam:0.12 

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
PINE Spread:8 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
UNK Spread:5 Diam:0.2 

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
PINE Spread:13 Diam:0.5 

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
PINE Spread:4 Diam:0.15 

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
PINE Spread:6 Diam:0.2 

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
PINE Spread:19 Diam:0.45 

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
PINE Spread:9 Diam:0.4 

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
UNK Spread:12 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
S BIRCH Spread:6 Diam:0.2 

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
GRIT BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
91675mN

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
TrHt:45.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
TrHt:52.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
TrHt:42.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
TrHt:51.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
TrHt:48.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
TrHt:46.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
TrHt:48.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
TrHt:49.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
TrHt:49.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
TrHt:49.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
TrHt:42.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
TrHt:50.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
TrHt:48.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
TrHt:49.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
GY:36.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
GY:36.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
GY:36.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
PINE Spread:7 Diam:0.25 

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
PINE Spread:9 Diam:0.3 

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
PINE Spread:10 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
PINE Spread:7 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
PINE Spread:8 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
PINE Spread:15 Diam:0.4 

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
PINE Spread:8 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
LAUREL Spread:5 Diam:0.15 

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
UNK Spread:4 Diam:0.12 

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
PINE Spread:8 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
UNK Spread:5 Diam:0.2 

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
PINE Spread:13 Diam:0.5 

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
PINE Spread:4 Diam:0.15 

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
PINE Spread:6 Diam:0.2 

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
PINE Spread:19 Diam:0.45 

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
PINE Spread:9 Diam:0.4 

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
UNK Spread:12 Diam:0.35 

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
S BIRCH Spread:6 Diam:0.2 

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
GRIT BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
91675mN



Completed by

1

2

6

YES NO

1 YES

2 YES

3 YES

7

COMMENTSITEM

The tender will contain a designers risk 
assessment highlighting any project 
specific risks to the contractors tendering 
for the work. A Construction Phase Health 
and Safety Plan including risk assessments 
and method statements will be submitted 
before the commencement of the 
construction phase.

Risk Assessment

Evidence of competence of the Principal 
Contractor should be provided. This should 
include any sub contractors.

As part of their CDM duty the Designer will 
try where practicable to design the project 
in a manner that reduces the potential of 
this hazard.  Before construction works 
commence the Principal Contractor will be 
obliged to submit an examples of manual 
handling risk assessments.

Contractors

Manual Handling

Is this project notifiable under the CDM Regulations 2015

YES

Aspects of the project
Please see the HASAT guidance template on the 2nd tab of this document.

Health & Safety Assessment Tool

Name

Business Unit

Date

Claire Lynch

Housing Develoment

08th September 2020

Please save this document to your computer and complete by entering your responses in the boxes 
provided. Information about the  HASAT is available on BIZ within the Corporate H&S pages.   

Development at Craven Court, 8-10 Knyveton Road, Bournemouth, BH1 3QN

 Name of Project 

Project Number

269



4 YES

5 YES

6 YES

7 YES

8 YES

9 YES

10 YES

8

As part of their CDM duty the designer will 
try where practicable to design the project 
in a manner that reduces the potential of 
this hazard. Fire service will be a consultee 
to the planning process. Fire Risk 
Assessment to be completed at practical 
completion.

Fire Safety Impacts

Accident recording

CDM Notification to the HSE

Working at Heights

As part of their CDM duty the designer will 
try where practicable to design the project 
in a manner that reduces the potential of 
this hazard.  Before construction works 
commence the the Contractor will be 
obliged to submit a Construction Phase 
Health and Safety Plan which will include a 
risk assessments and method statements 
to address this hazard. 

Before construction works commence the 
the Principal Contractor will submit their 
arragements for incident reporting. 

Employers Agent & Principle Designer - David Richards Practice. Architect  - Anders Roberts Cheer.  
Principal Contractor - TBC. Building Control - LABC

Requirement of continued monitoring

Before construction works commence the 
the Contractor will be obliged to submit 
their arrangements for continued health 
monitoring. 

The Principal Contractor will notify the HSE 
of the project and forward evidence.

Need for specialist equipment / tools

As part of their CDM duty the designer will 
try where practicable to design the project 
in a manner that reduces the potential of 
this hazard. Please forward a list of any 
specialist equipment or tools needed for 
the construction including risk 
assessments and maintenace records.

Please provide a list of all persons, who have been consulted regarding H&S for this project

The Designer will where practicable, design 
the project in a manner that reduces the 
exposure to hazardous substances. Before 
construction works commence the Principal 
Contractor will be obliged to submit 
examples of COSHH assessments for 
substances that will be used in the 
construction.

Exposure to hazardous substances

270



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Issue:  Housing Development at Craven Court, 8-10 Knyveton Road, Bournemouth, BH1 3QN 
Meeting Date:  30th December  2020. 
Accountable Manager: Lorraine Mealings, Director Housing 
Impact Assessor: Jonathan Thornton  01202 458347    jonathan.thornton@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 
Key 

 +      Balance of positive Impacts 
 ?      Balanced or unclear impacts 
 -      Balance of negative impacts 
n/a   Not applicable 

 
Impact Criteria Impact Comments 

 
Natural resources 
impact on use of natural 
resources – for example energy, 
water, raw materials 
 

- 

The redevelopment of this site will have a negative 
effect on the use of natural resources.  However, the 
existing building is in poor condition and requires 
considerable work to bring up to modern residential 
standards. Also, the tarmacadam surfacing will 
remain on site and be used as a piling mat and 
temporary site surface during the construction phase. 
This will reduce soil deposits on the adjacent 
highway and the need for washing down of vehicles 
leaving site. 
Materials from the existing building will be reclaimed 
and recycled wherever possible as part of the 
demolition works, and masonry crushed and re-used. 
The new properties will be more energy efficient 
(heating systems and insulation), so less energy will 
be required to heat the completed homes than the 
existing. 

 
Quality of environment 
contribution to safe and 
supportive environments for 
living, recreation and working 
 

+ 

A new, high quality building on this site could make a 
positive contribution to the quality of the 
environment.  The development of new homes on 
the site will improve natural surveillance of the area, 
contributing to a safer environment, particularly to the 
public footpath adjacent to the site.    
A number of trees are retained in the current scheme 
proposals and to add appropriate landscape, 
including a buffer of trees/landscaped areas between 
the proposed building and the Knyveton Road and 
also to the retained homes adjacent. 
Outside space is limited in the proposed 
development, balconies are provided where possible; 
access to the remaining open space will be available. 
The site is well located and walkable to the town 
centre of Bournemouth. 
 

Environment Impact Checklist 
for all Cabinet Reports 

 

Appendix 7 

271



 
Bio-diversity 
protects and improves wildlife 
and habitats 
 

? 

The site is currently still in use as residential use 
providing 18 flats. It is a 2-3 storey building. Existing 
trees/landscaped areas on the perimeter of the site 
(around the tarmacadam surfacing) are retained to 
ensure safety of wildlife and trees.  

 
Waste and pollution 
effects on air, land and water 
from waste and emissions 
   

- 

This redevelopment will result in intensified use of 
the site (from 18 homes to 24 homes), resulting in 
additional waste and emissions.  However, the new 
buildings will be built to high energy efficiency 
standards of Passiv Haus Principles.   

Council Priority and Objectives 
for Improving our 
Environment: 
 
 Reduce traffic congestion 
 Improve streetscene 
 Improve recycling & energy 

management 
 Respond to climate change 
 Improve quality of existing 

space 

? 

The Street scene will be greatly improved by the 
redevelopment. 
The development will be built to Passiv Haus 
Principles and will reduce carbon emissions by 22%.  

 

272



RAG rating G

Task Lead Officer No Months

A
u
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov

D
ec

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

A
pr

M
ay

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov

D
ec

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

A
pr

M
ay

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov

D
ec

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

A
pr

M
ay

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov

D
ec

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

A
pr

M
ay

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov

D
ec

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

Architect Appointment 
N/A 1

Scheme transfer to HRA lead scheme
N/A 0

Design period
Jonathan Thornton 13

Valuations - land and property OMR and OMVs
Claire Lynch 1

Ground Investigation tender, works and report
Peter Friend 3

Ecological/tree Surveys tender, works and report
Peter Friend 3

Pre planning application
Peter Friend 1

Legal report request and searches ROT etc
Jonathan Thornton 3

Public Consultation by letter and Ward Councillor Consultation
Peter Friend 4

Employers Agent appointment
Jonathan Thornton 1

Planning application period
Peter Friend 4

Seek BCP approvals (CMB, Cabinet, Council) for appropriation of land 
and spend

Peter Friend/Claire Lynch 3

Main Contractor Procurement Tender exercise
Peter Friend/Claire Lynch 3

Mobilisation
Main Contractor 2

Construction Phase
Main Contractor 18

Snagging
Main Contractor 1

Handover & letting of completed units
Seamus Doran 1

Rectification Period Main Contractor 12

20242019

Craven Court. 24 new build flats

20232020 2021 2022

273



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CARBON REDUCTION STATEMENT 

 

PROJECT:  Craven Court, Knyverton Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH1 4PA 

 

CLIENT:   BCP Council 

 

PROJECT REF:  0292-1020-20_03 

 

DATE:   26 January 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

274



CARBON REDUCTION STATEMENT Craven Court, Knyverton Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH1 4PA  

2 of 13  

CONTENTS 

 

1.0 - Introduction 

 

2.0 - Energy Requirements 

 

3.0 - Energy Hierarchy 

 

4.0 - Methodology   

 

5.0 – Findings 

 

6.0 - Conclusions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

275



CARBON REDUCTION STATEMENT Craven Court, Knyverton Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH1 4PA  

3 of 13  

1.0 - INTRODUCTION 
 

The development of Craven Court consists of the 
replacement of an existing 18-unit block with an 
energy efficient new building comprising 24 units. 

As part of its commitment to reduce CO2 emissions in 
the conurbation BCP Council declared a Climate & 
Ecological Emergency in July 2019. On the back of this 
the new BCP local plan is being developed to help 
achieve a reduction in CO2 emissions in new 
developments. The existing local plan was adopted in 
October 2012 and is out-of-date1 in planning terms.  

The current Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy requires 
that all developments must have at least 10% of their 
energy demand to come from decentralised and 
renewable or low carbon sources unless this is 
demonstrated as not feasible or viable. 

The proposed development at Craven Court will be 
built to Passivhaus standards using a fabric-first 
approach that will exceed Building Regulations by a 
large margin. 

 

The purpose of this report is to show how the fabric-first Passivhaus approach will provide a significant CO2 emissions 
reduction across the development compared to the same building if it were built to current Building Regulations 
requirements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
1 Refer to Appendix A 276



CARBON REDUCTION STATEMENT Craven Court, Knyverton Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH1 4PA  

4 of 13  

2.0 - ENERGY REQUIREMENTS 
 

Energy efficiency first 

The largest proportion of energy demand of a typical dwelling built to current regulations is from space and water 
heating. It is good practice therefore to reduce the overall energy demand of a dwelling by utilising a low energy 
design approach. 

For a Passivhaus, using a fabric-first approach, the space heating demand of a dwelling is brought closer to zero due 
to the high levels of thermal insulation and air tightness. 

Low energy design involves the consideration and implementation of measures to reduce the energy requirement of 
a dwelling. This can be achieved by: 

 

• Improving levels of insulation to reduce heat loss through the fabric of the building. 

• Use of low-energy technologies, e.g. low-energy lighting, energy efficient boilers & appliances. 

• Use of passive solar design. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

277



CARBON REDUCTION STATEMENT Craven Court, Knyverton Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH1 4PA  

5 of 13  

3.0 - ENERGY HIERARCHY 

When designing a building it is advisable to follow an Energy Hierarchy. The primary aim is to make the building as 
energy efficient as possible in order to reduce the demand for energy, and thus CO2 emissions. 

Building Regulations 2013 Part L aims to reduce CO2 emissions from new buildings by 6% compared to those built to 
2010 regulations. This can be achieved by making improvements to the fabric of the building by increasing levels of 
insulation, increasing air tightness and the use of efficient heating & appliances. CO2 emissions can be further 
reduced using renewable energy sources. 

In order to reduce the regulated CO2 emissions of the proposed development the principle is to follow the energy 
hierarchy: 

 

• Use less energy – energy efficient measures, air tightness, passive solar, low energy design 

 

Use less energy 

Areas of consideration in order to improve the efficiency of the fabric of a dwelling: 

• Increased insulation to main thermal elements (roof, walls, floor, glazing) 

• Reduce thermal bridging to near-zero 

• Improved air tightness 

Other areas for improvement: 

 

• Efficient heating & hot water systems 

• Improved heating & lighting controls 

• Controlled ventilation 

• Energy efficient lighting 

• Energy efficient appliances (cooker, washing machine, fridges, etc.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

278



CARBON REDUCTION STATEMENT Craven Court, Knyverton Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH1 4PA  

6 of 13  

4.0 - METHODOLOGY 

Project Appraisal 

BCP Council impose a condition on all new dwellings that requires a 10% reduction in Energy Demand from 
renewable or low carbon sources. The 10% energy demand reduction requirement in the out-of-date Bournemouth 
Local Plan is a noble intention, but too simplistic a tool in practice.  

Under the out-of-date local plan there is no requirement for a dwelling to exceed Building Regulations, just that the 
energy demand is reduced by 10%. It is therefore possible to build an inefficient building that fails to meet Building 
Regulations Part L CO2 requirements without renewables, to then add renewables to achieve the 10% energy demand 
reduction.  

Using a fabric-first approach can achieve a decent Building Regulations pass without the need for renewables. 

The proposed development will be built to Passivhaus standard using a fabric-first approach that will greatly exceed 
Building Regulations.  

The latest Design SAP software has been used to determine CO2 emissions for the development. 

 

  

279



CARBON REDUCTION STATEMENT Craven Court, Knyverton Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH1 4PA  

7 of 13  

5.0 - FINDINGS 
 

Table 5.1 Benchmark Calculations (Base spec) 

 

Table 5.1 shows CO2 emissions of the building if built to a typical specification with electric heating. The average DER 
is 31.57 kgCO2/m2, which for Building Regulations purposes represents a -30.27% fail. 

The base spec used for the benchmark calculations is as follows: 

Walls = 0.20 W/m2K  (Building Regulations Part L limit = 0.30 W/m2K) 

Floor = 0.15 W/m2K  (Building Regulations Part L limit = 0.25 W/m2K) 

Roof = 0.20 W/m2K  (Building Regulations Part L limit = 0.20 W/m2K) 

Glazing = 1.5 W/m2K  (Building Regulations Part L limit = 1.6 W/m2K) 

Air tightness (q50) = 3.0 m³/hr/m² (Building Regulations Part L limit = 10.0 m³/hr/m²) 

 

Table 5.2 Benchmark Calculations (Base spec + PV) 

 

Table 5.2 shows CO2 emissions of the building if built to the same typical specification with electric heating, plus 
25.5kW of Solar PV to achieve a pass. The average DER is 23.96 kgCO2/m2, which for Building Regulations purposes 
represents a 0.37% pass. 

 
280



CARBON REDUCTION STATEMENT Craven Court, Knyverton Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH1 4PA  

8 of 13  

Tables 5.1 & 5.2 represent a building built to a specification that is typical in the industry today. The specification 
exceeds the limits set in Building Regulations Part L, yet still requires renewables to achieve a pass on the CO2 
emissions aspect of Part L. 

 

The fabric-first Passivhaus specification 

The proposed building will be built to Passivhaus standards, with a specification as follows: 

Walls = 0.12 W/m2K  (Building Regulations Part L limit = 0.30 W/m2K) 

Floor = 0.12 W/m2K  (Building Regulations Part L limit = 0.25 W/m2K) 

Roof = 0.12 W/m2K  (Building Regulations Part L limit = 0.20 W/m2K) 

Glazing = 0.8 W/m2K  (Building Regulations Part L limit = 1.6 W/m2K) 

Air tightness (q50) = 1.0 m³/hr/m² (Building Regulations Part L limit = 10.0 m³/hr/m²) 

 

As part of the Passivhaus specification requirement thermal bridges are largely designed out, making for an extremely 
well insulated and airtight thermal envelope. 

 

Table 5.3 Calculations (Passivhaus spec) 

 

Table 5.3 shows CO2 emissions of the building if built to the Fabric-First Passivhaus specification with electric heating. 
The average DER is 18.72 kgCO2/m2, which for Building Regulations purposes represents a 22.16% pass. 

 

  

281



CARBON REDUCTION STATEMENT Craven Court, Knyverton Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH1 4PA  

9 of 13  

Table 5.4 Calculations (Passivhaus spec + 1kW PV per dwelling) 

 

Table 5.4 shows CO2 emissions of the building if built to the Fabric-First Passivhaus specification with electric heating 
+ 1kW of solar PV per flat. The average DER is 11.56 kgCO2/m2, which for Building Regulations purposes represents a 
51.93% pass. 

  

282



CARBON REDUCTION STATEMENT Craven Court, Knyverton Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH1 4PA  

10 of 13  

CO2 EMISSIONS (TONNES/YEAR) 
Tables 5.1 – 5.4 show the following CO2 emissions reductions achieved as follows: 

 

5.1 Base Spec 

Average DER = 31.57 kgCO2/m2 

Total Floor Area (TFA) = 1503.02 m2 

Total DER x TFA = 47,450kg = 47.45 Tonnes of CO2 per year 

 

5.2 Base Spec + PV 

Total DER = 23.96 kgCO2/m2 

Total Floor Area (TFA) = 1503.02 m2 

Total DER x TFA = 36,012kg = 36.01 Tonnes of CO2 per year 

 

5.3 Passivhaus Spec 

Total DER = 18.72 kgCO2/m2 

Total Floor Area (TFA) = 1503.02 m2 

Total DER x TFA = 28,136kg = 28.14 Tonnes of CO2 per year 

 

5.4 Passivhaus Spec + 1kW PV per dwelling 

Total DER = 11.56 kgCO2/m2 

Total Floor Area (TFA) = 1503.02 m2 

Total DER x TFA = 17,375kg = 17.37 Tonnes of CO2 per year 

 

 

The Passivhaus spec, CO2 savings: 

19.31 Tonnes of CO2 per year over the Base spec. 

7.87 Tonnes of CO2 per year over the Base Spec with PV. 

 

The Passivhaus spec + 1kW PV per dwelling, CO2 savings: 

30.08 Tonnes of CO2 per year over the Base spec. 

18.64 Tonnes of CO2 per year over the Base Spec with PV. 

  

283



CARBON REDUCTION STATEMENT Craven Court, Knyverton Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH1 4PA  

11 of 13  

BUILD COSTS vs CO2 EMISSIONS. 
Estimated total build cost = £4,053,525 

Estimated cost to build to Passivhaus standard = Build cost + 10% = £4,458,878 

Estimated extra cost to install 1 kW PV equivalent to each dwelling = £20,000 

 

Building to the base spec, the building requires Solar PV to achieve Building Regulations Part L1a compliance.  

NB. The quantity of PV required to achieve a pass, however, would also satisfy BCP’s planning requirement for 10% of 
energy demand to be generated by on-site low carbon or renewable sources. 

 

Table 5.5 CO2 emissions  

Specification 
CO2 emissions  

(Tonnes) 

CO2 emissions 

over 75 years 

(Tonnes) 

Different in CO2 

emissions over 75 

years 

(Tonnes) 

CO2 emissions 

reduction 

(%) 

Base spec + PV (regs pass) 36.01 2700.9 - - 

Passivhaus spec 28.14 2110.2 590.7 21.9% 

Passivhaus spec + 1kW PV per dwelling 17.37 1303.1 1397.8 51.8% 

 

 

Base spec + PV (Building Regulations pass): 

Build cost = £4,053,525 

 

Passivhaus spec: 

Build cost = £4,458,878 

Cost increase = 10% 

CO2 emissions reduction = 21.9% 

 

Passivhaus spec + 1kW PV per dwelling: 

Build cost = £4,478,878* (*estimated extra cost for PV = £20k) 

Cost increase = 10.5% 

CO2 emissions reduction = 51.8% 

 

 

 

  
284



CARBON REDUCTION STATEMENT Craven Court, Knyverton Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH1 4PA  

12 of 13  

6.0 - CONCLUSIONS 
Although it is possible to achieve a Building Regulations Part L pass with a significant quantity of renewables (e.g. 25+ 

kW of solar PV), the CO2 emissions of the building would exceed that of the same building if built to Passivhaus 

standards. 

The metric of energy demand reduction from renewables in the out-of-date Bournemouth Local Plan, whilst worthy, 

does not provide as significant a CO2 emissions reduction as if the same building were built to the Fabric-First 

Passivhaus standard. 

If built to Passivhaus standard the development at Craven Court would produce around 22% less CO2 emissions than 

the same building if it were built to comply with Building Regulations Part L1a. 

Findings show the following CO2 emissions reductions over the Building Regulations-compliant Base Spec with PV: 

 

CO2 saving (Fabric-First Passivhaus spec) 
7.87 Tonnes of CO2 per year (590.7 tonnes over 75 years), i.e. 21.9% 

Extra cost to build to Passivhaus spec = £405,352 

Cost per tonne of CO2 over 75 years = £405,352/590.7 = £686 

 

CO2 saving (Fabric-First Passivhaus spec + 1kW PV per dwelling) 
18.64 Tonnes of CO2 per year (1397.8 tonnes over 75 years), i.e. 51.8% 

Extra cost to build to Passivhaus spec + 1kW PV = £425,352 

Cost per tonne of CO2 over 75 years = £425,352/1397.8 = £304 

 

 

ADDENDUM 

Over 75 years the Passivhaus spec + 1kW PV option would save 1397.8 tonnes of CO2. 

By comparison, a typical tree will absorb up to 1 tonne of CO2 over 100 years, which equates to around 0.75 tonnes 
over 75 years. 

A simple calculation shows that the CO2 emissions reduction provided by the Passivhaus spec + 1kW PV option is 
equivalent to planting 1864 trees. (i.e. 1397.8/0.75) 

 

 

  

285



CARBON REDUCTION STATEMENT Craven Court, Knyverton Road, Bournemouth, Dorset, BH1 4PA  

13 of 13  

APPENDIX A 

Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) [NPPF] states that:  
“Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development”. For decision-taking this means (..) where there are no 
relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the planning application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless:  

(i) The application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing 
the development proposed, or  
(ii) Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in 
this framework taken as a whole.    

 
‘Out-of-date means “that when a local authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable sites (with the appropriate buffer); or where 
the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of housing was substantially below (less than 75%) of the housing requirement over the three 
years”. In terms of the term ‘particular importance’ this includes “heritage assets which includes a building, monument, site, place, area or 
landscape identified as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest”.  
 
The Housing Delivery Test (HDT) was introduced into national policy through the NPPF. The purpose of the HDT is to monitor local authority 
housing delivery against local requirements and to ensure that measures are taken to improve delivery where required. Where housing delivery 
falls below 95% of the local requirement (over the proceeding 3 
financial years), an action plan must be prepared to identify measures to improve delivery and a buffer of 20% must be added to the 5-year 
housing land supply.   
 
The first HDT measurement was published in February 2019 and was measured against the housing requirements set out in the adopted Local Plan 
for each former local authority area. Table 1: HDT of the Housing Delivery Action Plan shows that all former local authority areas failed to meet the 
housing delivery levels of 95%. For the Bournemouth area, the housing target was for 2,353 dwellings to be development from 2015/16 to 
2017/18, with only 1,970 dwellings actually delivered thus equating to 84%. This means that outside of publishing an action plan, a 20% buffer was 
applied to the 5-year housing land supply.   
 
Of particular interest, from 2019/20 onwards the housing requirement in Bournemouth steps up hugely from 730 to 1,422 dwellings per annum 
with the transition to the government’s standard methodology. This step change in housing requirement presents a significant challenge in relation 
to housing delivery and housing land supply. The results for HDT for 2019 was recently published by the Government (February 2020) and 
Bournemouth HDT measurement is 66% (total number of homes required is 3,064 dwellings a year, and the number of homes delivered is 2,010 
dwellings) .  Although the 2020 results will be published in February 2021, it is likely that the HDT will be significantly below 75% due to COVID. 
Thus, it could be argued that the average HDT for Bournemouth is substantially less than 75% for the proceeding three years, thus the policies 
which are most important for determining the planning application are out-of-date.   
 
Five Year Housing Land Supply: 
The Bournemouth Area Strategic Land Availability Assessment (2019) [SHLAA] provides information on the land available in the local authority area. 
The SHLAA is part of the Local Plan’s evidence base and is required by the NPPF. The SHLAA should plan for a supply of specific, deliverable sites for 
years one to five of the plan period and specific, 
deliverable sites or broad locations for growth for years six to ten and where possible years 11-15 of the plan. Table 1: Sites Identified by types for 
year 1-5 (April 2019 to March 2024) of the SHLAA shows that Bournemouth can only demonstrate a land supply of 2.9 years.   
 
As stated in paragraph 9.8 of the SHLAA, due to the government’s change in approach to calculating housing need and supply, BCP Council for the 
Bournemouth area cannot demonstrate a 5-year supply against the local housing need figure derived from the 2014 Household Projections plus 
the 20% buffer required by the results of the 2018 Housing Delivery Test. “As a consequence, the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development as laid out in paragraph 11 of the NPPF now applies in the area of BCP Council covered by the Bournemouth Local Plan – Core 
Strategy”. 

286



CABINET  

 

Report subject Harmonisation of Pest Control Services 

Meeting date 14 April 2021 

Status Public Report  

Executive summary The harmonisation of BCP Council Pest Control services 
requires a policy decision on the provision of 100% fee 
subsidies that, under legacy arrangements, are offered only 
to Poole residents in receipt of qualifying benefits.  

The net additional cost of extending fee subsidies to all BCP 
Council residents in receipt of qualifying benefits is £23,500 
per annum at 100% fee subsidy and £4,200 at 50% subsidy. 
The recommendation therefore is to offer 50% subsidies to all 
residents in receipt of qualifying benefits. This would have 
less financial impact that could therefore be funded from 
within the service but would maintain subsidised pest control 
treatments for low income households.  

Whilst removing the automatic right to 100% fee subsidy in 
Poole, this recommended policy would benefit low income 
households in Bournemouth and Christchurch where, under 
legacy policies, no subsidies are offered at all. Current 
practice allows for pest treatments to be carried out at nil fee 
where no responsible person can be identified or where a 
householder is unable to fund a treatment.  

Recommendations RECOMMENDED that:- 

 (a) Pest Control services across Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole are harmonised; and 

(b) A fee subsidy of 50% for pest control treatments 
relating to rodents, fleas and bedbugs be offered to 
residents in receipt of qualifying benefits. 

287

Agenda Item 14



Reason for 
recommendations 

The removal of subsidies in Poole could result in a reduction 
in uptake of pest control treatments and hence might leave 
some residents suffering the consequences of continued 
infestations. A 50% fee subsidy is predicted to result in a 
small budget impact of £4,200 which could be funded from 
within the service and would enable all BCP Council residents 
in receipt of qualifying benefits to access significantly 
subsidised pest control services. A 100% subsidy would 
result in a budget impact of circa £23,500, which could not be 
funded from within the service. 

Portfolio Holder(s): Cllr May Haines, Portfolio Holder for Community Safety 

Corporate Director Kate Ryan, Corporate Director – Environment and 
Communities 

Contributors Kelly Ansell, Service Director - Communities  

Wards All  

Classification For Decision 
Title:  

Background  

1. The BCP Council Pest Control service is provided by 3 FTE Pest Control 

Operatives (PCO), with income for 2019/20 of £78,400 and costs (excluding 

central recharges) of £122,700.  The deficit is largely the result of fee subsidies in 

Poole, together with non-income generating services such as assistance to EHOs 

investigating pest infestations. Appendix 1 shows the charging structure adopted 

from April 2020, including current qualifying benefits for fee subsidies.  

2. Legacy Borough of Poole policy provides for 100% fee subsidy for rodent 

treatments and 50% charges for fleas and bedbugs, for residents in receipt of 

certain qualifying benefits.  As we harmonise the pest control service, a policy 

decision is required on whether to extend fee subsidies to all residents or remove 

them altogether.  All other pest control standards of service and fees were 

harmonised in April 2020.  

3. Experience in Poole suggests that fee subsidies may discourage qualifying 

residents from undertaking measures recommended by the PCOs aimed at 

preventing recurrence. 40% of subsidised treatments are repeated, compared 

with just 10% for full-charge treatments, with PCOs regularly observing failure to 

implement simple preventative measures.  

4. A recent GDPR determination by the Stour Valley & Poole Partnership (SVPP) 

requires a Request for Information Form to be completed for each customer 

where confirmation of benefits entitlement is sought. Extension of fee subsidies to 

all residents in receipt of qualifying benefits would therefore result in additional 

administrative burdens.  

288



Current Subsidies  

5. The rationale behind this practice in Poole is not known, as no policy document 

or decision record has been identified. However, no such subsidies have been 

historically or are currently offered in Bournemouth or Christchurch.  

6. Analysis of a sample of local authority pest control services across the Country 

reveals a mixed picture, with some offering various levels of subsidy, some 

offering no subsidies, and others providing no pest control services at all.  It is 

understood that Dorset Council has recently ceased its pest control service 

altogether.  

7. In 2019/20 93 (37%) of the circa 300 rodent control treatments in Poole were free 

of charge. The cost of providing subsidies in terms of lost income is circa 

£11,000. 

8. Three policy options are considered for residents in receipt of qualifying benefits: 

Nil subsidy; 100% subsidy; 50% subsidy.  

Policy Option 1: Nil subsidy for any pest control charges  

9. Lost income from the provision of current subsidies in Poole is circa £11,000. 

Assuming staff resource can be diverted to fee-earning treatments, the net saving 

would therefore be £11,000. The impact on residents would be that some would 

self-treat, whilst others may continue to suffer the impact of an infestation.  

Policy Option 2: 100% subsidy for all pest control charges  

10. The estimated cost is circa £28,500 in lost income (based on an extrapolation of 

costs in Poole to all BCP Council households). There would also be additional 

administrative costs of benefits checks of circa £5,000, raising the total cost of 

subsidies to £33,500.  Deducting the current cost of subsidies (£11,000) would 

bring the net additional cost in lost income to circa £23,500.  

Policy Option 3: 50% subsidy for all pest control charges 
 

11. Information obtained from a local authority that recently replaced 100% subsidy 

with 50% subsidy suggests that demand would fall to around 80% of demand at 

100% subsidy. This would equate to a cost of £11,200 in lost fee income at 50% 

subsidy. There would also be additional administrative costs of benefits checks of 

circa £4,000.  The additional cost would therefore be circa £15,200. Deducting 

the existing cost of subsidies (£11,000), would bring the net cost to circa £4,200.  

Summary of financial implications  

12. The net saving Option 1 (nil subsidy) is £11,000 

13. The net cost in lost income from Option 2 (100% subsidy) is £23,500. 

14. The net cost in lost income from Option 3 (50% subsidy) is £4,200.  

289



15. The service is not currently resourced to respond to predicted demand from an 

extension of 100% subsidised treatments to all residents. Hence the additional 

net costs of this option would need to be met through revenue growth.  

Summary of legal implications  

16. There is no legal duty for the Council to provide a pest control service, or to offer 

concessions where such services are provided.  There is however a wider duty to 

investigate rodent infestations and, depending on circumstances, require a 

landowner to instigate a remedy.  PCOs are integral to the delivery of this duty.  

17. Legal responsibility for removing a pest infestation can fall to the land or building 

occupier, owner, business operator or landlord, depending on the circumstances.  

Invariably it is the person deemed to be in control of the land or building who 

must take responsibility and would be the person upon whom a statutory 

enforcement notice would be served. In the case of landlords and tenants of 

residential properties, the landlord would be responsible where structural defects 

were deemed to be the cause of and infestation, and the tenant where the 

manner of living (e.g. feeding foxes) was deemed to be the cause. Experience 

suggests that social landlords within the BCP Council area generally agree to 

conduct pest treatments in most instances.   

Summary of environmental impact  

18. There is no identified environmental impact arising from the recommendation. 

Removal of the subsidy may result in residents deciding to carry out treatments 

themselves which, if poorly carried out, may pose a risk to wildlife.  

Summary of public health implications  

19. The recommended option enables all residents in receipt of relevant income 

related benefits to receive subsidised pest control treatments where there is an 

infestation, where previously subsidised treatments were available only to 

residents in Poole. It is considered therefore that fewer households overall will 

continue to endure the effects of infestations. Current practice allows for pest 

treatments to be carried out a nil fee where no responsible person can be 

identified or where a householder is unable to fund a treatment. 

Summary of equality implications  

20. Residents impacted by the recommendation will be those on lower incomes in the 

Poole locality. The recommendation would however benefit residents in 

Bournemouth and Christchurch where, under legacy arrangements, there is no 

assistance where low-income residents are experiencing public health effects 

from pest infestations. See Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment.  

290



Summary of risk assessment  

21. There is a risk with the recommended option that some low-income residents in 

Poole may be unable to fund treatments, albeit the mitigation offered will address 

any public health implications.   

22. There is a small risk to reputation if the revised policy receives adverse 

commentary in Poole.  

Background papers: None   

Appendices:   

Appendix 1: Current and legacy pest control charges  
Appendix 2: Equality Impact Assessment  

291



This page is intentionally left blank

292



                                         
      CURRENT AND LEGACY PEST CONTROL CHARGES 
                                          
        
                   PEST CONTROL CHARGES – 2020/21  
 

PEST TREATMENT 
 

CHARGE  

Rodents  
 

£98 for up to 4 visits max. 

Wasp nest  £55  
£20 for each additional nest treated 
on same visit.  
 

Fleas £70 (treat two rooms) 
£25 for each additional room treated.  
 

Bedbugs  £82 (treat two rooms) 
£25 for each additional room treated.  
 

Commercial contracts, including BCP 
Estate    

Subject to quotation.  
 
Based on an hourly rate of £78 per 
hour, during office hours. 
£117 per hour outside office hours 
 

 

 
Subsidised charges in Poole  
 
Qualifying benefits for reduced or nil fees are: 
 Income Support 
 Guaranteed Pension Credit 
 Housing Benefit 
 Council Tax Support 
 Universal Credit 
 
Rodents:  Concessionary charge – free 
Fleas:  Concessionary charge – 50% reduction 
Bed bugs: Concessionary charge - £42 per visit 
 
 
Continued 
 
 
 
 

  Bournemouth Christchurch Poole  

293



 
 
 
 
LEGACY CHARGES FOR RESIDENTS: 2019/20 

Rodents Corporate service 
only, not offered to 
residents 
 

£46 - 3 visits £96.50 – 4 visits 
Concessionary charge- 
free 

Fleas N/A £71  
(2 bedrooms),  
Additional rooms 
£25 

£62 (2 beds), 
£67 (3 beds) 
£79.50 (4 beds) 
Concessionary charge – 
50% reduction 
 

Wasps £50 (single)  
(£20 for each 
additional) 

£55.60 ( single) 
£15.80 (for each 
additional) 

£52 (single) 
£26 (for each additional)  

Bed Bugs  N/A 
 

£82 (2 
bedrooms), 
 £25 additional 
room) 

£144 (2 visits) 
Concessionary charge 
£42 per visit 

Commercial 
charge 

N/A  N/A  £78 per hour (excluding 
VAT) 
£116 outside duty hours 
(excluding VAT) 

294



    

 

 
Equality Impact Assessment: conversation screening tool  
 
 
[Use this form to prompt an EIA conversation and capture the output between officers, stakeholders and 
interested groups. This completed form or a full EIA report will be published as part of the decision-making 
process] 

Policy/Service under 
development/review: 

 

Subsidised Charges for Pest Control Services 
 

What changes are being made to 
the policy/service? 

Provision of fee subsidy to BCP residents, impacting on those in 
the Poole area where historically subsidies were made available 
for those on qualifying benefits. Such subsidy was not offered to 
Bournemouth or Christchurch residents.   
.  

Service Unit: Communities 

Persons present in the 
conversation and their 
role/experience in the service:  

Peter Haikin, Head of Regulatory Services 
Jeff Morley, Regulatory Team Manager  
Louise Jones, Regulatory Team Manager 

Conversation dates: January- February 2021  

Do you know your current or 
potential client base? Who are the 
key stakeholders? 

Residents in the BCP Council area in receipt of income 
related qualifying benefits (Income Support, Guaranteed 
Pension Credit, Housing Benefit, Council Tax Support, 
Universal Credit).  
BCP Council Customer Services 
Citizens’ Advice 

Do different groups have different 
needs or experiences in relation to 
the policy/service?  

No 

Will the policy or service change 
affect any of these service users?  
 

Yes, A  fee subsidy would enable all BCP Council residents 
in receipt of qualifying benefits to access significantly 
subsidised pest control services 

[If the answer to any of the questions above is ‘don’t know’ then you need to gather more 
evidence and do a full EIA. The best way to do this is to use the Capturing Evidence form] 

What are the benefits or positive 
impacts of the policy/service change 
on current or potential service 
users?  

A  fee subsidy would enable all BCP Council residents in 
receipt of qualifying benefits to access significantly 
subsidised pest control services 

What are the negative impacts of the 
policy/service change on current or 
potential service users? 

May result in BCP Council residents in receipt of benefits being 
unable to afford to pay for pest control treatment. 
May result in no treatment or self treatment which may be 
ineffective. Possibly resulting in health impact and/or wider scale 
infestation.   

Will the policy or service change 
affect employees?  

No  

Will the policy or service change 
affect the wider community?  

An untreated rodent infestation may increase in size and result in 
further infestation in other locations.  

What mitigating actions are planned 
or already in place for those 
negatively affected by the 
policy/service change?  

 

Monitor the impact of the revised policy on current demand 
in Poole to ascertain any correlation between the number of 
pest control treatments provided to low income groups and 
reported pest infestations to Environmental Health. There is 
no parallel data on such treatments in Bournemouth and 
Christchurch which, historically, did not benefit from 
charging subsidies 

295



    

 

Summary of Equality Implications:  
 

Potentially a slight negative impact on older people, BAME 
community or those with a disability in Poole, whereby 100% 
subsidy is being replaced by 50% subsidy. To be monitored 
closely, although current policy permits free treatments to be 
provided where there is a public health impact identified by 
Environmental Health. 
 
 

No identified negative outcome in respect of other protected 
characteristics : pest control services are provided 
irrespective and no data is held for previously provided pest 
control services.    
 
 

 

For any questions on this, please contact the Policy and Performance Team by emailing 
performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

296

mailto:performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


CABINET 

 

Report subject  Stour Valley Park Partnership and Strategy 

Meeting date  14 April 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  This report highlights work undertaken to date by an extensive 

partnership in developing the concept of a ‘Stour Valley Park’ 

landscape between Christchurch Harbour and Kingston Lacy 

Estate.  It recommends that BCP Council sign up to the 

partnership.   

The Stour Valley Park proposals are identified in the Bournemouth 

and Poole Local Plans and aim to bring partners together in a way 

that brings the biggest benefits for people and wildlife. Importantly it 

offers significant opportunities to contribute to multiple strands of 

the BCP Corporate Strategy including Sustainable Environment, 

Dynamic Places, Fulfilled Lives, Brighter Futures and Connected 

Communities. 

A consultant has been funded through one strand of the Future 

Parks Accelerator (FPA) key project with an aim to develop 

partnership proposals into a Stour Valley Park Strategy and 

Masterplan, to inform both a new Green Infrastructure Strategy and 

Local Plan.  The Stour Valley Park Strategy is currently at the 

public engagement and development phase.  The strategy will be 

presented to Cabinet for adoption in Autumn 2021. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 (a) Cabinet agrees to BCP Council becoming a partner 
within the Stour Valley Park Partnership; and 

(b) Cabinet note that a Stour Valley Park Landscape 
Strategy will be developed for Autumn 2021 and 
recommended to Cabinet for adoption. A more detailed 
landscape masterplan will be developed by Spring 
2022. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

BCP Council is one of the leading organisations contributing 
towards the Stour Valley Park Partnership and a significant 
landowner within the landscape.  To fully contribute towards the 

297

Agenda Item 15



development of the strategy it is important that the council is a 
member of the partnership. 

Other partners include Dorset Council, Natural England, 
Bournemouth University, Environment Agency, National Trust, 
Dorset Wildlife Trust, Wessex Water, Bournemouth Water, Stour 
Catchment Initiative, Public Health Dorset, RSPB, Dorset Local 
Nature Partnership, Wessex Water and The Parks Foundation. 

The Stour Valley Park Partnership is a partnership of organisations 
with an interest in the natural environment and should not be 
confused with the Stour Valley and Poole Partnership, which 
provides revenue and benefits services to local government in the 
area. 

The Future Parks Accelerator Project was adopted by BCP as a 
key project following LGR.  BCP is one of eight city regions to be 
nationally funded through the FPA for its proposals to develop 
sustainable parks for the 21st century.  One key output will be a new 
Stour Valley Park Strategy 2021. 

The Stour Valley Park Partnership and Strategy will create 
landscape scale management opportunities to: enhance access to 
green space, mitigate climate change, increase biodiversity, 
improve water quality, develop active travel networks, benefit health 
and wellbeing and enhance our tourism offer. 

The Stour Valley Park Strategy will inform the emerging BCP 
Council Green Infrastructure Strategy and Local Plan. 

Covid19 has highlighted the public need for greater access to green 
spaces, it is therefore an opportune moment to embrace this ‘at 
scale’ opportunity to boost recovery. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Cllr Mark Anderson – Environment, Cleansing and Waste 

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan – Environment and Community 

Report Authors Michael Rowland – Strategic Lead for Greenspace and 
Conservation 

Wards  Bearwood & Merley; Christchurch Town; Commons; East 
Southbourne & Tuckton; Kinson; Littledown & Iford; Mudeford, 
Stanpit & West Highcliffe; Muscliff & Strouden Park; Redhill & 
Northbourne;  

Classification  For Decision and Information  
Title:  

Background 

1. The significance of the Stour Valley has been recognised through its inclusion in 
the Bournemouth Local Plan (2012) and Poole Local Plan (2018).  

298



2. Since 2015 Bournemouth Borough Council’s, and then BCP Council’s 
Greenspace & Conservation Service, has been facilitating a group - comprising 
local authorities, statutory and non-statutory organisations - to examine ways in 
which a joined-up landscape plan for the Lower River Stour can be produced. 

3. The following organisations have since become signatories to a Stour Valley Park 
Partnership including: Dorset Council, Bournemouth Water, Wessex Water, the 
Environment Agency, Bournemouth University, Natural England, Dorset Wildlife 
Trust, the Royal Society for Protection of Birds, National Trust, Dorset Local 
Nature Partnership and the Stour Catchment Initiative, Public Health Dorset, The 
Parks Foundation. 

4. Bournemouth Borough Council signed up to the partnership following a 
presentation to Environment & Transport Scrutiny Panel on 5th October 2017, 
whilst the Borough of Poole signed up through a Cabinet Portfolio Decision in 
2018.  Christchurch and East Dorset Councils had not signed up to the 
partnership, where a scrutiny and overview meeting could not be scheduled 
before Local Government Reorganisation.  BCP Council can reaffirm a 
commitment to working with partners on the SVP strategy alongside colleagues 
at Dorset Council, superseding both former memberships. 

5. The partners have drafted aims and objectives relevant to the improvement of the 
Lower Stour Valley and the South East Dorset conurbation.  The next step is to 
bring these together to develop a coherent landscape strategy and plan for the 
river corridor that can give the best possible outcomes for the area related to 
public access, sustainable economic development, housing, town planning, 
health, tourism, leisure, biodiversity and heritage and culture.  The ethos behind 
the plan is to work together to deliver something more than the sum of its parts.   

6. The Stour Valley Park proposals, when they come to fruition, will contribute to the 
five key priorities in the BCP Council’s Plan i.e. Sustainable Environment, 
Dynamic Region, Connected Communities, Brighter Futures and Fulfilled Lives.  
Due to the nature of this extensive landscape scale initiative it will be able to 
contribute, at scale, to key BCP objectives such as, mitigating against climate 
change, flood alleviation, enhancing biodiversity, promoting sustainable 
management of resources, maximising access to quality natural environments 
and promoting happy active and healthy lifestyles. 

Future Parks Accelerator (FPA) 

7. BCP Council was chosen in 2019 as one of nine authorities nationally, to drive 
forward and test innovative and sustainable methods of managing our green 
spaces for the 21st century.   

8. This is a key priority for BCP Council.  The Stour Valley Park proposals are one 
strand of this FPA programme.  The FPA have appointed a consultancy to pull 
together all the available information, produce plans, consult and develop a draft 
strategy and business plan for the park, which will influence a new Green 
Infrastructure Strategy to be presented to BCP Council in 2021. 

9. The key areas which we are currently examining are identified in the Stour Valley 
Brochure and outlined here: 

299

https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Articles/bcp-council-wins-share-of-multi-million-pound-parks-fund.aspx
https://dorsetlnp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Stour-Valley-Park-Leaflet-low-res.pdf
https://dorsetlnp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Stour-Valley-Park-Leaflet-low-res.pdf


 

 

Housing and Development 

10. The Stour Valley Park (SVP) Partnership is working with planners and developers 

to provide early advice and guidance in relation to housing and development in 

the area and how to deliver enhancements to the local environment that will 

make their developments both more desirable and sustainable.  The partnership 

will neither promote or discourage housing development, but simply work with 

developers where development is approved to ensure more sustainable 

outcomes for wildlife and communities. 

Transport 

11. The SVP Partnership is liaising with landowners, planners and developers to 

maximise everyone's opportunities to create joined-up sustainable travel, whether 

that's helping employers find easier ways to get staff to work, helping landowners 

to manage access, or helping planners to design new routes and safe links as 

part of schemes such the Transforming Cities Fund. By providing off-road routes 

and greenways (green commuting) we can contribute to carbon reduction, whilst 

making the most of opportunities as they arise to improve networks. 

Economy 

12. Background work has included: examining access management and brand 

identity for local produce, developing a sense of place, increased trade and 

income through tourism, planned development, restoration and mitigation.  The 

SVP Partnership is exploring the value of a creating a regional identity, and in a 

wider sense, making the area a great place to come to work, rest and play.  The 

partnership aims to share knowledge and skills, to offer free specialist advice, 

e.g. projects that involve landowners of both private and publicly owned land, 

facilitating rural and semi-rural regeneration - with benefits to the economy in 

terms of hosting economic activities (such as cafes and events) and therefore 

encouraging inward investment. 

Heritage 

13. The Lower Stour is awash with heritage and history.  The river has been a focal 

point of civilisation for millennia, from Stone Age hunters and settlers, to Iron Age 

hill fort builders, to the mills and villages that still exist along the river today.  The 

SVP Partnership has investigated re-telling the stories of the Stour through 

restoration, participation and interpretation, linking to local museums, our 

gateway visitor centres, historic sites and archives. 

Environment 

14. Learning from international best practice the Partnership is exploring 

opportunities - such as tree planting and where we can make a difference to flood 

300



alleviation, water quality, carbon capture and habitat creation through natural 

solutions; plus recreating lost habitats, developing new ones, linking fragmented 

habitats and populations, and working to allow species to recolonise or be 

reintroduced. We can achieve this on a landscape scale, where we can make a 

real difference.  

Health and Well-being 

15. In 2016, the World Health Organisation (WHO) published a review of evidence 

around urban green spaces and health. 

16. They concluded that a city of well-connected, attractive green spaces is likely to 

be more resilient to extreme environmental events and more likely to have 

healthier citizens, with reduced demands on health services and contributing to a 

stronger economy. 

17. In 2020, The Heritage Fund published A Space to Thrive,  a comprehensive 

review of 495 empirical studies from the previous ten years. The findings were 

emphatic in that physical health, mental wellbeing and life satisfaction are all 

enhanced through access to and use of parks and green spaces; enabling people 

to connect with nature, promoting social integration, reducing loneliness, 

providing opportunities for volunteering and as a healthy backdrop to all civic life. 

18. This 25km stretch of Stour Valley already provides space for people to exercise, 

relax, walk, cycle, play, meet or get socially involved in volunteering, but it has 

the capacity to do so much more for an adjacent and burgeoning South East 

Dorset population of c. 450,000.  As a new regional top ten destination with all 

the desirable attributes to rival sedentary pastimes,  it will bring about a step 

change in the health and wellbeing offer and provide a resource - free from 

medication - to improve mental and physical health, increase social interaction, 

combat loneliness and offer opportunities for skills development. 

19. Covid-19 has highlighted the need for greater access to green spaces – it is 
therefore an opportune moment to embrace this ‘at scale’ opportunity for the 
benefit of people. This has been addressed at length in Natural England’s 
Scoping Review of Health and Wellbeing 2020 . 

The Lower Stour Trail 

20. Background work includes enhancing the trail that follows the river throughout the 

Stour Valley, running from Hengistbury Head to Kingston Lacy, to be used by 

walkers, cyclists, and buggy and wheelchair users. This trail is for leisure, 

tourism, school trips. commuting and linking communities along and across the 

river. A clear and high-quality route that brings people closer to nature, art, 

culture and heritage, and is a way to find cafes, places to visit, hire a bike, go 

horse riding/angling, stop at a B&B or simply stay active is being explored.  The 

Stour Trail can become a 'must do' for visitors to South East Dorset and a top 

choice for a weekend activity. 

 

301

https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/321971/Urban-green-spaces-and-health-review-evidence.pdf
https://www.heritagefund.org.uk/sites/default/files/media/attachments/Space%20to%20thrive_2019-A%20rapid%20evidence%20review%2014102019-accessible.pdf
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5992890930298880
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5992890930298880


Volunteers and the Charitable Sector 

21. To achieve great things, we need to harness the goodwill and generosity of 

people locally through an imaginative partnership between the public and private 

sectors. Background research has and is being carried out as part of the wider 

FPA work in BCP. 

22. Both volunteering and partnership working have key roles in supporting a modern 

and diverse economy, often making the difference between a sustainable 

business opportunity and a non-viable one.  Demographically, the skill set of the 

retired and semi-retired is second-to-none in this region- a resource that could 

support all of the proposed activities/themes, as well as bringing quantifiable 

benefits - and savings - in terms of the health and well-being agenda. On the 

same theme, by creating an exemplary 'Regional Park' that improves lives and 

nature, we can benefit from philanthropy, sponsorship and charitable funds. 

Options Appraisal 

23. BCP Council has been leading on the Stour Valley Park Partnership since 
2019.  Signing up to the partnership would ensure that the council could 
continue to influence strategic direction within this landscape and work 
closely with wider statutory and non-statutory partners.  At this time, it would 
not commit council resources, other than officer time in participating in the 
partnership. 

24. By being part of the partnership, it is more likely that BCP Council could 
access wider funding streams for the benefit of the area. 

25. By remaining outside the partnership BCP Council risks losing influence over 
the future strategic direction of the Stour Valley area and decreasing 
opportunities to access national funding (e.g. Environmental Land 
Management Scheme; public money for public goods).  

Summary of financial implications 

26. At this stage, ahead of a draft Stour Valley Park Strategy linked to the new BCP 

Green Infrastructure Strategy there are no financial implications, as the work is 

funded in its entirety by the national FPA project and its sponsors, the Heritage 

Fund, National Trust and Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government. 

Summary of legal implications 

27. BCP will enter into a Memorandum of Understanding with the wider 
partnership, committing the council to working in partnership with those 
organisations as can be seen in see Appendix 1.   

Summary of human resources implications 

28. There are no additional human resource implications arising from the 
commitment to produce the SVP Strategy. 

302

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-environmental-land-management-scheme-an-overview/the-environmental-land-management-scheme-public-money-for-public-goods
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-environmental-land-management-scheme-an-overview/the-environmental-land-management-scheme-public-money-for-public-goods


Summary of sustainability impact 

29. The Stour Valley Park is a 25km long landscape initiative offering a major 
contribution to BCP Council’s policy commitments for: 

30.  Mitigating climate change, natural solutions to flood alleviation and reversing 
the ecological and biodiversity declines.  In addition it offers, a sustainable 
approach to green travel and green commuting by foot and cycling, access to 
new green space, greenways and countryside as well guaranteed revenue 
streams through farm shops and visitor hubs and cafes and diversification of 
agricultural activities with investment in green and healthy tourism offers.  

31. Education and volunteering opportunities for such a project are extensive and 
will contribute to a better public understanding and awareness of the 
environmental issues we face today. Carrying people with us on a well-
informed journey is the start of creating a truly sustainable initiative fit for the 
21st century. 

32. In very broad terms research evidence points to the increasing value that 
people place on having access to greenspace (amplified by the Covid-19 
pandemic).  The savings to the NHS attributable to people having regular 
exercise and fresh air in a quality environment are estimated to be £2.1BN a 
year (DEFRA Climate Change Plan 2010). 

33. The SVP Park will offer opportunities locally and regionally in support of the 
Government’s 25 Year Plan. There is also a strong synergy between the 
aims and objectives of the SVP and the ‘Vision’, ‘Values’, and ‘Priorities’ of 
BCP corporate strategy. 

34. Demonstrating sustainability is essential to attracting funding via developers’ 
contributions and external funding from central government and charitable 
sources whilst working in partnership – which will be central to the aims and 
objectives of a Stour Valley Park Strategy. 

Summary of public health implications 

35. Public health is at the heart of this project. Public Health Dorset is a key 
signatory to the SVP Partnership. The Stour Valley Park will bring about a 
positive change in ease of access to the wider countryside on our doorstep.  

36. The aim is to make contact with nature regular and frequent for everyone in 
the BCP conurbation, from the moment they step out of the door to accessing 
parks through greenways to visitor centre hubs and then the wider 
countryside. Inequalities in access to publicly available greenspace and 
private gardens amongst different socio-economic and demographics groups 
is high, for example 1 in 8 households do not have a garden (Office of 
National Statistics, 2020).   There is an opportunity here for people of all ages 
and abilities to benefit from physical exercise, relaxation, ecotherapy, 
meeting people and community volunteering. 

303

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69254/pb13358-climate-change-plan-2010-100324.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/


37. There are many studies showing that a city of well connected, attractive 
green places is likely to have healthier citizens with reduced demands on 
health and social services.   

“Living close to a green space can add 5 years to your life” Urban Green 
Spaces and Health WHO (2016) 

“Access to good quality green spaces results in improvements in mental 
health and wellbeing such as depression, stress and dementia” (Public 
Health England September (2014) 

38. In summary the research evidence points to the huge value that people place 
on having access to greenspace (amplified by the Covid-19 pandemic. The 
savings to the NHS attributable to people having regular exercise and fresh 
air in a quality environment are estimated to be £2.1BN a year (Defra Climate 
Change Plan 2010). 

Summary of equality implications 

39. There are recognised inequalities in the accessibility of good quality natural 
environment for those living in deprived areas, minority ethnic communities, 
elderly people and those with long term poor health and disabilities. These 
groups typically have less contact with nature and access to good quality 
greenspaces, tend to use them less, and are more likely to have negative 
perceptions (often culturally in terms of ethnic minorities) as to their usage of 
such spaces. Deprived and disadvantaged groups are under-represented in 
nature-based activities associated with wellbeing; and, in addition, people 
from socio-economically deprived areas rarely participate in ‘countryside’ 
activities. This has negative implications for the local economy in terms of 
health and social services costs. Health and Wellbeing Evidence Review and 
Green Infrastructure Standards Natural England 2020 

40. Adoption of this strategy would have many positive impacts in terms of 
equality across the board in terms of: 

 Improved access to the countryside along a 25km river valley corridor 
for all ages and abilities. 

 Reduced loneliness through social opportunities such a volunteering. 

 Green on foot / cycling commuter routes. 

 Contact with nature for everyone whether accidental, incidental or by 
design. 

 Educational opportunities at visitor centre hubs with face to face help – 
raising awareness and understanding of the natural environment 

 Better health outcomes for all. 

 Addressing the inequalities faced by socio-economically deprived 
groups who have the most to gain from living next to greenspaces. 

304

https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/321971/Urban-green-spaces-and-health-review-evidence.pdf
https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/321971/Urban-green-spaces-and-health-review-evidence.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/355792/Briefing8_Green_spaces_health_inequalities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/355792/Briefing8_Green_spaces_health_inequalities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69254/pb13358-climate-change-plan-2010-100324.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69254/pb13358-climate-change-plan-2010-100324.pdf
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5992890930298880
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5992890930298880


41. As individual projects are developed, Equality Impact Assessments will be 
completed and presented as part of the draft SVP Strategy to be presented to 
a future Cabinet for consideration. 

Summary of risk assessment 

42. There are no direct risks associated with reaffirmation of BCP as a partner to the 
SVP Project. As described in the Options & Appraisals above, there is greater risk in 
not adopting the forthcoming strategy as this could have a potential adverse effect 
on taking advantage of multi-million pound inward investments, allied to the 
forthcoming Government’s Environment Plan and DEFRA’s Environment Land 
Management Scheme which will redirect funds toward environmental schemes 
“Public money for Public Goods”.  

43. Non adoption could also mean not having a say in the future development of the 
Stour Valley Park by the other 18 partner organisations.  

44. As individual projects are developed, full risk assessments would be completed. 

 

Background papers 

Urban Green Spaces - A Review of Evidence (WHO) 2016   
https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/321971/Urban-green-spaces-
and-health-review-evidence.pdf 

Space to Thrive – Heritage Fund 2020 

https://www.heritagefund.org.uk/sites/default/files/media/attachments/Space%20to%
20thrive_2019-A%20rapid%20evidence%20review%2014102019-accessible.pdf 

 

Improving Access to Green Spaces – Public Health England 2014 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/355792/Briefing8_Green_spaces_health_inequalities.pdf 

 

Natural England’s Scoping Review of Health and Wellbeing & Green 

Infrastructure 2020 

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5992890930298880 

Future Parks Accelerator (FPA) 2019 

https://www.heritagefund.org.uk/our-work/landscapes-parks-nature/future-parks 

 

FPA - BCP Press Release 2019 

https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Articles/bcp-council-wins-share-of-multi-
million-pound-parks-fund.aspx 

305

https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/321971/Urban-green-spaces-and-health-review-evidence.pdf
https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/321971/Urban-green-spaces-and-health-review-evidence.pdf
https://www.heritagefund.org.uk/sites/default/files/media/attachments/Space%20to%20thrive_2019-A%20rapid%20evidence%20review%2014102019-accessible.pdf
https://www.heritagefund.org.uk/sites/default/files/media/attachments/Space%20to%20thrive_2019-A%20rapid%20evidence%20review%2014102019-accessible.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/355792/Briefing8_Green_spaces_health_inequalities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/355792/Briefing8_Green_spaces_health_inequalities.pdf
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5992890930298880
https://www.heritagefund.org.uk/our-work/landscapes-parks-nature/future-parks
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Articles/bcp-council-wins-share-of-multi-million-pound-parks-fund.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Articles/bcp-council-wins-share-of-multi-million-pound-parks-fund.aspx


Stour Valley Park Brochure – Draft Plan / Study Area 2018 

https://dorsetlnp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Stour-Valley-Park-Leaflet-low-
res.pdf 

Stour Valley Park - Background Information and Vision 2018 

https://dorsetlnp.org.uk/stour-valley-park/ 

Scrutiny Panel Report 5 October 2017  

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Data/Bournemouth%20Environment%20and%2
0Transport%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Panel/20171005/Agenda/agenda-
and-reports-5-october-2017.pdf  

A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/atta
chment_data/file/693158/25-year-environment-plan.pdf 

 

Office of National Statistics 2020 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/ 

 

The Environmental Land Management Scheme: Public Money for Public Goods 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-environmental-land-
management-scheme-an-overview/the-environmental-land-management-
scheme-public-money-for-public-goods 

 

Appendices   

 

Appendix 1 : Copy of Memorandum of Understanding for the Stour Valley Park 

Partnership  

306

https://dorsetlnp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Stour-Valley-Park-Leaflet-low-res.pdf
https://dorsetlnp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Stour-Valley-Park-Leaflet-low-res.pdf
https://dorsetlnp.org.uk/stour-valley-park/
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Data/Bournemouth%20Environment%20and%20Transport%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Panel/20171005/Agenda/agenda-and-reports-5-october-2017.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Data/Bournemouth%20Environment%20and%20Transport%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Panel/20171005/Agenda/agenda-and-reports-5-october-2017.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Data/Bournemouth%20Environment%20and%20Transport%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Panel/20171005/Agenda/agenda-and-reports-5-october-2017.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/693158/25-year-environment-plan.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/693158/25-year-environment-plan.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-environmental-land-management-scheme-an-overview/the-environmental-land-management-scheme-public-money-for-public-goods
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-environmental-land-management-scheme-an-overview/the-environmental-land-management-scheme-public-money-for-public-goods
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-environmental-land-management-scheme-an-overview/the-environmental-land-management-scheme-public-money-for-public-goods


1 
SVP Statement of Principles. V3. 12.3.18 (as amended 1.3.21) 

Stour Valley Park Partnership 
Memorandum of Agreement 

 
Statement of Principles 
 
APPENDIX 1 s the Mo U, not the list of Partners.  The Partners should be listed here. 
We, the Partners listed at Appendix 1, are pleased to give our commitment to supporting 
the aims and objectives of the Stour Valley Park (SVP). 
 
Our shared vision is for an innovative, sustainable and high quality regional park in the Stour 
Valley that is easily accessible, with a rich and thriving biodiversity, offering recreational, 
landscape, environmental, heritage, health and well-being, cultural and resource 
management benefits in which local communities, landowners and businesses can take 
pride and ownership. 

 
Our Aims 
 
To develop a co-ordinated spatial vision, strategy and implementation framework that will 
raise awareness and support appropriate action for the development, implementation and 
management of the Stour Valley Park across political and geographical boundaries and 
referenced in local plans to help secure delivery.  

 
Our Objectives 
 

1. Develop and promote integrated, high quality and sustainable approaches to 
planning and development across and around the SVP area. 

2. Protect, enhance, link and promote the SVP’s open spaces and diverse natural 
environment, enabling access and encouraging a sense of ownership for all sections 
of the community. 

3. Maximise the SVP’s use for sustainable transport, health and well-being, tourism and 
leisure activities and maximise the access for all of these. 

4. Promote and enhance the area’s rich natural heritage and cultural heritage. 
5. Maximise the area’s economic potential, encouraging enterprise and learning at all 

levels, demonstrating the importance of a high-quality local environment to 
economic/regional competitiveness. 

6. Ensure that the needs and potential of the Stour Valley are recognised by 
government, investors and other strategic agencies and funders. 

Add No. 7 (suggestion)  - Protect the natural environment, landscape, biodiversity and 
wildlife, and recognise and preserve the unique natural features and ecological importance 
of the Stour Valley. 

Our Support 
 
As Partners, we will provide the following support: 

 representation at SVP Partnership meetings to give progress reports on our 
organisation’s activities in relation to the development of the SVP 

 dissemination of SVP information within our organisations (including officers and 
councillors for local authorities) and to others that we work with 

307



2 
SVP Statement of Principles. V3. 12.3.18 (as amended 1.3.21) 

 endorsement of, and active support for, project funding applications with 
consideration of contributions 

 updating of Local Plans with reference to SVP as required 
 

Agreement 
 
On behalf of the BCP Council I agree to the above Statement of Principles and the support 
outlined for my organisation: 
 
 
 
Signed:                       
 
 
 
Name:    
 
 
 
Position:   

 
 
 
 
Date:    
 
 
 
  

308



3 
SVP Statement of Principles. V3. 12.3.18 (as amended 1.3.21) 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 - List of current partners 
 
BCP Council 
Bournemouth Parks Foundation 
Bournemouth University 
Bournemouth Water 
Dorset Council 
Dorset Local Nature Partnership 
Dorset Wildlife Trust 
Environment Agency 
Historic England 
National Trust 
Natural England 
Public Health Dorset 
RSPB 
Stour Catchment Initiative 
Wessex Water 
This list will be kept under review. 

Appendix 2 - Stour Valley Park Partnership proposed structure. 

SVP Steering Group 

Current membership/lead contacts (subject to review):  

BCP Council – Mark Holloway, Michael Rowland & Mark Axford (Planner) 
Bournemouth University – Faculty of Management - Prof Janet Dickinson,  
Bournemouth Water – Saskia McGrath 
Dorset County Council – Officer Bridget Betts  
Dorset Environmental Record Centre – Carolyn Steele 
Dorset Local Nature Partnership – Chair 
Dorset Wildlife Trust - Nicki Brunt, Maria Clarke  
Environment Agency – Michael Holm,  
Historic England – Sasha Chapman 
National Trust – Tim Turner 
Natural England – Ian Alexander 
RSPB – Renny Henderson 
Stour Catchment Initiative – Natalie Poulter 
The Parks Foundation – Trustee & current Chair 
Wessex Water – Gillian Sanders 
 
Purpose:  

 Leadership 

 Coordination 

 Innovation 

 Resources 

 

309



4 
SVP Statement of Principles. V3. 12.3.18 (as amended 1.3.21) 

Frequency of meetings: 

Meeting 2-3 times annually 

 

SVP Working Group 

Current membership/lead contact: 

Members co-opted from the Steering Group and other relevant Statutory and Non-Statutory 

Organisations including individuals with specialist expertise. 

 

The membership will be kept under review. 

 

Purpose:  

 Directing 

 Commissioning 

 Influencing 

 Doing 

 

Frequency of meetings: 

Meeting 3-4 times annually 

  

310



5 
SVP Statement of Principles. V3. 12.3.18 (as amended 1.3.21) 

Appendix 3 - Stour Valley Park Partnership area. 

 

 

311



This page is intentionally left blank

312



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Harmonisation of Regulatory Services and Licensing 
Enforcement Policy 

Meeting date  14 April 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  Regulatory Services and the Licensing Team are responsible for 
undertaking enforcement activity across a wide range of public 
services.  

The aim of these enforcement activities is to protect the safety, 
wellbeing, and the environment of all those who live, work and visit 
the area by ensuring the actions of businesses and individuals 
comply with the relevant legislation and Codes of Practice. 

The Council is currently working to three legacy enforcement 
policies for Regulatory Services and Licensing. This new 
policy seeks to provide one policy for BCP Council.  

The Enforcement Policy is recognised as an important 
document for regulators in meeting responsibilities under 
both statutory principles and guidance. The Enforcement 
Policy enables the authority to set out transparency in its 
activities and to ensure that enforcement activities are 
targeted only at cases where action is needed.  

The Policy also helps both businesses and individuals to 
understand our objectives and methods for achieving 
compliance and the criteria we consider when deciding the 
most appropriate response to a breach of legislation. 

Cabinet is asked to consider and approves the Regulatory 
Services and Licensing Enforcement Policy 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 The Cabinet approves the Regulatory Services and Licensing 
Enforcement Policy as set out in Appendix 1 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The new Enforcement policy seeks to provide one policy for BCP 
Council.  

The new Enforcement policy seeks to comply with the Legislation 
set out in Section 21 of The Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 
2006 which requires that the Council in its activity for exercising a 

313

Agenda Item 16



regulatory function has regard to the principles that regulatory 
activities should be carried out in a way which is transparent, 
accountable, proportionate and consistent and that regulatory 
activities should be targeted only at cases in which action is 
needed.  

The Enforcement Policy also provides guidance to officers, 
businesses, and the public, on the range of options that are 
available to achieve compliance. It also explains the details about 
the methods used for achieving compliance and the criteria 
considered when deciding the most appropriate response to a 
breach of legislation. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor May Haines, Cabinet Member for Community Safety 

Councillor Mark Anderson, Cabinet Member for Environment, 
Cleansing and Waste;  

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan, Corporate Director – Environment and Communities 

Report Authors Louise Jones, Environmental Health Manager 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision  
Title:  

Background 

1. The Council is currently working to three legacy enforcement policies for Regulatory 
Services and Licensing. This new policy seeks to provide one policy for BCP 
Council. 

2. The Council is required by the Regulators Code to publish their Enforcement Policy 
explaining how we respond to non-compliance. 

3. The Enforcement Policy is recognised as an important document for regulators in 
meeting responsibilities under the statutory principles of good regulation set out in 
Section 21 of the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/51/section/21, to be accountable and 
transparent in their activities and targeted only at cases where action is needed.  
The Regulator’s Code sets out a series of key principles under which enforcement 
action should be considered. 

4. The principles encompass consistency, transparency, proportionality and that 
actions are risk-based. This methodology ensures a fair, effective and justifiable 
approach linked to best practice. In addition, the Code seeks to ensure that 
economic development is not unnecessarily stifled and that businesses are 
supported in their growth. 

5. The Policy is designed to help businesses and individuals understand our objectives 
and methods for achieving compliance and the criteria we consider when deciding 
the most appropriate response to a breach of legislation.   

314

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/51/section/21


6. This new BCP Enforcement Policy directly responds to a clear legislative framework 
and adheres to the statutory guidance which accompanies it. As such, the Policy is 
reflective of the legacy policies in the main. 

Options Appraisal 

7. Approving the Policy removes the need to refer to three separate policies from the 
legacy authorities and provides clarity with one document.   

The recommendation is:  

Resolve to approve the Regulatory Services and Licensing Enforcement Policy. 

Summary of financial implications 

8. There are no financial implications with the adoption of this policy as all costs of 
meeting its application are met within current budgets 

Summary of legal implications 

9. The policy has been prepared in accordance with legislation and relevant statutory 
guidance. The document provides a comprehensive and single Enforcement Policy 
across Regulatory Services and Licensing.  

10. The Regulators Code came into Statutory effect on 6th April 2014 by way of the 
Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 and the Council must have regard to 
this when developing policies and procedures that guide regulatory activities. One 
aligned policy for BCP Council is needed to ensure the Council complies with this.  

11. There are no other legal implications from this report.   

Summary of human resources implications 

12. There are no implications in relations to this. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

13. The policy will assist with decisions about enforcement in relation to environmental 
issues. There is no other sustainability impact from this report. 

Summary of public health implications 

14. The work of Regulatory Services contributes to better public health outcomes by 
ensuring compliance with legislation that protects public health and where necessary 
taking the appropriate enforcement action to protect the public.  

Summary of equality implications 

15. The Regulatory Services and Licensing Enforcement Policy is designed to benefit 
the community through consistent regulation of the Businesses in BCP and 
compliance of individuals with relevant Legislation.  

16. There should be no adverse effect on those who have protected characteristics. It is 
recognised that the Regulatory Services and Licensing Enforcement Policy can be 
perceived to target some ethnic groups, when taking interventions with water pipe 
smoking establishments. However, this is mitigated by fair and transparent 
adherence to the legislative requirements of overriding legislation 

315



17. All enforcement activities are dealt with on a case-by-case basis with the aim of 
protecting safety and health. We work closely with other agencies during our 
enforcement activities and recognise that our interventions can help protect people 
from harm in many ways. 

18. Our licensing role ensures the safe sale of alcohol whilst upholding the Licensing 
Objectives to protect children from harm which includes not only underage sales of 
alcohol but recognises the role alcohol can play in child sexual exploitation and 
human trafficking. Joint working with agencies where intelligence leads to 
enforcement regarding illegal working will protect illegitimate workers and those 
being exploited. 

19. The merging of the legacy councils has meant that there are three different 
approaches to communicating enforcement actions to business owners that do not 
speak English. Procedures have been put in place to ensure that business owners 
are fully informed of any contraventions using interpreters and/or translated 
materials. 

Summary of risk assessment 

20. There is a risk to not implementing this policy and having a consistent framework in 
place across BCP. Any risks associated with the application of the Policy are 
managed through the Directorate Risk Register and/or on a case by case basis.  

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Regulatory Services and Licensing Enforcement Policy  

 Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment  

316



 
 

Regulatory Services and Licensing Enforcement Policy 

 
Date 1 December 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Communities 
 
 
 
Author: Louise Jones 
Version:  V6 
Review Date: December 2022 
  

317



1 
 

1. Purpose Statement 
 

1.1 Regulatory Services and the Licensing Team are responsible for undertaking enforcement activity 
across a wide range of public services. Our aim is to protect the safety, wellbeing and the 
environment of all those who live, work and visit the area by ensuring the actions of businesses 
and individuals comply with the relevant legislation and Codes of Practice. 

 
1.2 This policy provides guidance to officers, businesses and the general public on the range of 

options that are available to achieve compliance with all the legislation enforced by the Council’s 
various regulatory services. It is designed to help officers; businesses and the general public 
understand our objectives and methods for achieving compliance and the criteria we consider 
when deciding the most appropriate response to a breach of legislation.  

 
1.3 BCP Council is committed to avoiding unnecessary regulatory burdens on businesses or 

individuals and seeks to encourage and promote compliance. We recognise that decisions about 
enforcement action can have serious implications for all involved. The purpose of this policy is to 
ensure that: 

 Decisions about enforcement action are fair, proportionate and consistent 

 Officers apply current Government guidance and relevant codes of practice 

 Everyone understands the principles that are applied when enforcement is considered 
 

1.4  This policy should be read in conjunction with the  Regulators Code  which provides                             
a framework for how regulators should engage with those they regulate.  

 
1.5 The Council is required by the Regulator’s Code to publish their Enforcement Policy explaining 

how they respond to non-compliance. We recognise this as an important document when 
meeting our responsibility under the statutory principles of good regulation, set out in Section 21 
of The Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006.  

 
2. Who the policy applies to  
 
2.1 This policy primarily applies to officers, agents acting on behalf of Bournemouth, Christchurch 

and Poole Council, residents and businesses within Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole, but 
will also affect visitors and in some circumstances may have effect outside of the authority’s 
boundary. 
 

2.2 This policy applies to all enforcement, regulation, linked advice and similar activity undertaken 
within Regulatory and Licensing Services. 
 

2.3 Functions provided by Regulatory Services include Environmental Health, Port Health, Trading 
Standards, Health & Safety, Food Safety, Infectious Diseases, Noise and Nuisance, Pest 
Control, Animal Health, Stray Dogs, Dog Control, and Licensing  

 
3. This policy replaces  
 
3.1 This policy replaces: 

 Bournemouth Borough Council Regulatory Services Enforcement Policy May 2010 

 Borough of Poole Enforcement Policy June 2010 

 Christchurch Enforcement Policy whilst it is expected that Christchurch would have a 
policy, a copy is unavailable. 

 
4. Approval process 
 
4.1     The policy is approved by BCP Council’s Cabinet Portfolio Holder 
  
5. Links to Council Strategies 
 
5.1 This policy supports the BCP Council Corporate Strategy.   
 

318

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code


2 
 

5.2 During the preparation of this policy document due consideration has been given to the 
following Key Council Strategies: 

 Corporate Strategy  

 BCP Council Vision 

 Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2023 

 Corporate Safeguarding Strategy 

 Equality & Diversity Policy 
 
 
6. The Regulators Code 
 
 
6.1 This Code was laid before Parliament in accordance with section 23 of the Legislative and 

Regulatory Reform Act 2006 (“the Act”). It requires that we have regard to the Code when 
developing policies and operational procedures that guide our regulatory activities.  

 
6.2 The Regulator’s Code sets out a series of key principles under which enforcement action should 

be considered. The principles encompass consistency, transparency, proportionality and that 
actions are risk based. This methodology ensures a fair, effective and justifiable approach 
linked to best practice. In addition, the code seeks to ensure that economic development is not 
unnecessarily stifled and that businesses are supported in their growth.  

 
7.    Aim and scope of the policy 

 
7.1 To ensure that all regulatory activity (this includes the whole range of regulatory options and 

interventions available to regulators) is undertaken in compliance with this policy and has 
regard to: - 

 the statutory principles of good regulation: proportionality, accountability, consistency, 

transparency and targeted 

 the enforcement principles contained in the Regulators Code and  

 the Principles of Good Enforcement within the Enforcement Concordat 

 
7.2 To ensure that all regulatory activity is undertaken in compliance with this policy   

 
7.3 Although the Regulator’s Code focusses on our dealings with businesses, this policy applies 

equally to the way in which we will engage with private individuals who might become subject to 
regulatory interventions and should be read as such. 
 
 

8. Our approach to securing regulatory compliance 
 

8.1    How we find out about non-compliance 
Matters requiring regulatory compliance may come to our notice as a result of pro-active checks 
such as scheduled inspections (e.g. pre-planned risk rating visits to food premises) or as a result 
of reactive activity such as inspections or visits in response to complaints (e.g. a complaint of 
noise).  
 

8.2     In order to reduce the burden of regulatory activity on businesses, visits will only take place for a 
reason e.g. in response to a risk-based program or in response to a complaint. The reason for 
the visit will be explained by the officer at the time of the visit and visits will, wherever possible, 
be carried out by prior arrangement unless this would compromise the regulatory objective of the 
visit.  Visits will be carried out in accordance with relevant guidance such as the Investigatory 
Powers of Consumer Law Enforcers or the Food Law Code of Practice. 
 

8.3    Wherever possible we will share data and intelligence with other enforcement agencies and work 
in partnership. We will also use existing local and national data sources for any analysis. We will 
consider asking businesses for additional information only if the data is vital to secure 
enforcement outcomes and cannot be obtained by other means.       
 

319



3 
 

8.4    Authorised officers will be appropriately qualified to determine regulatory compliance and will 
receive on-going training to maintain competency and promote consistency.  

 
8.5    What we do when non-compliance is identified 

When non-compliance is identified we will usually seek to secure compliance through negotiation 
and co-operation, taking a formal enforcement approach where compliance is deemed unlikely 
through other means.   We will clearly explain what the non-compliant item or activity is, the 
advice we are giving about the matter, the remedial actions we are requiring and the reasons for 
these.  
 

8.6    If necessary, we will provide further opportunity to discuss any advice, requirements or decisions 
with the appropriate person with a view to ensuring that all matters are fully understood and that 
we are acting in a way that is proportionate and consistent. Where we are not best placed to 
investigate any matter, we will consider whether it would be more appropriate to request another 
Council service or outside agency to investigate. 
 

8.7    Why we consider enforcement action 
We will consider taking enforcement action where efforts to achieve compliance through 
mediation have failed or where there is a serious breach, a history of previous non-compliance 
or where providing an opportunity for dialogue would be likely to defeat the purpose of the 
proposed enforcement.  
 

8.8 Enforcement action will be taken in accordance with the following statutory principles; 

Transparency        We will make it clear to those being regulated what we consider their 
obligations to be and give them the time and support to comply unless 
there is an urgent need to secure compliance e.g. public safety. The 
consequences of non-compliance will be made clear. 

Accountability      Officers will be courteous, fair and efficient always and will identify 
themselves by name and where appropriate identity card. We will be able 
to justify decisions taken and be open to public scrutiny through the 
Councils publicised complaints procedure.  

Proportionality      We will only intervene when necessary and any action taken will be 
appropriate to the risk posed. An educational rather than a punitive 
approach will be followed wherever possible. In deciding upon the action 
to be taken the impact upon the business will be considered including the 
costs of compliance to ensure unnecessary expense is not incurred.  

Consistency              We will ensure that we apply regulations consistently between businesses 
by following the same rationale when considering the specific 
circumstances of each individual case in reaching a decision.   

 
Targeted                    We will focus primarily on those whose activities give rise to the most 

serious risks or those who knowingly disregard the law. 

 
8.9    What is enforcement action 

Enforcement action can take different forms and for the purposes of this policy includes but is not 
limited to the following; 

 serving a legal notice (includes but is not limited to; improvement, suspension, 
prohibition, formal warning, fixed penalty notice, community protection or abatement 
notices) and the subsequent follow up in instances of non-compliance 

 the seizure of goods/items including food, machinery, equipment etc.   

 the revocation, suspension or refusal of a licence/permit 

 the issue of a simple caution 

 the seeking of an injunction 

 issue of a penalty charge notice 

 prosecution 
 

320



4 
 

8.10   If we decide that enforcement action is appropriate, and that prosecution is an option we will base 
our decision and actions upon guidance available to help inform that decision. Such guidance 
includes the Code for Crown Prosecutors and any other nationally recognised guidance such as 
the Enforcement Management Model published by the Health and Safety Executive and includes 
the following;   
 

 The seriousness of the alleged offence 

 The history of the party concerned 

 The willingness of the business or the individual to prevent a recurrence of the 
problem and co-operate with officers 

 Whether it is in the public interest to prosecute 

 The realistic prospect of conviction based on the evidence 

 Whether any other action (including other means of formal enforcement action) would 
be more appropriate or effective 

 The views of any complainant and other persons with an interest in prosecution. 
 

8.11 A decision to prosecute or issue a formal caution will be subject to the investigatory officer drafting 
a summary report for consideration by the line manager, and then the Head of Service.  

 
 

9.    How we decide what enforcement action to take 
 

9.1  How we decide what enforcement action to take 
In considering the most appropriate enforcement action we will have regard to the enforcement 
principles with the intention of; 

 Aiming to change the behaviour of the offender 

 Aiming to eliminate any financial gain or benefit from non-compliance 

 Being responsive and considering what is appropriate for the offender and regulatory 

issue, which can include punishment and the public stigma that could be associated 

with a criminal conviction 

 Being proportionate to the nature of the offence and the harm caused 

 Aiming to restore the harm caused by regulatory non-compliance (where appropriate) 

 Aiming to deter future non-compliance. 

 
10.    Representations and appeals 

 
 

10.1 When we decide to serve an enforcement or similar notice, we will generally already have 
engaged with those concerned and the breach that caused it. When we decide against 
enforcement action, we will notify the person of their right to appeal. This will include the right to 
request that we review our decision, where appropriate 
 

10.2 Where it is believed we have failed to comply with the standards within this policy, a complaint 
can be submitted to the relevant Team Manager overseeing the service area within which the 
investigatory officer is located. Should this course of action fail to resolve any differences, then 
a further complaint can be submitted to the Head of Regulatory Services. Contact: 
environmental.health@bcpcouncil.gov.uk As an alternative, the Council’s formal complaints 
procedure can be followed https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Contact-Us/comments-and-
complaints.aspx.   
 

11 Costs and cost recovery 
 

11.1  Should the Council take enforcement proceedings it will ordinarily seek the full costs of doing so 
         from the person against whom the action is taken.  
 
11.2 Works in Default Works in Default will be considered if all other methods to try to remedy the 

necessary works have been unsuccessful. In determining if work in default is appropriate, 

321

mailto:environmental.health@bcpcouncil.gov.uk
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Contact-Us/comments-and-complaints.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Contact-Us/comments-and-complaints.aspx


5 
 

Officers will report to the Team Manager who will consider approval based on the following 
information; · 

 The effects of not carrying out the work on public health and safety  

 The reason for the work not being carried out in the first place · 

  Any other factors that are specific to the case. ·  

The Council will normally seek to recover all of the costs associated with undertaking work in 
default (including time spent by its Officers, administrative costs, contractors’ costs, the cost of 
any specialist reports, supervisory costs etc.)  
 
In the case of Officer time, the Council will calculate costs as follows: ·  

 The actual time spent by Council Officers on the chargeable activities and recorded 
using file notes and database ·  

 Time spent will be converted into a monetary figure using the appropriate hourly rate 
set for the Officer(s) concerned.  

 The expenses incurred are to be recovered from the person(s) on whom the Notice or 
Order is/are served (“the relevant person”). 

 
11.3 The expenses will carry interest from the date of service until payment of all sums due under 

the demand at a rate of 1% over the Bank of England Base Rate. The recoverable expenses, 
together with interest accrued on them, are a charge on the premises.  
 

 
12 How to use this policy 
 
12.1  This policy should be used in conjunction with legislation detailed in statute and guidance 

issued in relation to legislation. 
 
13 Roles and responsibilities 

 
13.1   Officers and managers within Regulatory Services and Licensing are responsible for 

considering the matters in this policy and shall have regard to the Regulators Code when 
pursuing enforcement action. 

 
13.2   This Policy will made available on the website for businesses and members of the public. 
 
14 Enforcement and sanctions 

 
14.1 Failure to have regard to this policy can result in appeals in the court process, reputational risks  

and financial risks through cases not following due process and costs being awarded against the 
Council. 

 
15 Further information and evidence  
 
15.1 Equality Impact Needs Assessment 

     

322



    

 

 
Equality Impact Assessment: conversation screening tool  
 
 
[Use this form to prompt an EIA conversation and capture the output between officers, stakeholders and 
interested groups. This completed form or a full EIA report will be published as part of the decision-making 
process] 

Policy/Service under 
development/review: 

Regulatory Services and Licensing Enforcement Policy 

 

What changes are being made to 
the policy/service? 

The new policy replaces three existing legacy policies across BCP 
 

Service Unit: Communities 

Persons present in the 
conversation and their 
role/experience in the service:  

Louise Jones Environmental Health Manager 
Nananka Randle Licensing Manager 
James Norman – Trading Standards Manager 
Caroline Fair – Environmental Health Manager 
Jeff Morley – Environmental Health Manager 
Matthew King – Community Enforcement Manager  
Graeme Smith – Policy and Performance Manager 

Conversation dates: 15/09/2020 15/03/2020 

Do you know your current or 
potential client base? Who are the 
key stakeholders? 

Yes, we understand our client base and stakeholders, it includes: 
- 

 Premises Licence holders under the Licensing Act 2003 

 Businesses located in the BCP area 

 Solicitors and agents acting for Premises Licence holders 

 Members of the BCP Council  

 Officers within BCP Council in the Regulatory Services and 
Licensing teams 

 Residents and community groups within the BCP Council area 

 Dorset Police Licensing 

 Responsible Authorities as set out within the Licensing Act 
2003 

 Food Standards Agency 

 Health and Safety Executive 

Do different groups have different 
needs or experiences in relation to 
the policy/service?  

Yes, some groups may have different needs or experiences in 
relation to the policy, in particular: - 
 
It can be perceived that certain race characteristics may be 
targeted such as smoking houses. However, this is mitigated by 
fair and transparent adherence to the legislative requirements of 
overriding legislation such as the Health Act that targets smoking 
inside. Shisha smoking can be unfairly perceived to be targeted 
when complaints are received. There is recognised a higher 
number of licence holders of ethnic backgrounds providing Late 
Night Refreshment (hot food between 2300 – 0500) action taken 
in these cases can be perceived as targeting premises that are 
run by people of ethnic backgrounds. 

 
Our enforcement activity statistics show that food hygiene 
enforcement notices are served on more BAME businesses than 
other businesses. We engage with businesses on an informal 
basis where there is non-compliance. Where necessary we 
translate any documentation such as letters and improvement 
notices together with photographs explaining clearly what is 
wrong why it is wrong and how to put it right. Where necessary we 

323



    

 

use translators during site visits to help explain to food business 
operators what improvements need to be made.  
 

Will the policy or service change 
affect any of these service users?  
 

No. The new policy doesn’t change the process and strict 
adherence to the legislation and guidance is always maintained.  

[If the answer to any of the questions above is ‘don’t know’ then you need to gather more 
evidence and do a full EIA. The best way to do this is to use the Capturing Evidence form] 

What are the benefits or positive 
impacts of the policy/service change 
on current or potential service 
users?  

 Ensuring the protection of children from underage sales of 
alcohol, cigarettes, and fireworks 

 Protecting the vulnerable and elderly from scams and rogue 
traders 

 Investigation of accidents to those injured at work and to 
prevent further injury 

 Assist in the reduction of sexual exploitation 

 Investigation of complaints about health and safety risks to 
pregnant workers 

What are the negative impacts of the 
policy/service change on current or 
potential service users? 

The policy ensures that legislation is enforced across BCP in a 
fair and consistent manner 

Will the policy or service change 
affect employees?  

Yes, it provides guidance on a consistent approach to 
enforcement 

Will the policy or service change 
affect the wider community?  

Yes, because it replaces three legacy policies with one policy for 
BCP. 

What mitigating actions are planned 
or already in place for those 
negatively affected by the 
policy/service change?  

 

Ensure procedures are in place to have a consistent approach to 
enforcement activities where English is not the first language to 
ensure that business owners are fully informed of what is wrong 
why it is wrong and how to put it right either by the use of 
translated materials or the use of interpreters. 

Summary of Equality Implications:  
 

There should be no adverse effect on those who have protected 
characteristics. It is recognised that the Regulatory Services and 
Licensing Enforcement Policy can be perceived to target some 
ethnic groups, when taking interventions with water pipe smoking 
establishments. However, this is mitigated by fair and transparent 
adherence to the legislative requirements of overriding legislation. 
All enforcement activities are dealt with on a case-by-case basis 
with the aim of protecting safety and health.  
 
We work closely with other agencies during our enforcement 
activities and recognise that our interventions can help protect 
people from harm in many ways. Our licensing role ensures the 
safe sale of alcohol whilst upholding the Licensing Objectives to 
protect children from harm which includes not only underage 
sales of alcohol but recognises the role alcohol can play in child 
sexual exploitation and human trafficking. Joint working with 
agencies where intelligence leads to enforcement regarding illegal 
working will protect illegitimate workers and those being exploited.  
 
The merging of the legacy councils has meant that there are three 
different approaches to communicating enforcement actions to 
business owners that do not speak English. Procedures are in 
place to ensure that business owners are fully informed of any 
contraventions. It is intended that one consistent approach will be 
adopted for how messages are communicated. 
 

 

For any questions on this, please contact the Policy and Performance Team by emailing 
performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

324

mailto:performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


CABINET 

 

Report subject  Futures Fund Governance 

Meeting date  14 April 2021 

Status  Public    

Executive summary  The medium-term financial plan (MTFP) includes a £50 million 
futures fund to be illustratively drawn down in tranches of £10 
million per annum over five years in support of key infrastructure 
developments.  

As the MTFP is an iterative process the intention would be to 
update the annual base budget to reflect the flexible nature of the 
fund if the spending profile adopts a different profile to that 
originally assumed. 

This report sets out the proposed governance arrangements for the 
fund.   

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:  

 1) Approve the governance arrangements for the futures 
fund as set out in this report. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

Governance arrangements are required to ensure decisions are 
made transparently and in accordance with the council’s priorities.   

Portfolio Holder(s):  Cllr Drew Mellor – Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance and 
Transformation 

Corporate Director  Graham Farrant – Chief Executive 

Report Authors Adam Richens 

Chief Finance Officer and Director of Finance 

01202 123027  

  adam.richens@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision   

Title:  

325

Agenda Item 17

mailto:adam.richens@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


Background 

1. The 2021/22 budget and MTFP approved at Council in February 2021 included a £50 
million futures fund to be drawn down in tranches of £10 million per annum over five 
years in support of investment in local infrastructure. As capital, this expenditure can 
be funded through borrowing with the principal and interest repayments reaching 
£1.4 million per annum by year five.  

2. The approach accords with the vision and narrative the Council Leader and Cabinet 
have set for the place of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole as the UK’s newest 
coastal city region picking up many of the aspirational themes for the place from the 
original Local Government Reorganisation planning papers. 

3. Therefore, the fund links to the Big Plan vision and strategic narrative that includes 
the programme of five major projects developed to deliver big changes across our 
whole area over the next five to ten years. It is expected that these will support the 
creation of 13,000 jobs across all sectors of our economy, creating wealth for our 
businesses and incomes for our families. These five projects make up the ‘Big Plan’ 
that reflects the scale of the council’s ambition for the area and will enable the 
articulation of that vision with key regional and sub-regional partners and with 
government.    

4. In addition, it is an ambition of the fund that it helps our communities respond to the 
economic imperative to recover positively from Covid-19. 

5. The governance proposals in this report are concerned with the operational matters 
concerning the fund.        

Council Financial Regulations 

6. The council’s financial regulations will apply as normal in terms of approval 
thresholds for expenditure and how goods and services are procured. In 2021/22 
these regulations include that: 

a) Officers can agree individual projects up to the value of £500k. 

b) Cabinet can agree individual projects between the values of £500k and £1 million. 

c) Council approval is required for individual projects over £1 million in value. 

7. All such decisions should be supported by a business case setting out the details of 
the scheme, the cost estimates for the project including appropriate contingency 
levels, details of the project timeline including procurement, the risks of the project, 
and details of any associated future operational costs. Such a business case should 
outline the commitment and contribution required from the resources set aside as 
part of the Futures Fund. 

Futures Fund Programme Board  

8. It is recommended that a Futures Fund Regeneration Programme Board is set up 
comprising Councillors and officers: 

a. Leader of the Council 

b. Regeneration Portfolio Holder 

c. Chief Executive 

d. Head of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer)  

e. Finance Director (S. 151) 

326



9. The Board will be supported by project managers and other officers as required and 
will meet as and when required in response to a request from officers to consider a 
proposal.  

10. The purpose of the Futures Fund Regeneration Programme Board will be to act as 
an initial gateway for the project and to sanction the development of any relevant 
business cases. This programme board will report to the Regeneration Board with 
any business case formally recommended for Cabinet or Council approval by either 
the Corporate Management Board or the Capital and Transformation Board.  

Figure 1: Governance Framework 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Definition of Capital Expenditure 

11. Councils can only borrow to fund capital expenditure. Councils cannot borrow to fund 
revenue expenditure. 

12. Local authority capital expenditure is the money spent on providing or improving non-
current assets, which include land, buildings, and equipment, which will be of use or 
benefit in providing services for more than one financial year. 

Definition of Infrastructure 

13. Infrastructure is a general term for the basic physical systems required by our local 
communities. The Local Government Accounting Code of Practice would describe 
infrastructure assets as inalienable assets, expenditure on which is only recoverable 
by continued use of the asset created, i.e. there is no prospect of sale or alternative 
use. This description covers assets that by their nature have no practical prospect of 
being decommissioned and sold or applied to alternative uses. For instance, once a 
footpath has been laid, it is unlikely that it would be dug up and relocated and it will 
serve its whole useful life as a footpath in the location it was originally laid. Examples 
would therefore be those investment related to; 

a. roads, roundabouts, reservations, earthworks and traffic calming measures 

b. footways, footpaths and cycle tracks 

c. bridges, culverts, masts and gantries 

d. tunnels and underpasses 

e. street furniture and traffic management systems 

CMB/ Capital & Transformation Board 

Political Governance 

Regeneration Board 

Regeneration Programme Boards 

327



f. water supply and drainage systems 

g. coastal defences 

h. provision of communication networks 

i. provision of electricity supplies 

j. parks and land for community facilities 

k. schools 

The Council will be guided by this definition however for the purposes of the Futures 
Fund it will be treated as for illustrative purposes only. The Future Fund will be more 
flexible and will not preclude its use on public realm, youth centres and community 
buildings.  

Futures Fund financial implications 

14. The Futures Fund will be fully financed from prudential borrowing from the Public 
Works Loan Board (pwlb) 

15. For the purposes of preparing the 2021/22 Budget and MTFP the following basic 
assumptions have been made. 

a. Expenditure can only be of a nature that accords with the definition of capital. 

b. Illustratively drawn down in tranches of £10 million per annum over five years 
commencing in 2021/22.  

c. 1 October 2021 assumed start date for first £10m investment. 

d. As at 10 February 2021 the fund has not been committed to any specific projects. 

e. For modelling and budgeting purposes a 50-year asset life has been assumed. 
The actual assets live of infrastructure will range from 20 years for highways 
infrastructure, to 25 years for coastal protection works and 50 years for buildings. 
Some of the items listed in 11 (a) to ((k) will have asset lives lower than the 50 
years assumed. 

f. For modelling and budgeting purposes an interest rate of 1.52% has been 
applied. The interest rate to be applied to any specific scheme will depend on the 
prevailing rate at the time any business case is agreed. 

g. Capital (principal) repayments of the sum borrowed will commence in the 
financial year following that in which the expenditure was incurred. 

h. Capital (principal) and interest repayments will reach £1.435 million per annum by 
year five 

16. In summary the financial implications are set out as follows. 

 

328



 

 

17. The structure of the fund does not prohibit the use on projects with an asset life of 
less than 50 years. However, because proportionally the value of the capital 
(principal) repayments will be larger under any such proposals, consideration will 
need to be given to the financial implications. 

18. As the MTFP is an iterative process the intention would be to update the annual base 
budget to reflect the flexible nature of the fund if the spending profile adopts a 
different profile to that originally assumed. 

19. Business cases brought forward for consideration need to reflect on the extent to 
which the proposal can attract external grant funding / inward investment and or the 
extent to which the proposal can generate income. Consideration will also need to be 
given to the operational running and maintenance costs of any such proposals. 

Summary of legal implications 

20. Legal implications of each individual project will be considered as part of the 
business case for each individual project.  

Summary of human resources implications 

21. There are no direct human resource implications from this report. 

loan 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 MTFP 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 remaining Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

21/22 loan 10,000 interest @ 1.52% amortised over loan 43 87 87 217 87 87 87 3,871 4,349

Principal 0 200 200 400 200 200 200 9,000 10,000

22/23 loan 10,000 interest @ 1.52% amortised over loan 0 43 87 130 87 87 87 3,958 4,349

Principal 0 0 200 200 200 200 200 9,200 10,000

23/24 loan 10,000 interest @ 1.52% amortised over loan 0 0 43 43 87 87 87 4,045 4,349

Principal 0 0 0 0 200 200 200 9,400 10,000

24/25 loan 10,000 interest @ 1.52% amortised over loan 0 0 0 0 43 87 87 4,132 4,349

Principal 0 0 0 0 0 200 200 9,600 10,000

25/26 loan 10,000 interest @ 1.52% amortised over loan 0 0 0 0 0 43 87 4,219 4,349

Principal 0 0 0 0 0 0 200 9,800 10,000

50,000 total interest 43 130 217 391 304 391 435 20,223 21,745

total principal 0 200 400 600 600 800 1000 47,000 50,000

total MTFP 43 330 617 991

incremental pressure 43 287 287

329



Summary of sustainability impact 

22. The governance arrangements do not impact on sustainability. The specific projects 
for funding will be assessed as they are brought forward.  

Summary of public health implications 

23. There are no public health implications from this report 

Summary of equality implications 

24. . Any equality implications will be considered in respect of each proposed project for 
investment as they are brought forward. 

Summary of risk assessment 

25. The governance arrangements are designed to mitigate risks. The £50 million fund 
will be significant over the next five years, with the risks of each project being 
assessed as they are brought forward.  

Background papers 

1. Cabinet 10 February 2021: 2021/22 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan 

(MTFP) 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4260&Ver

=4 

 

 

 

 

330

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4260&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4260&Ver=4


CABINET FORWARD PLAN – 1 APRIL 2021 TO 31 JULY 2021 

(PUBLICATION DATE – 17 March 2021) 
 

 

What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

The Future of 
Planning in 
Bournemouth, 
Christchurch 
and Poole 

To update Cabinet on 
proposals and 
measures being put in 
place to enhance the 
Council's planning 
service and repuatio, 
and to focus service 
delivery to the Big Plan 
and related 
development priorities. 

No Cabinet 

14 Apr 2021 

All Wards CMB Interal Nick Perrins Open 

 

Poole Business 
Improvement 
District 

To seek Cabinet 
approval to vote in 
favour of Poole 
Business Improvement 
District, in its re-ballot 
in May 2021 

No Cabinet 

14 Apr 2021 

Poole Town   Chris Shephard, 
Adrian Trevett 

Open 

 

331

A
genda Item

 18



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Highway Asset 
Management 
Policy and 
Strategy 

Cabinet approves 
adoption of the draft 
Highway Asset 
Management Policy 
and Strategy 

No Cabinet 

14 Apr 2021 

All Wards Environment 
Services 
No requirement 
for public 
consultation 

Completed Gary Powell Open 

 

Management & 
Development of 
Leisure Centres 

To seek approval for a 
short-term 
management contract 
for Poole leisure 
centres (LC) and the 
development of a 
synthetic grass pitch at 
Rossmore LC.  
 
To provide information 
on BH Live’s Forward 
Plan  

No Cabinet 

14 Apr 2021 

All Wards Rossmore STP 
Development – 
stakeholders 
and Ward Cllrs 
engaged 

Rossmore STP 
Development – 
formal 
consultation via 
planning 
process 

Anthony Rogers Part exempt 

(Confidential 
appendix) 

332



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

‘Our Museum’: 
Poole Museum 
Redevelopment 
Project 

Update on 
development project, 
confirmation of 
proposed timetable for 
accessing agreed CIL 
and prudential 
borrowing, agreement 
for additional prudential 
borrowing proposal, 
approval to submit 
round 2 funding 
application to National 
Lottery Heritage Fund. 

No Cabinet 

14 Apr 2021 

Poole Town Leader of the 
Council, Portfolio 
Holder for 
Tourism, Leisure 
and Culture, 
Finance and 
other internal 
stakeholders. 
(Public and 
external 
stakeholder 
engagement is a 
continual 
process for the 
duration of the 
project, 2018-
24).         

Internal 
consultation for 
this decision 
March 2020-
March 2021. 
(Public and 
external 
stakeholder 
engagement for 
development of 
project plans, to 
date, 2018-
March 2021) 

Michael Spender Open 

 

333



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

BCP 
Homelessness 
Strategy 

To co-produce a 
comprehensive and 
proactive 
homelessness strategy 
and related action plan 
for BCP. 

Yes Cabinet 

14 Apr 2021 

All Wards BCP residents, 
Housing 
Portfolio Holder, 
All BCP 
Members, Adult 
Social Care, 
Children’s Social 
Care, CCG, 
Police 
Homelessness 
Reduction Board 
and associated 
Partnership 
(included lived 
experience). 

Launch event 
(Jan 2020), 
Public 
consultation and 
series of 
stakeholder 
workshop/ 
events Jan to 
June 2020. 

Lorraine Mealings Open 

 

Housing 
Development 
Scheme - 
Craven Court 

Approval to proceed 
with development 
scheme. 

Yes Cabinet 
14 Apr 2021 

 

Council 

27 Apr 2021 

East Cliff & 
Springbourn

e 

N/A. 
Consultation 
completed. 

N/A. 
Consultation 
completed. 

Peter Friend Open 

 

334



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Subsidised 
Charges for 
Pest Control 
Services 

To outline options for 
the harmonisation of 
Pest Control fee 
subsidies for residents 
in receipt of qualifying 
benefits. 

No Cabinet 

14 Apr 2021 

All Wards Draft report to be 
sent to Head of 
Customer 
Services 

7 days Peter Haikin Open 

 

Stour Valley 
Park 
Partnership and 
Strategy 

To endorse BCP 
Council becoming a 
member of the Stour 
Valley Park 
partnership. Previously 
Bournemouth and 
Poole were signed up, 
but Christchurch was 
not. 
To inform Cabinet on 
the engagement, 
consultation and 
adoption timetable for 
the Stour Valley Park 
Strategy and Stour 
Valley Park Masterplan 
- funded through the 
Future Parks 
programme. 

Yes Cabinet 

14 Apr 2021 

Bearwood & 
Merley; 

Christchurch 
Town; 

Commons; 
East 

Southbourne 
& Tuckton; 

Kinson; 
Littledown & 

Iford; 
Mudeford, 
Stanpit & 

West 
Highcliffe; 
Muscliff & 
Strouden 

Park; Redhill 
& 

Northbourne 

  Michael Rowland Open 

 335



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Regulatory 
Services and 
Licensing 
Enforcement 
Policy 

To provide a single 
Regulatory Services 
and Licensing 
Enforcement Policy 
across BCP 
consolidating the three 
legacy authority 
enforcement policies 

No Cabinet 

14 Apr 2021 

All Wards Draft report to be 
sent to Head of 
Legal 

7 days Louise Jones Open 

 

Futures Fund 
Governance 

To set out the 
governance 
arrangements for the 
£50 million futures fund 
from April 2021/22 

No Cabinet 

14 Apr 2021 

All Wards To be 
determined 

To be 
determined 

Nicola Webb Open 

 

Acquisition of 
Kings Park 
Indoor Bowls 
Club (Kings 
Park) 

To acquire the 
leasehold interest of 
Bournemouth Indoor 
Bowls Centre, Kings 
Park, Boscombe of 
which the Council is the 
freeholder. 

Yes Cabinet 
14 Apr 2021 

 

 

Littledown & 
Iford 

  Lesley Spain Open 

 

         

336



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Potential 
Transfer of Play 
sites and 
Highcliffe 
Recreation 
Ground 

To consider 
representations from 
the public consultation 
phase Disposal of 
Public Open Space 
procedure and, if 
satisfied that disposal 
is acceptable, the 
potential terms, 
conditions and legal 
requirements for the 
disposal of these 
assets to Highcliffe & 
Walkford Parish 
Council. 

No Cabinet 

26 May 2021 

Highcliffe & 
Walkford 

Public 
Consultation is a 
a statutory 
requirement. 
This report is to 
provide the 
results of 
consultation 

Consultation, as 
noted in report 
to CPG on 29th 
October 2020, 
commenced 
21st January 
2021 and ended 
19th February 
2021. Public 
notices were 
placed on 21st 
and 28th 
January 2021 in 
Echo 

Alan Ottaway, 
Michael Rowland 

Open 

 

Domestic 
Abuse Strategy 
and Delivery 
Plan 

To consider the 
Domestic Abuse 
Strategy and 
associated Delivery 
Plans 

No Overview and 
Scrutiny Board 

17 May 2021 
 

Cabinet 

26 May 2021 

All Wards Residents, 
Community 
Safety 
Partnership & 
voluntary groups 

March-April 
2021 

Andrew Williams Open 

 

337



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Capital 
Programme 

annual report from 
children's services 

No Cabinet 

26 May 2021 

All Wards   Neil Goddard Open 

 

Fly-tipping and 
Fly-posting 
Enforcement 
Pilot 

To seek approval to 
commission a private 
service provider for a 
12 months pilot project, 
to conduct enforcement 
services for fly-tipping 
and fly-posting at zero 
net cost to the Council. 

No Cabinet 

26 May 2021 

All Wards   Peter Haikin Open 

 

338



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Annual review 
of housing 
wholly owned 
companies 

The Council as 
shareholder approved 
a 5 year plan in 2020 
for activities within 
Seascape Group 
Limited in order to aid 
medium term planning. 
This report provides an 
annual update to the 
shareholder, as well as 
providing an annual 
update on the 
Bournemouth Building 
Maintenance Limited 
(BBML) wholly owned 
company 

Yes Cabinet 

26 May 2021 

All Wards Board Directors 
Finance 
Housing Service 
Unit - Property 
Maintenance, 
Housing Options 
and Housing 
Delivery teams 
Development 
Service Unit 

Input on 
proposed 
content of report 

Lorraine Mealings Open 

 

Special 
Educational 
Needs & 
Disabilities and 
Inclusion 
Strategy 

To seek agreement for 
BCPs shared 
partnership strategy for 
children and young 
people with special 
educational needs and 
disabilities. 

Yes Cabinet 

26 May 2021 

All Wards Children and 
young people 
with SEND and 
their parent 
carers; early 
years settings; 
schools; 
colleges; health; 
voluntary sector. 

Undertaken 
virtually (due to 
Covid) Summer 
2020 and 
Winter 2020/21. 
In addition to 
developing the 
draft strategy in 
partnership 
(including the 
Council, parent 
carers and 
health). 

Claire Webb Open 

 

339



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

         

BCP Housing 
Strategy 2021-
2026 

To share with members 
the new BCP Housing 
Strategy which will 
detail the current and 
anticipated future 
housing issues, setting 
out the priorities and 
delivery options to 
address local needs 

No Cabinet 

23 Jun 2021 

All Wards All other BCP 
Services as well 
as many 
external 
stakeholders 

Public 
consultation (12 
weeks) with 
options paper 
along with a 
number of 
stakeholder 
engagement 
sessions 

Lorraine Mealings, 
Kerry-Marie Ruff 

Open 

 

Recommendati
ons following 
the public 
selective and 
additional 
licensing 
consultation 

To review and consider 
the results of the 12 
week public 
consultation and 
present 
recommendations to 
cabinet for the 
proposals whether to 
implement additional 
and/or selective 
licensing 

Yes Cabinet 

23 Jun 2021 

All Wards Public Public 
consultation 
underway 
13/1/206/4/20 

Sophie Ricketts Open 

 

340



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Tourism and 
Destination 
Strategy 

To agree the strategy 
for BCP 

Yes Cabinet 

23 Jun 2021 

All Wards Portfolio Holder 
for Tourism, 
Leisure and 
Communities 

 Amanda Barrie, 
Chris Saunders 

Open 

 

Flag Flying 
Policy 

Consolidation of flag 
flying policies for 
preceding authorities 
and consideration of 
other associated 
issues. 

Yes Cabinet 

23 Jun 2021 

All Wards Appropriate 
Service Areas 
within the 
Council 

Internal 
consultation as 
appropriate 

Karen Tompkins Open 

 341



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Council Fleet 
Replacement 
Programme & 
Sustainable 
Fleet 
Management 
Strategy 

To acknowledge the 
financial impact of the 
varied approach to fleet 
replacement by legacy 
Councils on the BCP 
Sustainable Fleet 
Strategy. 
 
Approve a long term 
financing strategy to 
support a rationalised 
BCP Sustainable Fleet 
Strategy.  

Yes Cabinet 
23 Jun 2021 

 

Council 

13 Jul 2021 

 Front line 
service units, 
finance and legal 
services. 

 Kate Langdown Open 

 

Council New 
Build & 
Acquisition 
Strategy 

To provide an 
apporach for the 
councils internal 
development 
programme and seek 
members approval to 
endorse the proposed 
strategy. 

Yes Cabinet 

23 Jun 2021 

   Nigel Ingram, 
Kerry-Marie Ruff 

Open 

 

         

342



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Crime & 
Disorder 
Reduction 
Strategy 

To agree & adopt a 
BCP Crime & Disorder 
Reduction Strategy 

No Cabinet 

28 Jul 2021 

All Wards Community 
Safety 
Partnership 

 Andrew Williams Open 

 

Community and 
Voluntary 
Sector Strategy 

Adoption of compact 
dealing the Council’s 
approach to working 
with the voluntary 
sector (harmonisation) 

No Cabinet 

28 Jul 2021 

All Wards Voluntary sector 
organisations 
and internal 
departments. 

Summer 2020 Cat McMilan Open 

 

Community 
Engagement 
and 
Consultation 
Strategy 

Approval of strategy No Cabinet 

28 Jul 2021 

 The community 
and internal 
departments. 

Public 
consultation Jan 
to April 2020. 
Internal 
consultation 
April-May 2020. 

Cat McMilan Open 

 

         

343



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Corporate 
Asset 
Management 
Plan 

To approve the 
Corporate Asset 
Management Plan 

Yes Cabinet 

27 Oct 2021 

   Chris Shephard  

 

         

Library Strategy To produce a library 
strategy across all BCP 
libraries and the 
development of 
libraries as 
neighbourhood hubs. 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

    Open 

 

344



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Dorset Flood & 
Coastal 
Partnership 

To seek approval to 
evolve from the existing 
Dorset Coastal 
Engineering 
Partnership Agreement 
(between BCP Council 
and Dorset Council) to 
a Shared Service 
Agreement. This would 
include working to a 
single budget for the 
resourcing and 
management of the 
service, including a 
longer term shift to 
BCP acting as host 
employer. It is also 
proposed for the 
Shared Service to 
expand to include 
surface water 
management and 
therefore operate as 
the Dorset Flood and 
Coastal Partnership. 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

All Wards Cabinet 
consideration is 
required by both 
BCP Council 
and Dorset 
Council. 

 Catherine Corbin, 
Matt Hosey, Julian 
McLaughlin 

Open 

 

345



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Russell Coates 
Arts Gallery 
Museum 
Governance 
Report 

 No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

   Sarah Newman, 
Chris Saunders 

Open 

 

346



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Beach Hut 
Policy 

Harmonisation of 
policy, pricing, team 
location and booking 
system 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 To include the 
Portfolio Holder, 
the 4 local 
Beach Hut 
Associations, all 
Beach Hut 
owners, tenants, 
and for some of 
the work a more 
general 
consultation with 
BCP residents. 

This 
consultation will 
be informal with 
the Portfolio 
Holder and 
Beach Hut 
Associations 
over the course 
of the project, 
and more 
formally 
supported by 
Chloe Durrant 
(BCP Principle 
Research 
Officer) with the 
Beach Hut 
Associations/ 
Beach Hut 
Owners & 
Tenants and if 
required a 
suitable sample 
of BCP 
residents over 
the  duration of 
the drafting of 
the policy 
(between April 
2020 and April 
2021). 

Andrew Brown Open 

 

347



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Adoption of 
Ducking Stool 
Walk, 
Christchurch 

To consider a request 
from Priory Mews 
Management Company 
for BCP Council to 
adopt the land and 
structures forming the 
Public Right of Way 
known as Ducking 
Stool Walk 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Christchurch 
Town 

Leader of the 
Council (Cllr 
Drew Mellor); 
Portfolio Holder 
(Cllr Mark 
Anderston); 
Ward 
Councillors (Cllr 
Peter Hall and 
Cllr Mike Cox); 

Informal 
consultation to 
inform the 
report 

Alan Ottaway Open 

 

BCP Economic 
Development 
Strategy 

 Yes Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

     

 

348



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Western 
Gateway Sub-
national 
Transport Body 
(STB)- Strategic 
Transport Plan 

To advise Cabinet of 
the STB's intention to 
adopt its Strategic 
Transport Plan at its 
Board meeting in 
December 2020 
subject to agreement of 
all its consituent 
members. This is also 
subject to the outcome 
of an active 
consultation period 
which will close on 31st 
July 2020. 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

All Wards Portfolio Holders 
for Transport 
and 
Infrastructure 
and Environment 
and Climate 
Change. 

A public 
consultation is 
active until 31 
July 2020 
https://westerng
atewaystb.org.u
k/ 

Julian McLaughlin, 
Ewan Wilson 

Open 

 

Children's 
Safeguarding 
Arrangements 

To present reviewed 
arrangements 

No Children's 
Services 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
 

Cabinet 

 

Dates to be 
confirmed 

All Wards   Rachel Gravett Open 

 

349



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Bournemouth 
Learning Centre 
conversion to a 
Special School 
Campus - 
Capital budget 
approval 

 No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

All Wards    Open 

 

Poole 
Regeneration 
Update 

To update Cabinet and 
the public on projects 
and activities in Poole 
Town Centre 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Poole Town relevant 
stakeholders to 
the Poole 
Regeneration 
Programme 

 Chris Shephard Open 

 

Thistle Hotel, 
Poole Quay - 
Lease 
restructure 

To seek authorisation 
to restructure a lease to 
enable a third party 
Hotel/Residential 
development to 
proceed 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Poole Town   Rebecca Bray Open 

 

350


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of Minutes
	6 The Future of Planning in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole
	7 Poole Business Improvement District (BID)
	8 Acquisition of Bournemouth Indoor Bowls Centre (Kings Park)
	Appendix 1 Summary of financial implications

	9 Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy
	Appendix 1 – Draft Highway Asset Management Policy
	Appendix 2 – Draft Highway Asset Management Strategy
	Appendix 3 - Decision Impact Assessment for Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy
	Appendix 4 - Equality Impact Assessment: screening tool

	10 Management & development of leisure centres
	Appendix 1 - Management of Leisure Centres in Poole: Short term contract proposal Inc. Max Associates review of SLM's contract extension proposals
	Appendix 1a - Management of Leisure Centres in Poole: Short term contract proposal
	Appendix 2 - BH Live's Business Plan
	Appendix 3a - Financial Buisiness Plan - Rossmore and Two Riversmeet STP's
	Appendix 3b - Proposed layout and imagery
	Appendix 3c - Equliaty Impact Assessment

	11 Our Museum: Poole Museum Redevelopment Project
	Appendix 1 - EQIA for ‘Our Museum’: Poole Museum Redevelopment Project
	Appendix 2 - SDIA for Poole Museum Redevelopment Project
	Appendix 3 - Scenario 1 ‘Our Museum’: Poole Museum Redevelopment Project
	Appendix 4 - Scenario 2 ‘Our Museum’: Poole Museum Redevelopment Project

	12 BCP Homelessness Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy
	Appendix 2 - Strategy Action Plan
	Appendix 3 - Equality Impact Assessment

	13 Housing scheme at Craven Court, Knyveton Road, Bournemouth
	Appendix 1 - 9 Housing Development Scheme - Craven Court
	Enc. 1 for Housing Development Scheme - Craven Court
	App 1 Income and Expenditure summary v2
	Appendix 2
	App 3 Appraisal Assumptions v3
	App 4 EINA - final
	App5 200_I_Site Location and Block Plans
	Sheets and Views
	200C_SITE PLAN


	App5 201_H_Proposed Floor Plans
	Sheets and Views
	201B_Proposed Plans


	App5 202_F_Proposed Elevations
	Sheets and Views
	202A_PROPOSED ELEVATIONS


	App5 203_C_Street Elevation
	Sheets and Views
	203_PROPOSED STREET ELEVATION


	App5 206_F_SUDS and Roof Plan
	Sheets and Views
	206B_SUDs PLan


	App 6 HASAT
	App 7 Env Impact
	App 8 Project Plan
	App 9 Carbon Reduction Statement

	Form 3 EIA Report and Action Plan.pdf final
	Equality Impact Assessment: Report and EIA Action Plan
	Purpose
	Background
	Findings
	Conclusion

	Equality Impact Assessment: Report and EIA Action Plan



	14 Harmonisation of Pest Control Services
	Appendix 1 - Current and legacy pest control charges
	Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment

	15 Stour Valley Park Partnership and Strategy
	Appendix 1

	16 Harmonisation of Regulatory Services and Licensing Enforcement Policy
	Appendix 1 - Regulatory Services and Licensing Enforcement Policy
	Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment

	17 Futures Fund Governance
	18 Cabinet Forward Plan



